# **AUDITING AND ASSURANCE**

# **Instructions for Students**

This study guide is intended to assist distance-learning students in their independent studies. In addition, it is only for the personal use of the purchaser, see copyright clause. The course has been broken down into Nine lessons each of which should be considered as approximately one week of study for a full time student. Solve the reinforcement problems verifying your answer with the suggested solution contained at the back of the distance learning pack. When the lesson is completed, repeat the same procedure for each of the following lessons.

At the end of lessons 2, 4, 6 and 9 there is a comprehensive assignment that you should complete and submit for marking to the distance learning administrator.

#### **Submission Procedure**

- 1. After you have completed a comprehensive assignment clearly identify each question and number your pages.
- 2. If you do not understand a portion of the course content or an assignment question indicate this in your answer so that your marker can respond to your problem areas. Be as specific as possible.
- 3. Arrange the order of your pages by question number and fix them securely to the data sheet provided. Adequate postage must be affixed to the envelope.
- 4. While waiting for your assignment to be marked and returned to you, continue to work through the next two lessons and the corresponding reinforcement problems and comprehensive assignment.

On the completion of the last comprehensive assignment a two-week period of revision should be carried out of the whole course using the material in the revision section of the study pack. At the completion of this period the final Mock Examination paper should be completed under examination conditions. This should be sent to the distance-learning administrator to arrive in Nairobi at least five weeks before the date of your sitting the KASNEB Examinations. This paper will be marked and posted back to you within two weeks of receipt by the Distance Learning Administrator.

# **Contents**

| Acknowledgement  | ii  |
|--|-----|
| Instructions for Students  |     |
| Contents   | iv  |
| Auditing and Investigations Course Description                       | v   |
| Auditing and Investigations Index                                    | vi  |
| LESSON ONE   |     |
| Introduction to Auditing   | 1   |
| LESSON TWO   |     |
| Accounting and Internal Control Systems: Theory and Practice         | 28  |
| LESSON THREE   | 85  |
| The Audit Process: Planning and Quality Control                      | 85  |
| LESSON FOUR  | 103 |
| Audit Evidence and Documentation                                     | 103 |
| LESSON FIVE  | 123 |
| The Audit process: Verification of Assets and Liabilities            | 123 |
| LESSON SIX   | 175 |
| The Audit Process: Final Review of Audit of Financial Statements     | 175 |
| LESSON SEVEN   | 185 |
| Specialized Audit Situations   | 185 |
| LESSON EIGHT   | 203 |
| External Auditors Reports and Other Reports                          | 203 |
| LESSON NINE  | 240 |
| Audit Investigations, Receiverships, Liquidations and Current Issues |     |
| in Auditing  | 240 |
| LESSON TEN   | 277 |
| Revision aid   | 277 |

# **Auditing and Investigations Course Description**

'The course aims at developing the candidates' appreciation of the professional and legal environment in which auditing is practiced and the ability to execute all types of general and specialized audits.

The syllabus aims at ensuring that the candidate has competence in the auditing of public and private institutions and to carry out audit investigations.

The core areas of the syllabus include internal control systems design, verification of assets and liabilities, audit reports, investigations.

Other assurance assignments undertaken by auditors are also being examined and the students are expected to understand the changing commercial environment which has created the demand for these services.

Fraud cases especially in the United States and United Kingdom have lead to the most topical debates and the issuance of new auditing standards. The student is expected to be able to discuss these issues in detail.

The student has continuous opportunity to test his understanding by completing the reinforcing questions and checking his answers with those given in the revision section.

# **Auditing and Investigations Index**

Lesson One Introduction

Reinforcing Questions

Lesson Two Internal Control System

Reinforcing Questions

Comprehensive Assignment 1

Lesson Three Audit Planning and Quality

Reinforcing Questions

Lesson Four Audit Evidence

Reinforcing Questions

Comprehensive Assignment 2

Lesson Five Verification of assets and liabilities

Reinforcing Questions

Lesson Six Final Review

Reinforcing Questions

Comprehensive Assignment 3

Lesson Seven Specialized Audit situations

Reinforcing Questions

Lesson Eight Auditors Reports

Reinforcing Questions

Lesson Nine Investigations, receiverships, liquidations and current issues

Reinforcing Questions

Comprehensive Lesson Assignment 4

Lesson Ten KASNEB Syllabus. Model answers to reinforcing questions. Selected

past papers with model answers. Work through model; answers

ensuring they are understood. On completion submit final assignment

to Strathmore University.

FINAL ASSIGNMENT Mock Examination

# **LESSON ONE**

# **Introduction to Auditing**

# **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this lesson you should be able to:

- Explain and discuss the nature of auditing
- Describe and discuss the regulatory framework for auditing and related services internationally and in Kenya
- Describe the provisions of the Accountants Act, Cap 531 in relation to professional misconduct.

#### **CONTENTS**

- Definition of auditing and the general principles governing an audit of financial statements. (ISA 200)
- The Concept of Reasonable Assurance
- The Cost Benefit Analysis of an Audit: Advantages and Disadvantages
- Types of Audits
- The Regulation of the Accountancy Profession in Kenya
- · Duties, Rights, Powers and Qualifications for Appointment
- Appointment, Remuneration, Dismissal/Removal and Resignation
- The Engagement (ISA 210)
- Typical Set-up in an accounting firm
- Impact of International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) , International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
- · Professional responsibility and the Legal Liability of auditors

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

- Read the study Text
- Complete answers to reinforcing questions at the end of the lesson without reference to the model answers.
- Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack.

#### 1.0 Definition of auditing

According to the International Standard on Auditing (ISA) No. 200 Objective and General Principles Governing an Audit of Financial Statements, the objective of an audit of financial statements is to enable the auditor to express an opinion whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an identified financial reporting framework.

The phrases used to express the auditor's opinion are "give a true and fair view" or "present fairly, in all material respects," which are equivalent terms. A similar objective applies to the audit of financial or other information prepared in accordance with appropriate criteria.

The Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya (ICPAK) defines as the independent examination of and expression of opinion on, the financial statements of an enterprise by an appointed auditor in pursuance of that appointment and in compliance with any relevant statutory obligation:

#### 1.1 Related Services

In addition to audit services, auditors provide other services. These can be classified as:

#### Assurance engagements

- Audits
- Reviews

#### Non-assurance Engagements

- Agreed upon Procedures
- Compilations

### 1.1.1 Reviews

The objective of a review of financial statements is to enable an auditor to state whether, on the basis of procedures which do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, anything has come to the auditor's attention that causes the auditor to believe that the financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an identified financial reporting framework. A similar objective applies to the review of financial or other

Information prepared in accordance with appropriate criteria.

A review comprises inquiry and analytical procedures, which are designed to review the reliability of an assertion that is the responsibility of one party for use by another party. While a review involves the application of audit skills and techniques and the gathering of evidence, it does not ordinarily involve an assessment of accounting and internal control systems, tests of records and of responses to inquiries by obtaining corroborating evidence through inspection, observation, confirmation and computation, which are procedures ordinarily performed during an audit.

Although the auditor attempts to become aware of all significant matters, the procedures of a review make the achievement of this objective less likely than in an audit engagement, thus the level of assurance provided in a review report is correspondingly less than that given in an audit report.

#### 1.1.2 Agreed-upon Procedures

In an engagement to perform agreed-upon procedures, an auditor is engaged to carry out those procedures of an audit nature to which the auditor and the entity and any appropriate third **parties have** agreed and to report on factual findings. The recipients of the report must form their own conclusions from the report by the auditor. The report is restricted to those parties that have agreed to the procedures to be performed since others, unaware of the reasons for the procedures, may misinterpret the results.

#### 1.1.3 Compilations

In a compilation engagement, the accountant is engaged to use accounting expertise as opposed to auditing expertise to collect, classify and summarize financial information. This ordinarily entails reducing detailed data to a manageable and understandable form without a requirement to test the assertions underlying that information. The procedures employed are not designed and do not enable the accountant to express any assurance on the financial information. However, users of the compiled financial information derive some benefit as a result of the accountant's involvement because the service has been performed with due professional skill and care.

#### 1.2 The Need for an Audit

If you take an example of a modern large liability company, we can clearly distinguish between the providers of funds and those who control those funds. The providers of funds are the shareholders, creditors, and other third parties who have given loans to the company. Those charged with the responsibility of controlling those funds are usually called directors and management. We can also clearly see that the company has resources, (assets), and claims against those resources, (Liabilities and capital.)

Since the providers of funds are divorced from the control of those funds it would seem logical that the controllers should on a regular basis give a report to the providers of the funds on changes in the resources and claims. This report of the controllers or directors according to the Kenya Companies Act should be in the form of annual accounts which consist of the balance sheet and the profit and loss account. The accounting profession has extended the accounts by requiring that a Cash Flow Statement be also appended to the accounts as part of the accounts.

#### The report of the directors in the form of accounts lacks credibility, in that:

- a) It may contain errors;
- b) It may fail to disclose frauds;
- c) It could be misleading inadvertently;
- d) It could be misleading deliberately;
- e) It may fail to disclose all relevant information.

A further point to note is that modern companies can be very large with multi-national activities. Preparing accounts for such a group becomes a very complex operation that could involve bringing together and summarising the accounts of subsidiaries with differing accounting systems. All accounts are required to conform to very detailed and complex requirements of the Companies Act (CAP 486) and also to the requirements of the many International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Taking these points into consideration therefore, it becomes necessary that to give credibility to the accounts an independent qualified expert be appointed to objectively investigate the accounts and then report his findings to all interested parties, primarily the shareholders as required by the Companies Act, but also to other providers of funds and relevant regulatory authorities.

This independent expert is called the auditor. His investigations constitute an audit and the report of his investigations an audit report. Apart from resolving the problems of credibility an audit is essential to ensure that the requirements of the Companies Act and the International Financial Reporting Standards have been complied with. The accounts are referred to as financial statements. To summarise, we can identify the following parties as being interested in the financial statements.

- a) The directors who produce them;
- b) The shareholders to whom traditionally they are addressed;
- c) Lenders and debenture holders;
- d) Potential investors;
- e) Employees;
- f) Customers;
- g) Suppliers;
- h) Accountants;
- i) Stock-brokers;
- j) Credit rating agencies;
- k) Financial Journalists;
- l) Trade Unions;
- m) Statisticians;
- n) Competitors;
- o) The Government, including the Tax Authorities and the;
- p) Ministry of Finance for Economic Policy Decisions;
- q) The general public.

All these people must be sure that the financial statements can be relied upon.

#### It should be noted that:

- 1. The auditor himself must be independent to have credibility.
- 2. He must have the primary objective of producing a report of his opinion on the truth and fairness of the accounts, so that any person reading and using them can believe in them.
- 3. Subsidiary objectives can be seen to be the detection of errors and fraud, the prevention of errors and fraud by the deterrent and moral effect of the audit and the ability to provide other benefits to his clients such as:
  - Assistance with accounting;
  - Systems;
  - Taxation;
  - Financial and other problems.

The Companies Act was designed to protect shareholders from directors hence the need for an audit as contained in the Companies Act mainly relates to limited liability companies, but as we shall see any organization can benefit from an audit.

#### 1.3 Types of audits

#### Introduction

So far we have tended to think in terms of the audit of limited companies, and indeed, the emphasis throughout this text will be on such companies incorporated under the Companies Act 1962, not least because this type of audit situation is at the heart of the vast majority of auditing examination questions. However, it might be convenient at this stage to briefly indicate the main

classes of audit which are undertaken in practice.

#### Statutory Audits and Non-Statutory Audits

#### **Statutory Audits**

Audits are compulsory under statute in the case of a large number of undertakings including the following:

| Undertaking                        |   | Principal Act              |
|------------------------------------|---|----------------------------|
| Limited Companies                  |   | Companies Act 1962         |
| Building Societies                 | d | Building Society Act 1962  |
| Banking and Financial Institutions |   | Banking Act 1989           |
| Insurance Companies                |   | Insurance Act 1984         |
| Co-operative Societies             |   | Co-operative Societies Act |
|                                    |   | -                          |

#### Non-statutory Audits

Non-statutory audits are performed by independent auditors because the owners, proprietors, members, trustees, professional and governing bodies or other interested parties desire them, not because the law requires them.

In consequence, auditing may and will extend to every type of undertaking which produces accounts, and will include therefore:

- a) Clubs;
- b) Charities (assuming an audit is not in any event statutory);
- c) Sole traders; and
- d) Partnerships

It may also extend to forms of financial statement other than the annual reported figures where those responsible for the statement, or those to whom the statement is made, wish an independent opinion to be expressed as to whether it gives a true and fair view. Examples would include:

- a) Summaries of sales in support of a statement of royalties' payable where goods are sold under licence;
- b) Statements of expenditure in support of applications for regional development or other governments grants; and
- c) The circulation figures of a newspaper or magazine, used when soliciting advertising.

In all such audits the auditor must have regard to any regulations concerning financial statements which are contained in the internal rules or constitution of the undertaking. Examples of the regulations which would be essential reference material for the auditor in such assignments would include:

- a) The Rules of Clubs, Societies and Charities
- b) Partnership agreements.

#### **Audit of Partnerships**

#### Advantages of an audit to a partnership

The audit of a partnership is not normally required by statute and so the auditor must agree with the client what his rights and duties are going to be. The auditor must obtain written confirmation of his terms of engagement and must take care to clearly distinguish between audit and accountancy work and ensure that the client appreciates such distinction.

In addition to the advantages common to all forms of audit, namely, the verification of accounts

and the possible detection of errors and fraud, the audit of the accounts of a partnership may also be seen to have the following advantages:

- a) It will provide a convenient means of settling accounts between the partners, thus avoiding the possibility of future disputes.
- b) The auditor may be able to make useful comments on the firm's accounting and control systems, where necessary making recommendations as to how areas of weakness could be eliminated.
- c) The settlement or adjustment of accounts between partners on the occasion of any change in the partnership structure will be facilitated where audited accounts are available.
- d) Where audited accounts are available this will perhaps make them more readily acceptable to the income tax authorities' inland revenue when it comes to agreeing an individual's partner's liability to tax. The partners may well wish to take advantage of the auditor's services in the additional role of tax advisor.
- e) The sale of the business or the negotiation of loan or overdraft facilities may well be facilitated if the firm is able to produce properly prepared and audited accounts.
- f) An audit on behalf of a 'sleeping partner' is highly advisable since generally such a person will have little other means of checking the accounts of the business, or confirming the scale of profits due to them.

Apart from the advantages discussed above, which would be peculiar to a partnership, similar advantages may be found in the audit of the accounts of a sole trader, club or charity. Whatever the nature of the business, the auditor will find himself concerned with compliance with Auditing Standards.

#### Interim and Final Audits

Whereas the split between the systems and balance sheet audits is concerned with the type of work covered, that between the interim and final audits is concerned with timing. The interim audit will normally take place approximately three-quarters of the way throughout the financial year.

There is an element of similarity between systems/balance sheet work and interim/final audits in as much as the majority of the systems work will be carried out during the interim audit and the majority of the balance-sheet work during the final audit. However, it will be necessary to complete some systems work during the final audit so that transactions between the time of the interim and final audits do not escape the auditor's attention. Similarly, some substantive testing is very likely to be carried out during the interim (e.g. verifying fixed assets additions to date).

With very small audits, it is sometimes considered unnecessary to carry out an interim audit. This means that, as a matter of convenience, all the audit work will be carried out in a single phase commencing typically, a short time before the year-end and continuing into the post balance sheet period.

At the other extreme, with large companies it is sometimes necessary to carry out more than one interim audit or, alternatively adopt a continuous auditing approach. In the case of a continuous audit the auditor's staff will either make several visits to the client spread throughout the year or, as in the case of very large companies, some of the audit staff will be present at the client's premises virtually all the time.

#### Advantages and Disadvantages of a Continuous Audit

#### (a) Advantages

- I. The continual or regular attendance of the auditor may act as a deterrent to fraud;
- ii. Weaknesses in the client's systems are noticed earlier and, if they exist, errors

- and fraud may be discovered more quickly;
- iii. It is sometimes possible to start the balance sheet work before the year end. This will lead to swifter financial reporting;

iv. The auditor's work is spread more evenly throughout the year. This will help to relieve the pressures on staff that arise for many audit firms during the first few months of each year.

### (b) Disadvantages

- I. Audit staff who spend much of their time working on one client may find their independence adversely affected;
- ii. The auditor's frequent (and sometimes unexpected) visits may cause inconvenience to the client:
- iii. It is possible that figures may be altered (innocently or fraudulently) after they have been checked;
- iv. It may be found that outstanding points and queries raised at one visit are forgotten and not followed up at a later stage. Strict control is needed to ensure that this does not happen particularly where the staff assigned to the audit have changed.

### 1.4 The Auditor and the Kenya Companies Act, 1962, Cap 486

#### **Duties**

Make a report to the members on all accounts laid before the members in general meeting during his tenure of office:

- The report must contain matters mentioned in the 7th Schedule to the Act. Section 162(1).
- This therefore means the auditor has to include in the report statements on the accounts i.e.
- i. Compliance with the Companies Act;
- ii. Truth and fairness of the balance sheet and profit and loss account.

The auditor also has to investigate and report whether or not:

- i. Proper books of account have been kept;
- ii. Proper returns have been received from branches not visited by the auditor.
- iii. The accounts are in agreement with the books of accounts.

The auditor has also to report whether or not he has obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of their knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of their audit.

#### Rights

- 1. Right to have his report read before the Company. (Section 162(2).
- 2. Right of access at all times to the books, accounts and vouchers of the company.
- 3. Right to require from offices of the company such information and explanation as he thinks necessary for the performance of the duties of the auditor. (Section 162(3).
- 4. Right to receive notice of and attend meetings and report on any matters that concern him as auditor. (Section 162(4).
- 5. Right to report to the members on his findings including failure by the directors and employees of the company to supply him with all the information and explanations which he deemed necessary. (Section 162(1) and 7th Schedule company. (Sections

161(3).

#### **Powers**

The rights may be considered to be powers but the Companies Act does not give the auditor any legal powers to assist him in his work.

The directors can refuse to give any information he wants and they can refuse to publish his report and can deny him access to the records and also fail to serve him with notice of meetings and there is NOTHING THE AUDITOR CAN DO!

The Companies Act does not give the auditor any legal powers.

#### **Qualifications For Appointment As Auditor**

Must be a holder of a practising certificate issued pursuant to Section 21 of the Accountants Act. (Section 161(1). Should not be an officer or servant of the company. (Section 161(2a)(i).

Shall not be a partner of or in the employment of an officer or servant of the company. (Section 161 (2a)(ii).

Should not be a body corporate. (Section 161 (2a)(iii).

If an auditor is disqualified from appointment as an auditor of the company's subsidiary company or holding company or any other venture which if it were a company would be a subsidiary or holding.

Please note that references to officer or servant should not be construed to mean auditor (although the auditor HOLDS OFFICE). (Section 161(2)(b).

# 1.5 The Auditors and the Kenya Companies Act, 1962, Cap

#### 486 Appointment

Every company must appoint an auditor/auditors at each annual general meeting. To hold office from the conclusion of that, until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

Retiring auditor is deemed to be reappointed without passing a resolution at an AGM unless:

- · He is not qualified for reappointment;
- Resolution is passed at the AGM appointing somebody instead of him or providing expressly that he should not be reappointed.
- He has given notice in writing of his unwillingness to be reappointed Section 159(2)a, b, c.

If at the AGM no auditor/(s) is/are appointed or deemed reappointed, the registrar may appoint a person to fill the vacancy. Section 159(3). The directors can appoint the first auditors at any time before the first AGM to hold office till that AGM. The directors can fill a casual vacancy in the office of auditor. Section 159(6).

#### Remuneration

Fixed by whoever appoints the auditor/s. Section 159 (7) (a). Remuneration includes any expenses of the auditor/s paid by the company. Section 159 (7) (b).

#### Dismissal/Removal

An auditor can be dismissed at any time before the end of his tenure of office. This is despite any agreement between him and the company. This removal is by ordinary resolution at a meeting

with special notice (28 clear days) having been served. Only the members in a properly constituted meeting can remove an auditor from office.

When an auditor is removed before expiry of his tenure of office, then the company must within fourteen days give notice of this fact to the Registrar. The auditor must be informed of all attempts to dismiss or remove him, from office. He is allowed to make representations to the members if he feels the directors want to remove him unfairly. The directors have to circulate the representations to the members.

### Resignation

Auditors in Kenya cannot under the Companies Act resign before the end of their tenure of office. The closest they can come to resigning is giving notice in writing to the company that they are unwilling to be reappointed. Section 159(2)(c).

#### 1.6 The New Engagement

### Background

Reiteration of the ICPAK definition of an audit highlights the problems of the new audit.

An audit is the independent examination of, and expression of opinion on, the financial statements of an enterprise by an appointed auditor in pursuance of that appointment and in compliance with any relevant statutory obligation: If we take the example of a limited company audit, then we can immediately appreciate that (before a new audit client is accepted, the auditor concerned must ensure that there are no independence or other ethical problems likely to cause conflict with the ethical code. Furthermore, it is important for the new auditor to ensure that he has been appointed in a proper and legal manner - it will be appreciated that one auditor's appointment is normally another auditor's removal or resignation). Essentially, the initial procedures to be observed can be considered in 2 stages:

- a) Procedures before accepting nomination; and
- b) Procedures after accepting nomination.

#### Procedures before accepting nomination

The nominee auditor must take the following steps:

- a) Ensure that he is professionally qualified to act i.e. is not disqualified on any legal or ethical grounds.
- b) Ensure that the firm's existing resources are adequate to service the needs of the new client. This will raise questions of staff and time availability and the firm's technical expertise.
- c) Seek references in respect of the new client company, it may be, as is often the case, that the directors of the company are already personally known to the firm, if not, independent enquiries should be made concerning the status of the company and its directors.
- d) Communicate with the retiring auditor:

# Procedures after accepting nomination

(a) Ensure that the outgoing auditor's removal or resignation has been properly conducted in accordance with the Companies Act 1962.
The new auditor should see a valid notice of the outgoing auditor's resignation, or confirm that the outgoing auditor was properly removed at a general meeting of the company.

- (b) Ensure that the new auditor's appointment is valid. The new auditor should obtain a copy of the resolution passed at the general meeting appointing him as the company's auditor.
- (c) Set up and submit a letter of engagement to the directors of the company. This important procedure is considered immediately below.

## The engagement letter

#### Purpose

We have established that the directors and auditors of a limited company have very precise legal duties, we are also aware that modern accountancy firms thrive on their ability to provide a wide range of professional services in addition to audit.

It is the purpose of an **engagement letter** to define clearly the extent of the auditor's responsibilities and so minimise the possibility of any misunderstanding between the client and the auditor. Further, the engagement letter provides written confirmation of the auditor's acceptance of the appointment, the scope of the audit, the form of his report and scope of any non audit services. If an engagement letter is not sent to clients - both new and existing - there is scope for argument about the precise extent of the respective obligations of the client and its directors and the auditor. The contents of an engagement letter should be discussed and agreed with management before it is sent and preferably prior to the audit appointment).

vii. The engagement letter is a well established audit technique and ISA 210 **Terms of Audit Engagements** provides guidance in this area.

# Regulation of the Accounting Profession in Kenya

The broad regulations that govern the Accounting profession in Kenya are set out in the Accountants Act, Chapter 531 of the Laws of Kenya.

The act establishes various bodies to regulate the profession in Kenya. These are detailed below with their major respective functions summarised.

# 1. Kenya Accountants and Secretaries National Examination Board (KASNEB) (Section 17).

Functions: • Prepare syllabuses for accounting examinations;

- Make rules with respect to examinations;
- Arrange and conduct examinations;
- Issue certificates to candidates who have satisfied examination requirements;
- Promote recognition of its examinations in foreign countries.

### 2. Registration of Accountants Board (RAB)

Functions:

- Register accountants who are effectively graduates of IAS / IFRSNEB examinations or hold qualifications recognised by RAB (Section 23 & 24).
- Issue of Practising Certificates (Section 21).

#### 3. Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya (ICPAK)

Functions:

- To promote standards of professional competence and practice amongst members;
- Promote research into the subjects of accountancy and finance and related matters, publication of books, periodicals, journals and articles;
- Promote the international recognition of the institute;
- Advise the KASNEB on matters relating to examination standards and policies.

### 4. Disciplinary Committee

Membership to be determined by Council of ICPAK. Where the Institute Council has reason to believe that a member may be guilty of professional misconduct it shall refer the matter to the Disciplinary Committee which will inquire into the matter.

After its inquiry the Committee can recommend:-

- a) No further action be taken against the member;
- b) The member be reprimanded;
- c) The member be reprimanded with publication of the reprimand in the Gazette;
- d) Registration be cancelled;
- e) Practising certificate be suspended.

Section 28 of the Accountants Act details what constitutes professional misconduct.

#### Organisation in an Auditing Firm

The organisation adopted by most of the large firms in Kenya involves a pyramid structure that is usually made up as follows:

Partner

Manager

Accountant in Charge

Audit Assistants, Trainees, juniors

The partner would be responsible for the overall audit and he would sign the final accounts although most firms have a second partner with whom the first partner will consult particularly on matters of qualification in reports. In addition, the partner has to approve the detailed plan of work and give his authority before work can begin. He will carry out a final review of the work once it has been done before signing the accounts. It is his duty to ensure that up-to-date services and advice on all professional matters are provided to the client. He has to ensure continuity in the relationship which can be absent lower down the pyramid. With difficult clients he is also charged with negotiating the audit fees. He can be sued on behalf of the firm.

The manager is appointed for every job and he is responsible to a partner for satisfactory completion of that assignment. His initial responsibility usually involves preparing provisional timings and costing for the audit and to agree the timings with the client. He has to ensure that there are sufficient staffs at the right grade to cover the client's requirements. From the appropriate staff, he has to select the proper accountant in charge and to brief him on what needs to be done. He will also review the audit plan and the related budget which may be prepared by the accountant in charge and he will monitor the progress of the job constantly to ensure that targets are achieved. He has to review the working papers in detail before they are submitted to the partner for his final review. The manager is a crucial person in the audit assignment. He has to ensure that the proposed report is properly drawn up. He has to ensure that the deadlines are met; he has to ensure that the accounts comply with all regulations in every way.

The accountant in charge is sometimes referred to as a supervisor or audit senior. His job is to control the day to day operation of the audit. However, his degree of autonomy depends very much on a particular firm's policy, the personalities of the managers and the accountant's own experience and ability. His typical responsibilities include:

- a) The collection of detailed information for the preparation of the audit plan.
- b) The delegation of specific areas of work to the audit assistants or trainees.
- c) The planning and supervision of the day to day running of the audit.
- d) The constant review of progress by comparison of actual time spent against budget.
- e) Ensuring that the working papers have been thoroughly prepared and are presented in an orderly manner to the manager and the partner for review.

If we look at his position, we find that of the whole audit team he is best placed to discover errors and irregularities. Also if the client is not a client of integrity, the accountant in charge is the easiest person to influence. He is also the easiest person to lose to clients who are looking for young energetic accountants to join their organisations.

Audit Assistants or trainees are responsible to the accountant in charge for the detailed work of the audit. They are expected to produce working papers set out in accordance with the firm's quality control procedures.

## Typical Set-Up in a Professional Firm: Only Professional Staff

**Grading/Department: Senior Partner - Qualified Accountant:** Overall in charge of the practice and co-ordinates the functions and relationships of all departments, and is usually the primary liaison with the international firm (if any).

**Audit Department:** Audit Partners - constitute a major part of the partnership as auditing is usually the core of securing business for the practice.

**Tax Department:** Tax Partner - usually one partner, at the same level as the audit partners, concentrates on running the tax department for both corporate and personal taxation.

Company Secretarial Department: Usually a company registered under the Companies Act with all the partners as directors. One partner may be assigned the responsibility of overseeing the activities of this department usually run by a qualified Company Secretary who is a manager level employee but not a partner. Changes brought about by the new act on Company Secretaries will require that this employee be made a director as corporate bodies can no longer be Company Secretaries.

**Special Service:** Providing book-keeping and accountancy services this department is usually headed by a person of junior manager grade with several clerks as support staff.

**Insolvency Department:** One audit partner can double up as insolvency partner when volume of business is small otherwise a full partner will be in charge of this department with several key support staff, that would include managers.

Management Consultancy: Usually headed by a Director who is same level as a partner but is not necessarily a qualified accountant. Most in-fact possesses other skills in consultancy. Information Technology is a major MCS involvement, Recruitment services, Management Training, Management Consultancy are the other areas of involvement.

Support staffs are called consultants and have grading such as:

Senior Consultant — Audit Equivalent — Senior Manager Consultant — Audit Equivalent — Manager Junior Consultant — Audit Equivalent — Supervisor

#### The Qualities of an Auditor or Professional Accountant

#### Quality

#### **Quality Explained**

1.

Competence 1.1 The professional accountant must be fully conversant with

- Accounting and Book-Keeping;
- Auditing;
- Taxation Law and Practice;
- Internal Control and Accounting Systems;
- Company Law;
- Information Technology;
- Management and Financial Consultancy;
- Valuation;
- Liquidation, Receiverships and Bankruptcy proceedings;
- Economic environment, policies and trends.

#### 1.2 Ability to communicate both orally and in writing

- To his staff in giving instructions and directions;
- To the management and employees in obtaining evidence;
- To shareholders in reporting his findings;
- To other third parties in reporting his findings and obtaining evidence.

### 1.3 Judgement

The accountant must be able to make sound judgements, not only in professional matters but also of people.

He must therefore not only possess the skill and have the experience but he must also have imagination and the ability to differentiate between material and non-material items and to recognise apparent inconsistencies and abnormalities.

# 2. Integrity

The accountant must be and be seen to be honest, a follower of the ethical code of the institute, a person of discretion and tact and a person aware of his or her wider responibility to the community at large. The synonyms for integrity include honesty, uprightness, probity, rectitude, moral soundness.

When an accountant has ethical difficulties or is unsure of what course of conduct to follow, he must consult the institute or seek legal advice.

3. Independence The accountant's "reason to be" is independence. A dependant accountant is a contradiction in terms. The rule is that the accountant must approach every assignment with objectivity. He must approach his work in a spirit of independence of mind. Again not only must he be independent, he must be seen to be independent. Any interest which might diminish an accountants' objectivity of approach or which might appear to do so must be avoided.

| What the profession does to secure the qualities in the accountant  | Board responsible for development/action |
|---|--|
| Requirement to pass comprehensive examinations for entry into the profession  | KASNEB                                   |
| Requirements of a good general education before registration as student   | KASNEB                                   |
| Requirement of a minimum period of practical experience in a firm of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya before a practising certificate is given (an accountant cannot be an auditor without a practising certificate) | RAB                                      |
| Requirement of registration with the Registration of Accountants Board of Kenya on qualification as an accountant   | RAB                                      |
| Determination of the financial reporting framework  | ICPAK                                    |
| Holding of seminars, Issue of magazines and other technical literature  | ICPAK                                    |
| Existence of the disciplinary committee   | The Council of ICPAK                     |

#### International, Assurance Auditing, Standards Board (IAASB)

The preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Assurance and Related Services (International Standards or IAASB's Standards) is issued to facilitate understanding of the objectives and operating procedures of the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) and the scope and authority of the pronouncements it issues, as set forth in the IAASB's Interim Terms of Reference.

The mission of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), as set out in its constitution, is "the worldwide development and enhancement of an accountancy profession with harmonized standards, able to provide services of consistently high quality in the public interest."

In pursuing this mission, the IFAC Board has established the IAASB to develop and issue, under its own authority, high quality standards on auditing, assurance and related services engagements (IAASB's Engagement Standards, as defined in paragraph 14), related Practice Statements and quality control standards for use around the world.

The IAASB's pronouncements govern audit, assurance and related services engagements that are conducted in accordance with International Standards.

They do not override the local laws or regulations that govern the audit of historical financial statements or assurance engagements on other information in a particular country required to be followed in accordance with that country's national standards. In the event that local laws or regulations differ from, or conflict with, the IAASB's Standards on a particular subject, an engagement conducted in accordance with local laws or regulations will not automatically comply with them. A professional accountant should not represent compliance with the IAASB's Engagement Standards unless the professional accountant has complied fully with all of those relevant to the engagement.

The IAASB is committed to the goal of developing a set of International Standards generally accepted worldwide. To further this goal, the IAASB works cooperatively with national standard setters, and takes a lead role in joint projects with them, to promote convergence between national and international standards and achieve acceptance of IAASB's Standards.

#### The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

The IAASB is a Board established by IFAC. The members of the IAASB are appointed by the IFAC Board to serve on the IAASB.

IAASB members act in the common interest of the public at large and the worldwide accountancy profession. This could result in their taking a position on a matter that is not in accordance with current practice in their country or firm or not in accordance with the position taken by those who put them forward for membership of the IAASB. Each IAASB member has the right to appoint one technical advisor who may participate in the discussions at IAASB meetings.

IAASB meetings to discuss the development and to approve the issuance of International Standards, Practice Statements or other papers are open to the public. Agenda papers, including minutes of the meetings of the IAASB, are published on the IAASB's website.

# The Authority Attaching to International Standards Issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) are to be applied in the audit of historical financial information.

International Standards on Review Engagements (ISREs) are to be applied in the review of historical financial information.

International Standards on Assurance Engagements (ISAEs) are to be applied in assurance engagements dealing with subject matters other than historical financial information.

International Standards on Related Services (ISRSs) are to be applied to compilation engagements, engagements to apply agreed upon procedures to information and other related services engagements as specified by the IAASB.

ISAs, ISREs, ISAEs and ISRSs are collectively referred to as the **IAASB's Engagement Standards**.

**International Standards on Quality Control (ISQCs)** are to be applied for all services falling under the IAASB's Engagement Standards.

The IAASB's Standards contain basic principles and essential procedures (identified in bold type lettering) together with related guidance in the form of explanatory and other material, including appendices. The basic principles and essential procedures are to be understood and applied in the context of the explanatory and other material that provide guidance for their application. It is therefore necessary to consider the whole text of a Standard to understand and apply the basic principles and essential procedures.

The nature of the IAASB's Standards requires professional accountants to exercise professional judgment in applying them. In exceptional circumstances, a professional accountant may judge it necessary to depart from a basic principle or essential procedure of an Engagement Standard to achieve more effectively the objective of the engagement. When such a situation arises, the professional accountant should be prepared to justify the departure.

Any limitation of the applicability of a specific International Standard is made clear in the standard.

# The Authority Attaching to Practice Statements Issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

International Auditing Practice Statements (IAPSs) are issued to provide interpretive guidance and practical assistance to professional accountants in implementing ISAs and to promote good practice.

International Review Engagement Practice Statements (IREPSs), International Assurance Engagement Practice Statements (IAEPSs) and International Related Services

Practice Statements (IRSPSs) are issued to serve the same purpose for implementation of ISREs, ISAEs and ISRSs respectively.

Professional accountants should be aware of and consider Practice Statements applicable to the engagement. A professional accountant who does not consider and apply the guidance included in a relevant Practice Statement should be prepared to explain how the basic principles and essential procedures in the IAASB's Engagement Standard(s) addressed by the Practice Statement have been complied with.

#### IAASBs Standards and Authoritative Documents which are Which are Examinable:

| ISA No  | Title   |
|---------|---|
| 1011110 | Glossary of terms Preface to ISAs and RSs                                   |
| 100     | Assurance Engagements   |
| 120     | Framework of ISAs   |
| 200     | Objective and General Principles Governing an Audit of Financial Statements |
| 210     | Terms of Audit Engagement   |
| 220     | Quality control for Audit Work  |
| 230     | Documentation   |
| 240     | The Auditor's responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in the Audit of    |
|         | Financial Statements  |
| 250     | Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements   |
| 260     | Communication of Audit Matters with those charged with Governance           |
| 300     | Planning  |
| 310     | Knowledge of the Business   |
| 320     | Audit materiality   |
| 400     | Risk Assessments and Internal Control                                       |
| 401     | Auditing in a Computer Information Systems Environment                      |
| 402     | Audit Considerations Relating to Entities Using Service Organizations       |
| 500     | Audit Evidence  |
| 501     | Audit evidence – Additional Consideration for Specific Items                |
| 505     | External Confirmations  |
| 510     | Initial Engagements - Opening Balances                                      |
| 520     | Analytical procedures   |
| 530     | Audit Sampling and Other Selective Testing Procedures                       |
| 540     | Audit of Accounting Estimates   |
| 545     | Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures                            |
| 550     | Related Parties   |
| 560     | Subsequent Events   |
| 570     | Going Concern   |
| 580     | Management representations  |
| 600     | Using the Work of another Auditor   |
| 610     | Considering the Work of Internal Auditing                                   |
|         |   |

| 620        | Using the Work of an Expert   |
|------------|---|
| 700        | The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements                        |
| 710        | Comparatives  |
| 720        | Other Information in Documents Contain Audited Financial Statements |
| 800        | The Auditor's report on Special Purpose Audit Engagements           |
| 810        | The Examination of Prospective Financial Information                |
| 910        | Engagement to Review Financial Statements                           |
| 920        | Engagements to Perform Agreed Upon Procedures Regarding Financial   |
|            | Information   |
| 930        | Engagement to Compile Financial Information                         |
| NI. 772.1. |   |

No Title

IAPS 1005The Special Considerations in the Audit of Small Entities

| IAPS 1010 | The Consideration of Environmental Matters in the Audit of Financial |
|-----------|--|
|           | Statements   |
| IAPS 1013 | Electronic Commerce Effect on the Audit of Financial Statements      |

One of the requirements of IAS 700 the auditor must specifically mention in his report that the audit has been carried out in accordance with approved auditing standards. This is also required by IAPS. The auditing standards and guidelines prescribe best practice in auditing but in no way inhibit the auditor from exercising his judgment in particular situations.

Professional judgement is still required in interpreting the standards in particular areas, determining the sufficiency and type of evidence needed, areas where no standard or guideline has yet been pronounced on. Auditing standards therefore raise the requirements for professional judgement and an effective and economical audit can only be achieved with a great deal of thought at all stages. Therefore though mandatory, they are not designed to inhibit professional judgement.

#### THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

International Financial Reporting Standards are of great importance to an auditor. A detailed review of those so far issued belongs to an accounting text and for this reason it is assumed that the students have knowledge of their requirements. However, elsewhere in this text the major auditing points with regard to each current IAS / IFRS are reviewed under the accounting standards checklist. The IAS / IFRS issued to date are as follows:

#### **Examinable Authoritative documents**

# International Financial Reporting Standards (IASs/IFRS)

| No    | Title   | Issue date |
|-------|---|------------|
| IAS 1 | Preface to Statements of IASs<br>Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised) | Aug 1997   |
| IAS 2 | Inventories   | Dec 1993   |
| IAS 7 | Cash Flow Statements (See Note 2)   | Dec 1992   |
| IAS 8 | Net Profits or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors                          |            |
|       |   |            |

|                    | And Changes in Accounting Policies  | Dec 1993  |
|--------------------|---|-----------|
| IAS 10             | Events after the Balance Sheet Date (Revised)                                       | May 1999  |
| IAS 11             | Construction Contracts  | Dec 1993  |
| IAS 12             | (Revised) Income Taxes  | Oct 1996  |
| IAS 14             | (Revised) segment Reporting   | Aug 1997  |
| IAS 15             | Information reflecting The Effects of Changing Prices                               | Dec 1993  |
| IAS 16<br>Sep 1998 | Properties, Plant and Equipment (Revised)   |           |
| IAS 17             | Accounting for Leases (Revised)   | Nov 1997  |
| IAS 18             | Revenue   | Dec 1993  |
| IAS 20             | Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure<br>Of Government Assistance         | Jan 1995  |
| IAS 22             | Business Combinations (Revised)   | Sep 1998  |
| IAS 23             | Borrowing Costs   | Dec 1993  |
| IAS 24             | Related Party Disclosures   | Jan 1995  |
| IAS 27             | Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting<br>For Investments in Subsidiaries | Jan 1995  |
| IAS 28             | Accounting for Investments in Associates (Revised)                                  | Sep 1998  |
| IAS 30             |   |           |
| IAS 31             | Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures (Revised)                        | Sep 1998  |
| IAS 32             | Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Revised) (See Note 3)           | June 1995 |
| IAS 33             | Earnings per Share  | Feb 1997  |
| IAS 34             | Interim Financial Reporting   | Feb 1998  |
| IAS 35             | Discounting Operations  | Jun 1998  |
| IAS 36             | Impairment of Assets  | June 1998 |
| IAS 37             | Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets                            | Sep 1998  |
| IAS 38             | Intangible Assets   | Sep 1998  |

| IAS 39  | Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation (See Note 3) | Dec 1998 |
|---------|---|----------|
| IAS 40  | Investment Property   | Mar 2000 |
| IAS 41  | Agriculture   | Feb 2001 |
| IFRS 1  | Share Based Payments  |          |
| IFRS 2  | First Time Application of IFRSs                                 |          |
| IFRS 3  | Share Based Payments  |          |
| IFRS 4  | Business Combinations   |          |
| IFRS 5. | Non Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations    |          |

# RELEVANCE OF IAS / IFRS TO AUDITING

Auditors must include in their report their opinion on whether the financial statements they report on give a true and fair view. It is generally felt that in order for accounts to show a true and fair view there must be compliance with the IAS / IFRS. There may be situations where compliance with IAS / IFRS may result in a true and fair view not being given but this is rare. So effectively, the auditor is being asked to give an opinion on whether all IAS / IFRS have been complied with in the preparation of the accounts he is auditing. The auditor therefore must know and understand the IAS / IFRS in detail. Auditing students are also expected to know the IAS / IFRS in detail because invariably, there will be an examination question that requires this knowledge and students are advised to quote from the IAS / IFRS and state which of the IAS / IFRS is relevant to their answer.

International Financial Reporting Standards are intended to be applied to all financial statements which show a true and fair view. They set out the main assumptions underlying statements and they prescribe which accounting policy should be used when more than one are possible. They also specify disclosure requirements in many areas including the disclosure of accounting policies. Again they are not intended to be a comprehensive code of rigid rules. It is recognised that such a code sufficiently elaborate to cater for all business situation and circumstances and for every exceptional and marginal case is impossible. The benefits of IAS / IFRS are:

- 1. They lead to a degree of uniformity and comparability among accounts.
- 2. They assist understanding by providing readers of the accounts greater information about the preparations of the accounts.
- 3. They assist accountants and auditors by aiding in the process of determining what is a true and fair view. They therefore help refine the meaning of true and fair view.
- 4. They describe a method of accounting and or disclosure requirement approved by the institute.
- 5. Members of the institute are obliged to secure adherence to IAS / IFRS whenever they are concerned with financial statements be they directors, accountants, company secretaries, auditors or in any other role.

### Negligence in General

There is no recorded case in Kenya against auditors and this makes it difficult to be precise as to where the auditor's legal liability falls. We need therefore to refer to decided cased in other countries. But even in those countries there are in fact very few decided cases against auditors. In those countries, the vast majority of actions against auditors are settled out of court. This saves what could otherwise be very expensive court costs. It is also significant to note that this saves dragging the professional firm's name through the courts and most likely through the newspapers. Firms are of course anxious to avoid such bad publicity.

It is however generally known that the auditor's liability falls under three specific headings:

- (a) To his clients under contract law;
- (b) To third parties under the law of tort;
- (c) Civil and criminal liability under statute law

and we will deal with each in turn:

**To his clients:** The auditor is under duty to report to the members in general meetings on all accounts examined by him and laid before them. His contract is therefore with the company as a whole and not with individual shareholders. The auditor can therefore be accused of negligence if:

- (a) he fails to detect fraud or error which he should reasonably have detected;
- (b) if he fails to comply with generally accepted auditing standards and practices.

However, it is also generally held that for an auditor to suffer actual financial loss, the following conditions must be met.

- i. he must be proved to have been negligent;
- ii. the complainant must have suffered a loss;
- iii. the loss must be as a direct consequence of his reliance on the auditor's report and the auditors negligence.

Therefore if the auditor fails to detect a fraud which is immaterial to the accounts and unless there are suspicious circumstances which he had noticed or should reasonably have noticed, it is unlikely that he will be held negligent.

Even if the fraud was material to the accounts, he may still escape liability if detection could not reasonably have been achieved using normal audit procedures. It must be admitted however this is a very dubious area of law.

The auditor has no duty to individual shareholders. A shareholder who makes an investment decision by relying on the auditor's report and suffers loss cannot claim under the law of contract. Only if the company as a whole has suffered, can the whole body of shareholders claim from the auditor.

In a number of cases it appears that claims have arisen as a result of some misunderstanding as to the degree of responsibility which the accountant was expected to take in giving advice or expressing an opinion. It is therefore important, to distinguish between disputes arising from misunderstanding regarding the duties assumed, and negligence in carrying out agreed terms.

### The Use of Engagement Letters

There is a contractual relationship between an accountant and his client. The accountant should therefore ensure that at the time he agreed to perform certain work for the client, the scope of his responsibilities is made clear preferably in writing, in that the terms of his contract with his client are properly defined. Where possible a letter of engagement should be prepared setting out in detail the actual services to be performed, and the terms of engagement should be accepted by the client so as to minimise the risk of disputes regarding the duties assumed.

#### Liability to third parties

For a long time liability to third parties existed only in respect to physical injury. Liability for financial loss is a recent development. Examples of occasions when an accountant may run the risk of insuring a liability to third parties may include the following:

- (a) Preparing financial statements or reports for a client when it is known or ought to be known that they are intended to be shown to and relied upon by a third party even if the identity of the third party is not disclosed.
- (b) Giving references regarding a client's credit worthiness or an assurance as to his capacity to carry out the terms of a contract or giving any other reference on behalf of the client.

Again, it must be shown that the accountant was negligent, third parties suffered a financial loss, the financial loss occurred as a result of the accountant's negligence and that the accountant knew the purpose for which his report or accounts were to be used.

#### Liability under statute

**Civil liability:** Section 206 of the Companies Act provides that officers of the company and for these purposes auditors are considered as officers, may be liable for financial damages in respect of the civil offences of misfeasance and breach of trust. This section which is only relevant to winding up refers to a situation where officers have misused their position of authority for the purposes of personal gain.

**Criminal liability:** Section 46 of the Companies Act states that an auditor shall be criminally liable if he wilfully makes a materially false statement in any report, certificate, financial statement etc. Wilfully implies fraudulently and can be difficult to prove. Whereby, it is held that where an officer of a body corporate with intent to deceive members or creditors, publishes or concurs in publishing a written statement of account which to his knowledge is or may be misleading, false or deceptive in a material particular he shall on conviction be liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 7 years.

#### Other relevant issues to be considered under this section include:

- The auditor with errors and irregularities;
- The auditor with illegal acts by client or client's staff;
- Questionable payments;

#### **ILLEGAL ACTS**

Auditors may uncover criminal offences committed by a client or an employee of the client. This puts them in a difficult position, but the auditor should act carefully and correctly and if necessary, take legal advice. The auditor must not commit a criminal offence himself. It is felt that he would have committed a criminal offence if:

- (a) He advises his client to commit a criminal offence;
- (b) Aids the client in devising or examining a crime;
- (c) If he agrees with a client to conceal or destroy evidence or mislead the police with false statements;
- (d) If he knows that his client has committed an arrest able offence and tries to impede his arrest and prosecution. Impede does not include refusing to answer questions or refusing to produce documents without the client's consent;
- (e) If he knows that his client has committed an offence and agreed to accept consideration to withhold information;
- (f) If he knows that the client has committed treason and fails to report the offence to the proper authority.

# Discovery of unlawful acts

When an auditor discovers unlawful acts, usually he is not expected to disclose to the police or other authorities unless:

- i. The client authorises disclosure;
- ii. That disclosure is compelled by process of law for example, a court order;
- iii. That disclosure is required in the auditor's own defence;
- iv. The circumstances are such that the auditor has a public duty to disclose, for example, when the client has committed a serious crime or his act is treasonable.

Therefore to summarise, the auditor on discovery of an unlawful act should do nothing positively to assist in the offence or to prevent its disclosure. He must bring all offences of employees to the notice of his clients. If the offence is such that its non-disclosure means that the accounts are not showing a true and fair view, then the auditor must insist on disclosure or qualify his audit report. Discovery of material defects in previous accounts should be pointed out to the client with recommendation for disclosure.

#### **Questionable Payments**

In some countries, business is often gained by bribing ministers or public officials or officers of companies or firms with whom one wishes to do business. Indeed bribery and corruption are a way of life in some business communities. This is the general area of questionable payments, which may include "commissions, usually based on the amount of business placed". When an auditor discovers such payments, he has to consider what course of action to take. In general, the following conduct by the auditor is acceptable.

- (a) He should satisfy himself that the payment is as stated and that he has been told the whole story;
- (b) He should satisfy himself that the payments were genuinely made in furtherance of the client's business;
- (c) He has to satisfy himself that all directors of the company were aware of the payment and its purposes;
- (d) He has to obtain a letter of representation, signed by all the directors to confirm (c);
- (e) If the client is a subsidiary, then he has to ensure that the holding company and the primary auditors are aware of the payment and;
- (f) He has to consider whether disclosure is required. Generally disclosure is not necessary because such payments are rarely material in the context of the company' accounts as a whole and usually a true and fair view is given without disclosure.

# REINFORCING QUESTIONS

#### **QUESTION ONE**

The directors of KK Limited, a newly formed company, have written to you with a view to securing your services as auditor. Within their letter you note the following comments.

"Your duties and rights as auditor will be determined by the board of our company. In the main these duties are in line with the requirements of the Companies Act 1962 but in the event of conflict or exclusion we will indemnify you against any legal action brought as a consequence of the position adopted. The board also retains the right to dismiss you at any time without necessarily disclosing the reasons for their action".

## Required

- (a) Describe what is your understanding of your duties as auditor of KK Limited.
- (b) What is your relationship as the auditor to the directors of KK Limited?
- (c) Outline your rights under the Companies Act as auditor of a limited company.
- (d) Would you agree with the directors that they have the authority to dismiss you?
- (e) What steps would you take prior to accepting the appointment as auditor to the company?

### **QUESTION TWO**

It has been suggested that the most important matter affecting the credibility of the auditor is that of 'Independence'.

### Required

- (a) Discuss giving examples, matters other than independence, which might be relevant in relation to the credibility of the auditor and steps that the accounting profession has taken or might take in relation to them.
- (b) Comment on the following situations in the context of the independence of the auditor, showing clearly the principles involved:
  - i. The audit manager in charge of the audit assignment of Andrew holds 1,000 £1 ordinary shares in the company (total shares in issue 100,000). The audit partner holds no shares.
  - ii. An audit partner of a firm of Certified Public Accountants is a personal friend of the chief accountant of James Ltd. The chief accountant is not a director of the company and the audit partner is not responsible for the James Limited audit work.
  - iii. The audit fee receivable from Janet Ltd is £100,000. The total fee income of the Audit firm is £700,000.
  - iv. The audit senior in charge of the audit of Margot Bank Ltd has a personal loan from the bank of £2,000 on which she is currently paying 13% interest.
  - The audit partner is responsible for two audit assignments, Harry Limited and Jean Limited. Harry Limited has recently tendered for a contract with Jean Limited for the supply of material quantities of goods over a number of years. Harry Limited has asked the audit partner to advise on the matter.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

- (a) What should an accountant do about commissions?
- (b) Enumerate the areas where conflict of interest may occur?
- (c) What restrictions are there on advertising?
- (d) How can an accountant obtain publicity in an ethical manner?
- (e) May an accountant send a video, showing how he could assist a potential company client, direct to that company?
- (f) What are the rules on accountants' remuneration?

# **QUESTION FOUR**

Onyango, Kamau and Makokha are partners in a small firm of engineers operating in road construction. Since commencing business 20 months ago they have been quite successful. The accounting records have been kept by Onyango who attended Finance for Non-Accountants Seminar some two years back. Onyango has also prepared the first years accounts.

On review of the accounts the three partners notice that the accounts show a profit in excess of drawings. Kamau and Makokha suggest that they should divide the excess amongst themselves immediately but Onyango counsels caution, talking about working capital needs which confuses the others.

Makokha questions Onyango on his interpretation of the partnership agreement which is a very complicated document and suggests that they should pay to have the accounts audited. Onyango becomes heated and says that would be a waste of time and money as he is perfectly capable of producing the accounts and makes no charge to his partners for this work.

# Required

What benefits would the partners derive from employing an independent auditor?

It is common practice for auditors to send a letter of engagement to new clients and increasingly to existing clients. Set out below are matters usually included in such letters.

- i. Definition and scope of audit
- ii. Fraud and irregularities
- iii. Accounting, taxation and other services
- iv. Fees

#### Required

- (a) Explain why a letter of engagement is desirable for the auditor
- (b) In the case of each matter referred to above show what points will be included.

(15 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

For many years the law had adopted an approach whereby no action for negligence could be brought if the parties concerned had no contractual relationship with each other, unless the negligent act caused physical injury or was fraudulent misrepresentation. Thus, the auditor had a contractual relationship with his client or clients' shareholders only and owed a duty of care to them alone. However, the courts have increasingly sought to extend the liability of the auditor to other (even potential) users of financial statements. The view of the judiciary appears to be that the time is ripe for the auditing profession to assume a greater responsibility for its actions. The risk attached to users of audited financial statements has been reduced and, at the same time, there has been an increase in the risk carried by the auditing profession.

### You are required to

- (a) Describe the judicial decisions, which have altered the range of the auditors' duty of care to third parties.
- (b) Explain how the auditor can ensure that the risk attaching to an audit is reduced to a minimum.
- (c) Comment on the view that much of the litigation and allegations of negligence directed against the auditors may be more appropriately aimed at the directors of a company.

Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

# **LESSON TWO**

# Accounting and Internal Control Systems: Theory and Practice

# **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this lesson, you should be able to:

- Define and describe the objectives of internal control systems and the responsibility for internal control systems in the context of organisational objectives
- Describe the importance of internal controls to auditors
- Describe and illustrate the limitations of internal control systems in the context of fraud and error
- State the types of controls
- · Summarise the methods used to ascertain and to record systems
- Discuss whether reliance should be placed on the systems to reduce the total amount of testing
- Design appropriate accounting and internal control systems
- Explain and discuss the impact of development in IT.

### **CONTENTS**

- 1) The Accounting System
- 2) Internal Controls systems
- 3) Errors and Fraud
- 4) Internal Auditing
- 5) The Impact of developments in Information Technology

# INSTRUCTIONS

- 1. Assigned reading
  - a. IAS 400 Risk Assessments and Internal Control
  - b. ISA 240 The Auditor's responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in the Audit of Financial Statements
  - c. ISA 610 Considering the work of internal Auditing
- 2. Completely answer the reinforcing questions at the end of this lesson without reference to the model answers
- 3. Compare your answers with those given in lesson 10 of the study pack.

Lesson Two 29

#### 2.0 The Accounting System

#### **Definition**

ISA 400 Risk Assessment and Internal Control accounting system is the series of tasks and records of an entity by which transactions are processed as a means of maintaining financial records. Such systems identify, assemble, analyze, calculate, classify, record, summarize and report transactions and other events.

**ISA 400** Risk Assessments and Internal Controls states that the auditor should obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. The auditor should use professional judgment to assess audit risk and to design audit procedures to ensure it is reduced to an acceptably low level.

The Companies Act Cap 486 places a duty upon the auditor in preparing his report to carry out investigations that will enable him form an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with the seventh schedule to the Companies Act Cap 486

The objective of the accounting system is to ensure that all transactions are completely and accurately processed and recorded and that the resulting accounting entries are valid.

#### Managements interest in the accounting system

Management needs complete and accurate books of accounts because:

- i. There is no other way the business can be controlled;
- ii. Records of debtors and creditors are indispensable;
- iii. The best way to safeguard assets is to have a proper record of them;
- iv. Accounts can only be prepared if proper primary books exist;
- v. The Companies Act has specific requirements on keeping of proper books of accounts;
- vi. The various acts covering NSSF, NHIF, PAYE, VAT, LEVY require proper books.

What constitutes an adequate system of accounting depends on the circumstances. The important thing is that the system should provide for the orderly assembly of accounting information to enable accounts to be prepared. A system of accounting cannot succeed in completely and accurately processing and recording all transactions, unless internal arrangements set up by the management known as **Internal Controls** are built into the system.

#### 2.1 Internal Control Systems

ISA 400: "Internal control system" means all the policies and procedures (internal controls) adopted by the management of an entity to assist in achieving management's objective of ensuring, as far as practicable, the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to management policies, the safeguarding of assets, the prevention and detection of fraud and error, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information. The internal control system extends beyond those matters which relate directly to the functions of the accounting system and comprises:

#### (a) "The control environment"

Which means the overall attitude, awareness and actions of directors and management regarding the internal control system and its importance in the entity. The control environment has an effect on the effectiveness of the specific control procedures. A strong control environment, for example, one with tight budgetary controls and an effective internal audit function, can significantly complement specific control procedures. However, a strong environment does not, by itself, ensure the effectiveness of the internal control system. Factors reflected in the control environment include:

- The function of the board of directors and its committees.
- Management's philosophy and operating style.
- The entity's organizational structure and methods of assigning authority and responsibility.
- Management's control system including the internal audit function, personnel
  policies and procedures and segregation of duties.
- (b) "Control procedures" which means those policies and procedures in addition to the control environment which management has established to achieve the entity's specific objectives. Specific control procedures include:
  - Reporting, reviewing and approving reconciliations.
  - Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the records.
  - Controlling applications and environment of computer information systems, for example, by establishing controls over changes to computer programs
  - · Access to data files.
  - Maintaining and reviewing control accounts and trial balances.
  - Approving and controlling of documents.
  - Comparing internal data with external sources of information.
  - Comparing the results of cash, security and inventory counts with accounting records.
  - Limiting direct physical access to assets and records.
  - Comparing and analyzing the financial results with budgeted amounts.

### **Exam Focus**

This is a fertile area for examiners. Invariably in every examination paper set on auditing there will always be a question on internal controls.

We will consider the definition, the theory, the practice and its impact on the accountant being audited and the accountant who is doing the auditing.

The management is concerned that errors and irregularities should not occur because if they did occur they would result either in the loss of assets or the production of accounting records that are unreliable in that they will fail to disclose a true and fair view of the financial position and the results from operations of the entity concerned.

#### Meaning of the definition

a) Orderly and efficient manner: An organization that is run in an orderly and efficient manner is able to satisfy the needs of its managers, shareholders, auditors, customers, suppliers and anybody else interested in the operations of the entity. It will be able to satisfy the needs of its production facilities. The results of orderliness include the timely production of information that is reliable, they also include the cooperation of all parties concerned. An organization that is run in a disorderly and inefficient manner will soon degenerate into chaos and would probably have to close down sooner or later. This is important to the auditor in that where the organization is well run he will expect reliable information timely received or provided and he will receive the cooperation of the management, the staff and other third parties from

Lesson Two 31

whom he may seek representations. This reduces the amount of detailed work the auditor has to do.

- Ensure adherence to management policy: Every organization must have b) aims or objectives. For a company these are usually to be found in its Memorandum and Articles of Association. The management is charged with the responsibility of designing policies that will enable the organization's objectives to be achieved. So the management must set policies that have to be followed or adhered to, to achieve the objectives of the organization. To do this, management identifies broad policies such as: the industry in which to operate, the products to produce, where the factory is to be located and which market its products are aimed at. Management also sets detailed policies such as the number of accounts clerks to be employed and their remuneration. For the auditor adherence to management policy places the whole organization in perspective. Only if the auditor understands the organization's objectives and the policies adopted by the management to achieve those objectives will he be able to determine whether measured against those objectives, the accounts give a true and fair view. The policies adopted particularly in determining the values attached to assets and liabilities and the amounts to be charged as revenue or expenditure in the profit and loss account must be in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
- c) Safeguard the assets: The assets are the resources of the organizations. They must therefore be protected from loss. This protection can be done directly i.e. physically locking the assets under lock and key and trying to prevent their deterioration or safeguarding can be done indirectly through records and documentation. Safeguarding the assets means restricting access to the assets. Indirect restriction means that access to the assets should be through authorised documentation. For the auditor, the accounts cannot give a true and fair view if he cannot confirm that the assets concerned actually exist and have the value attributed to them.
- d) Secure as far as possible the completeness and accuracy of the records. It is difficult to control any business unless you have got reliable and accurate records. Business decisions cannot be made unless all the transactions have been completely and accurately processed and recorded. The Companies Act requires proper records being kept for all the company's transactions and activities. It further requires that these records should be such that accounts that give a true and fair view can be extracted from them. Therefore, the organization must keep reliable records and therefore the management must take the appropriate steps to ensure that it secures as far as possible the completeness and accuracy of the records. For an auditor, his interests in this element of internal control arises out of his statutory responsibility to investigate and report whether proper books of accounts have been kept, whether the accounts he is examining are in agreement with those books, and whether the Companies Act requirements have been complied with in all material respects. He therefore has a direct interest in complete and accurate records.

#### 2.2 Fraud and Error

ISA 240 The Auditor's Responsibility to Consider Fraud And Error states that when planning and performing audit procedures and evaluating and reporting the results thereof, the auditor should consider the risk of Material misstatements in the financial statements resulting from fraud or error.

Misstatements in the financial statements can arise from fraud or error.

The term "error" refers to an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an amount or a disclosure, such as the following:

- A mistake in gathering or processing data from which financial statements are prepared.
- An incorrect accounting estimate arising from oversight or misinterpretation of facts.
- A mistake in the application of accounting principles relating to measurement, recognition, classification, presentation, or disclosure.

The term "fraud" refers to an intentional act by one or more individuals among management, those charged with governance, employees, or third parties, involving the use of deception to obtain an unjust or illegal advantage.

Although fraud is a broad legal concept, the auditor is concerned with fraudulent acts that cause a material misstatement in the financial statements. Misstatement of the financial statements may not be the objective of some frauds. Auditors do not make legal determinations of whether fraud has actually occurred. Fraud involving one or more members of management or those charged with governance is referred to as **management fraud**;" fraud involving only employees of the entity is referred to as **management fraud**." In either case, there may be collusion with third parties outside the entity.

Two types of intentional misstatements are relevant to the auditor's consideration of fraud – misstatements resulting from fraudulent financial reporting and misstatements resulting from misappropriation of assets.

**Fraudulent financial reporting** involves intentional misstatements or omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. Fraudulent financial reporting may involve the following:

- Deception such as manipulation, falsification, or alteration of accounting records or supporting documents from which the financial statements are prepared.
- Misrepresentation in, or intentional omission from, the financial statements of events, transactions or other significant information.
- Intentional misapplication of accounting principles relating to measurement, recognition, classification, presentation, or disclosure.

The distinguishing factor between fraud and error is whether the underlying action that results in the misstatement in the financial statements is intentional or unintentional. Unlike error, fraud is intentional and usually involves deliberate concealment of the facts. While the auditor may be able to identify potential opportunities for fraud to be perpetrated, it is difficult, if not impossible, for the auditor to determine intent, particularly in matters involving management judgment, such as accounting estimates and the appropriate application of accounting principles.

## Responsibility of Those Charged With Governance and of Management

The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and error rests with both those charged with the governance and the management of an entity. The respective responsibilities of those charged with governance and management may vary by entity and from country to country. Management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, needs to

set the proper tone, create and maintain a culture of honesty and high ethics, and establish appropriate controls to prevent and detect fraud and error within the entity. This responsibility arise out of the contractual relationship between the directors, managers and the company

Recent Pronouncements on corporate governance have reinforced this responsibility

## Responsibilities of the Auditor

The Auditor ha no responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and error although the annual audit may act as a deterrent.

As described in ISA 200, "Objective and General Principles Governing an Audit of Financial Statements," the objective of an audit of financial statements is to enable the auditor to express an opinion whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an identified financial reporting framework. An audit conducted in accordance with ISAs is designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. The fact that an audit is carried out may act as a deterrent, but the auditor is not and cannot be held responsible for the prevention of fraud and error.

An audit does not guarantee all material misstatements will be detected because of such factors as the use of judgment, the use of testing, the inherent limitations of internal control and the fact that much of the evidence available to the auditor is persuasive rather than conclusive in nature. For these reasons, the auditor is able to obtain only reasonable assurance that material misstatements in the financial statements will be detected.

In planning the audit, the auditor should discuss with other members of the audit team the susceptibility of the entity to material misstatements in the financial statements resulting from fraud or error. The auditor should make inquiries of management:

- (a) To obtain an understanding of:
  - (i) Management's assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud; and
  - (ii) The accounting and internal control systems management has put in place to address such risk;
- (b) To obtain knowledge of management's understanding regarding the accounting and internal control systems in place to prevent and detect error;
- (c) To determine whether management is aware of any known fraud that has affected the entity or suspected fraud that the entity is investigating; and
- (d) To determine whether management has discovered any material errors.

## Procedures When Fraud is suspected

When the auditor encounters circumstances that may indicate that there is a material misstatement in the financial statements resulting from fraud or error, the auditor should perform procedures to determine whether the financial statements are materially misstated.

When the auditor identifies a misstatement, the auditor should consider whether such a misstatement may be indicative of fraud and if there is such an indication, the auditor should consider the implications of the misstatement in relation to other aspects of the audit, particularly the reliability of management representations.

## Evaluation and Disposition of Misstatements, and the Effect on the Auditor's Report

When the auditor confirms that, or is unable to conclude whether, the financial statements are materially misstated as a result of fraud or error, the auditor should consider the implications for

the audit.

## Documentation

The auditor should document fraud risk factors identified as being present during the auditor's assessment process and document the auditor's response to any such factors. If during the performance of the audit, fraud risk factors are identified that cause the auditor to believe that additional audit procedures are necessary, the auditor should document the presence of such risk factors and the auditor's response to them.

#### Communication

When the auditor identifies a misstatement resulting from fraud, or a suspected fraud, or error, the auditor should consider the auditor's responsibility to communicate that information to management, those charged with governance and, in some circumstances, to regulatory and enforcement authorities.

# Communication of Misstatements Resulting From Error to Management and to Those Charged With Governance

If the auditor has identified a material misstatement resulting from error, the auditor should communicate the misstatement to the appropriate level of management on a timely basis, and consider the need to report it to those charged with governance in accordance with ISA 260,

# "Communication of Audit Matters With Those Charged With Governance."

The auditor should inform those charged with governance of those uncorrected misstatements aggregated by the auditor during the audit that were determined by management to be immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.

# Communication of Misstatements Resulting From Fraud to Management and to Those Charged With Governance

If the auditor has:

- (a) Identified a fraud, whether or not it results in a material misstatement in the financial statements; or
- (b) Obtained evidence that indicates that fraud may exist (even if the potential effect on the financial statements would not be material); the auditor should communicate these matters to the appropriate level of management on a timely basis, and consider the need to report such matters to those charged with governance in accordance with ISA 260.

## Communications to Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities

The auditor's professional duty to maintain the confidentiality of client information ordinarily precludes reporting fraud and error to a party outside the client entity. The auditor considers seeking legal advice in such circumstances.

Errors can be described as an intentional mistake and they can occur at any stage in a business transaction and they can be of any type. Auditors would primarily be interested in the prevention, detection and disclosure of errors for the following reasons:

(a) Existence of errors may indicate that accounting records are unreliable and are therefore not a satisfactory basis from which to prepare financial statements. The auditor could therefore conclude that proper books of accounts have not been kept where there are too many material errors. This is a ground for qualification of an auditor's report.

(b) Too many errors may also indicate that the system of internal control is not reliable, and therefore the auditor wishing to place any reliance on a system of internal control may not be able to do so.

(c) If errors are of sufficient magnitude, they may be sufficient to affect the true and fair view given by the accounts.

## **Irregularities**

Irregularities can be described as intentional distortions of financial statements for whatever purpose and also as misappropriation of assets whether or not a company by distortions of financial statements. The auditor's responsibility towards fraud and other irregularities is exactly the same as that of errors.

## Materiality

If the auditor knows or suspects that an error or irregularity has occurred or exists, then he cannot apply materiality consideration until he has sufficient evidence of the extent of the error or irregularity

## Indication of irregularities

Possible indications of irregularities include:

- Missing documents or vouchers, these could have been deliberately destroyed to conceal an irregularity;
- (b) Evidence of altered documents: alterations can take place after the transaction has been approved;
- (c) Unsatisfactory explanation: these are explanations that are vague and are unsupported;
- (d) Evidence of disputes;
- (e) Existence of suspense accounts or unexplained differences on reconciliations;
- (f) Evidence that internal control is not operating as it is intended to;
- (g) Unduly lavish life styles of employees and officers;
- (h) Figures not agreeing with expectations.

## Reporting

To the members: unless the errors and irregularities result in the accounts not giving a true and fair view, or do not conform to statute, or proper books have not been kept, then there is no need to report. To the top management: if the auditor suspects that management are involved in irregularities, then he should report to the main board or to the audit committee. To management: all actual or potential irregularities should be reported with recommendations for changes. To third parties: the auditor should take legal advice or advice from his professional body to ensure the accounts give a true and fair view, but only disclose those matters where he has a clear public duty to disclose for example, if a serious crime has been committed.

## TYPES OF INTERNAL CONTROL

1. **Organization:** Enterprises should have a plan of their organization defining and allocating responsibilities and identifies lines of reporting for all aspects of the

- enterprises' operation, including the controls. The delegation of authority and responsibility should be clearly specified.
- 2. Segregation of duties: One of the prime means of control is the separation of those responsibilities or duties which would if combined enable one individual to record and process a complete transaction. Segregation reduces the risk of intentional manipulation and error and increases the element of checking. Functions which should be separated include those of authorization, execution, custody, recording and in the case of a computer based accounting system, systems development and daily operations.
- 3. **Physical:** These are concerned mainly with the custody of assets and involve procedures and security measures designed to ensure that access to assets is limited to authorised personnel. This includes both direct access and indirect access through documentation. These controls assumes importance in the case of valuable, portable, exchangeable or desirable assets.
- 4. **Authorization and approval:** All transactions should require authorization or approval by an appropriate responsible person. The limits for this authorization should be specified.
- 5. **Arithmetical and accounting:** These are the controls within the recording function which check that the transactions to be recorded and processed have been authorised, that they are all included and that they are correctly recorded and accurately processed. Such controls include: the checking of the arithmetical accuracy of the records, the maintenance and checking of totals, reconciliations, control accounts and trial balances and accounting for documents.
- 6. Personnel: There should be procedures to ensure that personnel have capabilities commensurate with their responsibilities. Inevitably, the proper functioning of any system depends on the competence and integrity of those operating it. The qualifications, selection and training as well as the innate personal characteristics of the personnel involved are important features to be considered in setting up any control system.
- 7. **Supervision:** Any system of internal control should include the supervision by responsible officials of day to day transactions and the recording thereof.
- 8. **Management controls:** These are the controls exercised by the management outside the day to day routine of the system. They include: the overall supervisory controls, exercised by management, the review of management accounts, and comparison thereof with budgets, the internal audit functions and any special review procedures.

You should remember the key internal control objectives in relation to recording and processing; (validity, completeness, accuracy, independence).

## Types of controls explained:

To explain the above types of controls we will constantly refer to purchase of raw materials.

Organization: The enterprise should create proper departments that will achieve an efficient and orderly working environment. In the areas of purchases one would expect the organization to have a stores department which is charged with the responsibility of monitoring stock levels so that when the stock of raw materials reaches the reorder level they will raise a requisition for new supplies. We would expect that a clerk in the stores department has been charged with this responsibility and that he does his job. He knows what is expected of him, he knows whom he reports to, he knows whom he can delegate his work to and he knows the limits of his authority. We would also expect a purchasing department charged with the responsibility of receiving the requisition from the stores. Their function is once they received the requisition they will examine it for necessity and they will select the most appropriate supplier who has been approved by the

entity. They will raise the LPO, check the details on the LPO, get it approved, and despatch it to the supplier. You should note that organization relates to having proper departments within the company and within those departments to have individuals with clearly specified job descriptions.

Segregation of duties: For every transaction, we can identify the following stages: initiation, authorization, execution, custody of the resultant assets and the recording of the whole process. As much as possible, these stages should be separated as far as the individuals who carry them out are concerned. In the case of raw materials, the initiation began in the stores department when the goods were requested. Part of the execution is carried out by the purchasing department when they examine the requisition and raise the LPO. Authorization of the LPO will have to be done by an independent person. We can already see that two departments have been involved, the stores and the purchasing department. These controls cover what used to be originally called internal check. This archaic term used to refer to a situation whereby the work of one person was subject to independent review by another person or was complimentary to the work of another person. It also covers rotation of duties whereby no one person is kept in the same position for an indefinitely long period of time. It includes the requirement that people should take regular leave so that other people can have the opportunity to carry out their functions.

**Physical:** The store-man should know the condition under which the raw materials should be stored to ensure that they do not deteriorate. He has also to ensure that the raw materials are securely kept in a warehouse that is well protected so that no one can just walk in and steal the raw materials. We will also expect the organization to have raw materials requisition notes so that they have to be properly authorised for raw materials to be moved from the warehouse to the production section.

**Authorization and approval:** As we saw under organization the purchasing department will raise the LPO; the LPO commits the organization to use its resources. These commitments require to be approved at the appropriate levels hence you will find that before the LPO becomes a valid contract, it must be approved in accordance with the approved delegation of authority. The reason for this is that as it forms a basis of a contract between the organization and the supplier it needs to be checked for grammatical mistakes and the commitment of funds.

Arithmetical and accounting: Transactions have to be recorded in monetary terms, or where necessary in physical quantities. The entity must therefore have adequate records to record all transactions and adequate documents to provide evidence and an audit trail of the transactions from authorization up to recording. In the case of our raw materials, we would therefore expect that when the raw material arrives at the warehouse, somebody should check it for quantity and quality to ensure that what we are receiving is what we ordered, these would mean comparing with the orders. A document must be raised to acknowledge receipt of the goods and the checking of their quality and quantity with the orders. A copy of the document acknowledging receipt should be sent to the accounts department for them to be able to match it with the suppliers invoice when it is received to ensure that we are being charged for goods that we ordered and received. The suppliers invoice will have to be entered into the purchases day book, the purchases ledger and into the creditors control account.

**Personnel:** Personnel controls are neglected in many organizations much to the regret of the organization concerned. Personnel involves allocating the human resources in the most efficient and cost effective manner. Every individual should be given a job that he is competent of doing, he should be properly remunerated for that job, he should be motivated to do the job, he should see a clear career path. Also the integrity of the staff involved has to be established. This involves obtaining references of key staff before the organization engages them and constant counselling to ensure that they have not lost their integrity. When the raw material reaches the warehouse, we would expect that the store man knows exactly what kind of material it is, how it should be stored to protect it from deterioration and how it should be used. We would expect that he could see

potential for development within the organization and that his salary or remuneration is commensurate with his responsibilities.

**Supervision:** Everybody's work should be subject to supervision. So the clerk who raises the requisition in the stores has his superior supervising his activities to ensure that he does not just raise requisitions without confirming that in fact the reorder level has been reached.

Management controls: These are exercised by management by ensuring compliance with the broad policy's of the organization. In the case we are looking at, we can envisage the managing director being given a schedule of purchases for the whole month, he then reviews this schedule and tries to determine whether the material we bought was in the quantity and amount that the organization should be using, whether we are within budget and whether we are being profitable or not.

The aim of a system of internal control we said was to minimise the incidents of errors and irregularities. So as we move on to the practice of internal control we will be considering the potential errors and irregularities that can occur and the measures the organization takes to ensure that they do not occur and if they occur they are detected within reasonable time so that future occurrences are prevented.

## THE PRACTICE OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The traditional classification of operation for internal control purposes was:

- a) Cash and cheques received including cash and bank balances;
- b) Cash and cheque payments;
- c) Salaries and wages;
- d) Purchases and trade creditors;
- e) Sales and trade debtors;
- f) Stocks including work-in-progress;
- g) Fixed assets and investments.

However, it is more usual now to classify transactions in accordance with their related cycles. These cycles are recognized in a typical manufacturing organization as: sales cycles, purchases cycle, wages cycle and conversion cycle.

## The Sales Cycle

# 1. Potential error or irregularity:

Goods being despatched or leaving the premises without being invoiced, services being rendered without being invoiced, goods on consignment or in transit to other branches not being recognised in the books.

## **Implications**

Understatement of sales, wrong management accounts, loss of assets of the company and accounts that will not give a true and fair view as sales and debtors are understated.

## Preventive measures

The sales department should acknowledge orders received. This can be done by the organization ensuring that all customers' orders are transcribed their own internal sales orders which should be pre-numbered. The objective is to initiate the accounting trail and reduce the possibility of

disputes with the customers. The sales department should also be responsible for fixing selling prices and delivery dates and any special discounts should be approved by a responsible official. Before the order is processed further, it is passed on to the credit control department, they check the credit worthiness of the customer and if he is an existing customer they have to check that the new order will not exceed the credit limit. If the customer has not dealt with the company previously, then bank and trade references should be obtained. The credit control department if it is satisfied that this is a customer who should be supplied with the goods will then check with the stores to confirm the availability of the stock items. They will then approve the sales order and pass it on to stores to despatch the goods. Stores should despatch the goods ensuring what they are despatching is in accordance with what the customer ordered and what has been approved by the credit control department.

They should raise documentation to evidence the despatch of goods. This should be a prenumbered document and is usually called a despatch note or a goods delivery note. They should be issued numerically in sequence. Copies of the despatch note should be sent with the goods. One copy as advice to the customer and a second copy to be signed by the customer and returned to the company as proof of delivery. To ensure that all goods leaving the premises are invoiced the delivery note sequence should be checked prior to raising invoices and each delivery note should be checked to ensure that an invoice is raised.

#### **Detective measures**

This involves an independent clerk matching all the delivery notes or despatch notes with the invoices and the investigation of any unmatched delivery notes.

## 2. **Potential error or irregularity** Goods being sent

to bad credit risk: Implications: incidents of bad

debts, loss of assets.

Measures are: the establishment of a credit control department that examines all the orders received by the sales department and establishes the credit worthiness of the customer before authorising stores to despatch the goods. A review of long outstanding debts and investigations as to why payment is not being received.

## 3. **Potential error or irregularity** Overdue

accounts escaping follow-up: Implications:

increased incidents of bad debts.

**Measures:** the production of an aged debtors list. The ageing must be checked for correctness. The credit control department should review this listing regularly and ensure that overdue accounts are constantly followed up. The company can institute a stop service list where all delinquents are placed and this list distributed within the organization to ensure that any transactions with the concerned parties are closely monitored.

## 4. Potential errors or irregularities

Invoicing errors occurring: that is sales invoiced but not recorded, sales invoiced incorrectly.

**Implications:** mis-statements in sales and debtors either up or down. Loss to the organization as money will not be received for sales made and increased disputes with

customers due to errors in invoicing.

**Measures:** the use of pre-numbered sales invoices and the requirements that they be issued in sequence. The existence of proper journals - that is the sales journal and the debtors ledger. The checking of the invoices raised by an independent clerk of the arithmetical accuracy, the pricing, the discounts allowed, the coding and the cross referencing to the customer's order. Sending statements to customers on a regular basis, quantity reconciliations compared with actual documentation.

## 5. Potential errors and irregularities

The receipt of cash or cheques not being banked including teeming and lading.

**Implications:** misappropriation of cash and hence loss to the organization. Increased interest expense due to late banking. Exposure to theft by burglars.

Measures: the requirement that mail should be opened by the managing director's secretary in the presence of some messenger. She should then prepare a pre-list of all cheques received by mail. Cross all cheques and pass them on to the cashier promptly for his banking. The organization should use pre-numbered receipts and have a requirement that for all money received, a receipt must be raised. The receipts should be promptly entered in the cash book and pay-in-slips prepared accordingly. There should be a requirement that all receipts be banked promptly and intact thus if we have received cash, cash should be banked and if cheques have been received, then cheques should be banked and no substitution should be allowed. Regular bank reconciliation should be prepared, checked and approved by a responsible official. An independent clerk should on a regular basis compare the pre-list prepared by the secretary to the pay-in-slip and on to the bank statement.

## 6. Potential errors and irregularities

Cash sales being improperly dealt with by persons initially receiving cash and persons handling cash from initial receipt to final banking.

**Implications:** misappropriation of assets as cash is the most readily realisable assets.

**Measures:** use of pre-numbered cash sales receipts, restricting the number of people who can handle/receive cash, requiring that returns be filed on a daily basis, quantity reconciliation, close supervision of the cash handlers, encouraging customers to pay by either cheque or credit card, surprise cash counts and reconciliation with the supporting records.

## 7. Potential errors and irregularities

Debtors accounts being improperly credited. A debtors accounts can be credited either by receipt of cash or by the issue of a credit note.

**Implications:** unreliable records, increased incidents of bad debts, disputes with customers, loss for the organization.

**Measures:** coding of customers. An independent clerk selecting credit entries in customers account and matching those to their initial receipts or credit notes.

#### Other matters to consider

#### Sales ledger department

The sales ledger department will be responsible for recording invoices against the appropriate debtor. To ensure that all the invoices are included the documentation should be serially numbered and the sequence should be checked prior to recording.

## The accounts department

The ledgers should be balanced monthly and agreed with an independently held debtors control account. Once accounts are reconciled, then statements should be sent to customers as they provide an independent check on the overstatement of debts or the understatement of monies received. This would therefore require the statements being sent out by a senior official after he has checked the balances on the statement to the ledger. Any customers query should be dealt with by staff other than those who maintain the ledgers. The writing off of bad debts and the approval of credit notes should be done by a senior official. These will include the requirement of an appropriate supporting documentation and properly raised and approved documentation. We may therefore require seeing lawyers' correspondence as far as bad debts are concerned and goods returned notes as far as credit notes are concerned.

In the absence of the above controls, the following are examples of the types of fraud that may become possible:

- Collusion between customers and sales invoicing department. If such a collusion occurs, invoices may not be raised, or they may be raised only for reduced amounts. Such a fraud can involve substantial sums of money but can be prevented by proper sequential control over delivery notes and the subsequent independent check of despatch documentation to invoices.
- 2. Failure to raise despatch documentation. If goods are allowed out of the premises without delivery notes being raised the matter may never be discovered. So the best way to prevent these from happening is to have the minimum number of entrances to the premises with a guard at each entrance checking documentation in respect of all goods leaving.
- 3. Improperly raised credit notes. Fictitious credit notes can be used to cover up the misappropriation of cash or to reduce a customer's debt, particularly if the member of staff involved is in collusion with the customer. The false writing off of bad debts can be used in the same way.
- 4. Cashiers. The cashiers function must be kept strictly separate from any of the sales procedures in order to ensure that teeming and lading does not take place. The cashier should record all the monies received and should bank them daily to avoid having large amounts on the premises. The bank pay-in-slip should be prepared at least in duplicate. One copy for the bank and the other one to be stamped by the bank and returned as proof of deposit. The person who makes out the pay-in-slip should not take the money to the bank.

#### THE PURCHASES CYCLE

## 1. Potential errors and irregularities

Liabilities being set up for goods or services which are either not authorised or not received.

**Implications:** Unreliable records as they do not show the true position of liabilities, there may cause loss due to paying for goods or services never received.

Measures: If suppliers are in collusion with employees, fictitious charges can be approved for payment with a share subsequently going to the employee. This can most easily occur at the goods inwards stage and is particularly possible if the inspection procedures are inadequate. False invoices can be introduced at any stage in the processing and false supporting documentation can be produced as well and this type of fraud is difficult to prevent. Therefore, the purchases function should be such that only specified employees have the power to requisition goods and then only up to an authorised limit. Such limits increasing with the level of seniority. The requisitions should be serially numbered and should be sent to the buying department. The buying department will be charged with the responsibility of negotiating the best prices and delivery dates from suppliers and ensuring that quality goods are received. Central buying has some advantages such as: ability to buy in bulk and therefore reduce the volume of small orders, knowledge of the most reliable suppliers and being able to plan optimum reorder times and quantities. The existence of a separate purchasing department considerably strengthens internal control because it prevents user departments from ordering goods without the order being subjected to independent check. At the same time the user department checks on the buying department. When the order is raised, it should contain information about price and delivery dates requirement. A delivery address should be quoted. Several copies of the order are usually required. One for the supplier, one for the buying department, one for the accounts department, one for the requisitioned to advise him, that the matter is receiving attention and one to the stores to inform them of what to expect. These LPO's should be pre-numbered. When goods are received, they should be received in areas specially designed for receipt of goods. Goods received notes should be raised, they should be prenumbered and issued sequentially. Numbering strengthens internal control and reduces the possibility of fake documents. For a goods received note this is very important because it is the prime supporting document for the supplier's invoice. A copy of the goods received note should therefore go straight to the accounts department for this purpose. A copy should be sent to the buying department for matching off in the order file. Any shortages should immediately be notified to the buying department so that appropriate credit can be claimed. The accounts department on receiving the invoices should stamp them, they should then collect all the relevant supporting documents such as goods received notes, copy orders etc. and on this basis should approve the invoice for payment. There should exist a purchases journal, purchases ledger, and a creditors control account.

Before invoices are authorised for payment, they should be checked and the system should require that they should all be presented with their supporting documentation for approval.

## 2. Potential errors and irregularities

Liabilities being incurred but not recorded:

**Implications:** Understatement of liabilities hence disputes with suppliers.

**Measures:** The use of pre-numbered goods received notes, the matching of the goods received notes with suppliers statements and invoices, the use of pre-numbered purchase orders and their subsequent matching with goods received notes, investigation of unmatched goods received notes, regular reconciliations between the creditors ledger and the suppliers statements, having a list of approved suppliers.

#### 3. Potential errors and irregularities

Making payments without proper documentation and proper authorization e.g. incomplete documentation, forged or fraudulent documentation and duplicate payments.

**Implications:** Paying for services and goods not received. Overstatement of purchases and expenses.

**Measures:** A requirement that before any payment is made all invoices must be originals and they must be supported with proper and complete documentation. Once payment has been made on a set of documents, they should be clearly marked that they have been paid to prevent their representation.

## 4. Potential errors and irregularities

Misallocation of charges to the wrong general ledger accounts.

**Implications:** Mis-statement of various expenses and accounts not giving a true and fair view.

**Measures:** Coding of all expenses and creditors accounts. On receipt of an invoice, it should be coded and the coding should be checked by an independent clerk. Use of budgetary control measures.

## 5. Potential errors and irregularities

Goods being returned to suppliers without being recorded in their records. Credit notes not being raised or recorded for short deliveries.

**Implications:** Overstatement of purchases and loss of receipts due to the company.

**Measures:** All goods returned should have a despatch documentation raised for them. A copy of the despatch documentation concerned should be passed over to the accounts department and the purchasing department for them to liaise with the supplier and follow up the receipt of a credit note. All claims should be subject to numerical control.

#### Other matters to be considered

Unless a documentation is cancelled at the time the cheque is signed, it is possible for a genuine invoice to be represented for a second payment. This usually involves collusion between an employee and the supplier and the company can lose substantial sums of money in this way. Cheque payments should be authorised on the basis of validly approved documentation. The cashier normally draws the cheque which should be crossed account payee. The cheque should then go to the first cheque signatory for signing. There should be a second cheque signatory to act as a check on the first signatory. Limits should be imposed on the signatory and all supporting documentation should be cancelled at the time of signing. When the cheques have been signed they should immediately be despatched to the payee. They should never be returned to anyone who has had anything to do with their preparation or authorization especially not to the cashier for in the right hands, signed cheques are as good as cash as it only takes little skill to be able to alter the name or amount on the cheque.

The cashier should record the payments in the cash book and regular bank reconciliations should be prepared. Where suppliers send statement, reconciliations should also be prepared. Suppliers' statements should never be used as the sole documentation supporting a cheque payment.

## Cash payments

The best system to maintain for cash payments is the imprest system. In this system a fixed sum or imprest is assigned to the petty cashier and more cash is only obtainable on the production of vouchers that have been paid. The advantages of this system are:

- a) The fixed balance prevents escalation of the amount held, so the amount at risk can be kept small.
- b) The system is self checking because each time a reimbursement is required the petty cashier must present his records to the official responsible for examination.
- c) Reconciliation of petty cash book is made easier. The amount of the imprest should be as low as possible and the number of floats in use should be kept to a minimum. IOU should not be allowed nor should staff cheques be cashed out of petty cash. No other receipts should go into the petty cash. At the time of the reimbursement, the responsible official should check the petty cash book with the supporting vouchers and should sign it accordingly. Regular surprise cash counts can usefully be made. The accountant has to be on the look out for use of falsified vouchers and the representation of used vouchers. A properly run imprest system is reasonably well protected from material fraud.

## Bank and cash balances

Money in all forms is highly susceptible to misappropriation. For this reason regular bank reconciliations should be carried out by senior independent officials. Outstanding items should be investigated, particularly if they are long outstanding.

#### THE WAGES CYCLE

## 1. Potential errors and irregularities

Can persons other than genuine employees be paid through the payroll? This includes consideration of fraudulent double payment for leavers.

**Implications:** Overvaluation of stocks by using wrong labour costs, loss to the organization by paying for services never received.

Measures: The personnel department is responsible for hiring and firing personnel. They are also responsible for authorising alterations in rates of pay as a result of promotions or general pay increases. When we have a separate department in existence for personnel matters, then an independent record can be maintained of all personnel in employment and this can provide a very useful check on the work of the wages department. All changes should be notified to the wages department through the use of serially numbered change documents. On the time keeping side, clock card or time sheets are normally used to record the hours worked. In either case the amounts shown by the employee should be verified independently. The clocking in process should be observed by having a time keeper at the gate. This system can be abused and the organization should be alert to this possibility.

Time sheets should be approved by the employees immediate superior and if possible reconciled to production records. The approved clock cards or time sheets are sent to the wages department for them to produce the payroll. Different clerks in the wages department should check the hours worked as calculated by the foreman. Calculate the gross pay by reference to the employee's personal card showing his wage rate, check the calculation of gross pay, calculate net pay by reference to tax tables and employee's personal records, check the net pay calculations, check the casts and cross casts of the payments. The payroll should be approved by a senior member of the management team. In most organizations this is done by the chief accountant, the personnel manager and the managing director. Before approval, the official can carry out a useful review by casting and cross casting the payroll, scanning the payroll for duplicated names or unusually high payments, check the number of employees on the payroll to personnel records, carry out a month to month reconciliation in both numbers and amounts taking into account leavers and joiners and when they actually left or joined.

Once the payroll is approved the cheque can then be drawn. There should be at least two cheque signatories. Preferably the person who approved the payroll should not be one of the signatories. The money can now be collected from the bank and distributed.

## The following stages should be followed

Drawing the cheque - the cashier

Collecting the money from the bank - security firm

Filling the pay envelopes - independent employees

Distributing the cash to the employees - other independent employees and the foreman.

The employees who fill the envelopes should have had no previous dealings with the preparation of the payroll. They should count the money before beginning their work. The exact amount of the payroll should be withdrawn from the bank. Once the envelopes are filled, they should be counted and given to a second batch of independent employees who should check the number of packets handed over before distributing them to employees. The foreman should accompany the pay out in order to identify the correct employee. Where the employee is not present, their pay packet should not be given out to another employee.

## 2. Potential errors and irregularities

Employees being paid for work not done or unclaimed wages being misappropriated.

**Implications:** Overstatement of stock values due to using wrong labour rates. Pay to an employee whose salary may have been misappropriated by another employee or thief.

**Measures:** These have been covered adequately under (1) above under clock cards and time sheets.

#### 3. Potential errors and irregularities

The occurrence of payroll errors: starters, leavers, rate changes.

**Implications:** Mis-statements of various expense accounts, wrong stock valuations. **Measures:** Monthly reconciliations, agreement of payroll records with personnel records, independent clerk checking the calculations of the payroll, review of the payroll by department

heads, and budgetary control matters.

## 4. Potential errors and irregularities

Improper deductions being made or being misappropriated.

**Implications:** Having to make double payments to the authorities where the deductions have been misappropriated, complaints by employees.

**Measures:** Requirement that all deductions be documented and the documentation be approved. The documentation should be checked against the payroll to ensure agreement.

## 5. Potential errors and irregularities

Inflation of the payroll in other ways.

Implications: Unreliable records, mis-statements of expenses and stock costs.

**Measures:** Monthly reconciliations, checking the payroll by an independent clerk and the review mentioned under (1) above done by the approver of the payroll.

#### Other matters to be considered

If a proper independent record of employees is not maintained, it becomes possible to insert dummy employees on the payroll. Fictitious names can be invented or employees who have retired or left employment may be retained on the payroll. This type of fraud is usually perpetrated by the wages officer. Overstatement of gross pay can also occur when there is collusion between an employee and the wages officer so that he is deliberately overpaid. Overstating the payroll can also occur but can easily be prevented by casting the payroll at the time of approval.

#### Other Areas

- General cash: the worry here is miscellaneous receipts being omitted, non trading or petty cash payments being made and not authorised and the possibility of misappropriation and improper use of cash balances.
- General ledger: the processing of unauthorised journal entries and the making of errors in subsidiary ledgers.
- 3. Stocks: the loss or pilferage of stocks, the consumption or wastage without proper recording of stocks, the overstatement or understatement of work-in-progress and
- 4. Fixed assets: the acquisition or disposal of fixed assets without proper authority or recording.

# Other matters to be considered

In the area of stocks and fixed assets the control requirements are primarily concerned with custody procedures. Custody procedures are of great importance because all fraud involves misappropriation of assets. The things to note are:

- 1. Maintenance of stock records: this should be performed by a person who has not access to the physical stocks and has no responsibility for sales or purchase records.
- Custody procedures: this can be achieved by using segregated lockable areas under the control of a store man who can be held accountable by means of stock records.

3. Reconciliation of physical quantities to stock records: these reconciliations are vital for the prevention/detection of fraud and to ensure that the stock figure in the accounts show a true and fair view. Internal auditors are the appropriate officials to control the stock count and a subsequent reconciliation. Discrepancies should be referred to the highest level of authority and should be investigated immediately.

- 4. Writing off damaged, obsolete and slow moving stocks: it is essential that authority for writing off these stocks should come from a senior independent official and only on the basis of appropriate documentary evidence. Such stocks are revealed by periodic stock checks or they come to light during the ordinary course of business.
- 5. Scrap and waste products: waste products and scraps can have considerable value in certain types of industry. But their control can be difficult. It becomes necessary therefore to have calculations of estimated scrap and waste and this should be compared regularly with actual amounts. Significant differences to be investigated immediately.
- 6. Concealment of theft by write off: if those who have access to stocks also have the authority to make write offs in the records for damage then theft can be very easily concealed. Similarly people who have access to stocks, if they are permitted to record the stock records or the sales or purchases records then book quantities can be manipulated so that they correspond with the actual quantities of stock in hand.

## **FIXED ASSETS**

Although most fixed assets are very large and very immovable (no one is likely to steal the whole building), some fixed assets can be small, highly portable and very stealable. motor cars, bulldozers, power tools and even portable computers all spring to mind. Such items can be very valuable indeed. It is essential that they are adequately controlled.

## Authorization and approval of capital expenditure

This should be performed by senior levels of management. Limits should be placed on the authority of each manager with major items of expenditure requiring approval by the board.

## Accounting records

The accounting records should be maintained by a person who has no access to the fixed assets and has no responsibility for authorising purchases or sales thereof. There should be clear distinction between capital and revenue items.

## Plant registers

Detailed records must be kept as to the location and value of fixed assets. Many companies do not maintain these records. However, if it is maintained, the clerk responsible for it should have no involvement with the assets themselves or with the general ledger or with sales or purchases of fixed assets. This way enables records to provide independent evidence but the value increases if the records are regularly checked to the assets themselves and reconciled to the general ledger. As this work should be done by independent employees, internal auditors are quite appropriate.

## Scrapping, sale or transfer of assets

The responsibility for taking assets out of service should be reserved for the highest level of management and then only on the basis of documentation that is properly approved.

#### Other matters to be considered

Small portable items may simply be stolen from the premises. This can be prevented by ensuring

that someone is fully accountable for all items of equipment. We should also have appropriate security measures at all points of access to the company. Regular reconciliations of the plant register to the physical assets should be prepared and explanations sought for any discrepancies from the persons accountable. If people who have responsibilities are also in positions to write up the accounting records or the plant register then by altering the books, they can cancel a misappropriation. An employee who has physical control as well as the responsibility for approving the scrapping of assets may scrap items prematurely. The auditor should also be on the lookout for sale of assets which are no longer required at below market values even though they have not reached their retirement age. Also the use of company assets for private purposes.

#### **INVESTMENTS**

By their very definition, investments are valuable. The issues to watch out here for are:

- Authorization of purchases and sales: these should be performed by very senior level management and those responsible should have no connection with cash or the custody of documents of title.
- 2. Maintenance of investment register: this should be performed by a clerk who has no access to the documents of title and no responsibility for authorization of purchases or sales. The register requires reconciliation with the investment account in the general ledger. The documents of title should be vouched regularly. Again some work for internal auditors.
- 3. Maintenance of records: an independent clerk should be given the duty of comparing contract notes with purchase and sales authorization and for ensuring that charges have been correctly calculated. Additional arrangements should be made for dealing with share transfers for ensuring that share certificates are received or delivered and that bonuses, rights issues, capital repayments and dividends or interests are received and properly accounted for. The internal auditors may play an important role in ensuring that this work is well performed.
- 4. Documents of title: adequate custody procedures must be maintained for documents of title and two senior officials should have responsibility for them. Access to the documents should be by the two officials acting jointly.

## THE AUDITOR AND SYSTEMS OF CONTROL AND ACCOUNTING

The accounting system operates within a system of internal control. The accounting system is designed to ensure that every transaction is complete and accurately processed and recorded and that it is valid. The system of internal control is a collection of internal arrangements designed by the management to ensure that the accounting system achieves its objectives.

#### Ascertainment

The auditor ascertains the system by asking questions of knowledgeable people within the organization. He can also ascertain a system by a study of the systems manual prepared by the client. He can also study the documents used in the organization and he can observe the procedures being performed.

## Recording

The auditor must record the system that he has ascertained. This simply means putting it on paper. He can record the system in several ways:

 Narrative notes: narrative notes are probably the most adaptable means of recording but they have the disadvantages that they can be cumbersome to use, they are difficult to interpret and review and they are awkward to change. It is also difficult

to identify if any part of the system has been omitted plus of course the difficulty associated with reading other peoples illegible hand writing. This method is therefore appropriate to small businesses or to an overall record of systems in large companies.

- 2. Use of internal control questionnaires: In our review of the various cycles we identified measures that an organization can take to prevent and detect errors and irregularities. These measures represent desirable controls than can exist in a system. Now internal control questionnaires are pre-printed documents asking specific questions about the existence of desirable controls in the system. The way they are framed is such that the questions can be answered in a 'yes' and 'no' manner. A 'no' answer implying a weakness in control or a lack of control. 'Yes' answers indicate a strength. Internal control questionnaires help to ensure that all basic control points are considered and in the context of control evaluation they can be extremely useful but they are not efficient as a means of recording an accounting system because just like narrative notes they can become very cluttered hence becoming difficult to interpret.
- 3. Flow-charts: a flow chart is a diagrammatic representation of the flow of documents through an accounting system with every check or control recorded on the lines of flow and segregation of duties highlighted. This method of recording ensures as far as possible the completeness of recording because a missed stage would result in a flow line simply stopping in the middle of a page. It eliminates the need for lengthy narrative, it is easy to understand and extract the salient points of control and any related weaknesses. In addition, if the format is standardised then assimilation is made easier. The method however does not facilitate the recording of physical, personnel, supervision or management controls which are usually best contained in narrative notes. A flow-chart is widely regarded as an important tool in the evaluation of systems. It is primarily designed to reveal the absence of essential accounting controls therefore time should not be spent on recording details which are irrelevant to this purpose. Preparing flow-charts is time consuming and for a professional firm expensive to prepare. Consideration must always therefore be given to their cost effectiveness. In most situations it is not appropriate to prepare flow-charts at all. All these techniques can be used at the same time and are therefore not mutually exclusive.

## The information required

- a) An overall organization chart. We need a chart that will show the principle departments of the company together with the description of their functions and the number of people employed therein. The titles and names of all responsible officials should be recorded along with their lines of responsibility within the organization.
- b) A list of the principal books of accounts with a brief description of how each are kept. Records can be kept in many ways, ranging from hand written ledgers through accounting machines to the most sophisticated real time computerised data processing systems. It is essential to have precise details of the methods used.
- c) Information as to accounting information flows and controls: this is usually in the form of flow-charts. Anyway whatever method is used it is important to record the person who is responsible at each stage for the authorising, the recording and the custody of relevant assets and records.
- d) Narrative notes on appropriate accounting controls particularly with reference to the accountability of employees in each audit area. By this we mean for example authority limits for cheque signatories together with their specimen signatures and in addition a brief description would also be included on any other controls.

After recording the system in whichever way, the auditor needs to corroborate the records. Corroboration means confirming that what he has recorded is what actually takes place. Corroboration is done by use of a walk through test. This involves collecting samples on a judgemental basis of one or two transactions and following them through the system as recorded. The walk through test confirms the records and also confirms the auditors understanding of the system. After corroboration, if it is the system of accounting, the auditor will perform tests and from the results of those tests he will assess its adequacy as a basis for the preparation of the financial statement. To this end I refer you to the chapter on Accounting systems and implications. If it is a system of internal control, after corroboration, the auditor seeks to evaluate those controls. Evaluation of controls is carried out from three points of view with the sole aim of being able to establish whether the system constitutes a reliable basis for the preparation of annual accounts and to determine the required amounts of substantive testing. If internal control is weak it may not be possible to express any opinion at all on the accounts presented. On the other hand, a strong system of internal control can minimise the amount of substantive testing used in arriving at an opinion. The three points of view mentioned are:

- 1. to consider the possibility of fraud;
- 2. possibility of undiscovered errors occurring and
- 3. possibility of accounts being deliberately distorted

## **Evaluations**

Evaluation can be approached from the ICQ point of view of trying to determine if desirable internal controls are present in a system and from the view of an ICEQ where we use key control questions to determine if specific errors or irregularities are possible. Let us look at both approaches:

**ICQ:** We have already met this document which is just a list of questions that typically ask whether certain controls are performed and if so, when, how and by whom. The ICQ is usually formulated such that there is one covering each of the areas discussed under accounting cycles. An example of an ICQ on the purchasing cycle is appended as an appendix to this chapter. ICQ facilitate the orderly valuation of the internal control. They eliminate the possibility of matters being overlooked and they provide a basis for the manager/partner reviews of the opinions reached by the staff in the field. They provide audit evidence of the basis of audit conclusions in the event that the auditor's judgement is subsequently challenged. Their major failings are: they concentrate on the controls themselves rather than the error or irregularity that the controls are designed to prevent or detect. It is also generally considered that these ICQ's can become too complex and cluttered for meaningful evaluation and that in large and complex organizations systems information is best recorded in the form of flowcharts or systems. It is essential that the audit is conducted in a searching and enquiring manner, always bearing in mind the types of problems that may arise. With ICQs it is very easy to forget the significance behind every question and for this reason much of their value is lost and most major firms now adopt the internal control evaluation questionnaire approach.

ICEQs: ICEQs are characterised by the use of the key control questions covering the accounting cycles dealt with earlier which are then backed up by backup questions. Where the system has been recorded by the use of narrative notes or flow-charts weaknesses are not easily apparent as was the case when the ICQ was used. The ICQ is a comprehensive, all inclusive method of ascertaining, recording and evaluating a system of control but where as we have seen the system is recorded in the other two methods then we have need for another document for us to be able to evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of the system. The likelihood of defalcation can be evaluated by determining whether the segregation of duties is satisfactory. The possibility of error can be considered by looking at the checks present in the system in the light of the various types of error possible. The possibility of distortion normally by senior officials cannot be readily determined by questionnaire but may be revealed during the course of evaluation procedures by looking out for signs that the management are under pressure.

#### Limitations of the effectiveness of internal controls

The auditing guidelines stress that no internal control system however elaborate can by itself, guarantee efficient administration and the completeness and accuracy of the records nor can it be proof against fraudulent collusion, especially on the part of those holding positions of authority or trust. Internal controls depending on segregation of duties can be avoided by collusion. Authorization controls can be abused by the person in whom the authority is vested. Management is frequently in a position to override controls which it has set up itself. Whilst the competence and integrity of the personnel operating the controls may be ensured by selection and training, these qualities may alter due to pressure exerted both within and without the enterprise. Human error due to errors of judgement or interpretation to misunderstanding carelessness, fatigue or distraction may undermine the effective operation of internal control.

#### The auditor's use of internal control

The auditor's objective in evaluating and testing internal control is to determine the degree of reliance which he may place on the information contained in the accounting records. If he obtains reasonable assurance by means of completeness and accuracy of the accounting records and the validity of entries therein he may limit the extent of his substantive testing. Because of the inherent limitations in even the most effective internal control system, it will not be possible for the auditor to rely solely on its operation as a basis for his opinion on the financial statement. In some enterprises the auditor may be unable to determine whether all the transactions have been reflected in the accounting records unless they are effective internal controls. The types of internal control on which the auditor may seek to rely vary widely. Where the auditor's primary evaluation indicates that there are controls which meet the objective which the auditor has identified then he should design and carry out compliance tests if he wishes to rely on those controls. However, where his evaluation discloses weakness in or the absence of internal controls such that material error or omission could arise in the accounting records or financial statements the auditor will move directly to designing and carrying out substantive tests.

#### **AUDIT TESTING**

The auditor is not entitled to place any reliance on internal controls based solely on his preliminary evaluation. He should carry out compliance tests to obtain reasonable assurance that the controls on which he wishes to rely were functioning both properly and throughout the period.

## **Compliance Tests**

Compliance tests are defined as those tests which seek to provide audit evidence that internal control procedures are being applied as prescribed. We have seen that the auditor first ascertains a system of internal control through various means, he then records that system again through various possible means, then through the use of walkthrough tests he seeks to corroborate the record. After corroboration he must carry out an evaluation of the system to determine whether conceptually it is reliable, or has certain key controls upon which he can place reliance.

If he evaluates the system and reaches the conclusion that the system has controls upon which he can place reliance, then the auditor has to make a further decision and this is whether he should carry out compliance tests or not. A point must be made here, it is the application of the system that is being tested not the transactions although the testing is through the medium of transactions. So in carrying out his compliance tests and as exceptions are noted where the system has not been complied with in any particular, then the auditor may need to revise his system description and re-evaluate its effectiveness. He also will need to determine if the failure of compliance was an isolated case or is symptomatic.

Controls and their exercise can leave a visible trail like a signature or a stamp on a document or they may leave no visible trail. Compliance tests therefore can be carried out through inspection of documents to determine whether appropriate signatures and evidence of approval and checking exists, or through observation whereby there is no evidence that a procedure was carried out as expected. The tests carried out by examination of documents can usually be extended and conclusions extrapolated to cover the whole population concerned. However, for those subject to observation we can only draw conclusions based on what was actually observed and we have no evidence that the procedure is performed that way throughout the period.

In compliance tests the issue of materiality does not arise. Every exception is material and should be investigated. If compliance tests disclose no exceptions the auditor may reasonably place reliance on the effective functioning of the internal controls tested. He can therefore limit his substantive tests on the relevant information in the accounting records.

The accountant is concerned as far as every transaction is concerned that it has been recorded and processed completely and accurately and that it is valid. Internal controls are arrangements established by the management to ensure that this is so, therefore compliance tests provide the auditor with indirect evidence that all transactions have been completely and accurately processed and recorded. Example: A key control that the auditor wishes to rely on may be that before the payroll is paid the chief accountant, the personnel manager, and the managing director must sign to approve it. The auditor would therefore select a sample of payrolls and going through them seek to confirm that the appropriate signatures have been appended. Now if he finds that the appropriate signatures are actually appended then it gives him some assurance that everything relating to the payrolls was completely and accurately processed and recorded and all the resultant entries are valid. This is so because we would not expect the chief accountant, the personnel manager and the managing director to approve a payroll that is wrong in some particular. You can see from this that the auditor has not referred to any information contained in any records or any financial statements and yet he has some assurance. Therefore as a result of this, he may limit his detailed tests on the payroll to a minimum.

If the compliance tests have disclosed exceptions which indicate that the control being tested was not operating properly in practice the auditor should determine the reason for this. He needs to assess whether each exception is only an isolated departure or is representative of others and whether it indicates the possible existence of errors in the accounting records. If the explanation he receives suggest that the exception is only an isolated departure then he must confirm the validity of the explanation for example by carrying out further tests. If the explanation or the further tests confirm that the control being tested was not operating properly throughout the period then he cannot rely on that control. In these circumstances, the auditor is unable to restrict his substantive testing unless he can identify an alternative control on which to rely. Before relying on the alternative control he must carry out suitable compliance tests on it. Example: In our payroll example above, suppose the auditor picks five payrolls and on further examination finds that one of them does not have the appropriate signatures. This may mean that maybe responsible officials were on leave in which case the control was not exercised. He could therefore select five more payrolls to confirm that the exception was an isolated one. If he finds out that the payroll is never approved by the three officials as required then he cannot limit his detailed substantive tests and he will have to look for evidence that all the employees on the payroll were genuine, they were paid for work done and the recording was correctly done.

#### Substantive tests

These are defined as those tests of transactions and balances and other procedures such as an analytical review which to seek to provide audit evidence as to the completeness, accuracy and validity of the information contained in the accounting records or in the financial statements. You can see from this definition that all audit work comes within substantive tests, we however use the term to mean all tests other than compliance tests. A substantive test seeks to provide direct evidence of the correct treatment of a transaction, a balance, a liability or any item in the books or the accounts.

The emphasis here is on the information contained in the records or the financial statements and seeking evidence to prove its completeness, accuracy and validity and not a check on the procedures established by the management to ensure that it is so.

#### Some examples:

- 1. Transactions: you may find the sale of a fixed asset recorded in the accounting books. The auditor would need to examine the copy invoice, the authority for the transaction, the elimination of that item of fixed assets from the plant register and other books, the accounting treatment and he will also seek evidence that the price obtained was reasonable.
- 2. Balances: a bank balance recorded in the books. The auditor would need to obtain direct confirmation from the bank, and compare that confirmation with the bank reconciliation and the cash book.
- 3. Analytical review: the auditor seeks evidence that proper cut off has been achieved. He can do this by examining the gross profit ratio and the accounting treatment of receipts and issues of stock items.
- 4. Completeness of evidence: the auditor can obtain representation from the company's lawyers that there are no pending legal cases against the company that could result in significant losses.

## **ROTATIONAL TESTS**

In practice the auditor will carry out only compliance tests and substantive tests. Compliance tests to provide him with indirect evidence and substantive tests - direct evidence. Occasionally however there is reference to rotational tests and these are of two kinds:

- 1. Visit rotation: this is where the client has numerous branches, factories or locations. It may be impractical to visit all of them each year. In such cases the auditor visits them in rotation such that each will not be visited each year, but all will be visited over a period of time.
- 2. Emphasis: there are times the auditor rotates audit emphasis. The auditor performs a systems audit on all areas of the clients business every year but he would select one area for special in depth testing. There is opinion that every audit every year must cover all areas adequately, however, as auditors usually serve for several years rotational testing makes sense in terms of effectiveness and efficiency. It is vital that rotational tests are carried out at random so that client staff do not know which areas or locations will be selected in any one year.

## TECHNIQUES OF AUDIT TESTING

Under our review of audit evidence we examined techniques of obtaining audit evidence and these are the techniques for audit testing.

## Timing of audit testing

- 1. Walk through tests: their purpose is to conform the correct recording of an accounting system and the auditor's understanding of that system and the related controls. These are therefore best performed:
  - a) After recording the system.
  - b) The following year if you are the auditor because it is inefficient to ascertain and record the system every year. All the auditor needs to do is to ask the client whether there has been any changes in the system and if there has been no changes then a walk through test confirms that the record is still appropriate.
  - c) After an interim audit visit when the auditor comes in for the final audit he can carry out walk through tests to confirm that the systems have not changed.
  - d) When the auditor did not prepare the record of the system then he carries out walkthrough tests to confirm his understanding of the system.
- 2. Compliance tests: the sample should be representative of the whole years transactions. They are usually carried out at the interim audit visit and up-dated at the final visit to ensure that the whole period has been covered.
- 3. Substantive test: these tests are applied to:
  - a) Transaction records where internal controls are weak or non-existent or where the system cannot be relied on.
  - b) Unusual, extraordinary or one off transaction and transactions which are not covered by the system.
  - c) All assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date.

Therefore we can see that substantive tests are usually carried out at any time during the audit but mostly concentrated at the final visit.

## To summarise audit testing

The stages in audit testing are:

- 1. Internal control evaluations which will be followed by.
- 2. Compliance testing which gives satisfaction to some extent on the reliability of the records and the controls. This will be followed by:-
- 3. An overall analytical review designed to expose apparent inconsistencies and abnormalities in the financial statements and the underlying records. These three help us determine the extent of substantive testing. Substantive testing consists of tests that are designed to substantiate the completeness, accuracy and validity of information contained in the accounting records and financial statements. They consist of:
  - a) detailed analytical review which is designed to help locate material misstatements in the accounts by comparing transactions and balances with related items both for the same period and for previous periods.
  - b) tests of detail which consist of transaction testing and balance testing and are designed to substantiate individual items in the accounts and so gain assurance either about the validity of similar transactions or about the details that underlie the various accounts balances. Test of details consist of transaction testing which is achieved by vouching whereby vouching is defined as proving the authenticity of a recorded transaction, the checking of casts and cross casts, checking of postings and reconciliations. Balance testing is achieved by direct confirmation and the physical inspection, all these give the necessary confidence for the auditor to express an opinion on the accounts.

# The Relationship between External Auditing and Internal Auditing.

### Introduction

Very large organisations (and some small ones) have found a need for an internal audit in addition to an external audit. Internal auditors are employees of the organisation and work exclusively for the organisation. Their functions partly overlap those of the external auditors but in part are quite different.

The *precise* functions of external auditors are either laid down by statute or embodied in a letter of engagement. The functions (which are rarely *precisely* laid down) of internal auditors are determined by management and vary greatly from organisation to organisation.

Internal audit can be defined as:

"an independent appraisal function within an organisation for the review of systems of control and the quality of performance, as a service to the organisation. It objectively examines, evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources."

Internal auditing is thus:

- a. Carried on by independent personnel. Internal auditors are employees of the firm and thus independence is not always easy to achieve. However it can be assisted by:
  - •having the scope to arrange its own priorities and activities

- having unrestricted access to records, assets and personnel
- freedom to report to higher management and where it exists to an audit committee
- Having internal audit personnel with an objective frame of mind

The ISA 610, deals with Reliance by External Auditors on the work of the Internal Auditor.

- IA personnel who have no conflicts of interests or any restrictions placed upon their work by management.
- IA personnel having no responsibility for line work or for new systems. A
  person cannot be objective about something he/she has taken responsibility
  for. On the other hand the IA should be consulted on new or revised systems
- IA personnel who have no non-audit work.

Since internal auditors are employees it is difficult to ensure that they are truly independent in mind and attitude.

- b. an appraisal function. The internal auditor's job is to appraise the activity of others, not to perform a specific part of data processing. For example, a person who spent his time checking employee expense claims is not performing an internal audit function. But an employee who spent time reviewing the system for checking employee expense claims may well be performing an internal audit function.
- c. as a service to the organisation.

The management requires that:

- i. Its policies are fulfilled.
- ii. The information it requires to manage effectively is reliable and complete.
- iii. The organisation's assets are safeguarded.
- iv. The internal control system is well designed.
- v. The internal control system works in practice.

The internal auditor's activity will be directed to ensure that these requirements are met. The internal auditor can be seen as the eye of the board within the enterprise.

- d. Other duties may include:
  - i. Being concerned. An example of this is in energy saving.
  - ii. Being concerned with the response to the internal control system to errors and required changes to prevent errors.
  - iii. Acting as a training officer in internal control matters.
  - iv. Auditing the information given to management particularly interim accounts and management accounting reports.
  - v. Taking a share of the external auditor's responsibility in relation to the figures in the annual accounts.

## 2. ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL

**AUDIT** The essential elements of internal audit are:

- a. Independence—see above
- b. Staffing—the internal audit unit should be adequately staffed in terms of numbers, grades and experience.

- c. Training—all internal auditors should be fully trained.
- d. Relationships—internal auditors should foster constructive working relationships and mutual understanding with management, with external auditors with any review agencies (e.g. management consultants) and where appropriate with an audit committee. Mutual understanding is the goal.
- e. Due care—an internal auditor should behave much as an external auditor in terms of skill, care and judgement. He should be up to date technically and have personal standards of knowledge, honesty, probity and integrity much as an external auditor. It is desirable that an internal auditor is qualified, because of ethical considerations as much as technical standards implied by membership of a professional body.
- f. Planning, controlling and recording—fundamentally the internal auditors should behave much as external auditors in this respect. The plan should identify audit areas which may be:
  - i. Activity (e.g. payroll, income, stores, purchasing etc.)
  - ii. Nature of the audit (e.g. protective, systems audit, value for money)
  - iii. Level of audit required (e.g. degree of risk, frequency and extent of audit).

Internal auditors plan their work strategically (two to five years for all areas to be covered), periodically (typically one year when the strategic plan is translated into a schedule of work) and operationally (each piece of work, in detail).

Controlling includes supervision and review of internal audit work.

Working papers should be of a similar detail and standard as those of external auditors.

- g. Systems control—the internal auditor must verify the operations of the system in much the same way as an external auditor i.e. by investigation, recording, identification of controls and compliance testing of the controls. However, the internal auditor is also concerned with:
  - The organisation's business being conducted in an orderly and efficient manner
  - Adherence to management policies and directives
  - Promoting the most *economic*, *efficient* and *effective* use of resources and achieving the management's policies.
  - Ensuring compliance with statutory requirements
  - Securing as far as possible the completeness and accuracy of the records
  - Safeguarding the assets
- Evidence—the internal auditor has similar standards for evidence as an external auditor, he will evaluate audit evidence in terms of sufficiency, relevance and reliability.
- i. Reporting—the internal auditor must produce timely, accurate and comprehensive reports to management on a regular basis. These should report on the matters outline in g. above and with the accuracy of information given to management and give recommendations for change.

# 3. EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL AUDITORS COMPARED AND CONTRASTED

#### Common interests

- a. An effective system of internal control
- b. Continuous effective operation of such system
- c. Adequate management information flow
- d. Asset safeguarding
- e. Adequate accounting system (for example to comply with the Companies Act Cap 486)

#### **Differences**

- a. **Scope**—the extent of the work undertaken. Internal audit work is determined by management but the external auditor's work is laid down statute.
- b. **Approach**. The internal auditor may have a number of aims in his work including an appraisal of the efficiency of the internal control system and the management information system. The external auditor is interested primarily in the truth and fairness of the accounts.
- c. Responsibility. The internal auditor is answerable only to management. The external auditor is responsible to shareholders and arguably to an even wider public. both are of course answerable to their conscience and the ethical concepts of their professional bodies.

## **Areas of work overlap.** This can apply in the following areas:

- a. Examination of the system of internal control.
- b. Examination of the accounting records and supporting documents.
- c. Verification of assets and liabilities.
- d. Observation, enquiry and the making of statistical and accounting ratio measurements.

## Reasons for Co-Operation between External and Internal Auditors

Internal audit is an element of the Internal Control system established by management. Thus as external auditors are accustomed to place reliance on internal controls they will consider if reliance can be placed on this element.

Some of the objectives of internal audit are the same as those of the external auditor. For example, the internal auditor will perform work on the documentation and evaluation of accounting systems and internal controls and will carry out compliance and substantive tests. It makes economic sense to reduce the work of the external auditor by relying on work done by the internal auditor.

# **Basis of Co-Operation**

The external auditor may utilize the work of the internal auditor in two ways:

- a. By taking into account the work done by the internal auditor;
- By agreeing with the management that internal audit will render direct assistance to the external auditor.

## Nature of Internal Auditing

The scope and objectives of internal audit ate set by management and vary widely. The areas of activity may include:

- a. Reviewing accounting systems and internal control;
- b. Examining financial and operating information for management, including detailed testing of transactions and balances;
- c. Reviewing the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of operations and of the functioning of non financial controls;
- d. Review of the implementation of corporate policies, plans and procedures; e. Special investigations.

Some of these functions are directly relevant to the objectives of the external auditor—seeking evidence of the truth and fairness etc., of items in the Accounts. Even special investigations may be relevant. For example, an investigation into the extent of slow moving stock is relevant to the value of stock or an investigation into the viability of a branch may be evidence as to the correctness of using going concern values for that branch's assets.

Some of the functions are clearly not relevant to the external auditor's objectives. For example, the cost of a control is not relevant, only its effectiveness.

Some internal audit work is not audit work at all but is part of internal control. For example internal audit in Local Authorities may scrutinize and approve expenses claims. Such work is an internal control but is not auditing.

#### Assessment

Before placing any reliance on the work of an internal auditor, the external auditor must assess the internal auditor and his work in the following areas:

- a. Independence. The internal auditor may be an employee of the organisation, but he may be able to organise his own activities and report his findings to a high level in management. an internal auditor on whom the external auditor places reliance must be independent and be able to communicate freely with the external auditor.
- b. The **scope** and **objectives** of the internal audit function areas such as 6a. and b. are likely to be useful to the external auditor. but c., d. and e. may also. For example, an investigation into a fraud may supply evidence to the external auditor that the extent of the fraud is not material.
- c. Due professional care. To be useful to an external auditor the internal auditor's work must be done in a professional manner. That is, it must be properly planned, controlled, recorded and reviewed. The auditor who arrives in the morning and says to himself "what shall I do today", is not much use.
- d. **Technical competence.** Membership of a professional body with its competence and ethical implications is desirable. Ongoing training in specialist areas, such as computers, is useful.
- e. **Reporting standards.** A useful internal auditor will provide high standard reports which are acted upon by management.
- f. **Resource available.** An internal audit department that is starved of resources will not be very useful to the external auditor.

The assessment should be thorough and fully documented and included in the working papers. If the conclusion is that the internal audit department is weak or unreliable, then this fact should be communicated in the external auditor's "report to management".

#### Extent of Reliance

The extent of reliance depends on many factors including:

- a. The **materiality** of the areas or items to be tested. Petty cash expenditure may probably be left to the internal auditor.
- b. The level of **audit** risk inherent in the areas or items. The value of work in progress in a Civil Engineering company or the provision for doubtful debts in a Hire Purchase company, are high risk areas which the external auditor must see to himself.
- c. The level of **judgement** required. The level of delay repairs in a truck leasing company requires careful judgement.
- d. The sufficiency of **complementary** audit evidence. The internal audit may be relied upon to audit debtors accounting procedures if the external auditor has evidence in the form of a debtor's circularisation.
- e. Specialist skills possessed by internal audit staff. In a Bank, the internal audit department will have specialist knowledge and skills in the appraisal of the Bank's computer system.

## **Detailed Planning**

Having decided that he *may* be able to place reliance on the work of the internal auditor, the external auditor should.

- a. Agree with the chief of internal audit the timing, test levels, sample selection procedures and the form of documentation to be used;
- b. Record the fact of his intended reliance, its extent and the reason for the fact and extent, in his working papers;
- c. Confirm with top management that he is doing so.

## Controlling

In order to be able ultimately to place reliance on the work of the internal auditor, the external auditor should:

- a. Consider whether the work has been properly staffed, planned, supervised, reviewed and recorded;
- b. Compare the results with other evidence (e.g. Debtors circularisation);
- Satisfy himself that any unusual or "put upon enquiry" items have been fully resolved;
- d. Examined the reports made and the management's response to the reports;
- e. Ensure the work is to be done in time.

At the conclusion, the arrangements should be reviewed to make things even better next year.

## Recording

The external auditor will have a high standard of recording in working papers. The internal auditor's work must be equally good if it is to be relied upon.

#### Evidence

The detailed material in this chapter is important for students, but you should not lose sight of the fact that an audit is about *audit evidence*. The work of the internal auditor is evidential material. Whether it is good evidence supplying a reasonable basis for conclusions to be reached, is a matter of judgement. It may be desirable for the external auditor to test the work of the internal auditor by supplementary procedures or by re-testing transactions or balances tested by the internal auditor.

#### Report to Management

Whether or not any work of the internal auditor is relied upon, the internal auditor may uncover and report on weaknesses in internal controls. If the internal auditor reports to management and management responds, then the matter may rest there. If, however, weaknesses are material and the response by the management inadequate, then it may be desirable to include the weaknesses in the external auditor's **own report to management**.

## 4.0 The impact of developments in information

## technology Internal Control Considerations

For an accountant, we can look at problems of computerisation from two angles. Their impact on the system of internal control and their implications for the auditor.

## The impact of computers in the system of internal control

There are special characteristics of an EDP system that the accountant must be aware of. Their basic differences from a manual system are:

- (a) EDP systems take much longer and are more difficult to install. Inefficient installation can therefore result in major problems including accounting chaos that can lead to the accountant being unable to determine the truth and fairness of the accounts and at times can lead to the failure of the company.
- (b) EDP systems are much more complicated and therefore can create problem of understanding for the accountant be he the auditor or just the company's accountant.
- (c) The natural division of data processing between various parts of an organization and its accounting department is usually lost together with the understanding of the interest in data processing which managers have. This is because a large part of that data processing operations become centralised and there is concentration of power in the computer department. This may facilitate error and fraud and make its discovery difficult.
- (d) The steps of processing and storage of data on magnetic files leaves no visible trail unless they are printed out. Most modern systems rely heavily on direct entry of data via key boards and the storage of data on discs. There is often no print out of outputs as information can be assessed as required on visual display units.
- (e) Generally speaking, if correct data is presented to the machine and faultless computer programmes are used the output should be error free. These however reinforce the mistaken belief that machines do not make mistakes. But machines cannot be relied upon to recognize nonsense data. A machine will not think, it will do as it is told. Therefore if it has been instructed incorrectly it will always correctly make the same mistake, whereas a clerk in a manual system would be expected to notice and query this.
- (f) **Speed.** A computer's potential for producing information in both terms of volume and speed is of course vast but its potential as vehicles of manipulation and fraud is equally great, and even if we were to leave aside the question of fraud, it is generally true that when production of vital data is dependent on a computer if things go

wrong, they may go wrong on a truly big scale.

All these differences radically alter the way in which accounting data is recorded, the way in which such recording must be controlled and authenticated, the training needs and attitudes of the staff responsible at both management and technical levels and the way in which the process and its results must be audited. This may therefore mean the introduction of additional controls within the organization to deal with the additional problems.

The general controls that need to be incorporated into the data processing system are divided into two types of controls:

- (a) General controls which are further divided into administrative controls and systems developments controls
- (b) Application controls

#### General controls: Administrative controls:

These arise from the risks implicit in the concentration of power in the EDP department, the carrying of a large number of files of important data centrally stored and storing data in a form which is highly inflammable concentrated, sensitive to temperature and atmospheric conditions and dependant for processing on machinery which is susceptible to break down. The measures that will have to be taken to minimise the possibility of loss from these problems include:

- i. Physical facilities such as a specially designed fire proof room whose temperature is properly controlled and entry is restricted to only authorised personnel.
- ii. Maintaining back up copies of all important programmes and files. This includes the grand father and son configuration whereby three files are maintained at different levels and at different locations to enable reconstruction to take place should the need arise.
- iii. Having standby arrangements like uninterrupted power supply units to deal with power blackouts and having arrangements with other users of similar machines to allow processing of urgent information should the machines breakdown. These procedures should be subjected to regular checks to confirm that they do work in practice.
- iv. The maintenance of a library to ensure that access to programmes and files is properly controlled.
- v. Adequate division of duties. The presence of computers does not dispense with the need to observe that fundamental aspect of internal control i.e. the division of responsibilities in such a way as to ensure that:
  - (a) Those in a position of responsibility do not themselves become involved in executing the routine of the procedures they have authorised.
  - (b) Those occupied with recording functions do not have control over or access to the assets whose movements they are controlling and recording.
  - (c) That the work of one person is automatically checked for authority, accuracy, completeness and procedural adherence by another independent member of staff preferably in a different department. The clerical responsibilities that need to be taken into consideration in the user departments can be allocated in relation to collection and sorting of input data, creation of batches and batch totals, retention of control data for comparison with outputs, authorisation of inputs to be transmitted to the EDP department, collection and distribution of outputs, comparison of output received e.g. schedules, statistical summary, exception reports, error reports and reprocessing requirements.

Within the computer area itself, the principles of this aspect of internal control must be observed. Systems development staff and programmers should play no part in actual processing in fact, ideally they should have no access to the computer room. This is because having written the programs they will be aware of the controls that have been written into the programs and will therefore be capable of by-passing them. Development staff should not even be allowed to test their programs. The EDP manager and his supervisors who between them are responsible for all activity in the EDP area must maintain their independence of all detailed procedures and they should therefore have no active part in day to day routine processing. A suitable log for recording the movement of all files, their safe custody when not in use, their clear identification at all time should be maintained and this should be the responsibility of the librarian who should have no routine duties in the EDP section. In addition, a console log is needed as an important security function for making permanent records of every operator intervention.

## Systems development controls

These are intended to ensure that we have a valid system of processing whenever new applications are devised, meeting the requirements of management and user department. These aims are achieved by:

- (a) The use of standard documentation;
- (b) The use of standard procedures whenever possible;
- (c) Specifying rigid authorisation procedures whenever new applications are envisaged or existing programs amended or extended;
- (d) The adoption of adequate testing routines prior to implementation and;
- (e) Instituting a comprehensive system of program and document security.

The stages of systems development may be briefly summarised as follows:

- i. Feasibility: A committee which would usually include the EDP manager and head of the user department concerned will consider the feasibility of each proposed application from the view points of financial viability and technical capability. The decision therefore rests on the familiar cost benefit equation. The benefits of the new application must be weighed against the cost. If the project is assumed feasible, then the next stage is commenced. It may be advisable to inform the auditor to obtain his input at this stage because the auditor is an expert on systems of internal controls, he is also very knowledgeable on the requirements of the Companies Acts as far as proper books of accounts are concerned. He may also have requirements that need to be taken into consideration and he may also know the best suppliers of the equipment that would be more suitable for the company's needs.
- ii. **Systems Analysis:** The systems analysts are highly trained members of the development personnel. They will consider every new application from every relevant angle taking into account the needs of all those affected by the proposed changes. The external auditor should be consulted at this point on particular features which he requires to be included. This will save the problem of the loss of audit trail that frequently occurs. Once all the users including the auditor have been consulted as to their specific needs and the manner in which their work will be affected by the new procedures and documentation, the systems analyst then set out the program requirements in the form of flow charts known as block diagrams. These must be approved before programming can begin.
- iii. **Programming:** Compared with systems analysis which requires a certain degree of creativity and imagination, programming is a mechanical exercise mainly requiring strict adherence to the logical steps which one by one make up the program.

- iv. **Program testing:** Program testing is divided into desk checking which as the name suggests takes place at the desk rather than on the computer. Here each instructon is tested by the programmers for logic, consistency and accuracy with reference to created test data. As each logic error is discovered the necessary corrections are made. This is called debugging. The use of test packs. Created data designed to highlight as many problems and potential logic errors as possible are punched and run on the computer against the new program. The output will then be closely compared with pre-prepared hand written results and any further errors revealed will be corrected. **Pilot running:** In this case the new programs are tested against batches of live data covering the range of possible inputs as comprehensively as possible. Once again this is compared with manually prepared results. The chief programmer will then inform the EDP manager that the program has been thoroughly tested and debugged and is performing the task it was designed for.
- v. **Parallel running:** This stage requires the new system and the existing system to operate side by side for a lengthy period during which results are compared. This is designed to ensure that the program responds correctly to the real processing requirement of the user department involved, that adequate computer time will be available, that any errors remaining can be eliminated and that the user department staff get used to the new routines and documentation. It may be useful to get the auditor in to carry out a few tests to enable him assess the adequacy of the controls incorporated in the systems design.
- vi. **File conversion:** Assuming that all the previous five stages have been successful and have been duly approved, then all the files need to be converted into computer format. This is usually a troublesome and time consuming exercise and before the manual records are destroyed, it is important to ensure that the converted files are accurate, complete and up-to-date.

## **Application Controls**

Application controls codify the operating routines to be followed by the EDP and the user departments in their relations with each other. Application controls cover:

- (a) The preparation of inputs and its transfer to the computer;
- (b) The processing of data within the computer;
- (c) The preparation of outputs and its distribution;
- (d) The maintenance of master files and the standing data contained therein.

We can therefore say that application controls are mainly concerned with completeness of inputs, completeness of processing, accuracy of input, accuracy of processing, validity of data processed and the maintenance of data files.

## **Application Controls**

#### Completeness: Input

**Purpose:** All transactions are recorded, input and accepted by the computer (Control over the numbers of documents). Each document is processed only once.

Some control techniques which may be applied by the computer (programmed procedures) or by the user (Manual). All rejected data must be investigated and corrected. Control data, matching sequence, one for one.

## Completeness: Processing

**Purpose:** All input and accepted data updates the master file. Output reports are complete.

**Control techniques include** Control totals, matching sequence, one for one, summary processing (all after updates).

## **Accuracy: Input**

**Purpose:** Control over the data fields to ensure the accuracy of data transcribed from source to input-document (where applicable) and the data are accurately converted to machine-readable form.

**Control techniques include** Control totals matching, one for one, programmed checks (e.g. reasonableness).

# **Accuracy: Processing**

**Purpose:** Accurate data are carried through processing to the master file. Computer generated data are accurate. Output reports are accurate.

**Control techniques include** Control (after update) one for one, summary processing, manual reconciliation of accepted items, totals with file totals.

## Master Files and Standing Data: Validity

**Purpose** Only authorised data updates the master files. No changes to the data are made after authorisation.

**Control techniques include** Programmed checks (e.g authority limits), manual authorization and review.

## Master Files and Standing Data: Maintenance

**Purpose:** Data on master files cannot be changed without authority and there are no long outstanding or unusual items on file.

**Control techniques include:** Manual reconciliation of file totals with manual control account, exception reports.

Tests the auditor does and all these application controls are to be found in the Appendix.

Auditors are bound to investigate the system of internal control of their client's organization before the execution of detailed audit tests. The system produces the records, the records produce the final accounts on which the auditor has to report. In an EDP system the nature of internal controls is strikingly different and therefore it becomes necessary for the auditor to open his mind to changes which become necessary. In a conventional system, visual scrutiny of every function is possible at every stage of recording and the allocation of duties is relatively straightforward.

#### The Auditor's Approach

If we look at the basic differences between computerised and conventional systems we will be able to appreciate the impact they have on the auditor's approach. If we revisit these differences, we can classify them as follows:

- (a) The complexity of computerised systems: Usually an auditor can fully understand a conventional system in a matter of hours at the most, whereas a computerised system cannot easily be comprehended without expert knowledge and a great deal of time.
- (b) A separation between the computer and the user department: The natural checks on fraud and error normally provided by the interaction of user personnel and accounting personnel no longer applies in a computer environment. This leads to reluctance on the part of the auditor to rely on internal controls in a computerised system.
- (c) Lack of visible evidence: Data in computer systems is stored primarily on magnetic discs. This information is not easy to examine. This creates problems for the auditor, it must however be appreciated that most computer installations in Kenya produce acres of print out and the auditor may be faced with too much record rather than too little. After all the management is also interested in running a business and needs these records.
- (d) **Most data on computer files is retained for short periods**: Manual records can be retained for years. These records may be kept in a manner which makes access by the auditor difficult and time consuming.
- (e) Computers systems can have programmed or automatic controls: Therefore their operation is often difficult to check by an auditor.
- (f) Since programs operate automatically without personnel being aware of what the program is doing, any program with an error is likely to process erroneously for ever.
- (g) **Use of outside agencies**: Sometimes the client uses a computer bureau to maintain their accounting records. The problems here for the auditor are in being able to examine controls and systems when access is not a legal right.

## Changes in audit approach:

**Systems design**: In conventional systems the auditor finds out about the client's system. In a computerised system, it is advisable for the auditor to be there right from the design stage, when the systems are set out.

**Timing of audit visits:** More frequent visits may be required because there may be changes in systems and programs, print outs are often shredded and magnetic files overwritten. Frequent changes occur in filing order and the audit trail has to be followed while it still exists.

**Systems review:** This follows the normal way of using a questionnaire but is more difficult because EDP systems are more complex, technical language is used, too much documentation is available, many controls are program controls meaning that their evaluation may require detailed study of programs which are written in high level languages or in machine code, and frequent changes are made to systems and programs.

**Audit tests:** These will have to differ from those used in manual systems to reflect the new records being examined.

## The Control File

When auditing EDP systems, it will be found that much reliance is placed within the system upon standard forms and documentation in general, as well as upon strict adherence to procedures laid down. This is no surprise, of course, since the ultimate constraining factor in the system is the computer's own capability, and all users are competitors for its time. It is therefore important that an audit control file be built up as part of the working papers, and the auditor should ensure that he is on the distribution list for notifications of all new procedures, documents and systems changes in general. The following should be included in the audit control file.

(a) Copies of all the forms which source documents might take, and details of the checks that have been carried out to ensure their accuracy.

- (b) Details of physical control over source documents, as well as of the nature of any control totals of numbers, quantities or values, including the names of the persons keeping these controls.
- (c) Full description of how the source documents are to be converted into input media, and the checking and control procedures.
- (d) A detailed account of the clerical, procedural and systems development controls contained in the system (e.g. separation of programmers from operators; separation of control of assets from records relating thereto).
- (e) The arrangements for retaining source documents and input media for suitable periods. This is of great importance, as they may be required for reconstructing stored files in the event of error or mishap.
- (f) A detailed flow diagram of what takes place during each routine processing run.
- (g) Details of all tapes and discs in use, including their layout, labelling, storage and retention arrangements.
- (h) Copies of all the forms which output documents might take, and details of their subsequent sorting and checking.

3/4 The auditor's own comments on the effectiveness of the controls.

## **Auditing Around the Computer**

When it is possible to relate on a one to one basis, the original input to the final output or to put it another way, where the audit trail is always preserved than the presence of the computer has minimal effect on the auditor's work, and in that case it is possible to ignore what goes on in the computer and concentrate audit tests on the completeness, accuracy, validity on the input and the output, without paying any due concern to how that output has been processed. Where there is super abundance of documentation and the output is as detailed and complete as in any manual system and where the trail from beginning to end is complete so that all documents can be identified and vouched and totally cross referenced, then the execution of normal audit tests on records which are computer produced but which are nevertheless as complete as above then this type of auditing is called auditing around the machine. In this case, the machine is viewed as simply an instrument through which conventional records are produced. This approach is much criticised because:

- i. It indicates a lack of knowledge on the part of the auditor;
- ii. It is extremely risky to audit and give an opinion on records that have been produced by a system that the auditor does not understand fully, and;
- iii. A computer has immense advantages for the auditor and it is inefficient to carry out an audit in this manner.

However, problems arise when it is discovered that management can use the computer more efficiently in running the business. This is usually done by the production of exception reports rather than the full records. For example, the management is interested in a list of delinquent debtors, therefore producing the whole list of debtors means the list has to be analyzed again to identify delinquent debtors and act upon them. This is inefficient and time consuming as the printer is the slowest piece of equipment in any computerised system. From the auditor's view, exception reports which provide him with the very material he requires for his verification work raise a serious problem because he cannot simple assume that the programs which produce the exception reports are:

- i. Doing so accurately;
- ii. Printing all the exception which exists;

- iii. Are authorised programs as opposed to dummy programs specially created for a fraudulent purpose or out of date programs accidentally taken from the library and;
- iv. That they contain programs control parameters which do in fact meet the company's genuine internal control requirements.

So although it may be reasonable for management to have faith in their systems and programs, such faith on the part of the auditor would be completely misplaced and may reflect very adversely on his duty of care. This is the first situation on the loss of audit trail.

The other situation where loss of audit trail is noted where the computer generates, totals, analyses and balances without printing out details. It therefore becomes necessary for the auditor to find a way to audit through the computer rather than around it. But before we go on to that, the loss of audit train can be overcome as follows:

- (a) We can have special print outs for auditors, remember the need to be consulted at the design stage.
- (b) Inclusive audit facility: This means putting in the programs special audit instructions that enable the computer to carry out some audit tests and produce print outs specially for the auditor.
- (c) Clerical recreation: Given unlimited time and man power, maintain the possibility to recreate manually the audit trail. This would obviously be a very tedious exercise.
- (d) Total testing and comparison: It is possible to compare results with other data, budgets, previous periods and industry averages.
- (e) Alternative tests: We can perform stock takes, debtors' circularisation and examination of the condition of fixed assets.
- (f) We can use test packs to verify program performance.

#### **Auditing Through the Computer**

There are basically two techniques available to the auditor for auditing through the computer. These are a use of test packs and the use of computer audit programs. These methods are ordinarily referred to as computer assisted audit techniques (CAATs).

Test packs: These are designed to test the performance of the clients' programs. What it involves is for the auditor either using dead data i.e. data he has created himself or live data i.e. the client's data that was due for processing to manually work out the expected output using the logic and steps of the program. This data is then run on the computer using the program and the results are compared. A satisfactory outcome gives the auditor a degree of assurance that if that programme is used continuously throughout the year, then it will perform as required. You can see that this technique of test packs falls under compliance testing work.

- (a) Live testing has the following disadvantages:
  - i. If the data is included with normal data, separate test data totals cannot be obtained. This can sometimes be resolved by the use of dummy branches or separate codes to report the program's effects on the test data.
  - ii. Side effects can occur. It has been known for an auditor's dummy product to be included in a catalogue.
  - iii. Client's files and totals are corrupted although this is unlikely to be material.
  - iv. If the auditor is testing procedures such as debt follow up, then the testing has to be over a fairly long period of time. This can be difficult to organise.

- (b) Dead testing has the following disadvantages:
  - i. Difficulties will be encountered in simulating a whole system or even a part of it.
  - A more detailed knowledge of the system is required than with the use of live files.
  - iii. There is often uncertainty as to whether operational programs are really being used for the test.
  - iv. The time span problem is still difficult but more capable of resolution than with live testing.

Computer audit programs. These consist of computer programs used by an auditor to read magnetic files and to extract specified information from the files. They are also used to carry out audit work in the contents of the file. These programs are sometimes called enquiry or interrogation programs. They can be written by an audit firm themselves or they can be found from software houses. They have the advantage that unskilled staff can easily be taught to use them.

#### Uses of computer audit programs:

Selection of representations or randomly chosen transactions or items for audit tests, e.g. item number 36 and every 140th item thereafter. Scrutiny of files and selection of exceptional items for examination e.g. all wages payments over Kshs.120, or all stock lines worth more than Kshs.1,000 in total. Comparison of two files and printing out differences e.g. payrolls at two selected dates. Preparation of exception reports e.g. overdue debts. Stratification of data e.g. stock lines or debtors; with a view to examination only of material items. Carrying out detail tests and calculations. Verifying data such as stock or fixed assets at the interim stage and the comparing of the examined file with the year end file so that only changed items need be examined at the final audit (with a small sample of the other unchanged items). Comparison of files at succeeding year ends e.g. to identify changes in the composition of stock.

#### Advantages

- 1. Examination of data is more rapid;
- 2. Examination of data is more accurate;
- 3. The only practical method of examining large amounts of data;
- 4. Gives the auditor practical acquaintance with live files;
- 5. Provides new opportunities to the auditor;
- 6. Overcomes in some cases a loss of audit trail;
- 7. Relatively cheap to use once set up costs have been incurred;

#### Disadvantages

- 1. Can be expensive to set up or acquire.
- 2. Some technical knowledge is required.
- 3. A variety of programming languages is used in business. Standard computer audit programs may not be compatible.
- 4. Detailed knowledge of systems and programs is required. Some auditors would dispute the need for this detailed knowledge to be gained.
- 5. Difficulty in obtaining computer time especially for testing.

There can be no doubt that standard computer audit program packages will be in general use in the near future. Use of audit software raises the visibility of the auditor in the eyes of the company. It makes the audit more credible. Deficiencies in the system are often discovered and can be reported to management. This also makes the audit more credible. Packages are not

however usually available for small machines.

#### ON-LINE AND REAL TIME SYSTEMS

Traditional batch processing has the advantages that the data can be subjected to checks for validity, accuracy and completeness before it is processed. But for organizations that need information on strict time scale, this type of processing is unacceptable. This has led to the development of on-line and real-time systems and the number is growing particularly in airline offices, banks, building societies and other financial institutions. The auditor's duties do not change but his techniques have to change. The key features of these systems are that they are based on the use of remote terminals which is just a VDU and keyboard typewriter. These terminals will be scattered within the user department and they have access to the central computer store. The problem for the auditor arises from the fact that master files held in the central computer store may be read and up-dated by remote terminal without an adequate audit trail or in some cases, any record remaining. Necessary precautions have to be made therefore to ensure that these terminals are used in a controlled way by authorised personnel only. And the security techniques include:

- i. Hardware constraints e.g. necessitating the use of a key of magnetic-strip badge or card to engage the terminal, or placing the terminal in a location to which access is carefully restricted, and which is constantly monitored by closed-circuit television surveillance systems;
- ii. The allocation of identification numbers to authorised terminal operators, with or without the use of passwords; these are checked by the mainframe computer against stored records of authorised numbers and passwords;
- iii. Using operator characteristics such as voice prints, hand geometry (finger length ratios) and thumb prints, as a means of identification by the mainframe computer;
- iv. Restricting the access to particular programs or master-files in the mainframe computer, to designated terminals; this arrangement may be combined with those indicated above;
- In top-security systems, the authority to allocate authorities such as those indicated above (i.e. determination of passwords, nominating selected terminals), will itself be restricted to senior personnel, other than intended users;
- vi. A special file may be maintained in the central processor which records every occasion on which access is made by particular terminals and operators to central programs and files; this log will be printed out at regular intervals e.g. the end of each day, or on request by personnel with appropriate authority.

What differentiates an on-line system from a real-time system is that the on-line system has a buffer store where input data is held by the central processor before accessing the master files. This enables the input from the remote terminals to be checked by a special scanning program before processing commences. With real time systems however, action at the terminal causes an immediate response in the central processing where the terminal is online. Security against unauthorised access and input is even more important in real-time systems because the effect of the input is that it instantaneously updates the file held in the central processor and any edit checks on the input are likely to be under the control of the terminal operators themselves. In view of these control problems, most real time systems incorporate additional controls over the scrutiny of the master file for example, logging the contents of the file before look and after look.

#### SYSTEMS AUDIT APPROACH

The systems audit is based on the following:

The volume of transactions in a modern company and the cost of auditing preclude the examination and verification of every transaction followed by the summarization of the transactions into the financial statements.

The verification of all transactions would not in itself be sufficient because it would not give any assurance as to the completeness of transactions.

The systems based audit depends on reliance on systems which prevent or detect any variation from correct processing of documents into entries in the financial records, and hence their inclusion in the financial statements. The auditor needs to understand the system and verify that controls are effective throughout the period under review.

#### The Internal Control System

**ISA 400** Risk Assessments and Internal Control defines the internal control system as comprising the control environment and control procedures. It includes all the policies and procedures adopted by the management of an entity to assist in their objective of achieving, as far as practicable, the orderly and efficient conduct of the business, including adherence to management policies, the safeguarding of asses, the prevention and detection of fraud and error, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information.

**Control environment** means the overall attitude, awareness and actions of directors and management regarding the internal control system and its importance to the entity. It encompasses management style, corporate culture, values, philosophy and operating style, the organizational structure, personnel policies and procedures.

Personnel policies and procedures, for example, would include those covering recruitment, retention and dismissal. The organizational structure should have clear lines of reporting responsibility and the maintenance of an internal audit function and audit committee demonstrates a commitment to high level controls. The use of management accounts for the purpose of variance analysis is also a high level control.

The control environment provides a background to detailed control procedures. It does not itself, of course, ensure the effectiveness of the internal control system as a whole.

Control procedures are those established to achieve the entity's specific objectives. These objectives in an accounting context include the proper authorization, timely and accurate recording of transactions in the correct period, the safeguarding of assets and ensuring he existence of assets recorded. They include particular procedures to prevent, detect and correct errors. They differ from entity to entity and are affected by the size of the entity.

In practice, the choice of controls may reflect a comparison of the cost of operating individual controls against the benefits expected to be derived from them.

Many of the internal controls which would be relevant to the larger enterprise are not practical, appropriate or necessary in the small enterprise. Management of small enterprises have less need to depend on formal internal controls for the reliability of the records and other information because of their personal contact with or involvement in the operation of the enterprise itself.

At its simplest, companies need internal controls to stop things going missing and to make some sense of how the business is doing. Documents get lost and assets go home with the staff even where there are controls in place to record everything. Managers have a gut feeling for how the business is doing, but when all they have to prove it is three large boxes stuffed full of invoices and two large boxes full of expenses (and neither of these are quite complete), they may find it difficult to prove their ideas to the taxation authorities and of course they may well be very wrong.

Documents are batched and pre-numbered so that one can check they are all there. If some sale invoices have gone missing we may not be collecting what is owed to us. This means that our cash flow suffers and we cannot pay our debts. It also means that our financial statements may be wrong. If our financial statements understate our income we will find it more difficult to obtain finance from the bank and if we are a listed company, we will appear less attractive to investors. If our purchase invoices go missing, or if we do not match goods received notes to invoices at the period end in order to arrive at a goods received not invoiced figure, matters are even worse. We think we are making good profits but we are not. We spend money that is owing to payables and when they present their final demands we have no cash and they threaten to put us into liquidation. Business goodwill is damaged. We then have to adjust profits downwards and we are accused of misleading the bank about our profits in order to obtain finance.

But what if the amounts involved are small? Does one invoice really matter? Experience shows that if one invoice has gone missing it is highly likely that several more are also missing, and the larger the organization gets, the bigger the numbers get and the tighter the controls have to be to prevent significant errors.

Why so many authorization controls? In order to allocate responsibility and deal with everyday problems. If fifteen people are involved in the processing of one invoice and something is badly wrong with it, there has to be a mechanism to show that the error occurred at a particular stage. If we do not do this, errors continue to happen, no-one takes responsibility and the organization gets a reputation for inadequate administration and inefficiency, and frauds become possible. Say for example, a clerk routinely authorizes a false purchase invoice raised by friend outside the company. The company pays the invoice and the clerk and his friend share the proceeds. This is a very common type of fraud. Controls to prevent this require payments to be authorized only with reference to purchase invoices that are attached to goods received notes, or authorizations for the receipt of services by mangers completely unconnected with the accounting function.

ISA 400 states that internal controls within an accounting system are need to ensure that:

- 1. Transactions are executed in accordance with general or specific authority
- 2. All transactions are recorded at the correct amount in the correct account in the proper period so as to permit the preparation of financial statements.
- 3. Access to assets and records is authorized
- 4. Recorded assets are compared with existing assets periodically and appropriate action is taken with regards to differences.

#### Why internal control interests the external auditor

At an early stage in his work the auditor will have to decide he extent to which he wishes to place reliance on the internal controls of the enterprise. As the audit proceeds, that decision will be kept under review and depending n the results of his examination he may decide to place more or less reliance on these controls.

The principal reason why internal control interests the auditor is that the reliance on internal control will reduce the amount of substantive testing of transactions and resultant balances in the ledger accounts required.

The operation of internal controls should ensure the completeness and accuracy of the accounting records. If the auditor is satisfied that the internal control system is functioning, there is therefore a reduced risk of error in the accounting records.

It is very important to the auditor therefore to establish what internal control system exists and then to test that system to ensure that it is working properly.

Another reason that the auditor needs to consider the adequacy of the accounting system is that the auditor usually has an additional responsibility under legislation to form an opinion as to whether proper accounting records have been kept. This implies the operation of a sound system of internal control.

By recording the accounting system and checking its operation by tests of control, the auditor can reduce the amount of substantive procedures. The total amount of work is reduced as a result.

### Specific control procedures

These include:

- 1. Reporting, reviewing and approving reconciliations.
- Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the records
   Such controls include checking the cash in a purchase invoice, and recalculating the sales tax on sales invoices
- 3. Controlling applications and the environment of computer information These are dealt with later in the text
- 4. Maintaining and reviewing control accounts and trial balances Control accounts include receivables and payables ledger control accounts, bank reconciliations and non-current asset registers.
- 5. Approval and control of documents. In a purchase system for example, there should be present authority limits. An order to the value of \$1,000 could be approved by a department head, up to \$5,000 by anyone director, and beyond this by the Board as a whole.
- 6. Comparing internal data with external sources of information. This might include supplier statement reconciliations.
- 7. Comparing the results of cash, security and inventory counts with the accounting records
- 8. Limiting direct physical access to assets and records
  An important general principle with respect to assets and records is that of
  segregation. In particular there should be a division of responsibilities for:
  - (i) Authorizing or initiating the transaction
  - (ii) The physical custody and control of assets involved
  - (iii) Recording the transaction

No one person should be in a position both to misappropriate an asset and to conceal his act by falsifying the records. For example, in a sales system the duties of receiving money from customers and writing up the sales ledger should be separated. If not, money could be misappropriated and the records falsified to cover this.

9. Comparing and analyzing the financial results with budgeted amounts.

#### The control environment

Auditors need to consider the control environment of the client as it provides the background against which the various other controls are operated. However a strong control environment does not, by itself, ensure the effectiveness of the overall internal control system. Factors reflected in the control environment include the following:

- The philosophy and operating style of the directors and management
- The entity's organizational structure and methods of assigning authority and responsibility (including segregation of duties and supervisory controls)

 The directors' methods of imposing control, including the internal audit function, the functions of the board of directors and personnel policies and procedures.

#### Understanding the system

As we have seen before, ISA 400 requires that auditors obtain and document an understanding of the accounting system and control environment sufficient to determine their audit approach, whether that be a systems based approach, or a substantive approach. It also helps with the assessment of inherent and control risk. If control risk is to be assessed as less than high, the justification for that assessment must be documented.

This understanding can be updated year on year and auditors often perform 'walk through' tests, to ensure that their understanding and documentation of the system are correct. This simply involves taking a transaction through the system from source to destination and can often 'double' as a test of control and as a substantive procedure, depending on which elements of the transactions are checked. Such tests are particularly useful where the auditor is relying on the client's documentation of the system.

#### **Proper Accounting Records**

Remember that most companies are under a legal obligation to keep proper accounting records and that auditors are required to form an opinion as to whether they have done so. Most national laws require that the accounting records must be sufficient to show and explain the company transactions and must be such as to:

- (a) Disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the company at that time, and
- (b) Enable the directors to ensure that any balance sheet and income statement comply with the requirements of the legislation as to their form, contents and otherwise.

National legislation often prescribes specific books and accounts that must be kept. In countries with a Civil Code legal tradition, it is common to have a 'Chart of Accounts' that all companies are required to maintain in some form. There is also detailed guidance on what type of transactions should be posted to the various accounts. Common Law tradition countries such as the UK, the US, Canada and Australia do not have charts of accounts. They are of course required to prepare accounts in accordance with specific formats laid down in legislation and accounting standards. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements contains pro-formas for the balance sheet and income statement of financial statement prepared under IASs.

#### Adequacy of the accounting system

An accounting system should provide for the orderly assembly of accounting information and appropriate analyses to enable financial statements to be prepared. What constitutes an adequate accounting system will depend on the size, nature and complexity of the enterprise. In its simplest form for a small business dealing primarily with cash sales and with only a few suppliers the accounting system may only need to consist of an analyzed cash book and a list of unpaid invoices. In contrast, a company manufacturing several different products and operating through a number of dispersed locations may need a complex accounting system to enable information required for financial statements to be assembled.

#### Documenting the system

The various methods of ascertaining and recording the system may be summarized as follows:

#### Ascertaining

- (a) Examining previous audit work
- (b) Client's own documentation of the system
- (c) Interviews with client's staff
- (d) Tracing transactions
- (e) Examining client's documents
- (f) Observation of client's procedures

#### Recording

- (a) Narrative notes
- (b) Organization chart
- (c) Internal control questionnaires (ICQs) or checklists
- (d) Flowcharts

You should be familiar with these methods of ascertainment and recording from previous studies.

#### Reliance on Internal Controls

Limitations on the effectiveness of internal controls

As we have seen, it is possible to reduce the volume of substantive procedures required but not to eliminate the requirement altogether. This is because all systems have inherent limitations such as:

- The need to balance the cost of the control with its benefits
- The fact that internal controls are applied to systematic transactions, not one of year end adjustments, which are often large and subject to error.
- The potential for human error
- The possibility of circumvention of internal controls through the collusion of
  managers or employees with other parties inside or outside the entity.
   The supervisor responsible for checking and authorizing overtime claims could
  collude with employees, to enable excess overtime payments to be claimed for
  example.
- The abuse of authority and override of controls

  Abuse of authority might involve ordering personal goods through the firm. It is very easy for directors and managers of organizations of any size to instruct staff to bypass normal procedures such as the requirement for authorization for payments.
- The obsolescence of controls

#### Control objectives, procedures, and test of control

It is not practical to go into detail about the exact reason for every control that is commonly used. As you go through this section, try and think of reasons why the control is in operation, think about what might happen if the control were not there, what assets could be lost, what records would be incorrect and how the business would be damaged or made inefficient and unprofitable.

You must distinguish carefully between control objectives, control procedures (both of which are the responsibility of the client) and tests of control (which are the responsibility of the auditor). They are not the same thing!

#### **Control Objectives**

Remember that control objectives for all systems are, in outline, as follows

- (a) That only authorized transactions are promptly recorded at the correct amount is the
  - appropriate accounts in the proper accounting period,
- (b) That access to assets is only in accordance with proper authorization and
- (c) That recorded assets are compared with existing assets.

#### **Control Procedures**

Detailed control procedures are often similar across sales, purchases and other areas and include, for example;

- Sequential numbering of documents with subsequent checking of the sequence for completeness
- The maintenance of batch and other control totals at the input stage with subsequent checking to output for completeness and accuracy
- The maintenance of control accounts which are checked to ensure that they reconcile to the ledgers
- Authorization, evidenced by the signature of responsible officials' for the raising, input and distribution of documents.

#### Tests of control

Tests of control (also known as compliance tests) by the auditor involve auditors ensuring that the procedures above have been applied, by looking for evidence of, for example, the checking of sequences, and creation of batch totals, control account reconciliations and authorization. Often the auditor is simply looking for a signature, to show that the control procedure has been performed. He will also sometimes reperform the control by, for example, checking that the reconciliation has been performed correctly or checking that all of the documents within a sequence are actually there, with no omissions or duplications, in order to prove to himself that the control has actually been performed, rather than the document simply having been signed. Reperformance of a control procedure will often also serve as a substantive procedure.

#### The Revenue, expenditure and other cycles approach

A traditional approach to auditing is the division of transaction processing into cycles. Examples of cycles include sales and receivables cycle, purchases and payables cycle, wages and salaries cycle, petty cash cycle, the inventories recording cycle and the conversion cycle for a manufacturer. Each cycle received has its own section of the audit programme and the audit team would normally be divided into sub groups and allocated a particular cycle.

The rationale behind this method is that for each cycle the data capture, processing and output and the internal controls, will be specific. In turn the nature and level of testing for each cycle can be planned accordingly. The method effectively encompasses all the items in a set of financial statements except one-off transactions. For example the sales and receivables cycle incorporated turnover, its analysts into segments, receivables and related write offs and provisions.

Used in isolation this approach is now seen as unnecessarily detailed and hence top expensive.

As examples of the cycle approach we shall consider the sales and receivables and the purchases and payables cycles.

# Sales and Receivables Cycle

#### **Control Objectives**

How do the control; objectives noted above translate into 'real life' objectives for sales? For many businesses, sales are made on credit and thus the sales cycle includes control objectives for receivables. These control objectives include:

 Customers' orders should be authorized, controlled and recorded in order to execute them promptly and determine any allowance required for losses arising from unfulfilled commitments.

 Goods shipped and work completed should be controlled to ensure that invoices are issued and revenue recorded for all sales.

- Goods returned and claims by customers should be controlled in order to determine the liability for goods returned and claims received but not entered in the accounting records.
- Invoices and credits should be appropriately checked as being accurate and authorized before being entered in the accounting records
- Validated receivables transactions, and only those transactions, should be accurately
  entered in the accounting records.
- There should be procedures to ensure that sales invoices are subsequently paid and that doubtful amounts are identified in order to determine any allowances required.

### Achievement of Objectives

In order to achieve these objectives there should be good segregation of duties. There are three distinct processes in the sales system which should be segregated and performed by different staff in order to establish effective internal controls. They are:

- Accepting Customers' Orders: Sequence-controlled documents should be used to acknowledge all orders received. Any uncompleted orders should be regularly reviewed.
  - Credit limits should be checked by the credit control department. Selling prices, special discounts and delivery dates should be fixed by senior members of the department never by the accounts staff.
- Despatch department: Sequence-controlled documents should be used (goods outwards or dispatch notes) for all goods leaving the premises. These should be completed by the gatekeeper or the dispatch department —never by the accounts staff.
- Invoicing the goods: Sequence controlled invoices should be raised by the sales
  department and then passed to the accounts department for recording.
  Independent checks should be made to ensure that invoices have been raised for
  all goods outwards notes.

In addition strict control of credit notes is essential to ensure that they are raised by proper authority in the sales department against goods received notes. It is not uncommon for credit notes to be raised to 'hide' what are in fact bad debts or to conceal theft of cash receipts. Credit notes can also be used to cancel out fictitious sales invoices which have been raised in order to boost sales figures artificially.

#### Control procedures over sales and receivables

There are a large number of controls that may be required in the sales cycle due to the importance of this area in any business and the possible opportunities that exist for diverting sales away from the business and other persons benefiting.

# (a) Orders

- The orders should be checked against the customer's account; this should be
  evidenced by initialing. Any new customer should be referred to the credit control
  department before the order is accepted.
- Existing customers should be allocated to a credit limit and it should be ascertained
  whether this limit is to be exceeded if the new order is accepted. If so the matter
  should be referred to credit control.
- All orders received should be recorded on pre-numbered sales order documents.
- All orders should be authorized before any goods are dispatched

 The sales order should be used to produce a despatch note for the goods outwards department. No goods may be dispatched without a dispatch note.

#### (b) Despatch

- Despatch notes should be pre-numbered and a register kept of them to relate to sales invoices and orders
- Goods dispatch notes should be authorized as goods leave and checked periodically to ensure they are complete and that all have been invoiced.

#### (c) Invoicing and credit notes

- Sales invoices should be authorized by a responsible official and referenced to the original authorized order and dispatch note.
- All invoices and credit notes should be entered in sales day book records, the
  accounts receivable ledger, and accounts receivable ledger control account. Batch
  totals should be maintained for his purpose.
- Sales invoices and credit notes should be checked for prices, costs and calculations by a person other than one preparing the invoice.
- All invoices and credit notes should be serially pre-numbered and regular sequence checks should be carried out.
- Credit notes should be authorized by someone unconnected with despatch or accounts receivable ledger functions.
- Copies of cancelled invoices should be retained.
- Any invoices cancellation should lead to a cancellation of the appropriate despatch note.
- Cancelled and free of charge invoices should be signed by a responsible official.
- Each invoice should distinguish between different types of sales and nay sales taxes.
   Any coding of invoices should be periodically checked independently.

#### (d) Returns

- (i) Any goods returned by the customer should be checked for obvious damage and, when accepted, a document should be raised.
- (ii) All goods returned should be used to prepare appropriate credit notes.

#### (e) Receivables

- A receivables ledger control account should be prepared regularly and checked to individual sales ledger balances by an independent official.
- (ii) Receivables ledger personnel should be independent of despatch and cash receipt functions
- (iii) Statements should be sent regularly to customers.

# REINFORCING QUESTIONS

#### **QUESTION ONE**

Computer security is of vital importance not only to the accountant in industry but also to the accountant in practice who may be advising his client as to suitable security controls or who may be auditing a computer system. Security is the means by which losses are controlled and therefore involves the identification of risks and the institution of measures to either prevent such risks entirely or to reduce their impact.

- (a) State four areas of risk which may arise in relation to a computer system and in each case explain one factor which could lead to the system being exposed to such risk.
- (b) Describe the different forms of control which should be instituted to safeguard against computer security risks.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

When auditing information produced by EDP equipment, it is necessary to take into account the checks and controls built into the system itself. In connection with routine processing, explain how each of the following constitutes an important control:

- (a) Parity check;
- (b) File protection ring;
- (c) Tape labelling;
- (d) Record count;
- (e) Control total.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

Internal control is defined in the International Standards on Auditing (ISA 400) as:

"The whole system of controls, financial and otherwise, established by the management in order to:

- i. Carry on the business of the enterprise in an orderly and efficient manner
- ii. Ensure adherence to management policies
- iii. Safeguard the assets, and
- iv. Secure as far as possible the competence and accuracy of the records".

#### Required

In respect of management objectives (i) to (iv) above, explain their meaning and the relevance of each to the auditor giving an opinion on financial statements.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

Audit risk is a combination of the risk that the financial statements being audited may contain material errors and that these errors may not be detected by the auditor's testing procedures. Risk can be categorised as `normal risk' or `higher than normal risk', and is evaluated during the planning stage of an audit. The auditor should devote attention to the critical areas of the financial statements by considering and evaluating materiality and risks specific to the company. Materiality limits should be set at the planning stage of the audit to act as a guideline for deciding whether adjustment should be made to the financial statements.

#### You are required to

- (a) Briefly describe what you understand by the terms `inherent risk,' `control risk' and `detection risk'.
- (b) List the factors which the auditor would bear in mind when assessing the audit risk of a company.
  - You should set out your answer under the headings 'inherent risk' and 'control risk'.
- (c) Discuss the considerations which would determine whether an item was material in relation to the financial statements.
- (d) Discuss the validity of the statement that materiality limits should be set at the planning stage of the audit and should be rigidly adhered to throughout the audit.

## **QUESTION FIVE**

"There are those who put forward the theory that an auditor should not in any circumstances become involved, even as an adviser, in the management function of decision-making within a business. I do not subscribe to this view, and indeed in my opinion it is the auditors' duty to point out weaknesses, to offer constructive advice, and to help the business in every possible way that he can".

Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

## **COMPREHENSIVE ASSIGNMENT NO.1**

#### TO BE SUBMITTED AFTER LESSON 2

To be carried out under examination conditions and sent to the Distance Learning Administration for marking by the University.

EXAMINATION PAPER: TIME ALLOWED: 3 HRS. ANSWER ALL QUESTIONS.

**Answer ALL Questions** 

#### **QUESTION ONE**

The auditors of Streetwise have recently been dismissed by the company. The directors of Streetwise have approached you to act as their auditors and have stated that they are prepared to pay \$100,000 as an audit fee. Plus a bonus f 1% of the profits after taxation. The company manufactures and retails window frames. The directors have a poor reputation as regards employee welfare and there is a very high turnover of employees. A government department has previously investigated the business practices adopted by the company but no action was subsequently taken against the directors or the company.

#### Required

- (a) Describe the steps the auditor must take before deciding whether to accept the nomination as auditor. (8 marks)
- (b) State with reasons, whether the auditor may accept the method of remuneration as proposed by the directors (5 marks)
- (c) Comment on the view that where the audit fee is fixed by the negotiation between the directors and the auditor, the confidence of the shareholders in the independence of the auditor may be affected. (7 marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

Time Allowed: 3 Hours

#### **QUESTION TWO**

Your firm of Certified Accountants, in common with many other firms of accountants and auditors, issues to its staff an audit manual which contains, amongst other matters, recommended procedures to be adopted in carrying out audits. A number of these recommended procedures relate to physical observation of stock counts and review of stocktaking instructions. Owing to pressure of work, you neglected to arrange for the physical observation of stocks at the premises of Leesmoor Limited at 31 March 2003, but your review of stocktaking instructions indicated that company procedures appeared to be in order. You decided to accept the amount at which stock was stated in the financial statements at 31 March 2003 on the grounds that:

- i. The stocktaking instructions appeared to be satisfactory;
- No problems had arisen in determining physical stock quantities in previous years; and
- iii. The figures in the financial statements generally `made sense'.

You issued your unqualified audit report on 28 May 2003 and unbeknown to you Leesmoor used the financial statements and the audit report for the purpose of obtaining material additional finance from a third party in the form of an unsecured long-term loan. Unfortunately, in October 2003 the company ran into financial difficulties and was forced into liquidation as a result of which the long-term loan holder lost the amount of his loan. During the liquidation proceedings it became clear that stock quantities at 31 March 2003 had been considerably overstated.

#### Required

- (a) Explain the probable legal position of your firm in respect of the above matter commenting specifically on the following:
  - i. The possibility of demonstrating your firm were negligent;
  - ii. The fact that the stocks figure in the financial statements apparently `made sense'.
  - iii. The fact that you were not informed that the financial statements and your audit report were to be used to obtain additional finance.

(14 Marks)

(b) Describe the reasonable steps your firm should take to avoid a recurrence of a matter such as that described above. (6 Marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

#### **QUESTION THREE**

Foolhardy Limited, a small merchandising company, acquired a hard-disk microcomputer system, and purchased a standard spreadsheet package in order to maintain its financial records. The financial controller of the company constructed, by using this package, a series of computer models in order to record the basic accounting transactions of the business, but did not incorporate any accounting controls within these models. The nominal ledger, cash book and sales and debtors ledgers were all maintained by means of the spreadsheet system. The directors of the company were quite impressed by the speed and flexibility of the new accounting system.

The auditors of Foolhardy Limited, during their final audit, were not at all impressed by the new accounting system and when they commenced their audit tests they found discrepancies in the debtor and bank balances. For example, the debtors circularisation seemed to indicate that the financial controller had not recorded all of the cash received from debtors, and the bank statement balance could not be reconciled to the balance in the computerised cash book. It appeared to the auditors that the financial controller had been defrauding the company and they are now considering their next course of action.

#### You are required to

- (a) Explain the actions which the auditor should take if, as indicated above, during the course of his work he obtains information which indicates the possibility of irregularities in the financial records of Foolhardy Limited. (7 Marks)
- (b) Explain the reasons why the spreadsheet package should not have been used to maintain the financial records of Foolhardy Limited. (7 Marks)
  - (c) List the ways in which a spreadsheet package could assist the management of Foolhardy Limited to improve the flow of accounting information within the business.

    (6 Marks)

(Total: 20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

The proliferation of Accounting Standards and the introduction of Auditing Standards and Guidelines have reduced the function of auditing to a mere application of technical skills to the detriment of professional judgement.

Discuss.

(Total: 20 Marks)

### **QUESTION FIVE**

- (a) Summarise the provisions of the International Standard on Auditing with regard to the responsibility of detecting fraud and error. (7 Marks)
- (b) Discuss the various factors which an auditor should consider when appraising the risk of material error and fraud during an audit. (8 Marks)
- (c) While carrying out an audit, an auditor may sometimes encounter circumstances that cause him to suspect or confirm that fraud or error has occurred.

**Required:** Outline the action which the auditor should take in such a case. (5 Marks)

(Total: 20 Marks)

End of Comprehensive Assignment No.1 Now Send Your Answers to the Distance Learning Centre for Marking

# LESSON THREE

# The Audit Process: Planning and Quality Control

#### **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this lesson you should be able to:

- · Plan and justify audit strategy
- Discuss and apply the concept of materiality and audit risk to the audit process
- Explain how personal computers can help auditors In their work
- Discuss and explain the special problems of auditing where a client has a Computerised System.

#### **CONTENTS**

- · Stages of a modern audit
- · Definition of planning
- The need for audit planning
- Risk Assessment and Management
- · Audit Approaches
- · Quality Control in Practice Management
- · The concept of materiality in audit planning

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

Assigned Reading:

#### **ISAs**

- 120 Framework of ISAs
- 200 Objective and General Principles Governing an Audit of Financial Statements
- 220 Quality control for Audit Work
- 230 Documentation
- 250 Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements
- 300 Planning (full title on the new ISA)
- 320 Audit materiality

#### 3.1 The Stages of a Modern Audit

The main features of an audit are as follows, with a brief note on the procedures to use:

- i. Ascertainment of the nature and constitution of the client's business and how it is carried on. Procedures would include visits to the client's premises, discussions with officers, study of documents such as past accounts, prospectuses, audit files, etc.
- ii. Planning and subsequently controlling the audit. Procedures would include preparation of an "audit memorandum" setting out work to be done and timing and staff requirements. A preliminary review of the client's management accounts and previous audit files would also have been required.
- iii. Ascertaining, evaluating and testing the client's accounting systems and internal controls. There are several ways of dealing with this. A modern way is to ascertain by asking 'grass roots' staff; recording the facts by means of flow charts etc. and evaluating by the use of the 'key' questions and criteria questions using a hypothetical or normative model of the appropriate systems.
- iv. Carrying out tests on the systems to determine if they are effective and are consistently applied at all relevant times. This is done by means of "compliance" tests preferably operated on a statistically valid basis.
- v. Verifying the existence, title and amounts included in the balance sheet in respect of assets, liabilities and capital. This is done by a variety of means including assessment of internal control procedures and by means of "substantive" tests which give direct evidence of the items to the auditor, e.g. bank letter, and debtors circularisation.
- vi. Checking the financial statement with the accounting records. This is a requirement of the 7th Schedule of the Companies Act and is achieved by simply making such a comparison.
- vii. Examining the income statement to confirm that it reflects the results of the operations of the enterprise. This is achieved by assessment of internal control procedures and the quality of the records, by seeking direct evidence, and by seeking out and probing anomalies or differences from expectations.
- viii. Examining the financial statements for conformity with acceptable accounting practices and for compliance with legal and other disclosure requirements. This is achieved by the use of check lists.
- ix. Considering the financial statements as a whole and reviewing the audit work and conclusions drawn there from in order to determine whether such statements give a true and fair view. This is achieved by a review conducted by experienced personnel considering the audit working papers, any revealed anomalies and any uncertainties and any disagreements with directors or other parties responsible for the preparation of the accounts.
- x. The drafting of an auditor's report giving the auditor's opinion on the truth and fairness and compliance with statute of the accounts. The wording of the report will depend on the conclusion drawn by the auditor from his audit, and the report may be qualified or unqualified.

#### 3.2 Introduction to Planning

The primary objective of an audit is the expression of an expert and independent opinion on the truth and fairness of the information contained in the annual financial statements expressed in the audit report and the ascertainment and evaluation of the accounting systems as the basis for the preparation of financial statements.

It is for he auditor to decide the extend of audit work he considers necessary in order to support his opinion.

ISA 200 Objectives and General Principles governing an audit of financial statements states that the auditor should carry out an audit in accordance with ISAs and ethical principles to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

# The auditor should plan the audit work so that the audit will be performed in an effective manner.

"Planning" means developing a general strategy and a detailed approach for the expected nature, timing and extent of the audit. The auditor plans to perform the audit in an efficient and timely manner.

International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 300 Planning establishes standards and provides guidance on planning an audit of financial statements.

An audit is an assignment. To complete the assignment efficiently and effectively in an economical and cost effective manner then it must be planned for in some detail before commencement and the strategy constantly reviewed as the audit progresses. Planning consists of determining what is to be done, determining when it is to be done, determining who is to

it; and determining what it will cost in terms of hours and money.

#### **Audit Planning Memorandum**

Planning must be formalised in a written document ordinarily called an Audit Planning Memorandum (APM).

In practice, such a plan includes the following information:

- 1. **Section 1** can be a summary of the terms of engagement, basically summarizing the expected scope of the assignment and the reports or other communications called for under the terms of engagement.
- 2. Section 2 would consist of the history or a brief background of the client and any major changes that have taken place since the previous audit visit. Accordingly, this paragraph will cover such matters as the kind of business the client is in, the products, the spread of the company's products, the location from which the client operates, changes in key personnel, accounting policies and procedures, legislation and even changes in the industry structure.
  - If the company is a part of a group, then a summary of the relationship with other companies in the group may also be provided.
- 3. Section 3 would summarize those areas with high inherent risk. These are those areas whereby because of the nature of the business environment in which the client operates, there is a high chance of misstatement or misreporting those are areas where the auditor could reach a wrong conclusion unless special audit procedures are adopted.
- 4. **Section 4** could summarize the financial position and results. This normally involves summarizing the balance sheet and the profit and loss account for the last audited year and having alongside those figures the latest a management accounts figures as well as the budgeted figures. The auditor then carries out a ratio analysis on the financial information to identify other audit risk areas or areas where apparently there have been new developments or significant changes that require investigation and explanations.
- 5. **Section 5** could consist of a listing of incomes, expenses, assets and liabilities i.e. the significant components of the financial statements and a brief description of the methods to be adapted to verify them.\
- 6. **Section 6** is materiality levels, which would be set for every material component of the financial statements and the related audit approach.

- 7. **An outline of the proposed** audit approach. The aspects that would be covered here include:
  - The expected client staff assistance in the preparation of supporting schedules
  - The expected reliance on the Internal Control Systems (ICS)
  - The intended use of internal auditor's work
  - The intended use of experts or specialists

This section would also highlight the expected levels of assurance to be derived from:

- tests of control
- analytical review procedures
- substantive procedures of details
- 8. **Section 8** could consist of a timetable on timing of key events or activities such as the proposed date of the AGM, the date of audit clearance, the date of the stock take and the date of the various audit units.
- 9. **Section 9** could deal with the staffing arrangements, identifying the partner responsible for the audit, the manger, the accountant in charge and the audit assistants.
- 10. **Section 10** could be for the budget and a fee quotation. This would show for every staff member, the number of man hour as well as the cost of throe hours.

Note that the plan must be approved by the partner in writing before the audit commences.

#### 3.3 Importance of Audit Planning

Adequate planning of the audit work helps to ensure:

- That appropriate attention is devoted to important areas of the audit,
- That potential problems are identified
- That work is completed expeditiously.
- Proper assignment of work to assistants
- Coordination of work done by other auditors and experts.

The extent of planning will vary according to the size of the entity, the complexity of the audit and the auditor's experience with the entity and knowledge of the business.

Obtaining knowledge of the business is an important part of planning the work.

The auditor's knowledge of the business assists in the identification of events, transactions and practices which may have a material effect on the financial statements.

The auditor may wish to discuss elements of the overall audit plan and certain audit procedures with the entity's audit committee, management and staff to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the audit and to coordinate audit procedures with work of the entity's personnel. The overall audit plan and the audit program; however, remain the auditor's responsibility.

#### Controlling

The auditor carries out his work using different levels of staff. To achieve the plan requires control at all stages. The elements of control are:

(a) Directing or Direction: Staff must have the instructions to follow. This could be

formalised audit programmes clearly setting out what the staff

must do.

(b) Supervision: Every member of the audit team should be subject to

supervision

by his superior to ensure that the plan is being carried out as

expected and all necessary work is being done.

(c) Reviewing: The work done would be reviewed at all levels and evidence of

this review should be available.

(d) Recording: The entire audit process must be properly documented in the

form

of working papers.

#### 3.4 The Overall Audit Plan

The auditor should develop and document an **overall audit plan** describing the expected scope and conduct of the audit. While the record of the overall audit plan will need to be sufficiently detailed to guide the development of the audit program, its precise form and content will vary depending on the size of the entity, the complexity of the audit and the specific methodology and technology used by the auditor.

Matters to be considered by the auditor in developing the overall audit plan include the following:

#### **Knowledge of the Business**

- General economic factors and industry conditions affecting the entity's business.
- Important characteristics of the entity, its business, its financial performance and its reporting requirements including changes since the date of the prior audit.
- The general level of competence of management.

#### Understanding the Accounting and Internal Control Systems

- The accounting policies adopted by the entity and changes in those policies.
- The effect of new accounting or auditing pronouncements.
- The auditor's cumulative knowledge of the accounting and internal control systems and the relative emphasis expected to be placed on tests of control and substantive procedures.

#### Risk and Materiality

- The expected assessments of inherent and control risks and the identification of significant audit areas.
- The setting of materiality levels for audit purposes.
- The possibility of material misstatement, including the experience of past periods, or fraud.
- The identification of complex accounting areas including those involving accounting estimates.

#### Nature, Timing and Extent of Procedures

- Possible change of emphasis on specific audit areas.
- The effect of information technology on the audit.
- The work of internal auditing and its expected effect on external audit procedures.

#### Coordination, Direction, Supervision and Review

- The involvement of other auditors in the audit of components, for example, subsidiaries, branches and divisions.
- The involvement of experts.
- The number of locations.
- Staffing requirements.

#### Other Matters

- The possibility that the going concern assumption may be subject to question.
- Conditions requiring special attention, such as the existence of related parties.
- The terms of the engagement and any statutory responsibilities.
- The nature and timing of reports or other communication with the entity that are expected under the engagement.

#### 3.5 The Audit Program

The auditor should develop and document an audit program setting out the nature, timing and extent of planned audit procedures required to implement the overall audit plan.

The audit program serves as a set of instructions to assistants involved in the audit and as a means to control and record the proper execution of the work. The audit program may also contain the audit objectives for each area and a time budget in which hours are budgeted for the various audit areas or procedures.

In preparing the audit program, the auditor would consider the specific assessments of inherent and control risks and the required level of assurance to be provided by substantive procedures. The auditor would also consider the timing of tests of controls and substantive procedures, the coordination of any assistance expected from the entity, the availability of assistants and the involvement of other auditors or experts.

#### Changes to the Overall Audit Plan and Audit Program

The overall audit plan and the audit program should be revised as necessary during the course of the audit. Planning is continuous throughout the engagement because of changes in conditions or unexpected results of audit procedures. The reasons for significant changes would be recorded.

#### 3.6 Audit Approaches

- 1. Substantive procedures
- 2. Balance sheet Approach
- 3. Audit Risk Approach
- 4. Business Risk Approach
- 5. Systems Based Audit approach
- 6. Directional Testing
- 7. Analytical Procedures

#### 3.61 Substantive procedures

This involves creating and using audit programs for material account balances and

transactions. The two categories of substantive testing include tests of detail of transactions and balances and analytical procedures.

#### 3.62 Balance sheet Approach

This approach is based on the assumption that the balance sheet is the most important aspect of the financial statements and therefore if the balance sheet is correct, the other statements must be correct. It is suitable for small companies and larger property companies. It concentrates audit testing on the account balances with limited testing of the profit and loss account.

#### 3.63 Audit Risk Approach

#### **AUDIT RISK**

As we have seen many parties rely on the audit opinion to make decisions, and therefore it is now a well established fact that if the auditor gives an audit opinion that is wrong in some particular then they stand a chance of suffering some damage.

Audit risk therefore could be defined as the chance of damage to the audit firm as a result of giving an opinion that is wrong in some particular. Or put another way, it could be explained as the possibility that financial statements contain material mis-statements which had escaped detection by both an internal control on which the auditor has relied and on the auditor's own substantive tests and other work.

It could be looked at also as: the possibility that the auditor may be required to pay damages to the client or other persons as a consequence of:

- 1. The financial statements containing a mis-statement;
- 2. The complaining party suffering a loss as a direct consequence of relying on the financial statement and
- 3. Negligence by the auditor in not detecting any reporting on the mis-statement which can be demonstrated.

Damage to the audit firm or the auditor may be in the form of monetary damages paid to the complainant as compensation or simply damage to their reputation with a client or the business community.

All audits involve an element of risk such that however strong the audit evidence and however careful the auditor, there is always a possibility of an error or a fraud going undetected. It is generally known that the auditor who organises his office and staff in a competent manner and follows auditing standards and guidelines is unlikely to be found negligent and to pay damages as a consequence of fraud or error not being discovered by him.

Audit risk can be either normal or higher than normal.

#### Normal audit risk

Indications that an audit is a normal risk audit are:

- (a) The client having management and staff who are competent and have integrity;
- (b) Where the client has an accounting system that is well designed, works and is subject to strong internal controls;
- (c) Where the client has no special financial problems;
- (d) The auditor's past experience;
- (e) Where the client is old, well established and the business of the entity is not subject

- to rapid change;
- (f) If the client's board of directors are actively engaged in the company and they provide control and leadership of a good quality;
- (g) If the board of directors has competent non-executive directors;
- (h) If the organization has an audit committee.

When the auditor is faced with the normal audit risk, the audit approach adopted is usually one of reliance on key controls supported by substantive tests, compliance tests and analytical review.

#### Higher than normal risk

Several audit assignments involve high audit risk and usually in any client there will always be at least one high risk area. Indications that an audit has an element of higher than normal audit risk include:

- (a) Poor management with lack of control and poor book-keeping;
- (b) Liquidity problems and high gearing;
- (c) The opposite of all the factors mentioned in the normal risk above;
- (d) Recent changes in ownership, control or key staff;
- (e) Changes in accounting policies or procedures;
- (f) Future plans to seek quotation on the Nairobi Stock Exchange;
- (g) Over-reliance on a few products, customers, suppliers and investments in new ventures or products;
- (h) Problems inherent in the nature of the business for example difficulties in stock counting or valuation, difficulties in determining the extent of claims and provisions and cut-off problems;
- (i) The existence of put upon enquiry situations, dominance by the single person and lack of involvement of directors or proprietors. In such a situation, the auditor approaches his audit in a manner that is:
  - · Sceptical, relying on high calibre staff
  - Collection of audit evidence in each area from a wide range of sources
  - Taking extreme care in the preparation of audit working papers
  - Investigating thoroughly high risk and problematic areas
  - Exercising extreme care in drafting the audit report

In addition to normal risk and higher than normal risk discussed above, the auditor can also be exposed by sub-standard work such as:

- i. His failure to recognise put upon enquiry situation
- ii. His failure to draw correct inferences from audit evidence and the analytical review
- iii. His use of wrong procedures in a particular situation
- iv. His failure to perform necessary audit work because of time and cost consideration
- v. His failure to detect errors or fraud because of poor sampling methods or the selection of inadequate sample sizes

It is essential that an audit firm should organize itself in such a way that it can minimise the risk of suffering any damage. We can look at these measures from two points of view. Broad measures taken by the profession as a whole and measures to be taken by the individual auditor in minimising this audit risk.

#### The Measures Taken By the Profession As A Whole

These have been adequately covered under the section on independence in lesson 1 and qualities of an auditor whereby we considered the steps taken by the profession to secure the qualities of competence, judgement, objectivity and integrity in an auditor.

#### Measures To Be Taken By the Individual Auditor

- (a) Proper recruitment and training of all staff;
- (b) Allocating staff to particular audits where they have the appropriate skills;
- (c) Planning the jobs well in advance so that it can be approached in a relaxed but disciplined manner and any timing problems can be accommodated;
- (d) Use of audit manuals that conform to audit standards and guidelines;
- (e) Use of up-to-date letters of engagements;
- (f) Quality control measures that ensure review at every stage of the audit;
- (g) Good briefing of auditing staff so that they can recognise put upon enquiry situation;
- (h) Emphasising on materiality and use of adequate sample sizes

#### **Procedures the Auditor Adopts**

The auditors procedures will include:

- a) Getting an understanding of the entity as a whole in order to see the accounting system in proper perspective and thus be able to assess how effective and appropriate the system is;
- b) By use of enquiry or internal control questionnaires or reading manuals ascertain the complete system;
- c) Record the system that he has ascertained either in the form of narrative notes, flow charts, check lists or answers to the ICQ;
- d) If the auditor intends to rely on the internal control then he further has to record the system of controls in detail;
- e) If the system's record was provided by the client or was obtained through reading manuals, then the auditor must perform walk through tests to confirm the correctness of the record and also his own understanding of the system;
- f) The auditor then performs a preliminary assessment of the system, and if he is relying on controls then he performs a preliminary evaluation of those controls;
- g) If the system of controls and accounting seems adequate and the auditor feels that he can rely upon the controls he then designs and performs compliance tests. However, if he does not wish to rely on the controls then he performs substantive tests on the records;
- h) He has to evaluate his evidence and form an opinion on whether proper books of accounts have been kept and whether the books of accounts form a reliable basis for the preparation of the financial statements.

#### 3.64 Business Risk Approach

This approach requires the auditor to determine what are the very important business risks which the client faces. This line of approach both helps the client and also enables the auditor to appreciate and understand his clients business and appreciate all aspects of the business activities. It is then for the auditor to determine where the risks are likely or unlikely and whether the risks are likely to produce serious consequences. This enable the audit to be focussed on those matters where there is a possibility of misstatement. This is the basis of revised auditing standards.

The big firms have largely adopted this approach within their audit methodology.

The history of auditing shows a gradual change over time as detailed testing of transactions moved to system audits. The next development was the audit risk model which focuses the audit and the extent of audit procedures on to the areas of an audit where the auditor was most at risk of giving an inappropriate opinion.

Here we consider concept of risk from the view point of the business as a whole:

#### 3.64.1 The Business Risk Approach to Auditing

In recent years the broader concept of business risk have been developed by the larger firms. It was the subject of the ICAEW auditing road show 'Tomorrow's audit today' in the late 1990s in the UK. The concept has not been fully refined but its main principles are now well established.

Business risk is the threat that an event or action will adversely affect a business's ability to achieve its ongoing objective. It can be split between external and internal factors.

The business risk approach to auditing involves examining the business in it's entirely and evaluating the various risks to which it is exposed. The business risks are factors which affect the company's ability to meet its goals. The risks may be controllable (to some extent) or uncontrollable (for example, external factors). It may be possible to trade-off some risks (e.g. insurance). The auditor is concerned about those risks which may impact upon the financial statements and therefore needs a full understanding of the business and its risks in order to do this. The auditor will then plan the audit strategy with these business risks clearly focused in mind.

#### 3.64.2 The Effects of the Business Risk Approach

There are some general points which can be made about the business risk approach and the effect it has had on the auditing process.

| This 'top down' approach to the audit, beginning with business risk and ending with the financial statements   |
|--|
| There is still a lack of clarity in the relationship between business risk and audit risk  |
| The ideas of inherent risk and control risk have tended to merge into the larger concept of business risk.   |
| The ideas of inherent risk and control risk can be called residual risk which has to be minimized by audit action. An audit action carries with it detection risk.   |
| The approach is very much a high level approach and should include consideration of all matters which are critical to the business. For example, 'could the client lose the XYZ franchise and what would be the possible consequences for the company and its financial statements?' |
| Because of the high level of understanding required of a client's business it is possible to use analytical procedures more frequently as a procedure for verification of financial statement assertions   |
| It is an aid to the firm's acceptance and continuation procedures for clients (do we want this client?)  |

|                        | Business failure risk is an important aspect of overall business risk. The assessment of business failure risk will assist the auditor when considering the going concern status of the clients business.  |
|------------------------|--|
|                        | The audit needs to be tailor made and a generalized approach to audits is neither productive nor economical  |
|                        | Auditors need more understanding of business and to that end the larger firms set up larger databases of information about the economy and the business world  |
|                        | The concept implies a continuing relationship with the client rather than a oine off view with each year being separate.   |
| approac                | ald be evident from this summary the business risk approach is a more holistic that to the audit. The business risk approach starts at a stage back from the traditional sk model and offers more benefit to auditors and clients alike.   |
| Busines<br>stateme     | s activity information financial nts   |
| with exa               | s the audit risk model encompasses the last two aspects the business risk approach starts amining the business activity and identifies the risk relating to it, before examining the risks aformation and subsequently the financial statements being misstated.   |
| perform<br>For exa     | nsequences of the business risk approach should be a more efficient and focused ned by a more knowledgeable auditor resulting in a better auditor – client relationship. mple, the audit will have less emphasis on transactions. The auditor may well provide enefit to the client given this greater understanding of the business and its risk profile. |
| <b>3.64.3</b> <i>A</i> | Advantages of the Business Risk Approach   |
| The adv                | vantages of the business risk approach are as follows:   |
|                        | Research showed that processing errors were rarely a cause of audit problems   |
|                        | Major audit problems (e.g. companies going bust shortly after a clean audit report) typically arise out of issues such as going concern, major fraud by top management, larger scale systems breakdown etc.  |
|                        | Investigation of business risk enables the auditor to have a profound knowledge of the business (as required by ISA 310 knowledge of the business).  |
|                        | The approach focuses the audit on to the high risk areas which are material to the business.   |
|                        | The approach adds value to the audit and enables the auditor to offer some commercial benefits to the audit.   |
|                        | The previous emphasis on transactions and systems was expensive and uneconomic   |
|                        | The pace of change in business and in computing and communications means that companies are much more at risk of failure than ever before.   |
|                        | Auditing needs to be aware of such changes   |
|                        | Audit firms wish to be in van of innovation to attract clients.  |
|                        | Audit firms are anxious to show product differentiation to potential clients   |
|                        | The business environment and corporate governance issues, and the nature of management control are all now more significant for and translate more quickly into the financial statements   |
|                        | The approach tends to involve partners and senior mangers much more in the planning stages of an audit   |
|                        | The business risk review may show up areas where the auditor can suggest that its highly paid services can be offered to the client.   |

### AUDITING

☐ Strategic plan☐ Budgets

| <del>7</del> 0 | The Addit Flocess. Framming and quanty Control   |
|----------------|--|
| There          | are some disadvantages to the approach, as follows:  |
|                | More highly qualified and competent staff are required   |
|                | •  |
| Ц              | The added value idea does tend to oppose the notion of independence  |
| 3.64.5         | Business Risk Analysis   |
| Busine         | ss risk can be analyzed between external and internal risks  |
| Exterr         | nal risks  |
|                | Changing legislation (e.g. minimum wage)   |
|                | Changing interest rates (especially with highly geared companies)  |
|                | Changing exchange rates  |
|                | Public opinion, attitudes, fashions (e.g. environmental factors)   |
|                | Price wars initiated by competitors (e.g. supermarkets)  |
|                | Import competition (e.g. the textile trade)  |
|                | Untried technologies and ideas (e.g. dot.com traders)  |
|                | Natural hazards (e.g. fire or flood or effects of global warming)  |
|                | Bad debts  |
|                | Litigation   |
|                | Environmental matters  |
|                | Inflation  |
|                | Political factors  |
| Intern         | al Risks   |
|                | al risks can also damage the company. These include:   |
|                | Failure to modernize products, processes, labour elations, marketing resulting in loss   |
|                | of competitive edge  |
|                | Employees (e.g. ineffective recruitment or training policies)  |
|                | Board members (e.g. ineffective corporate governance)  |
|                | The process of dealing with suppliers or customers   |
|                | Excessive reliance on a dominance chief executive (thereby weakening internal control)   |
|                | Inadequate cash flow and the risk of corporate failure   |
|                | Inappropriate gearing (resulting in a lack of financial efficiency)  |
|                | Related parties resting in inappropriate terms of trading  |
|                | Inappropriate acquisitions and poor future prospects   |
|                | Overtrading resulting in cash shortages  |
|                | Excessive reliance on one of a few products, customers, suppliers  |
| _              | Internal control weaknesses  |
|                | Computer systems failure and loss of records Fraud   |
| Ц              | Traud  |
| 3.64.6         | Companies' Modes of Operation  |
| simply         | companies (especially small ones) operate without any overtly expressed plan and carry out the business as always, responding to market changes as they happen. Such nies are often very adaptable and survive well. |
| Large o        | companies normally plan their activities in a hierarchal way, as follows:  |
|                | Mission statement  |
| _              |  |

Businesses are at risk if their business objectives are not achieved. It is therefore desirable for

the management to identify all business risks and if necessary to amend the plan to accommodate the risks or make contingency plans to survive.

For example, a company which has over reliance on one customer might decide actively to seek new customers or markets, perhaps by acquisition. Another example would be a company which is totally reliant on is computer system should have backup facilities.

#### 3.64.7 Classification of Individual Business Risk

Individual business risk can be low or high impact and low or high likelihood. Here are some examples for a satirical magazine.

|             | High Likelihood                | Low Likelihood                |
|-------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| High impact | Legal action for libel. Such a | 'Act of God' such as fire or  |
|             | scenario is important as the   | flood. Such risks are often   |
|             | going concern of the           | ignored or disaster recovery  |
|             | magazine may be threatened     | contingency plans made if the |
|             |                                | cost is not too high.         |
| Low impact  | The launch of a new            | Events outside the field of   |
|             | newspaper – the magazine's     | media and politics which do   |
|             | readership tends to be drawn   | not affect the magazine's     |
|             | from the readers of            | stakeholders or costs         |
|             | broadsheets. The magazine      |                               |
|             | would be largely unaffected    |                               |

What can management do about risks once they are identified? Clearly what to do depends on the risk and there are an infinite variety of risks. One possible classification of potential reactions by management is as follows:

| Ш | Do nothing and hope for the best   |
|---|--|
|   | Develop internal controls  |
|   | Develop quality controls over production of goods, production of services, staff recruitment   |
|   | Join in government schemes like Famine Relief or Poverty Reduction   |
|   | Train staff  |
|   | Diversify – acquisition, new products, multiple sourcing, adding to customer base perhaps by exporting   |
|   | Risk reduction – raising staff awareness of risk, tighter discipline in all areas, physical measures such as sprinklers. Diversified computer systems instead of one complex one |
|   | Transfer of risk – by insurance, sub-contracting, outsourcing  |
|   | Avoidance – e.g. leaving a market such as the USA to avoid product liability   |

In the end, the business of the entrepreneur is risk raking and all risk cannot be removed. The basic economic truism is that there is a correlation between risk and return and high returns are not possible without risk.

#### 3.64.8 Audit Risk and Business Risk

We saw in earlier studies that audit risk is often categorized as the product of inherent risk, control risk and detection risk

| Ш | By enquiring into and assessing business risk, thereby gaining an excellent knowledge |
|---|---|
|   | of the business. This is a basic requirement in all audit engagements.                |

|                | By helping their clients to recognize, assess and respond to risk – by welcoming it, ignoring it, managing it, eliminating it, developing a recovery plan, insuring against it etc. This can be a lucrative source of fees. They may also help to eliminate or mange risk, which reduces audit risk in the future. |
|----------------|--|
|                | By seeing the connection between audit risk and business risk and the risk of misstatement in the financial statements, which focuses the audit or risks likely to lead to possible misstatement.  |
| 3.64.9         | The Implications of Business Risk for the Audit  |
| Below          | is a checklist of the possible planning implications for the audit of business risk  |
|                | Is the control environment good?   |
|                | Does the management manage risk effectively?   |
|                | Is the accounting system adequate?   |
|                | Do any risks threaten the going concern status of the company?   |
|                | Do any of the risks have implications for cash flow?   |
|                | Is there a high risk of fraud – e.g. poor controls, management override, overwhelming ambition and arrogance in the chief executive?   |
|                | Are there related parties with different agendas?  |
|                | Is the business under threat of being taken over, with the risk of management misstating financial statements?   |
|                | Is there a risk of litigation against the company?   |
|                | Is there any risk of withdrawal of support by loan or trade payables?  |
| Ultimate them. | tely many of the audit risks come down to the following factors or a combination of  |
|                | Possible misstatements due to lack of controls. Recent company failures (often shortly after clean audit reports) have been caused by overvaluation of inventory under allowance for bad debtors etc.  |
|                | Working capital shortage leading to cash flow difficulties and technical insolvency, often due to expansion which has been rapid.  |
|                | Inappropriate accounting policies. These can often lead to overstatement of assets or understatement of liabilities.   |
|                | Suppression of liabilities   |
|                | Fraud by management  |
|                | Related parties' transactions or activities  |
|                | Going concern appropriateness  |
|                | Computer failures  |
|                | Litigation or regulatory problems  |
| Test Y         | our Understanding  |
| As ma          | nager responsible for prospective new clients you have visited Hard bridge Lorry ment Ltd which supplies a small range of components for lorry manufacturers. The  |

# T

As C chief executive and majority shareholder is Mr. Alfred and he has asked your firm to make a proposal for the company's audit and other services.

During the initial meeting you have ascertained the following information:

| _ | 0,7  | 0  |
|---|--|--|
|   | The company's turnover has increased by  | about 30% a year for the last three years    |
|   | Mr. Alfred is a dominating personality wh  | no seems tireless and has limitless ambition |
|   | The company has two major customers a  | and a few small ones                         |
|   | The largest customer has recently announce                                       | ced major expansion plans and Harbridge hav  |
|   | lready purchased additional land and have signed a contract for more building to |  |

Lesson Three 99

increase production. You have read in The Daily Times that the customer's expansion

plans are viewed with some skepticism by the city which seems to doubt the company's viability. Harbridge has borrowed heavily from its bank and a major repayment of the loan is due shortly. The company is already on its overdraft limit and has yet to fund the new building construction. Mr. Alfred is in negotiation with a Middle Eastern bank for further finance. Many of the company's parts are sourced in a country with an exchange rate which is very favourable to the UK. The financial press has lately suggested that this rate may change in the near future. The company recently purchased a very large and very complex computer system to control all its affairs. Mr. Alfred admits that his admin staff (headed by his brother, who has recently returned from five years back packing abroad) does not really have the competence to run it properly. The company recently purchased a company jet aircraft which Mr. Alfred says he finds essential for visiting customers and suppliers. Mr. Alfred pilots the aircraft himself. He has just been to Miami where there are neither customers nor suppliers. Mr. Alfred admitted that the company had recently been issued with writs alleging that the company had breached a patent in one of its vital processes and that the company had failed to pay the sum due to a supplier. Mr. Alfred did not consider this as serious and said that failure to pay was because the new computer system had not agreed the amount due with the supplier's statement The company has no formal management accounting system. The new computer system is supposed to remedy that but nothing has been done as yet. Mr. Alfred has plans to float the company in the near future.

#### Required

- (a) Identify and describe the principal business risks relating to Harbridge Lorry Components ltd.
- (b) Justify an appropriate audit strategy for the first audit of Harbridge Lorry Components Ltd.
- (c) Suggest some procedures that Harbridge could implement immediately to improve is accounting procedures and financial controls.

Business risk is the risk that the audited entity will fail to achieve its objectives. This approach is said to offer a top down, rational, value added, focused and economical audit with good coverage of audit work. The business risk approach is to be preferred because it should result in a more efficient and focused audit performance by a more knowledgeable auditor resulting in a better auditor client relationship.

#### 3.65 Systems Based audit approach

The basis of IAS 400, Risk Assessment and Internal Control

The term systems audit refers to the typical audit approach to medium and large companies and is based on the assumption that such companies have internal control systems which will hopefully constitute a reliable base for the preparation of the accounts. In other words, the characteristic of a systems audit is an examination of internal control.

We have already established that many small companies cannot achieve satisfactory internal control and it is hence clearly futile for the auditor to seek to rely on controls if they don't exist or are patently unreliable. For such enterprises the auditor has no alternative but to carry out a so called 'substantive audit' involving extensive verification of transactions followed by a detailed

examination of the balance sheet (verification of assets and liabilities and review of the financial statements).

The contemporary audit approach to reasonably sophisticated companies is therefore to carry out a system-based audit during the course of the accounting year, followed by a balance sheet audit at the year end - if the systems audit work is successful, i.e. the controls prove reliable, the auditor can use his judgement to reduce the extent of the balance sheet work (in no circumstances will the balance sheet work be eliminated entirely!).

## 3.66 Directional Testing

The concept of directional testing recognises that it is the purpose of the audit test which will determine the direction of the test.

## 3.67 Analytical Procedures

Lesson Three 101

## **REINFORCING QUESTIONS**

## **QUESTION ONE**

(a) Why is planning the audit in advance considered to be so important? (5 Marks)

(b) What matters should be taken into account in formulating the audit plan? (10 Marks)

## **QUESTION TWO**

- (a) What is an audit planning memorandum and what might it contain? (15 Marks)
- (b) Why is it essential to fully understand the clients' industry, business and organization?
  (3Marks)
- (c) Suggest practical problems which could be encountered in the implementation of audit planning and how you would endeavour to minimise these? (8 Marks)

#### **QUESTION THREE**

What quality control procedures are required to ensure that audits are performed?

- (a) In accordance with approved auditing standards
- (b) In conformity with statutory and contractual requirements
- (c) In conformity with personal (ethical) standards
- (d) In conformity with any professional standards set by the firm itself
- (e) Economically and to time schedules
- (f) With minimum risk? (20 Marks)

## **QUESTION FOUR**

The need for the planning, controlling and recording of work is an essential aspect of all types of enterprise, including accountancy firms. It is of particular importance in the performance of the audit of a client who is a limited company.

## Required

- a) Explain why the need exists and what benefits are to be derived from adopting such an approach
- b) What steps would you take prior to the commencement of the audit of a limited company which has been a client for a number of years?

## **QUESTION FIVE**

Ross and Co. Chartered Certified Accountants are auditors to Selene Eos, a manufacturing group built up on take-over of numerous small UK manufacturers. The founding director is the very entrepreneurial but autocratic Paul Helius, who has a good financial and IT team with him. The group is very highly geared and has recently taken over a listed company buy a contested bid which city analysis say was too expensive. One large member of the group is Nemean which manufactures anti-personnel mines and another large member of the group, Derm is facing claims from customers who have bought its skin preparation and have allegedly developed skin diseases from it.

## Required

- (a) Summarize the advantages of a business risk approach to this audit (8 marks)
- (b) Carry out a business risk assessment of Selene Eos and suggest how they may influence the audit process (12 marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

CHECK YOUR ANSWERS WITH THOSE IN THE LESSON 10 OF THE STUDY PACK

# LESSON FOUR

## **Audit Evidence and Documentation**

## **OBJECTIVES**

- When you have studied this lesson you should be able to:
- Explain the nature and importance of audit evidence
- Explain the importance of working papers and their review
- Explain the sources, sufficiency appropriateness and others issues on audit evidence.

## **CONTENTS**

The topics covered under this lesson are:

- (i) The Concept of Audit Evidence
- (ii) The use of assertions in obtaining audit evidence
- (iii) Audit Sampling
- (iv) Letters of Representation
- (v) Recording the Audit Process
- (vi) Related Parties

## **INSTRUCTIONS**

Assigned Reading

## International standards on auditing

- 500 Audit Evidence520 Analytical procedures
- 530 Audit Sampling and Other Selective Testing Procedures
- 545 Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
- Management representations
- 600 Using the Work of another Auditor
- 620 Using the Work of an Expert

## 4.0 The Concept of Audit Evidence

Auditing is an evidence gathering exercise. It is an exercise carried out to confirm the assertions made by the management in carrying out the management duties and in producing accounts meant to give a true and fair view. The authoritative document is the **ISA 500 Audit Evidence**.

The auditor proceeds by:

- Identifying the assertions made by the directors expressed or implied for every item in the accounts;
- b) The evaluation of every assertion for relative importance so as to assess the quantity and quality of audit evidence required;
- Using both compliance and substantive procedures to collect information and evidence to support the amount at which items have been disclosed and the nature of that disclosure;
- The evaluation of the evidence collected to ensure that it is relevant, reliable and sufficient;
- e) to formulate a judgement on the truth and fair presentation of the items. Having formulated the judgement on each item included or excluded from the accounts, the auditor then formulates a judgement on the truth and fairness of the accounts taken as a whole. To do this he will find that he needs other evidence in addition to the judgement he made on the individual items.

#### 4.1 Definition

"Audit evidence" is all the information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the audit opinion is based, and includes the information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial statements and other information. Auditors are not expected to address all information that may exist. Audit evidence, which is cumulative in nature, includes audit evidence obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the audit and may include audit evidence obtained from other sources such as previous audits and a firm's quality control procedures for client acceptance and continuance.

## 4.2 Sources of evidence

The ISA identifies sources of evidence as being the accounting systems and the underlying documentation, the tangible assets, the management, the employees, customers, suppliers and other third parties who have dealings with or knowledge of the entity or its business.

#### 4.21 The nature of audit evidence

The nature of audit evidence can be: visual, documentary or oral.

#### 4.22 Sufficiency

The audit evidence should in total enable the auditor to form an opinion on the financial statements. Sufficiency is a measure of the quantity of evidence obtained. How much evidence to obtain, what source to use, and the form the evidence should take is an issue left to the auditor to exercise his judgement in the light of the opinion called for under the terms of his engagement. Of crucial importance however, he will be influenced by the materiality of the matter being examined, the relevance and reliability of evidence available from each source and the cost and time involved in obtaining it. Quite often the auditor obtains evidence from several sources which when put together gives him the necessary assurance. Factors that affect sufficiency are usually dictated by the degree of risk of misstatement. The risk itself is affected by the nature of the item, the adequacy of internal control, the nature of the business carried on by the entity, situations which may exact an unusual influence on management, the financial position of the entity, the

materiality of the item in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole, the auditor's experience as to the reliability of the management staff of the enterprise and its records, the results of auditing procedures including fraud or error which may have been found and the type of information available.

## 4.23 Relevance

The auditor obtains evidence either through compliance testing of the internal controls or through substantive tests of the information contained in the financial statements and the underlying records. When management establish a system of internal control they make certain assertions. As far as internal controls are concerned, these assertions are:

- i. Existence: that the controls exists:
- ii. Effectiveness: that not only does the control exist but that it is effective;
- iii. Continuity: not only does it exist and is effective but the control operates throughout the period of intended reliance. So when the auditor is carrying out the compliance tests, any evidence to confirm these assertions is relevant.

The relevance of audit evidence has to be considered in relation to the overall objective of forming an opinion and reporting on the financial statements. To achieve this objective, the auditor needs evidence to enable him to draw reasonable conclusions. Compliance tests alone cannot provide him with this evidence. He therefore has to use substantive tests. Here also there are certain assertions that the management is making and the auditor seeks evidence to confirm this.

- a) **Existence:** do the recorded assets and liabilities exist at the balance sheet date.
- b) **Rights and obligations**: are the assets owned by the enterprise and are the liabilities properly those of the enterprise.
- c) **Occurrence:** did the recorded transactions in fact occur and do they relate to the enterprise.
- d) **Completeness**: have all the assets and liabilities been recorded. Have all income and expenses been recorded.
- e) **Valuation:** have the amounts attributed to the assets and liabilities been arrived at in accordance with stated accounting policies on an acceptable and consistent basis.
- f) **Measurement:** Have the income and expenses been measured in accordance with stated accounting policies on an acceptable and consistent basis.
- g) Presentation and disclosure: have the assets, liabilities, capital and reserves been properly disclosed. Have income and expenses been properly disclosed where appropriate.

Answers to these questions provided by audit evidence obtained are relevant in confirming the assertions made by the management. Remember that audit evidence obtained in confirming one assertion cannot compensate for failure to obtain evidence to confirm another assertion.

## 4.24 Reliability

Reliability of audit evidence is influenced by its source and its nature and although it is dependant upon the particular circumstances, we can make some generalizations:

- a) Audit evidence is more reliable when it is obtained from independent sources outside the entity.
- b) Audit evidence that is generated internally is more reliable when the related controls imposed by the entity are effective.

c) Audit evidence obtained directly by the auditor (for example, observation of the application of a control) is more reliable than audit evidence obtained indirectly or by inference (for example, inquiry about the application of a control).

- d) Audit evidence is more reliable when it exists in documentary form, whether paper, electronic, or other medium (for example, a contemporaneously written record of a meeting is more reliable than a subsequent oral representation of the matters discussed).
- e) Audit evidence provided by original documents is more reliable than audit evidence provided by photocopies or facsimiles.

## 4.3 Techniques of obtaining evidence

ISA 500 mentions them as:

- a) Inspection of records or documents,
- b) Inspection of tangible assets,
- c) Observation,
- d) Inquiry,
- e) Confirmation,
- f) Recalculation,
- g) Reperformance and
- h) Analytical procedures.

These can be further analyzed as follows:

- a) The physical examination of tangible assets and counting them;
- b) Confirmation. These should be in writing, external sources being preferable to internal sources;
- c) Examination of original documents. Vouching should be carried out that is comparing original documents with entries in the books;
- d) Recomputation: This involves carrying out additions, calculations, extracting balances, rechecking postings and summaries.
- e) Scanning: This is useful in seeking the unusual or extra-ordinary item. It involves just flipping through the records and documents looking out for the odd items.
- f) Inquiry: This is asking questions of knowledgeable persons within and outside the entity. It is a necessary and valid technique. Auditors however, prefer confirmation to oral answers.
- g) Correlation: This is seeking consistency in the records and in the accounts and using evidence obtained in other areas to provide additional assurance in other areas.
- h) Observation: Visual evidence is more satisfactory therefore, observing a procedure being performed is the best possible confirmation. However, observation has the draw back that you can only rely on it at the time you are observing. You can never be sure that the procedure is carried out that way all the time.

## 4.4 Forms of evidence

- a) Observation, is usually witnessing internal control and book-keeping procedures. It includes attendance at wages pay out. Observation of stock-take, opening of mail and receipting and issuing procedures at the stores warehouse.
- b) Inspection: examining of physical assets to confirm their existence and their condition as an aid in determining their value for accounts purposes. It includes examining the records to ensure that book-keeping and internal control procedures have been carried out.

- c) Testimony from independent third parties. These are obtaining bank letters, debtors circularisation, lawyers letters etc.
- d) Review of authoritative documents: e.g title deeds, share and loan certificates, leases, contract, supplier's invoices, minutes of board meetings, internal sales invoices.
- e) Testimony from management and employees: This can be formal for example a letter of representation or informal for example replies to questions in questionnaires.
- f) Satisfactory internal control: Where the volume of transaction is large for example sales, purchases, wages and salaries, receipts and payments, this may be the most useful evidence.
- g) Calculations performed by the auditor: These give him evidence of the correctness of many figures.
- h) Review of post balance sheet events: In most cases the final audit is performed well after the end of the year and since the present is a function of the future many assertions can be verified by reference to subsequent events.
- Relationship evidence: Evidence confirming truth about one item may confirm
  the truth about another, for example verifying the expense rates confirms to
  some extent existence and ownership of the property.
- j) Agreement with expectation: Computation and comparison of ratios and absolute magnitude with those achieved in the past, by other companies, or budgeted can assist in verification. Also inconsistencies, unusual, abnormal or unexpected items can alert the auditor.
- k) External events: The auditor must consider external events in using his knowledge of current events to assist him in the assessment of a company's accounts. He must therefore consider prevailing economic circumstances that affect his client; he must also consider the political situation and legislation.

#### 4.5 Limitations of audit evidence

The quality and quantity of evidence is constrained by the following factors:

- a) Absolute proof is not possible;
- b) Some assertions are not material;
- c) Time and cost must be considered as accounts must be produced within certain time scales and the auditor may have to do with less than perfection, and ideal evidence may be too expensive to obtain.
- d) Sensitivity: some items are of greater importance than others or are capable of greater variations.

To summarise: the auditors degree of assurance is greater when evidence obtained from different sources is consistent with each other. However, when evidence from one source is inconsistent with that obtained from another then further procedures may have to be performed to resolve the inconsistency.

#### 4.6 The Use of Assertions in Obtaining Audit Evidence

Management is responsible for the fair presentation of financial statements that reflect the nature and operations of the entity. In representing that the financial statements give a true and fair view (or are presented fairly, in all material respects) in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, management implicitly or explicitly makes assertions regarding the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of the various elements of financial statements and related disclosures.

The auditor should use assertions for classes of transactions, account balances, and presentation and disclosures in sufficient detail to form a basis for the assessment of risks of material misstatement and the design and performance of further audit procedures. The auditor uses assertions in assessing risks by considering the different types of potential misstatements that may occur, and thereby designing audit procedures that are responsive to the assessed risks. Other ISAs discuss specific situations where the auditor is required to obtain audit evidence at the assertion level.

Assertions used by the auditor fall into the following categories

## 4.61 Assertions about classes of transactions and events for the period under audit:

- a) **Occurrence**—transactions and events that have been recorded have occurred and pertain to the entity.
- b) Completeness—all transactions and events that should have been recorded have been recorded.
- c) **Accuracy**—amounts and other data relating to recorded transactions and events have been recorded appropriately.
- d) Cutoff—transactions and events have been recorded in the correct accounting period.
- e) Classification—transactions and events have been recorded in the proper accounts.

## 4.62 Assertions about account balances at the period end:

- a) **Existence**—assets, liabilities, and equity interests exist.
- b) **Rights and obligations**—the entity holds or controls the rights to assets, and liabilities are the obligations of the entity.
- c) **Completeness**—all assets, liabilities and equity interests that should have been recorded have been recorded.
- d) Valuation and allocation—assets, liabilities, and equity interests are included in the financial statements at appropriate amounts and any resulting valuation or allocation adjustments are appropriately recorded.

## 4.63 Assertions about presentation and disclosure:

- a) Occurrence and rights and obligations—disclosed events, transactions, and other matters have occurred and pertain to the entity.
- b) Completeness—all disclosures that should have been included in the financial statements have been included.
- c) Classification and understandability—financial information is appropriately presented and described, and disclosures are clearly expressed.
- d) Accuracy and valuation—financial and other information are disclosed fairly and at appropriate amounts.

The auditor may use the assertions as described above or may express them differently provided all aspects described above have been covered. For example, the auditor may choose to combine the assertions about transactions and events with the assertions about account balances. As another example, there may not be a separate assertion related to cutoff of transactions and events when the occurrence and completeness assertions include appropriate consideration of recording transactions in the correct accounting period.

#### Experts as a source of Audit Evidence

Usually the auditor's work on evidence obtained from within the entity supported by confirmations from third parties will give him enough reliable evidence that can enable him to give an unqualified opinion. There are however, certain circumstances when his knowledge is

insufficient and he may see the need to rely on the opinion of other experts to help him form his own opinion.

The authoritative document on this subject **ISA 620:** Using the work of an expert. It defines an expert or a specialist as a person or a firm possessing special skills, knowledge and experience in a particular field other than accounting and auditing. The expert may be engaged by the client or by the auditor; he may be employed by the client or by auditor.

Examples of specialists or experts whose work may be relied upon include:

- a) For valuations such as land and buildings, plant and machinery, works of art and precious stones —valuers;
- For the determination of quantities of physical condition of assets for example: minerals stores in stock piles, underground minerals and petroleum reserves geologists;
- Determination of amounts using specialised techniques or methods for example: an actuarial valuation - Actuaries, on the liability to be included for pension scheme liabilities;
- d) The measurement of work completed and to be completed on long term contracts in progress for the purpose of revenue recognition Quantity Surveyors.
- e) Legal opinions concerning interpretations of agreements, laws and regulations Lawvers.
- f) Determining the value of stock exchange securities Stock Brokers.

When determining whether to use the work of an expert the auditor should consider the materiality of the financial statement item being considered, the risk of misstatement based on the nature and complexity of the item being considered and the quantity and quality of other audit evidence.

## 4.71 The skills and competence of the expert

When planning to use the work of an expert, the auditor should assess the professional competence of the expert.

The auditor should satisfy himself as to the expert's skills, experience and competence by considering the professional qualifications, the licence or membership of an appropriate professional body, experience and reputation in the field in which the auditor is seeking evidence.

## 4.72 Objectivity of the expert

The auditor should assess the objectivity of the expert. Just like in his own case, whereby his objectivity has to be jealously guarded the auditor must consider the objectivity of the expert. The expert's objectivity can be impaired where the expert is employed by the client or is related in some other manner to the client for example being financially dependent upon or having an investment in the client. The auditor may have to perform more extensive procedures than would otherwise have been planned, or he should consider engaging another expert.

## 4.73 Communication with the expert

If the auditor intends to use the work of an expert then he must communicate with the expert well in advance to confirm the terms of engagement and also to cover other matters such as:

- a) The objectives and scope of work;
- b) An outline of the specific items the auditor expects to be covered in the report;
- c) The intended use by the auditor of the expert's work including possible communication with third parties as to the expert's identity and extent of involvement.
- d) Extent of access to appropriate records and files by the expert.
- e) Clarification of the experts relationship with the client;
- f) Confidentiality of the client's information;
- g) The assumptions and methods intended to be used by the expert and how consistent they are with those used in the past;
- h) The recording of any further information required as audit evidence.

## 4.74 Scope of the Experts work

The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the scope of the experts work is adequate for the purpose of the audit.

## 4.75 Procedures in evaluating the work of the expert:

The auditor must obtain reasonable assurance that the expert's work constitutes appropriate audit evidence in support of the financial information. He must therefore consider the source data used and whether it is appropriate in the circumstances, the assumptions and method used and their consistency with prior periods and the results of the expert's work in the light of the auditor's overall knowledge of the business and the results of his other audit procedures. He should satisfy himself that the substance of the expert's finding is properly reflected in the financial information. How appropriate, reasonable the assumptions and methods used are and how they have been applied is the expert's responsibility. The auditor does not have the same expertise so he cannot always challenge the expert's assumptions and methods. Although the auditor is not an expert on the expert's field of speciality, the auditor must be able to determine what is reasonable and what is not. Therefore he must obtain an understanding of the assumptions and the methods to determine that they are reasonable. There are times when the work of the expert does not support the related representations in the financial statements then the auditor should attempt to resolve the inconsistency by holding discussions with the client and the expert. He may need to engage another expert in resolving the inconsistency.

#### If after performing all these procedures the auditor concludes that:

- i. The work of the expert is inconsistent with the information in the financial statement or that
- ii. The work of the expert does not constitute sufficient appropriate audit evidence, then he should;
- iii. Express a qualified opinion, a disclaimer of opinion or an adverse opinion as appropriate.

#### 4.76 Reference to an expert in the auditors report.

When issuing an unmodified auditors report, the auditor should not refer to the work of the expert. This is because such a reference might be misunderstood to be a qualification of the auditor's opinion or a division of responsibility neither of which is intended.

Occasionally the auditor may feel that even though he is expressing an unqualified opinion it may benefit the reader of the accounts if he refers to the work of the expert then the auditor must obtain the permission of the expert. If permission is refused and the auditor believes that such a reference is necessary he should seek legal advice.

## 4.8 Management Representations as a Source of Audit Evidence

International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 580 Management Representations provides standards and guidance on the use of management representations as audit evidence, the procedures to be applied in evaluating and documenting management representations and the action to be taken if management refuses to provide appropriate representations.

The auditor should obtain appropriate representations from management

The auditor should obtain evidence that management acknowledges its responsibility for the fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, and has approved the financial statements. The auditor can obtain evidence of management's acknowledgment of such responsibility and approval from relevant minutes of meetings of the board of directors or similar body or by obtaining a written representation from management or a signed copy of the financial statements.

The thing to note is that during the course of the audit the auditor obtains various representations from the management which can be categorised into three types:

- a) Not material to the financial statements. Examples being queries on missing documents or errors in book-keeping or
- b) Capable of being corroborated by other evidence or
- c) Where the knowledge of the facts is confined to the management. For example, the management's intention to close down a major branch and where the matter is principally one of judgement and opinion for example the realizability of obsolete stock.

In (a) and (b), there is no need for the auditor to obtain separate written representations by the management. In (c) however, the auditor should:

- i. Ensure that there is no conflicting evidence
- ii. If he is unable to obtain corroborating evidence, then the auditor should obtain a written confirmation from the management of any representations made.
- iii. The auditor must decide for himself whether the total of other evidence and the management's written representation are sufficient for him to form an unqualified opinion.

The procedures adopted are clearly stated in ISA 580. The letter should not include routine matters but only matters which are material to the financial statements and the auditor cannot obtain independent corroborating evidence. Please note that the letter of representation is simply one more piece of evidence and the auditor should not rely on it rashly but there are times it is the only source of evidence open to the auditor.

If a representation by management is contradicted by other audit evidence, the auditor should investigate the circumstances and, when necessary, reconsider the reliability of other representations made by management.

## 4.81 Documentation of Representations by Management

The auditor would ordinarily include in audit working papers evidence of management's representations in the form of a summary of oral discussions with management or written representations from management.

A written representation is better audit evidence than an oral representation and can take the form of:

- (a) A representation letter from management;
- (b) A letter from the auditor outlining the auditor's understanding of management's representations, duly acknowledged and confirmed by management; or
- (c) Relevant minutes of meetings of the board of directors or similar body or a signed copy of the financial statements.

## 4.82 Basic Elements of a Management Representation Letter

When requesting a management representation letter, the auditor would request that it be addressed to the auditor, contain specified information and be appropriately dated and signed.

A management representation letter would ordinarily be dated the same date as the auditor's report. However, in certain circumstances, a separate representation letter regarding specific transactions or other events may also be obtained during the course of the audit or at a date after the date of the auditor's report, for example, on the date of a public offering.

A management representation letter would ordinarily be signed by the members of management who have primary responsibility for the entity and its financial aspects (ordinarily the senior executive officer and the senior financial officer) based on the best of their knowledge and belief. In certain circumstances, the auditor may wish to obtain representation letters from other members of management. For example, the auditor may wish to obtain a written representation about the completeness of all minutes of the meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and important committees from the individual responsible for keeping such minutes.

## 4.83 Action if Management Refuses to Provide Representations

If management refuses to provide a representation that the auditor considers necessary, this constitutes a scope limitation and the auditor should express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion. In such circumstances, the auditor would evaluate any reliance placed on other representations made by management during the course of the audit and consider if the other implications of the refusal may have any additional effect on the auditor's report.

#### 4.9 Audit Sampling

ISA 530 Audit Sampling and Other Selective Testing Procedures defines Audit sampling is the application of a compliance or substantive procedure to less than 100% of the items within an account balance or class of transactions such that all sampling units have a chance of selection. to enable the auditor to obtain and evaluate evidence of some characteristics of the balance or class and to form or assist in forming a conclusion concerning the population from which the sample is drawn.

There are two approaches to sampling in auditing:

- i. Judgement sampling (or non statistical)
- ii. Statistical sampling

## 4.91 Judgmental Sampling

Judgement sampling is where the auditor using his own experience and knowledge of the client's business and circumstances selects the sample to be tested without use of any mathematical or statistical tools. Statistical sampling is the drawing of inferences about a large volume of data by an examination of a sample using statistical methods in its selection.

## The advantages of judgement sampling

- a) The approach is well understood and has been refined by experience over many years;
- b) The auditor is given an opportunity to bring his judgement and expertise into play. After all auditing is an exercise in professional judgement;
- c) No special knowledge of statistics is required;
- d) No time is wasted playing with mathematics;

## Its disadvantages are

- a) It is unscientific;
- b) It is wasteful and usually too large samples are selected;
- c) You cannot extrapolate the results to the population as a whole as the samples are not representative;
- d) Personal bias in selecting the sample is unavoidable;
- e) There is no logic to the selection of the sample or its size;
- f) The sample selection is so erratic that it cannot be said to have applied to all items in the year;
- g) the conclusions reached are usually vague.

Judgement sampling is still the preferred method by the majority of auditors and this is defended on the grounds that the auditor is weighing several pieces of evidence and is investigating several things at the same time that the whole process is too complex to be reduced to simple formulas.

#### 4.92 Statistical sampling - Advantages

- a) It is scientific and defensible;
- b) It provides a precise mathematical statement about probabilities of being correct;
- c) It is efficient as over large samples are not taken;
- d) It tends to cause uniform standards among different auditing firms;
- e) It can be used by lower grade staff who due to lack of experience may be lacking the necessary judgement needed by the judgement sampling.

Factors to be taken into consideration before adopting statistical techniques:

- a) The number of clients to whom it is appropriate because set up costs and training can be very high;
- b) Large populations must exist as statistics is the science of large numbers;
- c) Adequate controls must exist and the objective being to test them it is obvious that where no control exist then you cannot apply statistical sampling;
- d) The populations being tested must be homogenous in materiality. They must also be

homogenous in that the same system and controls must apply to each one of them. In other words they must be subject to the same treatment.

- e) Too many variables cannot be tested at once;
- f) Items must be separately identifiable, therefore sequential numbering is essential;
- g) The error must be defined;
- h) Materiality: the auditor must consider the total value of the population and any variances from it;
- i) The risk factor: some items have more risk than others;
- j) The availability of other evidence. If evidence can be obtained through other means, then statistical sampling may only be a top up.

#### 4.10.1 Related Parties

IAS 24 prescribes the disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that the financial position and profit or loss of an entity may have been affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and outstanding balances with such parties.

Definitions of related party and related party transactions from IAS 24, "Related Party Disclosures" are as follows:

**Related party**—parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

**Related party transactions**—a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.

A party is related to an entity if it:

- Directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control
  with, The entity;
- Has significant influence over the entity;
- has joint control over the entity;
- Is a close member of the family of any individual who controls, or has significant Influence or joint control over, the entity;
- Is an associate of the entity;
- Is a joint venture in which the entity is a venturer;
- Is a member of the key management personnel of the entity or its parent;
- Is a close member of the family of any of the aforementioned key management Personnel;
- Is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or For which significant voting power in such entity resides with, any of the key Management personnel or their close family members;
- Is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the entity, or of Any of its related parties.

IAS 24 requires the following related party disclosures:

- Nature of relationships between parents and subsidiaries, even if there were no transactions between those related parties;
- The name of the entity's parent and, if different, the ultimate controlling party;
- Compensation of key management personnel;
- If there have been transactions between related parties, the nature of the relationship and information about the transactions and outstanding balances with related parties. Such disclosures are made separately for each of the following categories: the parent;

entities with joint control or significant influence over the entity; subsidiaries; associates; joint ventures in which the entity is a venturer; key management personnel; and other related parties.

#### 4.10.2 Importance of Related Party Transactions

While the existence of related parties and transactions between such parties are considered ordinary features of business, the auditor needs to be aware of them because:

- a) The financial reporting framework may require disclosure in the financial statements of certain related party relationships and transactions, such as those required by IAS 24;
- b) The existence of related parties or related party transactions may affect the financial statements. For example, the entity's tax liability and expense may be affected by the tax laws in various jurisdictions which require special consideration when related parties exist;
- c) The source of audit evidence affects the auditor's assessment of its reliability. A greater degree of reliance may be placed on audit evidence that is obtained from or created by unrelated third parties; and
- d) A related party transaction may be motivated by other than ordinary business considerations, for example, profit sharing or even fraud.

Transactions with related parties are important for several reasons:

- (a) Several financial scandals involving related parties frequently appear in the headlines;
- (b) A true and fair view of the entity's affairs may not be given unless full disclosure is made;
- (c) Statutory requirements must be compiled with e.g. loans to directors.

There are basically two types of transactions that arise between a company and a related party:

- (a) Those entered into in the ordinary course of business. It is usual for members of a group to trade with each other.
- (b) Those not engaged into in the ordinary course of business or which may involve misleading presentation of the accounts or fraud on the company, its members or creditors.

Type (a) generally deserves no special audit attention. The auditor must however ensure that they actually arise in the ordinary course of business at arms length.

Type (b) is where problems may arise and where scandals have occurred.

The Companies Act prohibits loans to directors and where they occur requires full disclosure. The law prohibits the giving of financial assistance for the purchase of or subscription for a company's own shares. The law restricts the rights of directors to acquire non-cash assets from the company or for the company to acquire non-cash assets from its directors. Significant shareholding of more than 5% must be notified to the company within seven days.

## 4.10.3 Auditors Responsibilities with regard to related parties.

ISA 550 Related Parties states that the auditor should perform audit procedures designed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the identification and disclosure by Management of related parties and the effect of related party transactions that are material to the financial statements. However, an audit cannot be expected to detect all related party

transactions.

The Audit Procedures can be summarised as follows:

## Step 1: Identifying the related parties.

The auditor should review information provided by the directors and management identifying the names of all known related parties and should perform the following procedures in respect of the completeness of this information:

- a) Review prior year working papers for names of known related parties;
- b) Review the entity's procedures for identification of related parties; Inquire as to the affiliation of directors and officers with other entities;
- c) Review shareholder records to determine the names of principal shareholders or, if appropriate, obtain a listing of principal shareholders from the share register;
- d) Review minutes of the meetings of shareholders and the board of directors and other relevant statutory records such as the register of directors' interests;
- e) Inquire of other auditors currently involved in the audit, or predecessor auditors, as to their knowledge of additional related parties; and
- f) Review the entity's income tax returns and other information supplied to regulatory agencies.

If, in the auditor's judgment, the risk of significant related parties remaining undetected is low, these procedures may be modified as appropriate.

Where the financial reporting framework requires disclosure of related party relationships (such as IAS 24), the auditor should be satisfied that the disclosure is adequate.

# Step 2: Distribute the list to audit staff requesting them to ensure that any transaction with related parties of which they come across should be looked at carefully.

Step 3: Seek out transactions with the related parties. During the course of the audit, the auditor carries out procedures which may identify the existence of transactions with related parties. Examples include the following:

- a) Performing detailed tests of transactions and balances.
   Reviewing minutes of meetings of shareholders and directors.
- c) Reviewing accounting records for large or unusual transactions or balances, paying particular attention to transactions recognized at or near the end of the reporting period.
- d) Reviewing confirmations of loans receivable and payable and confirmations from banks. Such a review may indicate guarantor relationship and other related party transactions.
- e) Reviewing investment transactions, for example, purchase or sale of an equity interest in a joint venture or other entity.

During the course of the audit, the auditor needs to be alert for transactions which appear unusual in the circumstances and may indicate the existence of previously unidentified related parties. Examples include the following:

- Transactions which have abnormal terms of trade, such as unusual prices, interest rates, guarantees, and repayment terms.
- b) Transactions which lack an apparent logical business reason for their occurrence.
- c) Transactions in which substance differs from form.
- d) Transactions processed in an unusual manner.
- e) High volume or significant transactions with certain customers or suppliers as compared with others.

f) Unrecorded transactions such as the receipt or provision of management services at no charge.

## **Examining Identified Related Party Transactions**

In examining the identified related party transactions, the auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to whether these transactions have been properly recorded and disclosed.

## **Management Representations**

The auditor should obtain a written representation from management concerning:

- a) The completeness of information provided regarding the identification of related parties; and
- b) The adequacy of related party disclosures in the financial statements.

## 4.10.4 Audit Conclusions and Reporting

If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning related parties and transactions with such parties or concludes that their disclosure in the financial statements is not adequate, the auditor should modify the auditor's report appropriately.

#### 4.11 RECORDING THE AUDIT: ISA 230

## Purpose of working papers

It is essential that all audit work is documented - the working papers are the tangible evidence of the work done in support of the audit opinion.

The ISA identifies the reasons for preparing audit working as follow:

- a) The reporting partner needs to be able to satisfy himself that work delegated by him has been properly performed. The reporting partner can generally only do this by having available to him detailed working papers prepared by the audit staff who performed the work.
- b) Working papers provide for future reference, details of problems encountered, together with evidence of work performed and conclusions drawn there from in arriving at the audit opinion.
- c) The preparation of working papers encourages the auditor to adopt a methodical approach.

The exact form that working papers should take cannot be prescribed each firm will have its own disciplines. Whatever form the papers take, however, they must achieve the main objectives set out above.

## Contents of working papers

The ISA 230 No.3 stresses that audit working papers should always be sufficiently complete and detailed to enable an experienced auditor with no previous connection with the audit to ascertain from them what work was performed and to support the conclusions reached. It also emphasizes the special care needed to record difficult questions of principle or of judgment. The auditor should record all relevant information known to him at the time, the conclusions to be reached based on that information and the views of the management.

Although the guideline does not attempt to define precisely the form of working papers it does indicate what might physically be contained therein as follows:

- Information which will be of continuing importance to the audit (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association);
- b) Audit planning information;
- c) The auditor's assessment of the enterprise's accounting system and, if appropriate, his review and evaluation of its internal controls;
- d) Details of the audit work carried out, notes of errors or exceptions found and action taken thereon, together with the conclusions, drawn by the audit staff who performed the various sections of the work;
- e) Evidence that the work of the audit staff has been properly reviewed;
- f) Records of relevant balances and other financial information including analysis and summaries supporting the financial statements;
- g) A summary of significant points affecting the financial statements and the audit report, showing how these points were dealt with.

Working papers are conventionally subdivided into current and permanent files for convenience and control. The characteristic of current working papers is that they relate specifically to the audit of a particular set of accounts whereas permanent papers comprise matters of continuing importance affecting the client. Hence items (a) and (c) above are typically retained on the permanent file.

#### Permanent Audit File

The permanent audit file might include, inter alia:

- A copy of the enterprise's statutes and other legal or statutory documents governing the enterprise's existence;
- b) Other important legal documents and agreements;
- c) Description of the business, its operations, together with the address of its locations. This section might also include details of specific matters relating to the industry or activity in which the enterprise is involved and which might affect the audit;
- An organization chart showing the (top) management functions and the division of responsibilities;
- e) Details of the system of accounting, including, where applicable, details of computer applications;
- f) An internal control questionnaire, memorandum or other means of assessing the adequacy of the internal control system, including those areas where information is processed by means of a computer;
- g) a letter of engagement defining the auditor's understanding of the work to be performed and his responsibilities, together with confirmation from the client that the letter set out the position as the client also understands it;
- h) Correspondence, or notes of discussions with the client on internal control matters;
- In the case of group companies details of all companies in the group including names and addresses of the auditors of the subsidiaries; this section might also contain a record of all information concerning other auditors on whose work reliance is placed for the purpose of the audit of group accounts;
- j) The principal accounting policies followed, key ratios, history of capital, profits and reserves;
- k) A reasoned description of the audit approach adopted;
- l) Details of important matters arising from each audit, and a record of what decisions were taken and how they were arrived at.

#### **Current Audit File**

The current audit file might include inter alia:

- A copy of the audited financial statements and any report prepared as a result of audit work carried out:
- b) An annual audit programme detailing the audit steps to be taken and recording the audit steps carried out;
- c) Details of the audit plan, including time budgets, staffing and statement of the scope and level of tests;
- d) Schedules showing an analysis of the individual items in the financial statements, the notes thereto and the management's report; the schedules should also show comparative figures and state how the auditor has verified the existence, ownership and the amounts and fairness of the presentation of items in the financial statements has been considered. These schedules should contain the auditor's conclusions, and should be cross referenced to supporting schedules and external documentary evidence, as appropriate;
- e) Notes of meetings and all correspondence relating to the audit, including all certificates and other third party audit confirmations;
- f) Extracts from meetings of shareholders, management, directors and other relevant bodies;
- g) Records of detailed audit tests carried out, the reasons for the timing and level of the test, together with the conclusions drawn from those tests;
- h) the information received from the other auditors regarding the financial statements audited by them;
- i) Records of queries raised by the auditors and how such queries have been dealt with;
- a letter or a statement from the management representing that they have supplied the auditors with all the information and explanations relevant to the audit and disclosed in the financial statement all matters required by statute and accounting standards;
- k) A review of post balance sheet date events up to the date of signing the audit report;
- 1) Names and initials of the audit staff;

#### Standardisation of working papers

The ICPAK guideline states that the use of standardized working papers may improve the efficiency with which they are prepared and reviewed. Used properly they help to instruct audit staff and facilitate the delegation of work while providing a means to control its quality.

However, despite the advantages of standardising the routine documentation of the audit (e.g. checklists, specimen letters, standard organization of the working papers) it is never appropriate to follow mechanically a `standard' approach to the conduct and documentation of the audit without regard to the need to exercise professional judgement.

On balance, there should be a degree of standardization of working papers and practically all firms recognise this need. Finally, it should be noted that working papers are the property of the auditor and he should adopt procedures to ensure their safe custody and confidentiality—leaving them on the bus or matatu should therefore be avoided.

## **REINFORCING QUESTIONS**

## **QUESTION ONE**

During your audit of Bactor Ltd, the following evidential matter had been included in your working papers:

- i. Flowcharts of the company's payroll routine prepared by your audit assistant backed up by compliance tests.
- ii. An oral statement by the production director that the expected working life of plant acquired in January 1988 is 10 years.
- iii. A newspaper report to the effect that the new technology is expected to have adverse effect on the sales of products representing 20% of the company's turnover.
- iv. A letter to the managing director from the company's bank manager indicating that the bank intends to extend overdraft facilities for a period of one year.
- v. A list of items of stock counted by a member of your firm of Certified Public Accountants during observation of the company's stock count.
- vi. A letter from a debtor to your firm in reply to a confirmation request indicating agreement with the balance as recorded in the books of Bactor Ltd.

## Required

In respect of each of the above evidential matters:

- (a) Explain its relevance to the overall audit objective of forming an opinion and reporting on the financial statements
- (b) State, giving reasons, how reliable you judge the evidence to be
- (c) Describe one additional item of audit evidence you would seek to support the matter described.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

You are about to commence the final audit of Gigglane Sportswear Limited, a distributor of sports equipment and clothing. The internal auditor informs you that he has carried out a positive debtor's circularisation without your prior knowledge, utilising the following procedures:

- i. Obtained a list of outstanding debtors balances (total Kshs. 376,000) at 31 October 2004.
- ii. Selected every third debtor for circularisation resulting in a sample of 30 debtors totalling Kshs. 50,000.
- iii. Prepared and signed the circularisation letter himself. The letter requested the debtor to write the balance due to Gigglance Limited on the reply slip and to return the reply to the chief accountant.
- iv. Prepared a summary list of all replies received for submission to the external auditor.

Only eight replies (value Kshs10,500) had been received to date. The internal auditor is a little disturbed at the fact that you intend to re-circularise debtors as he feels that it is a duplication of effort and that the replies received are reliable audit evidence.

## You are required to

- (a) Describe the work which you perform before you can make use of any of the work undertaken by the internal auditor.
- (b) Explain to the internal auditor the reasons why you wish to re-circularise debtors, commenting upon the procedure adopted by the internal auditor.
- (c) Describe the techniques which you could adopt to increase the response rate of the

second debtors circulation made by you.

(d) Explain the possible limitations of positive debtors circulation.

## **QUESTION THREE**

It has been your practice for some years to obtain letters of representation from the management of audit client companies. The newly appointed managing director of a client company has, however, expressed reluctance to sign a letter of representation, a suggested draft of which you sent him, and he makes the following observations in his reply to your request for such a letter.

- i. The company employs several qualified accountants who are responsible for preparing accurate accounts which comply with the Companies Acts and statements of standard accounting practice. It is his understanding that it is the responsibility of the auditors (who receive a substantial fee for their services) and not his responsibility to vouch for the accuracy of the accounts and the auditors have access to all accounting records, directors' minutes, correspondence and internal audit department reports, etc and even authority to approach third parties to enable them to draw their own conclusions.
- ii. He is not an accountant or lawyer and is not qualified to comment on some matters contained in the letter.
- iii. He and a fellow director will be signing the balance sheet before the report is signed.

## Required

Draft your reply to the managing director

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

Your firm has been appointed auditors of Compa Ring Ltd in succession to another firm of Certified Public Accountants. The first financial statements on which you are required to express an opinion are for the year ended 30th September 2003

## You are required to detail

- (a) Your responsibilities in respect of prior period financial information, including comparatives, and
- (b) The procedures you would adopt in order to discharge your responsibilities.

## **QUESTION FIVE**

The modern approach to 'risk-based auditing' is a most welcome development.

## Required

- (a) Explain what you understand by risk-based auditing.
- (b) List **four** factors which could indicate potential high risk areas on a particular audit. You should give reasons in your answer.
- (c) Explain why there has been an increased use of a risk-based auditing approach in recent years and what advantages arise for the auditor from the adopting of such an approach.
- (d) Risk-based auditing is often associated with the use of statistical sampling techniques in auditing. Explain why the two are associated, giving an illustration of the circumstances when statistical sampling techniques are, and when they are not, appropriate in this context.
- (e) State what you understand by `confidence level' in relation to statistical sampling.

Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

Lesson Five 123

## **LESSON FIVE**

## The Audit process: Verification of Assets and Liabilities

## **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this lesson you should be able to:

- Explain the nature and importance of verification of assets and liabilities
- Explain the importance and purpose of substantive procedures in relation to financial statement assertions concerning assets and liabilities.
- Explain the sources, sufficiency appropriateness and others issues on audit evidence.

#### **CONTENTS**

The topics covered under this lesson are:

- (i) Nature of verification and the assertion methodology
- (ii) Verification of assets
- (iii) Verification of liabilities
- (iv) The Audit of Accounting Estimates
- (v) Non current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

## **INSTRUCTIONS**

Assigned Reading

# International Accounting Standards / International Financial Reporting Standards International standards on auditing

| ISAs        |  |
|-------------|--|
| <b>-</b> 00 |  |

500 Audit Evidence

501 Audit evidence – Additional Consideration for Specific Items

505 External Confirmations

520 Analytical procedures

545 Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

620 Using the Work of an Expert

#### 5.0 Introduction

Despite any reliance on any controls, the auditor must substantiate the substance of the accounts. He must obtain evidence that the accounts give a true and fair view. To do that he has to verify the amounts attached to assets and liabilities in the accounts.

Verification is defined as proving the authenticity of the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities. Verification is achieved by confirming certain factors about an asset or a liability balance.

Whilst you study this lesson you should have in mind at all time the objective of the auditor and the purpose of the evidence being sought. ISA 500 Audit Evidence was introduced in lesson 4 in which we established the financial statement assertions of:

- a) Existence
- b) Right and obligations
- c) Occurrence
- d) Completeness
- e) Valuation
- f) Measurement
- g) Presentation and disclosure.

The auditor needs to substantiate these assertions with substantive procedures.

You should keep in mind the audit testing techniques (Analytical procedures, Enquiry, Inspection, Observation, and Computation). Remember that audit evidence should be sufficient and appropriate.

You will also need to have a thorough knowledge of the accounting standard requirement from your financial accounting studies (for example, financial accounting III and IV). Please also note that the detail of the accounting standard requirements IS NOT repeated in this textbook.

Armed with these 'tools' and common sense approach you should be able to design an audit programme to deal with all areas of the financial statement. You should bear in mind also that most of the following matters have a similar theme. They are likely to have some or all of the following conditions in common:

- a) Be a critical area of the financial statements
- b) The subject of an accounting standard which has specifics disclosure requirements and recognition and measurement principles.
- c) A contentious or subjective accounting area which has alternative treatments
- d) A high risk matter
- e) An area involving high degree of judgment
- f) An area where the main source of evidence is that from management.

The examiner is likely to ask questions on areas of the financial statements which require students to demonstrate that they can apply an effective audit strategy to them.

#### Assertions

Verification has objectives very similar to the objectives of substantive tests that we covered under audit evidence and these are:

Lesson Five 125

**5.11 Cost:** This represents the original monetary amount at which an asset was

acquired or a liability was incurred. It is crucial to determine cost because for most assets under the historical cost accounting

convention valuation is a function of cost.

**5.12 Authorization:** This is to ensure that there is proper authority to acquire the asset or

incur the liability. Thus every transaction that results into an asset or a

liability must be authorised at the appropriate level.

**5.13 Valuation:** Assets and liabilities should be disclosed at the appropriate carrying

amount. Assets are usually valued at cost less a provision thus, fixed assets are valued at cost less depreciation. Stocks are valued at cost less provision for obsolescence, debtors are valued at cost less provision for bad and doubtful debts. Fixed assets can also be valued at a valuation less depreciation based on that valuation. Liabilities are normally valued at cost unless they involve interest for late payments or foreign

exchange transactions.

**5.14 Existence:** Not only should assets and liabilities have a cost and a value there has

to be evidence that they actually exist, because assets could have been

lost, stolen or otherwise deteriorated.

5.15 Beneficial Ownership (Rights and Obligation)

This is exactly the same as rights and obligations under audit evidence. The assets may exist, they may have a value, the company may even have paid for them but does a company own them? So we want to ensure that assets and the rights of the entity and liabilities are obligations of the entity. We have to consider here also substance over form. Substance over form requires consideration of the financial and commercial reality of transactions and not merely their legal form.

5.16 Presentation:

Presentation in the accounts should be clear and unambiguous, appropriate to the nature of the business, in accordance with relevant accounting standards, in accordance with relevant legislation and consistent with previous years. Materiality must be considered in all these matters so that trivial matters are not given undue prominence in the classification, description and categorisation of accounts balances.

**Examination papers** will invariably contain a question on verification of assets and liabilities. Therefore the student must remember these seven important words mentioned above, because their knowledge can be applied to any question on verification and the student can achieve a good result.

- a) Cost,
- b) Authorization,
- c) Valuation,
- d) Existence,
- e) Beneficial ownership and
- f) Presentation.

## 5.2 Specific Considerations and Procedures

#### 5.21 Cost and Authorization

Cost and authorization can be vouched to appropriate documentation such as invoices, cash book, agreements, local purchase orders, director's minutes. Another important factor to consider under cost is the distinction between capital and revenue expenditure. A check has to be made to ensure that all appropriate items of capital expenditure have been capitalised.

#### 5.22 Valuation and allocation

As we saw assets are usually valued at cost or a valuation less a provision for usage or loss of value. We have to ensure therefore that the accounting policy adopted in determining the amount of provision to be written off in any one year is in accordance with the relevant IAS or generally accepted accounting principles or Companies Acts requirements. The IAS often allows several accounting policies in a given set of circumstances. So the question can often arise as to whether the particular accounting policy chosen is appropriate. Often it falls on the auditor to decide on this appropriateness. To do so, he has to consider the general practice in the industry, the previous practice in the company and the requirements of the true and fair view. Sometimes the requirements of appropriateness will override those of the IAS itself. A policy used for valuation apart from being appropriate and acceptable, must be consistently applied within the industry, within the entity and from period to period and must be in accordance with IAS.

Liabilities as we said are usually valued at cost, however where they involve estimation or they are provisions for specific liabilities then they too must be in accordance with clearly stated accounting policies. All these values must be determined on a historical cost basis and not replacement cost.

#### 5.23 Existence

In the case of tangible assets existence is verified by the auditor visually, seeing the asset concerned and examining its condition. This is important in that visual evidence gives the auditor a good idea as to the reasonableness of the value attached to the asset. Where it is not possible to visually see the asset concerned, then we have to look for related evidence for example, if a company claims to own land payment of rates to the appropriate local authority is evidence that the plot of land exists. For assets that cannot be physically examined, independent confirmation from third parties would suffice. We have to take into account cut off arrangements to ensure that existence is at the balance sheet date and not at any other time.

## 5.24 Beneficial ownership: (Rights and obligations)

Here we have to examine documents of title, e.g. title deeds, motor vehicles log books. Where however there are no titles, implied ownership can suffice, for example stock items may have no title documents but the fact that we ordered them, we paid for them, we received them, they are in our warehouse, nobody else is laying claim on them, then it follows by implication that they are ours. This also involves substance over form transactions. If the commercial reality of a transaction is that the rewards and risks of ownership reside in the user then there is strong evidence that the user for all practical purposes is the owner of the asset and should recognise it as such despite contrary indications due to legal arrangements in existence.

#### 5.25 Presentation and disclosure

Proper presentation includes presentation in accordance with the appropriate IFRS/IAS or International Accounting Standards. Adoption of accounting policies which are appropriate to the circumstances of the company and are adequately stated. Consistent application of

Lesson Five 127

accounting policies and where change in policy is deemed necessary with Companies Acts, Nairobi stock exchange and IAS requirements and taking into account materiality.

#### 5.3 Audit of Assets

Non current assets have the fundamental characteristic that they are held for use in the business and not for resale. *LAS 1 Presentation of financial statements* defines current assets as those assets which are expected to be sold or consumed in the course of the operating cycle or assets which are held primarily for short term trading purposes and are expected to be realised with in 12 months of the reporting date or cash and cash equivalents. All other assets are classified as non current assets which are also described as long term assets or fixed assets.

## 5.31 Non Current Assets (Fixed Assets)

In most countries, non current assets are generally classified as:

- a) Intangible assets
  - Patents
  - Licences
  - Development Costs
  - Goodwill
- b) Tangible Assets
  - Land and buildings
  - Plant and Equipment
  - Furniture, fixtures and fittings
- c) Investments
  - Loans
  - Shares

#### 5.32 Tangible Non Current Assets

The verification approach is essentially similar in all these. Extensive disclosure is required in most countries and *IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment, IAS 36 Impairment of Assets* and IFRS 5 Non Current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are the authoritative accounting documentations. (Also *IAS 8*)

#### (a) Land and buildings - Freehold

Accounting Principles Verification Procedures

## Cost and authorization

The cost of land and building acquired during the year should be vouched to appropriate documentation.

These are contract of sale, surveyor's certificates, solicitors correspondence, cash book and in the case where a loan was obtained correspondence with the bank. The auditor must determine what the client considers to be cost. Where the buildings have been constructed by the client, then the auditor must review completion certificates and costing sheets with regard to internal labour and materials expended on the building as these are often overlooked. For authorization, the auditor should look to the directors minutes and to confirm that the company's seal was used to seal the agreement of purchase.

#### Valuation

IAS 16 requires that all assets for use by the business should be valued on the basis of depreciated historic costs with one exception. IAS 16 states that freehold land should not be depreciated except in the event that the reduction in value is due to depletion through for example mining or due to changed economic circumstances. The reason for not depreciating freehold land is quite apparent when one looks at the definition of depreciation. Depreciation is the allocation of historic costs over the useful life of the asset. As freehold land has no finite useful life, there is no basis for calculating depreciation. Freehold buildings should be depreciated and the auditor must check that the estimated useful life is reasonable and that the calculations have been correctly made. The split therefore between freehold land and the buildings on that land must be established to be reasonable.

#### Existence

Existence of Land and buildings is not difficult to prove. You may even be sitting in the building. However, the auditor needs to be sure that the land and buildings that he is seeing are the actual land and buildings referred to in the accounts. He may therefore need evidence from a map of the area concerned.

## Beneficial ownership

Title deeds would usually be available for freehold land and they must be examined to ensure that they are validly in the name of the company. Land is often subject to mortgage so the auditor must be careful to ensure that such charges are correctly disclosed in the accounts. Such charges should also be recorded in the company's register of charges. Title deeds should be examined automatically on every audit. There is no title deed to a building therefore beneficial ownership is implied, that is the building is on our land we paid for it, the title deed of the land is in our name, we occupy that building, it follows that the building is also ours.

#### Presentation

Presentation will be covered when all other fixed assets have also been considered.

## 5.33 Leasehold property

Exactly the same procedures are adopted for leasehold land and buildings as applied to freehold land and buildings except in the issue of depreciation. There is no split between land and buildings when it is leasehold. In this case the land and buildings are amortised over the life of the lease even though the buildings may have an economic life longer than that of the lease. The argument for this is that the landlord after the end of the lease can comfortably ask you to take your building and go and he wants his land back. The term used is amortisation not depreciation.

#### The authoritative document is IAS 17 Leases

The appropriate method of depreciation or amortisation to use in the case of freehold buildings and leasehold property is straight-line. This is because there is no objective basis of determining whether one year has benefited more from the use of the land and building than any other year.

The main problem in the audit of leased assets in the books of the user of the asset is to ensure that a proper split has been made between assets under an operating lease and assets under a finance lease. It should be recognized that there may be a high risk in this area due to the client preferring the asset to be recognized as an operating lease as this will keep the asset and the liability off the balance sheet.

The definition of a finance lease (one under which substantially all risks and regards of ownership are transferred to the lessee) is not easy to apply in practice.

Lesson Five 129

The calculations used to determine whether a lease is a finance lease can be quite complex and thus the auditor must ensure that he understands the principals behind the calculations and that the assumptions used (e.g. the implicit rate of interest) are reasonable. Having understood the principles, a sample of the calculations need to be checked for all leases i.e. including those which the client has designated as operating leases.

For the leases which have been classified as finance leases, a sample needs to be checked for the following matters:

- (i) Check method used to split interest and capital
- (ii) Check the method is correctly applied to lease payments
- (iii) Check depreciation is based on the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the asset to the lessee.

In addition 'normal' audit tests apply to verification of the asset as for any other non current asset.

If the lease has been classified as an operating lease, then a check is required of the manner in which the rentals have been charged to the income statement. A check should also be made on the physical existence of the asset if at the time of the audit the lease is still in existence. Finally regard should be made to the possibility of assets being held under leases also being shown in normal non current assets in the balance sheet. This is particularly relevant to operating leases where the existence of a physical asset at the balance sheet date may be used to support the inclusion of the asset in the non current asset account.

#### 5.34 Plant and machinery

#### Cost and authorization

Significant plant and machinery acquired during the year is vouched to supporting documentation such as supplier's invoices, cash books, approved budgets, local purchase orders etc. The auditor should ensure that the related expenditure such as carriage inwards, installation charges have been included as appropriate.

#### Valuation

Valued at depreciated historic costs. Auditor's responsibility is to ensure that the accounting policy for depreciation is appropriate. For example if the diminution in value of an asset is related largely to time it would not be appropriate to use a reducing balance method but rather straight-line method should be used. The auditor has to ensure that the accounting policy is in accordance with IAS 16. He has to consider whether the useful lives of the assets are appropriate and he has to check that the calculations are correctly made.

#### Existence

This should normally be checked by physical inspection, however a problem arises. Items of plant and machinery can be mobile, numerous, portable and valuable. It becomes difficult therefore for the auditor to be assured that the value attached to plant and machinery represents plant and machinery that actually exists at the balance sheet date. We shall therefore digress a little and consider a record that is crucial in ensuring the existence of fixed assets under this category and this is the **fixed assets register.** 

The fixed asset register is an important independent register which auditors invariably encourage their clients to maintain. For it to be a truly independent register the person maintaining it must have no responsibility for:

a) Ordering or authorising the purchase of fixed assets.

- b) The custody of the fixed assets.
- c) Authorising the disposal of fixed assets.
- d) Maintaining general ledger accounts.
- e) Custody of readily realisable assets.

If the register is properly maintained then it has the following advantages for the auditor:

- a) The internal control over fixed assets is strengthened and there is an independent record of all fixed assets showing particularly their location. This record can be independently checked to the assets themselves on a periodic basis.
- b) Accurate depreciation records can be maintained for every asset.
- it assists the auditor in checking the completeness and existence of the assets, it
  would be almost impossible to do this from the general ledger.
- d) it provides a good record for tax purposes in calculations of wear and tear.

The register can usefully contain the following information:

- i. Fixed asset number.
- ii. Fixed asset location and responsibility for custody.
- iii. Nature and description of the asset.
- iv. The cost and the date of purchase.
- v. the estimated useful life and the residual value.
- vi. The accounting policy for depreciation.
- vii. The accumulated depreciation and net book value.
- viii. The gain or loss on disposal.
- ix. Capital allowances.

When the fixed register is reconciled to the general ledger the auditor can check the asset for physical existence by reference to the numbers and locations recorded.

#### Beneficial ownership

For plant and machinery usually implied and unless there is clear evidence to the contrary, proof of purchase and possession will suffice as evidence of ownership.

#### 5.35 Motor vehicles

Similar considerations govern the audit of motor vehicles as to those relating to plant and machinery. The only issue of consideration here is existence and ownership. Motor vehicles being mobile may not be available for the auditor to physically verify when he pays his visit. Related evidence can suffice however to prove existence for example if we own the motor vehicle we expect that if it is being used it will incur costs such as insurance, repairs and maintenance, and fuel. The engine and chassis numbers should be checked against the log book to ensure that it is the same vehicle that we are looking at as clients have been known to change the registration number plates from one vehicle to another.

## Beneficial ownership

Ensure that the log book is in your client's name.

## 5.36 Furniture, fixtures and fittings

The only issue here to note is the depreciation of fixtures and fittings. Because of their nature, this is usually done on replacement basis rather than calculated and charged on an annual basis. In other words the initial cost is capitalised and any subsequent replacement are charged to the profit

Lesson Five 131

and loss account as they are incurred. Furniture is depreciated just like plant and machinery.

#### 5.37 Disposal of Non-current Assets

The issue here is authorization for disposal and the elimination of the assets concerned from the records. The auditor also tries to ensure that the value obtained was reasonable either by looking at valuations obtained independently from professional valuers before the disposal and looking at the book value of the asset and related values for assets of that nature.

# 5.38 Presentation and Disclosure (The requirements of International Accounting Standards.)

IAS 16 provides exclusive disclosure requirements.

Fixed assets should be split into appropriate classes and the following should be disclosed:

- a) The depreciation methods used
- b) The useful lives or the rates of depreciation used
- c) The total depreciation for the period and
- d) The gross amount of depreciable assets and the related accumulated depreciation

The split between freehold and leasehold land must be shown together with the split between long and short term leases. Presently where the client has fully depreciated assets which are material their cost and notional depreciation charge are also disclosed. Where fixed assets have been revalued and incorporated in the accounts then also the name of the valuer, the qualification of the valuer, the address of the valuer and the date of valuation must also be disclosed. In this case, the modification of the historical cost accounts must also be disclosed as a note to the accounts.

#### IAS 20 Accounting for government grants and disclosures of government assistance

The auditor needs to verify the grants have been properly identified as related to income and capital expenditure in the accounting period. In particular, the auditor should ensure that the conditions of the grant are being met; they may be repayable under certain circumstances.

It is also necessary to confirm that the grants have been accounted for in accordance with IAS 20. For example that capital grants are recognized over the expected useful life of the related asset and revenue grants are matched against the related expenditure.

There are two acceptable methods of accounting for capital grants. They can either be netted of against the asset (and the net cost of the asset is then depreciated) or the grant can be treated as deferred income and then allocated to the income statement on the same basis as depreciation is charged on the related asset. Re-performance and accuracy tests should be performed by the auditor.

The auditor should ensure that the accounting policy is appropriate in accordance with the standard and properly discussed.

## **Intangible Assets**

#### Goodwill and Business Combinations

**Goodwill is the most** strange of all assets because it cannot be distinguished from the business. It cannot be sold on its own as asset. It is the most difficult to ascribe a value to. There is no reliable basis for determining the value of this asset.

The problem with internally generated goodwill is trying to quantify the asset. Therefore, internally generated goodwill should not be recognised as an asset in accounts meant to give a true and fair

view. Therefore if the auditor finds a set of accounts where internally generated goodwill has been recognised as an asset in the balance sheet then, he should be aware that this treatment is against the requirements of IAS and should accordingly qualify his report.

## **Accounting Principles**

IFRS 3 prescribes the financial reporting by an entity when it undertakes a business combination. A business combination is the bringing together of separate entities or businesses into one reporting entity.

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method, which views the business combination from the perspective of the acquirer. The acquirer is the combining entity that obtains control of the other combining entities or businesses (the acquiree)

The acquirer measures the cost of a business combination as the aggregate of:

- The fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the acquirer, in exchange for control of the acquiree; plus
- Any costs directly attributable to the business combination.

Any adjustment to the cost of the combination, that is contingent on future events, is included in the cost of the combination at the acquisition date if the adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.

The acquirer allocates the cost of the business combination by recognizing the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at their fair value at the date of acquisition, except for non-current assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Such assets held for sale are recognized at fair value less costs to sell.

**Goodwill**, being the excess of the cost over the acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, is recognized as an asset.

Goodwill is subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 *Impairment of Assets*. If the acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the combination, the acquirer:

- Reassesses the identification and measurement of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination; and
- Recognizes immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment.

IFRS 3 specifies the accounting treatment:

- For business combinations that are achieved in stages;
- Where fair values can only be determined provisionally in the period of acquisition;
- Where deferred tax assets are recognized after the accounting for the acquisition is complete; and
- For previously recognized goodwill, negative goodwill and intangible assets.

## **Disclosure Requirements**

IFRS 3 also specifies disclosures about business combinations and any related goodwill.

#### **Audit Procedures**

The auditor's procedures as far as goodwill is concerned would include:

a) Vouching for details as per the purchase agreement of the values attributed to the assets purchased and whether the price obtained was reasonable considering similar businesses.

- b) Review of the accounts of the business concerned and determining whether the business is profitable and can therefore justify the continued recognition of goodwill as an asset.
- c) Consider impairment tests in accordance with IAS 36. (Top down and bottom up tests under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets)
- d) Consider the requirements of ISA 545 Auditing Fair Value measurements

## 5.42 Research and Development

#### Introduction

History of business is littered with cases of companies that have collapsed as a result of over indulgence in research and development on products that have proved totally unprofitable. Unfortunately most of these could not have been easily seen from the preceding financial statements. A lot of companies simply capitalized research and auditors made little attempt to find out whether the values attributed to this asset were realistic.

Research is a necessary expense in earning revenue and can justifiably be matched against it. However, when research and development expenditure is incurred now, there is no telling when and if the associated revenue will materialise. The concept of prudence would dictate that such expenditure be written off as it is incurred.

The authoritative document on research and development is International Accounting Standard No.38 Intangible Assets.

IAS 38 Intangible Assets was issued in March 2004 and is applied to the accounting for intangible assets acquired in business combinations after 31 March 2004, and to all other intangible assets for annual periods beginning on or after 31 March 2004.

IAS 38 prescribes the accounting treatment for intangible assets, except:

- Intangible assets that are within the scope of another Standard. For example, IAS 2
   Inventories applies to intangible assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business;
- b) Mineral rights and expenditure on exploration for, or development and extraction of non-regenerative resources.

An intangible asset is initially recognized at cost if all of the following criteria are met:

- a) The asset meets the definition of an intangible asset i.e. it is identifiable and controlled by the entity;
- b) It is probable that future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
- c) The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not recognized as assets. Expenditure on research is recognized as an expense. There is no recognition of an intangible asset arising from research. An intangible asset arising from development is recognized only if specified criteria are met.

If an intangible item des not meet the criteria for recognition as an asset, the expenditure is recognised as an expense when incurred. Expenditure that was initially recognised as an expense is not included in the cost of an intangible asset at a later date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at:

- Cost, less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses; or
- b) Revalued amount, less any subsequent accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. The revalued amount is fair value at the date of revaluation and is determined by reference to an active market.

An intangible asset can only be carried at revalued amount if there is an active market for the asset. Any revaluation increase is credited directly to equity as revaluation surplus, unless it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation decrease is recognised in profit or loss. However, the decrease is debited directly to the revaluation surplus in equity to the extent of any credit balance in revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

An entity assesses whether the useful life of an intangible asset is finite or indefinite; the useful life is indefinite if there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash flows. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a systematic basis over its useful life.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized, but is tested for impairment at least annually. Impairment of intangible assets is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

The gain or loss on derecognizing of an intangible asset is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. The gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

#### Disclosure Requirements.

IAS 38 specifies disclosures about intangible assets.

# **Audit Procedures**

The auditor should ensure that:

- Any costs incurred in the purchase of fixed assets in order to provide facilities for research and development over a number of accounting years are to be capitalised and written off over their useful lives;
- b) Expenditure on *research* should be written off as it is incurred;
- Development expenditure should also be written off as it is incurred except in the very special circumstances mentioned above. If development costs are as defined, they should be amortised on the basis of sales or use of the product or process. The amount deferred should be reviewed each year and if there are any doubts as to its recoverability, it should be written off immediately. Once written off, research and development expenditure should not be reinstated;
- d) Movements and balances of deferred development costs should be fully disclosed in the accounts as a separate item and not included in current assets. The accounting policy adopted should be fully explained. The movements that need to be disclosed are: the balance at the beginning of the year, additional expenditure during the year, less expenditure written off during the year and the amount carried forward.

The two key issues in the audit of intangible assets are:

## (a) Recognition of intangible assets

The audit problem here is to ensure that all the requirements of IAS 38 are net before intangible assets are recognized. The identification, measurement and distinction between 'research' and 'development' expenditure are potentially difficult areas for the auditor.

# (b) Measurement after initial recognition

Intangible may only be revalued upwards (although in practice this may be rare) if an active market in them exists. If an active market does exist evidence of valuation will be available. Active markets are typical in many industries. For example fishing quotas in the fishing industry may be purchased by a company at Kshs. per tonne. This increase can be reflected in the financial statements by the company provided that it is verifiable from observed activity of buying and selling of quotas on the market and the verification of price evidence.

The standard defines research and development as follows:

- (a) Research original and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding.
- **(b)** Development the application of research findings or other knowledge o a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved materials, products devices etc. prior to the commencement of commercial production or use.

Research costs should be expensed in the period in which they are incurred

Enterprises costs should be expenses in the period in which they are incurred

Enterprise should write off all development costs, unless they can demonstrate (a) to (f) below, in which case the cost should be recognized as an asset.

- (a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset and use or sell it
- (b) The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it
- (c) The ability to use or sell the intangible asset
- (d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other this, the
  - enterprise should demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset pr the intangible asset itself or if it is to be used internally the usefulness of the intangible asset.
- (e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset, and
- (f) The ability to measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development reliably.

Costs which were originally recognized as expenses cannot be recognized as assets in subsequent periods.

**Amortization** – capitalized costs should be amortised to reflect the pattern in which the related economic benefits are recognized.

Once commercial production has commenced development costs should be amortised over the period of production that has benefited from the development expenditure. This may be done on a time basis or using a 'unit production' method.

**Impairment** – deferred development expenditure should be reviewed at the end of each accounting period and where the circumstances which have justified the deferral of the

expenditure no longer apply, the expenditure should be written off immediately.

The main procedures in audit work to verify compliance with IAS 38 are to check that the conditions noted above for recognition of development costs have been complied with.

## 5.43 Trade marks and patent

Trade marks and patents may be capitalized and then written off over their useful lives with any renewal fees being charged to revenue. If a trade mark or patent is abandoned then the net book amount should be written off immediately. Normally the company should keep a register of all material items which should be checked against the agreements, the accounting records, and third party confirmation from the patent agent of the existence and company's title to the assets. Auditors will need to consider the valuation of the assets. This will include a review of the future income arising from the trade mark and patent to see whether it justifies the value placed on it. In assessing the future income it will be necessary to consider the possibility that income will not arise due for example to expiry or changes in the client's business.

You should also recall from your accounting knowledge that the goodwill impairment could be determined using 'top-down' or 'bottom-up' tests.

The 'bottom-up' test involves identifying the goodwill in the balance sheet that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the cash generating unit.

The 'top-down' test involves identifying the smallest cash generating unit which the goodwill belongs and then apportioning any unallocated goodwill on a reasonable basis to the cash generating unit.

In each case above, impairment has occurred where the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the assets plus the allocated goodwill.

You should recall from your earlier studies that the 'top-down' test is required where there is no reasonable basis for carrying out a 'bottom up' test.

Management's justification of the process of carrying out the impairment review must be carefully examined. The auditor should consider the sufficiency and reliability of the evidence available. When examining 'economic value' or 'value-in-use' evidence will be required to support (for example) future cash flow projections, interest rates growth rates, product life cycles, future production costs etc. These are subjective areas whereas determining the 'net selling proceeds' is more easily verifiable by reference to evidence from current market activity.

It is particularly important that the auditor reviews the notes to the financial statements to ensure that the disclosures in respect of the accounting policy and treatment is sufficient and appropriate.

#### Goodwill and fair value

The main points the auditor needs to verify for any goodwill arising in the accounting period are as follows:

- (i) Examine the methods used to determine the fair value of the consideration given to purchase the shares of the subsidiary and the fair value of the net assets in the subsidiary at the date of acquisition. The usual verification procedures should be used, although the auditor should consider the need for an expert valuation.
- (ii) The accounting treatment of the goodwill once it has been quantified needs to be checked to ensure it is being accounted for incompliance with IFRS 3

(iii) A check is required that the detailed disclosure requirements of IFRS 3 are complied with.

#### 5.44 Brand names

Some companies in recent years have placed valuations on the brand names of the goods that they sell. The valuation is shown on the balance sheet. The reason for doing this is that the brand name is valuable to the company in that it helps to sell the company's goods. For example, may people would rather buy a 'branded' tin of soap powder, rather than the 'own make' offered by a supermarket. IAS 38 prohibits recognition of internally generated brands.

For purchased brands, the auditor must consider:

- (i) Is the brand name valued according to an acceptable method, and not just 'guessed' by the directors?
- (ii) Is the value being amortized over an acceptable time period which relates to the future sales of the brand?
- (iii) Has the credit entry for the debit been adequately shown as a nondistributable reserve on the balance sheet
- (iv) Is there adequate disclosure of the accounting policy in the financial statements?

## IAS 36 Impairment of assets

It is important for the auditor to check the client's procedures for determining and accounting for impairments. Under IAS 36, 'impairment' has occurred where recoverable amount has fallen below the asset's carrying value. The recoverable amount is higher of net realizable value and value in use (economic value).

The stages of the audit in this area could be:

- (i) Confirm whether the enterprise has carried out any impairment checks and review the validity of the conclusions reached as to whether further investigation of impairment was necessary.
- (ii) If the client has concluded that no further work is required and the auditor concurs, no more audit work is needed. If, however, the audit disagrees and considers that the value of some assets has been impaired, it is necessary to discuss the matter with management. If no further action is taken by management it may be necessary to issue a modified audit report giving a qualified opinion based on the disagreement with management and detailing the cause of the disagreement. Of course, in majority of cases further action will be taken by management and a modified report will not be required if the auditor is satisfied with that further action.
- (iii) If the client has concluded that impairment checks are needed, the auditor will review the stages of the impairment investigation, paying particular attention to:
  - (a) The validity of the enterprise's work in arriving at net selling price
  - (b) The validity of the enterprise's work in calculating value in use, with particular reference to the acceptability of the basis for estimating future cash flows and of discounting rate

adopted.

- (c) The validity of the client's procedures in applying the impairment review process to cash- generating units.
- (d) Compliance with relevant disclosure requirements.

# 5.45 INVESTMENTS

#### Note: Authoritative documents:

- IAS 40, IAS 41, 32, 39,27,28,30, IFRS 3, 5
- Requirements of the Companies Act with respect to Investments and Properties.
- Requirements of ISA 545

#### Introduction

An investment is held for wealth generation (such as dividends and interest on shares and loan notes) and capital growth. Current investments are readily realizable and are intended to be held for no more than one year. All other investments are long term investments.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures require special accounting procedures for the preparation of additional financial statements – group accounts, otherwise known as consolidated accounts. From your earlier studies you should be familiar with the definitions relating to group accounts. For example, a subsidiary, broadly, is more than 50% controlled, and an associated company is one over which an entity has a 'signficant influence' as evidenced by at least a 20% holding.

Long term investments may be carried at cost, revalued amounts, or the lower of cost and market value determined on a portfolio basis decided by the director.

The carrying amount of a long term investment should be reduced to recognize impairments in value.

Where long term investments are carried at market value a consistent policy should be adopted whereby increases or decreases in the carrying amount should either go through the income statement, or, to a revaluation account in equity. To the extent that there is no revaluation surplus relating to a particular asset, any deficit should be charged to income.

When assets carried at market value are disposed of the company should adopt a policy of crediting outstanding revaluation surpluses to either income, or retained earnings.

Current investments may be carried at market value or the lower cost or market value.

## Disclosure requirements

In general terms, the following items should be disclosed in relation to all investments:

- (a) The accounting policies for:
  - (i) The determination of carrying amount of investments
  - (ii) The treatment of changes in market value of current investments carried at market value
  - (iii) The treatment of a revaluation surplus on the sale of a revalued investment
- (b) The significant amounts included in income for
  - (i) Interest, royalties, dividends and rentals on long term and current investments
  - (ii) Profits and losses on disposals of current investments
  - (iii) Changes in value of such investments
- (c) The market value of marketable investments if they are not carried at market value
- (d) The fair value of investment properties if they are accounted for as long term investments and not
  - carried at fair value
- (e) Significant restrictions on the feasibility of investments or the remittance of income and proceeds of disposal
- (f) For long term investments stated at revalued amounts

- (i) The policy for the frequency of revaluations
- (ii) The date of the latest revaluation
- (iii) The basis of revaluation and whether an external value was involved
- (g) The movements for the period in revaluation surplus and the nature of such movements
- (h) For enterprises whose main business is the holding of investments an analysis of the portfolio of Investments

#### **Internal Control**

Where a trading concern holds only a few investments, there is unlikely to be any systematic internal control systems specifically for those investments.

With a larger investment portfolio, there should be a system of internal control which will include:

- (i) Authorization procedures for purchases and sales
- (ii) Register reconciled with control accounts
- (iii) Control over dividend/interest receipts
- (iv) Proper division of responsibility and supervision

#### **Verification Procedures**

Verification procedures should follow the general approach outlined for tangible non current assets. However, the following specific points should be noted.

ISA 501 Audit Evidence – Additional Consideration for Specified Items states that audit procedures relating to long term investments normally include considering evidence as to whether the entity has the ability to continue to hold the investments on a long term basis, discussing the matter with management and obtaining written representations to that effect. Other procedures would include the following:

# (a) Existence and ownership

Establishment of title and beneficial ownership of investments is not conclusively possible. However, evidence is available in the form of:

- (i) Share certificates, correspondence with nominee etc
- (ii) Payments for securities, brokers,' bought notes' or 'contract notes'
- (iii) Dividends/interest from securities, dividends 'warrants'.
- (iv) Internal control procedures.

#### (b) Valuation

Valuation of listed securities is easily conformed with appropriated financial publications. Directors' valuation of unlisted securities is something on which the auditors report, and the basis of the calculations, must therefore be examined. The auditor must also consider whether any write downs for impairment in value are adequate, which may mean examining copies of accounts of companies in which investments are held.

#### (c) Income

Income from securities can be verified with known interest rates for fixed interest securities, and a share information service for listed shares. Unlisted share income must be verified with copies of the accounts.

#### 5.46 IAS 40 Investment Properties

Audit work common to all types of land and building will be required to establish ownership, existence and value.

IAS 40 requires that companies may adopt the cost based approach or the fair value policy for the treatment of investment properties.

If the cost based approach is used, the accounting treatment is as for the benchmark treatment under IAS 16 (Cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses) and you should be familiar with the audit procedures normally carried out.

If the fair value policy is adopted, the company is required to revalue the property each year taking gains and losses to the income statement. Fair value will normally be verifiable by reference to current prices on an active market. In the absence of an active market, the auditor may need to consider evidence of valuations from similar markets (suitably adjusted) or discounted cash flow projections. Points peculiar to investment properties for the auditor to review therefore include:

- (i) Confirming that the fair value policy is appropriate (for example it is rented to a non group company)
- (ii) Assessing the reliability of the evidence on which fair value is based especially when no active market exists
- (iii) Correctness of accounting for transfers between classification to for from investment properties where (and only where) a change of use has occurred. (You should re-familiarize yourself with the accounting treatment where transfers between components are made).
- (iv) Completeness of disclosure requirements.

Typical audit evidence might include:

- Physical inspection of the location and condition of the investment property and confirmation that it is not owner occupied.
- Valuer's report (whether external or internal) including the date(s) of valuation;
   base used (i.e. open market), assumptions made (e.g. full occupancy), etc
- The qualifications, experience and objectivity of the valuer(s)
- The calculations of individual gains/losses on properties disposed of.
- Representations from/enquiries of management in respect of the treatment of investment properties
- Review of previous information for consistency (e.g. financial statements from previous years)
- · Management's impairment review, if any
- The proposed note disclosure reflecting the true and fair override.

## Accounting requirements

IAS 40 prescribes the accounting treatment for investment property and related disclosure requirements.

Investment property is initially recognized at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,

investment property is carried either at:

 Cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, as prescribed by IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, or

• Fair value. Fair value is the price at which the property could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction.

Movements in fair value are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The measurement model is applied consistently to all investment property. However, an entity may choose either the **fair value model** or **the cost model** for investment property backing liabilities that pay a return linked directly to the fair value of specified assets including that investment property, regardless of the model chosen for all other investment property. Transfers to, or from, the investment property classification are made only when there is evidence of a change in use.

The gain or loss on derecognition of an item of investment property is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. The gain or loss is included in profit or loss.

# 5.47 Financial Instruments (IAS 32 and IAS 39)

IAS 32 and IAS 39 are examinable to the extent that they deal with the presentation and measurement of equity, debt and convertible debt. The typical audit approach will include:

- Verification of the analysis between equity and debt and appropriate designation to capital and reserves or liabilities
- Performing tests for arithmetical accuracy
- Ensuring that the discount rates used are realistic
- Ensuring that other base data in the allocation is correct (e.g. the correct conversion date has been used)
- Ensuring that the detailed disclosures requirements are met.

#### 5.5 Audit of Current Assets

#### 5.51 Verification of Stocks and Work In Progress

Authoritative documents: IAS 2/ISA 500/501

IAS 1 Preparation of financial statements requires inventories to be disclosed separately and the accounting policy adopted to be disclosed.

IAS 2 inventories prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories, except:

- Work in progress arising under construction contracts (IAS 11 Construction Contracts);
- Financial instruments (IAS 39 Financial Instruments); and
- Biological assets related to agricultural activity and agricultural produce at the point of harvest (IAS 41 Agriculture).

#### Summary of IAS 2

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The cost of inventories, other than those for

which specific identification of costs are appropriate, is assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or weighted average cost formula.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the same period as the revenue.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value is recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of a write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

#### IAS 2 specifies disclosures about inventories.

In a large manufacturing company, no item in the balance sheet presents verification problems to auditors to the extent that stocks do. The reasons for this generally are:

- a) The amounts involved are material;
- b) Stock has a one for one impact on the reported profits. In other words an increase of stock by one shilling increases the reported profits by one shilling. It therefore opens itself easily to distortion by the management;
- c) Stock does not derive from the normal double entry system, it is usually a figure arrived at by a stock taking exercise held at the end of the year, valued and incorporated into the profit and loss account and balance sheet, any differences being written off to cost of sales.
- d) Stocks are portable and valuable opening themselves to pilferage and deterioration either intentional or accidental.
- e) The number of items involved is usually numerous creating verification problems as far as existence and condition is concerned.
- f) Although stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, what constitutes cost can vary from one management to another and the basis of determining that cost can be subject to so many different methods all resulting in different values for the same items.
- g) It is an area that is susceptible to manipulation by management as apart from problems of arriving at cost, the provision for obsolescence, slow moving and damaged stocks is a question of judgement therefore it is easy for the auditor and the management to disagree.
- h) Stock is usually not one item but many different items, for example; finished goods, work in progress, raw materials, goods in transit, spares, consumables etc. All these can be valued on a different basis and amalgamated and described as stocks.

#### 5.52 The auditors duties can be summarised as follows:

- a) Ascertaining the accounting policies adopted by the entity for valuing stocks;
- b) As the guiding standard on stocks is IAS 2 inventories, the auditor has to consider the suitability of the policies selected by the organization. You must note that under IAS 2:
  - i. The lower of cost and net realisable value is obligatory. FIFO or weighted average cost is used to allocate costs.
  - ii. The cost should where appropriate include a proportion of production overheads whether or not they vary on a time basis. The proportion included must be based upon the normal level of activity.

- iii. Where identical items are purchased or made at different times and therefore have differing costs the method of arriving at cost should be FIFO, weighted average
- c) The auditor should test check the stock sheets or the continuous stock records with relevant documents such as invoices and costing records to determine if cost has been correctly arrived at.
- d) The auditor must examine and test the treatment of overheads.
- e) The auditor must test the treatment and examine the available evidence for items valued at net realisable value.
- f) The auditor must check the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations made.
- g) The auditor must check and confirm the consistency with which the amounts have been computed.
- h) The auditor must consider the adequacy of the description used in the accounts and the disclosure of the accounting policies adopted.

# 5.53 Detail work on stocks is imperative in an audit, however there are other review tests that are equally important and these include:

- Quantity reconciliation of changes in stocks at successive period ends with records of movements i.e. receipts and issues.
- b) Comparison of quantities of every kind of stock held at one year end with those held at a previous year end and the related receipts and issues.
- c) The gross profit ratio is compared to that of the previous year, other companies and budget.
- d) Review of rate of stock turnover with previous year.
- e) Comparison of stock figures and budgets for stocks, sales and purchases.
- f) Consideration of standard costing records, the treatment of variances in the valuation of stocks and work in progress.

#### 5.54 Detailed audit of stock

#### a. Cost

For the auditor this is restricted usually to determining the methods adopted by the organization in costing stocks. The auditor weighs the acceptability and appropriateness of the policies adopted. The rest of the exercise is a mechanical exercise of testing to confirm that the methods adopted have been correctly applied.

## b. Authorization

The purchases cycle produces stocks, therefore audit work of compliance tests, analytical reviews and substantive tests in the area of purchases usually provide the auditor with adequate evidence as to authorization procedures in obtaining stocks.

#### c. Valuation

IAS 2 prescribes that stock be valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, It is up to the auditor to ensure that net realisable value is correctly assessed and that the choice between the cost and net realisable value is properly done and is in accordance with IAS 2. IAS 2 states that comparisons should be by individual units of stocks or categories. Comparison cannot be simply on a basis of the total cost of all stocks and the total net realisable value. Stocks is reduced to lower of cost and net realisable value by a provision for obsolete, slow moving and damaged stocks. This is a potential area of disagreement between the auditor and the management because it is subject to judgement. The auditor's concern is to ensure that the provision is neither

inadequate nor excessive. To determine this adequacy, the auditor is guided by such factors as the consideration of:

- i. The age of the stock;
- ii. Its turnover;
- iii. Its condition;
- iv. Technological advances in the industry concerned;
- v. The nature of the stock, it could be perishable or it could be subject to a volatile market;
- vi. Economic conditions i.e. recent selling prices, demand for the product, the performance of competing products;
- vii. The quantity of the stocks held;
- viii. The accounting policies involved;
- ix. Subsequent events

All these factors give the auditor a good indication of whether the provision is adequate or not.

Net realisable value based on selling prices relates to the selling prices prevailing at the balance sheet date. Occasionally we review the selling prices after the balance sheet date but the purpose of this is to obtain additional information about conditions existing at the balance sheet date. Temporary fluctuations must be ignored. By temporary we mean fluctuations of less than one month.

#### d. Existence

In the past the auditor accepted a directors certificate as to the existence of stocks. Until several cases particularly in the United States of America were decided against auditors for their failure to obtain adequate independent evidence that the stocks concerned were in existence. On several occasions, auditors certified accounts as giving a true and fair view when the stocks concerned were non-existent. The unfavourable decisions against the auditor have resulted in the profession making it obligatory that where the stocks are a significant figure in the accounts the auditor must verify existence.

(Refer to ISA 501) This is achieved chiefly through the client arranging for a stock take and the auditor attending to observe the stock take.

If is not the auditor's duty to take stock. He must however satisfy himself as to the validity of the amount attributed to stocks in the accounts that are the subject of his audit. In determining the nature and extent of the audit steps necessary for this purpose the auditors must examine the system of internal control in order to assess its effectiveness relative to the ascertainment and evaluation of stocks and work in progress. While it will not normally be necessary for the auditor to observe the entire stock take or visit all locations their tests should cover a representative section of the stock. Where stocks is held at a number of locations the selection of the location to be visited should be planned so as to cover all significant locations over a period of years.

The amount at which stock is stated in the accounts may be based upon a physical stock taking at the year end or upon information taken from stock records. When stock is based on records these must be substantiated by continuous or periodical physical stock takings. The procedures should ensure:

- a) Adequate stock records are kept up to date.
- b) Each category of stock is checked at least once a year and a record of checks maintained.
- c) If the checking is continuous, it is done systematically over the years or if periodic at suitable times, such as when stocks are low or have reached a specific reorder point.
- d) All differences are properly investigated and the records amended accordingly. There should be maintained schedules of differences with details of the action that was taken.

#### 5.55 STOCK TAKING

The procedures for carrying out physical stock taking vary in detail according to the size and circumstances of the business and the nature of its stock records. However, definite instructions preferably in writing should be issued in all cases for the guidance of those who will be engaged in the actual stock taking. The stock taking instructions should as a bare minimum contain:

- a) Identification of the articles and their ownership.
- b) Counting, weighing or measuring.
- c) Reporting of stocks which are damaged or otherwise defective.
- d) How the stock take is to be recorded.

Stock taking should be planned well in advance and carried out carefully and systematically by persons fully informed of the duties involved. Those taking part should include persons familiar with the various sections of stock and where practicable supervisors and checkers should be drawn from departments which have no control over the usual custody or movement of stocks. Where specialised knowledge is necessary to identify the nature or quality of items of stock the client should ensure that personnel properly qualified for this purpose are available at the stock take. Arrangements should be made to ensure a proper cut-off. This means that despatch documentation should have been originated for all goods despatched before stock taking and if still on hand, for all goods in which the property has passed to the customer. The latter should not be included as stock when the count is made. The procedures should ensure that the appropriate sales invoices are recorded in the correct financial period. Also liabilities should be set up for all goods received and included in stock and for all goods purchased the property which has been passed to the client. This should be included in the stock even though they are not yet on the company's premises. Arrangements should be made to ensure that goods held in safe custody for others are not recorded as part of the client's stock. Arrangements should be made to confirm and record in the stock sheets details of goods held for the company by outside parties and arrangement should be made to identify slow moving, obsolete or damaged stock.

The stock taking instructions should also call for the following information which should be available to the auditors during and at the conclusion of the stock take.

- a) Details of stock movement during the count.
- b) The last numbers of goods inward and outward records.
- c) The details of the numbering of stock sheets issued of those completed and of those cancelled and unused.

#### **Auditors Procedures**

The auditors procedures are covered under three stages, before, during and after.

## (a) Before

- 1) Study of the clients stock taking instructions and recommendations for changes or improvements if the auditor considers them inadequate.
- 2) Familiarisation with the location of the stocks and the opportunity to plan for the work to be undertaken.
- 3) Familiarisation with the nature and volume of stocks and especially with high value items.
- 4) Review of previous years working papers and discussions with the managers of any significant changes from the previous year.
- 5) Consideration of the location of stocks and likely points of difficulty e.g. cutoff.
- 6) Consideration of any involvement of the internal audit department and the extent of reliance to be placed upon their work.
- 7) Arranging to obtain from third parties confirmation of stocks held by them.
- 8) Establishing whether expert advice may be needed.

# (b) During

The main task during stock taking is to ascertain whether the client's employees are carrying out their instructions properly. It is usually advisable for the auditor to test the efficiency of the counting by counting selected items. In this case the auditor should select items for counting from the records and from the factory flow. The auditor should make notes for follow up purposes of items counted in his presence, details of defective, damaged, obsolete or slow moving items. Incidence of stock taking instructions not being followed. Details of items for cut off purposes. He must enquire into, observe and discuss with the store keeping staff the procedures for identifying damaged, obsolete and slow moving stocks. He should enquire and test the cut off arrangements. Form a mental impression of the quantity of stock held for comparison with the accounts. Record fully the work done and his impression of the stock take exercise. He must form a conclusion as to whether the stock take can be relied upon. He should take photocopies of the rough stock sheets. He should take details of the sequence of the stock sheets. He should pay special attention to high value items.

# (c) After

It is mainly a follow up exercise and it involves:

- 1) Checking the cut off with the details of last numbers of stock movement forms and goods inward and goods outward notes during the year and after the year end.
- 2) Ensuring that the final stock sheets have been properly prepared from the count records. He must particularly check that all the forms issued were returned.
- 3) He should check the final stock sheets for pricing, extensions, casting, summarisation and the necessary improvement.
- 4) Follow up any notes made and the attendance.
- 5) Inform the management of any problems in the stock taking exercise so that they can act accordingly.

#### Non-Attendance at Stock Takes

If the auditor is unable to attend a stock take, because he has numerous clients with the same accounting date, or stock is located at remote locations, the auditor must still certify himself on the stock take. This can be done by:

1) Arranging for the stock take to be done at an earlier date.

- 2) Appointing agents.
- 3) Examining perpetual inventory records more thoroughly.
- 4) Intensifying other verification records and
- 5) Using rotational methods.

Stock takes need not take place at the end of the year. If the client has a good system of internal control and satisfactory stock records, which clearly identify opening quantities, receipts, issues and closing quantities then the auditor can rely on a stock take carried out before or after the year end. All he has to do is to examine the movements in the intervening periods and substantiate them. (Perpetual inventory techniques)

## Beneficial Ownership or Title

In January 1976 the famous case of Aluminium Industries Vaasen B V v. Romalpa Aluminium Ltd radically altered the law with regard to normal trading practices. Commercial law states that title to goods passes to the buyer once they are delivered on a valid contract, therefore if the buying company went into liquidation then the seller company most probably would lose the stocks and money. This was accepted business practice for centuries. The Romalpa case rules that transactions can be made subject to reservation of title until such a time as the buying company makes payment. The case further ruled that such a reservation should be clearly stated in the appropriate sales documentation and that the rights of the selling company over unpaid for stocks can even extend to goods produced from the store and the sale proceeds there from. In the strict legal sense, stocks subject to such a reservation clause should be included in the buying company's accounts until they are paid for. Accounting treatment acknowledges the concept of substance over form and as a result the amounts are shown as sales by the selling company and as purchases and stocks by the buying company. This assumes a situation where the buying company is a going concern. If the financial position of the buying company is in doubt then the amounts in question should be removed from both stocks and creditors in the buying company's books. In the event that the commercial basis of presentation is adopted and the amounts involved are extremely significant, then it may be necessary to reveal in a note to the accounts that creditors of the appropriate amount are secured by a specific stock.

# DISCLOSURE AND PRESENTATION

#### **Buvers**

These cases are only relevant if creditors include a material amount owed to suppliers who have sold goods subject to reservation of titles. Effectively such creditors are secure. The Companies Act and the presentation of a true and fair view require disclosure of secured creditors even though it is not clear whether the creditors secured in this way are covered by the Companies Act. Under normal trading conditions where the buyer is a going concern, it is doubtful that the seller would reprocess their goods. In a liquidation however, the sellers may have a right to their goods. Accounts are drawn up on the going concern assumption. Disclosure of matters which are relevant only in liquidation seems necessary. It is customary however to disclose the amount of creditors who are secured in this way. The problems this creates are:

- 1) Purchases and creditors subject to reservation of title are not normally separately identifiable from other creditors and purchasers.
- 2) It is not always clear if a particular purchase subject to this restriction will stand up in a court of law as ordinarily the law requires that any creditors secured on a company's assets should be registered.

#### Sellers

So far as sellers are concerned, the issue is only relevant in improving the collect ability of debts. Therefore, when reviewing the provision for bad and doubtful debts, the accountant needs to

consider these points:

## An example of a suitable note to the accounts:

"The company purchases goods from certain suppliers subject to reservation of title. This gives the suppliers the right to claim the goods if they are not paid for. The total of such supplies included in creditors in the balance sheet was Kenya Shillings X".

# **Auditors Procedures**

- Ascertain what steps the client takes to identify suppliers, selling on terms which
  reserve title by enquiry of those responsible for purchasing and of the board.
- 2) Ascertain what steps are taken to quantify the liability to such suppliers for balance sheet purposes, including liabilities not yet reflected in the creditors ledger.
- 3) Where there are material liabilities to such suppliers:
  - a) If the liabilities are quantified in the accounts, review and test the procedures by which the amounts disclosed have been computed.
  - b) If the directors consider that quantification is impracticable but have either estimated the liabilities or indicated their existence review and test the information upon which their disclosure is based.
  - c) Consider the adequacy of the information disclosed in the accounts.
  - d) Ensure that the basis on which the charge for taxation is computed takes account of the accounting treatment adopted and where necessary is adequately disclosed.
- 4) Where liabilities to such suppliers are said not to exist or to be immaterial, review the terms of sale of major suppliers to confirm that this is so.
- 5) Obtain formal written representation from the directors either that there are no material liabilities of this nature to be disclosed or that the information disclosed is in their view as accurate as it is reasonably possible to achieve.

Ownership or title to stocks before the advent of the Romalpa case was implied in that if we ordered the goods, have paid for them or have set up a liability for them, have received them, they are in our possession, we are using them for trading, nobody is laying claim to them, then they are ours. The student should noted that Romalpa sales do not cover goods sold on consignment or goods sold on sale or return where a sale will only be made on fulfilment of some agreed event such as the resale of the goods by the consignee.

#### Presentation

On the face of a balance sheet or in the notes to the accounts, stocks and work in progress should be classified or sub-classified in a manner which is appropriate to the business and so as to indicate the amounts held in each of the main categories. The accounting policy in respect of stocks must be disclosed and if there are changes therein, their impact must also be disclosed.

#### 5.56 Work In Progress

What applies to goods for resale applies equally to work in progress even though the items presents greater problems of ascertainment and valuation to the directors and to the auditor. The auditors investigations will include:

- a) Enquiry into the costing system from which work in progress is ascertained.
- b) Enquiry into how reliable the costing system is. A costing system integrated with the financial system will be more reliable because of the discipline of double entry and the inherent checks imposed by external data such as creditors statement.
- c) Enquiry into checks that are made as part of the system on statistical data concerning inputs of materials and outputs of products and expectations.
- d) Enquiry into the system of inspecting and reporting on work done so that allowance is made for scrapping and rectification work.
- e) Determining the basis on which overheads are included in costs and ensuring that this is based on IAS 2.
- f) Making enquiry into the basis on which any profit elements are dealt with. Profit should be eliminated from work in progress.
- g) Where the organisation constructs internally some of its own fixed assets, the auditor must make sure that such items as are under construction at the year end are not accounted for twice i.e. in fixed assets and in work in progress.

#### 5.6 LONG TERM CONTRACTS

The authoritative document with reference to long term contracts is IAS 11: Construction Contracts and IAS 18: Revenue Recognition, and ISA 600 Reliance on the Work of other Auditor

#### **IAS 11 Construction Contracts**

A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use.

Such contracts often span more than one accounting period. This gives rise to a number of accounting and therefore auditing issues.

The auditor must examine a schedule of all the construction contracts that the enterprise is currently engaged in, and reach an opinion as to whether attributable profits and losses have been satisfactorily calculated. Furthermore the presentation of contracts in the financial statements must accord with the IAS. Although the auditor should have a working knowledge to be able to deal with many aspects of long term contracts, it may be necessary to contact external experts to seek assurance in specialist areas where the auditor has insufficient expertise himself. For example, determination of the stage of completion of a building in the course of construction.

Whilst the audit process will require verification work (e.g. examination of costing records, verification and allocation of materials, labour and overhead costs to supporting documentation, etc) the more sensitive audit issues are disclosure, recognition and measurement of profits and revenues and valuation matters.

- Contract revenue should be recognized in the accounting period in which the work is performed
- Contract costs should be recognized against the revenue to which they relate
- Expected excesses of total contract cost should be recognized immediately
- Costs which relate to future activity (contract work in progress) should be carried forward as an asset (provided they are recoverable)

 Irrecoverable amounts receivable from recognized contract revenue should be recognized as an expense.

Long-term contracts are those for which the estimated lives is longer than one accounting period. Periodic accounts artificially break down the life of company into specific periods and the need for the matching concepts to be followed makes it necessary to ascribe a proportion of the profit on a contract for each of the accounting periods that it covers. This is in conflict with the prudence concept which would require that costs be accumulated until the completion of the contract, or can be reasonably foreseen through estimates to complete. Generally, when there is conflict between the prudence concept and the matching concept the prudence concept prevails.

# (a) Cost and Authorization

The cost incurred to date on a contract can be checked by routine vouching to invoices and suppliers statements.

## (b) Valuation

The basis of valuation should be cost plus attributable profit less foreseeable losses and progress payments both received and receivable. It becomes necessary to determine the appropriate amount of profit that can be taken on a contract. This appropriate attributable profits is arrived as follows:

Total costs to Date x Anticipated x Allowance = Attributable Total anticipated total profit for prudence profit costs on the contract

This formula derives the total profit that can be taken on the contract to date. This profit after it had been worked out must be reduced by any profits taken in previous years to determine the attributable profit for the year. For the auditor, the following points must be noted:

- 1) Total costs are derived from the current estimated total costs for the contract
- 2) Total profits is derived from the contract price less total estimated costs
- 3) Prudence must be taken into account when determining the amount of attributable profits. By prudence in this case we mean you must take into account the likelihood of the profit figure being achieved and this is a function of
  - a) Time: that is the longer a contract has to run the more difficult it is to determine the profit.
  - b) Consider the company's ability to estimate its costs accurately.
  - c) Consider the nature of the contract: a fixed price contract is far more risky than one which allows costs escalation: thus a cost plus contract carries very little risk at all.

You will notice that this exercise is wholly dependant on the company estimating its future costs. This is where the auditor has to be extra careful because the directors can distort the accounts by using unrealistic estimates. Conventional, historic costs techniques are therefore inappropriate and alternative methods must be adopted. They may include:

- 1) Examination of the company's budgets and budgetary system. Are they a reliable basis for determining future costs or do the figures appear to be pure guess work.
- 2) Comparison of the costs to date on the contract with the original budget. If

- they relate reasonably, then it will give some confidence that the future costs are also reasonably stated.
- 3) Comparison of the results of previous contracts completed with the original budget to determine the company's ability at forecasting.
- 4) Perform detailed tests to substantiate the future costs by reference to technical data and reports from any independent personnel.
- 5) Review the progress of contracts in relation to any penalty clauses for late delivery. If the auditor is satisfied that the future costs are fairly stated, he should check the calculation of attributable profits, taking into account the issue of prudence on the basis of the points raised earlier on. If it becomes apparent that on completion of a contract a loss will be made, then such a loss should be charged against income in the year it is foreseen. If any profits have already been taken in the past years they should be written back along with the total loss.

#### 5.71 Debtors

Considering what we have gone through on the other assets the audit work to verify the figure of trade debtors would be as follows:

- 1) Obtain a schedule of debtors, preferably aged.
- 2) Validate the records and controls over sales and debtors through a selected sample of compliance testing and substantive testing.
- 3) Detailed examination of the control account including review of the reconciliation between the control account and the debtor's ledger.
- 4) Circularisation of a sample of debtors strictly to confirm existence.
- 5) Carrying out cut off test to ensure that sales and stocks have been accounted for in the correct period.
- 6) Analytical review by comparing sales/debtors ratio with previous years.
- 7) Looking for evidence to confirm that balances attributed to individual debtors are composed of specific items.
- 8) Evidence that all included items are bona fide trade debtors.
- 9) Review of credit notes issued after date to ensure that they do not cancel debtors balances.
- 10) Examination of debtors for collectability.
- 11) Ensuring that each account is settled from time to time and also enquiring into credit balances.
- 12) On the schedule that is obtained, the auditor tests balances on ledger accounts to the schedule and vice versa, he also tests the cast of the schedules and ensures that the totals agree to the balance of the control accounts.
- 13) The auditor tests the effectiveness of the system of internal control but before he does that he has to determine what the system is, and a good system for debtors should ensure that:
  - a) Only bona fide sales bring debtors into being;
  - b) All such sales are to approved customers;
  - c) All such sales are properly recorded;
  - d) Once they have been recorded the dates are only eliminated by receipt of cash or on the authority of a responsible official;
  - e) Debts are collected promptly;
  - f) Balances are regularly reviewed and aged. A proper system for follow up exists and if necessary adequate provision for bad and doubtful debts are made.

Under debtors the crucial issues for the auditor are the valuation of debtors and the

existence of debtors

#### 5.72 Valuation of debtors

Debtors are valued just like other assets at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Valuation of debtors is really a consideration of whether the provision for bad and doubtful debts is adequate or not. The auditor must therefore consider the following matters:

- i. How adequate is the system of internal control as far as approval of credit and follow up of poor payers is concerned;
- ii. The period of credit allowed and taken;
- iii. Whether balances have subsequently been settled by the date of the audit
- iv. Whether an account is made up of specific items or not;
- v. Whether an account is within the maximum credit allowed;
- vi. The market values of any securities if any that have been lodged as collateral;
- vii. General information about debtors from collectors, trade associations or other publications;
- viii. The issue of set off;
- ix. Whether there are any legal proceedings, the state of those proceedings and the legal status of any debtor;
- x. The effects of the statute of limitations;
- xi. Comparing of debtors to sales this year with previous periods, budgets and other companies;
- xii. Evidence that any debt is in dispute for non delivery, breakages or poor quality.

It should be noted that any debts which are considered bad should be written off to the profit and loss account.

Provisions for doubtful debts should be set up against debts which are considered doubtful.

Some companies have the habit of making round sums or percentage provisions for doubtful debts. This practice is generally unacceptable to an auditor unless it is based on good statistical evidence which may come from past experience or may come from data about other similar undertakings which is obtainable from trade associations or which is publicly available.

#### 5.73 Existence of debtors.

The easiest way to establish the existence of a debtor is to ask the debtor whether he exists. This is done by use of a practice known as debtor's circularisation which is basically a direct confirmation from the debtors.

Advantages or reasons for circularising debtors are:

- To obtain confirmatory direct external evidence of the existence and beneficial ownership of the asset debtors.
- 2) To give evidence that the figure in the accounts for debtors is a true and fair one.
- 3) To provide confirmatory evidence that the system of recording and documenting sales and debtors and the controls there on can be relied upon to produce an accurate figure for debtors. Normally, tests which are designed to obtain evidence of the reliability of the system are called compliance tests. Circularisation therefore is useful both for substantive and compliance tests.

4) To provide evidence as to the correctness of cut off. Cut off is the technical term used to ensure that in computing profits sales are accurately compared with the costs of the goods sold. Cut off tests can be substantive i.e. examining last numbers of documents or compliance that is, if controls exists their application can be tested.

5) To provide evidence on the existence of disputed items.

## The Audit Approach.

The auditor:

- 1) Must obtain the cooperation of the client, as only the client can authorise third parties to communicate with the auditor.
- 2) Select the method to use, this can be positive, negative or a combination of both.
- 3) Select a sample. All customers can be circularised but this is unusual.
- 4) Draft the circular, but ensure that it is written out on the client letter head and that it requires a reply to be sent direct to the auditor.
- 5) Fill in the details.
- 6) Despatch the letter himself.
- 7) Receive and evaluate replies.
- 8) Follow up when replies are not received.

## Comparison of the Two Methods

## Negative

Under this method of circularisation, the customer is asked to communicate only if he does not agree with the balance. Effectively the customer is told that if no reply is received from them then the auditor will conclude that the debtor is in agreement with all the terms in the circular. The major draw back of this method is that if the debtor does not receive the circular, he will not respond, and this could be misconstrued to mean that the debtor received the circular when in fact it was never received and considered. From this standpoint, this method is unreliable and should only be used where there is strong internal control.

#### **Positive**

Under the positive method, the customer is asked to reply whether he agrees the balance or not or is asked to supply the balance himself. This method is used where there is weak internal control, suspicion of irregularities or items in dispute and numerous book-keeping errors.

## Selection of a Sample

The following accounts must be included in debtors circularisation:

- Large balances because they are large and the more you can substantiate of the debtors figure, the more assured you are.
- All unpaid accounts because there may be fictitious balances designed to conceal defalcations or there may be a genuine dispute both of which can cause overstatement.
- 3) Accounts with round sum payments: this may indicate teeming and lading or that the debtor cannot pay the full amount.
- 4) Accounts with NIL balances: this is because active debtors through the year may be used to conceal window dressing techniques.
- 5) Credit balances: a sales system should produce debit balances therefore, if it produces credit balances, they need to be investigated to ensure that they were

properly set up. The client may be reluctant to allow you to advise his customers of credit balances in case they have been overlooked and the customer now asks for payment. We resolve such objections by omitting the balance figure from the circular.

- 6) Accounts where credits or discounts seem excessive or where credit periods are regularly exceeded without follow up.
- 7) Other accounts that must be considered for circularisation are: accounts not composed of specific items, small balances which are usually large, accounts with related parties and accounts which the auditor feels put him upon enquiry.

What if the debtor does not reply?

- 1) Send a reminder. Still no response, then the following alternative auditing procedures should be adopted.
  - a) Detailed vouching of all entries in the debtors accounts.
  - b) Examining post balance events e.g. settlements.
  - c) Examining the debtors remittance advice.
  - d) Awareness of the possibility of unusual items or mis-statements.
  - e) Reviewing correspondence if any with the debtor.

Please note, a debtors circularisation is an auditing procedure therefore, the auditor must make it clear to its client that the auditor has to control the circularisation. Circularisation should not be used by the client for his own purposes.

If the client refuses to allow the auditor to circularise debtors, then the auditor has to consider whether he has available other audit evidence, if not he would have to consider qualifying his report on grounds of limitation of scope.

A debtor circularisation is very reliable evidence in confirming the existence of the debtor and the title to the asset debtor, but is not designed for establishing the value of debtors. A debtor may confirm existence but that is not proof that the debtor can pay.

## 5.8 Prepayments

Prepayments like accruals are not usually checked by the double entry system. This makes them susceptible to error. The auditor's procedures include:

- 1. That last year's prepayments are written back.
- 2. Examining last year's prepayments to get an appreciation of the kind of prepayments to expect the organization to have.
- 3. Comparison of last year's listing with the current listing as prepayments do not change much from year to year, any items missing or substantially greater or less than last year's require investigation. Of course in the first year of trading such a comparison is not possible.
- 4. Reliance on his knowledge of the accounts which frequently contain prepayments such as rent, rates, insurance, advertising, etc. The auditor must examine such accounts to determine whether prepayments have been understated.
- 5. Vouch the listing to support documentation to establish the authenticity of prepayments

## 5.9 Cash and Bank Balances

#### 5.91 Bank

The main concern in this area is to establish the existence of the balances and more recently due to failures in several financial institutions in Kenya valuation of these balances. The client will produce a reconciliation of the cash book and the bank statement. These are checked by the auditor paying particular attention to the reconciling items. These should be genuine reconciling items. Unpresented cheques and uncleared lodgements should appear on the bank statements early in the new year, say within two weeks of the year end. If they do not appear, then these should be investigated as manipulation or fraud could be indicated. Material unpresented cheques could indicate that the bank balance is being distorted for balance sheet purposes as a high balance is indicated of poor utilisation of cash and may reflect adversely upon the directors. Uncleared lodgements present a more serious threat of fraud or distortion. Banks normally clear lodgements within a week, therefore if after a week we have uncleared lodgements that are not up country, cheques, then the position displayed may be probably fictitious. They could have been inserted by management to conceal a shaky liquidity position or by an employee to conceal a misappropriation elsewhere.

A bank reconciliation is a routine matter, what remains is for the auditor to obtain direct confirmation from the bank confirming the balances at the year end. The main purpose of this bank certificate is to confirm that the bank statements are not fraudulent. The bank request a copy of which is given as an appendix at the end of this chapter must be made by the client for the auditor has no right to obtain this information from the client's bankers. The reply must however go directly to the auditors. The normal procedures is in fact for the client to write to the bank authorising the bank to provide the auditor with any information that the auditor may require. With this authority, the auditor then writes to the bank.

**Valuation:** Till recently, valuation of banks and cash balances was taken for granted until several financial institutions started to fail and this brought into question the value of balances maintained with marginal banking institutions. Therefore as a further test, the auditor must establish that the balances are maintained in a reputable bank that is still a going concern.

**Petty-cash:** Petty-cash balances are usually not material. They are usually counted by the auditor but this is just because most organizations hold the view that a cash count is an integral part of auditing. As far as possible all cash balances should be counted at the same time to prevent the possibility of substitution. The count must be performed in the presence of the petty-cashier who should be asked to sign the count-sheet, and the count-sheet should also be signed, dated by the auditor. The petty-cashier's presence is important as the auditor could later be held responsible for any shortages. This area is simplified when the client maintains an imprest system. The auditor should obtain a certificate from the cashier.

#### 5.10 Sundry Debtors and Loans:

Sundry debtors and loans are not usually material assets of companies other than those companies whose business is to make loans. We shall consider two types of sundry debtors and loans:

- a) Dealings with others other than directors: The verification work will involve:
  - i. Determining, evaluating and testing the systems of internal control. Particular attention being paid to authorization.
  - ii. Obtaining a schedule of the debtors and testing it for accuracy and completeness.
  - iii. Obtaining certificates direct from the debtors concerned.
  - iv. Review of agreements and ensuring that the terms are being followed.
  - v. The debt may be secured in which case, the security is examined and consideration given to its value and realizability.
  - vi. The loan may be guaranteed, in which case the status of the guarantor must

- be examined.
- vii. Provisions for bad debts must be reviewed for adequacy. Where loans have been made to employees, they usually become bad if the employee leaves before repayment is completed.
- b) Dealings with directors and other related parties: The auditor's duties are as follows:
  - i. The review of all loans made to directors and connected persons outstanding at any time during the year. Materiality does not apply. All loans must be reviewed.
  - ii. Certificates of confirmation should be obtained from the directors concerned.
  - Read the board minutes to ensure that all such advances are subject to proper board minutes.
  - iv. Ensure compliance with the law.
  - v. Full disclosure as required should be made.
  - vi. If the directors fail to give all the relevant information in the accounts the auditor is required to give that information in his report.

# 5.11 VERIFICATION OF LIABILITIES

Generally speaking, the auditor's duty with regard to liabilities can be summarised as follows:

- 1. To verify the existence of all liabilities shown in the balance sheet.
- 2. To verify the correctness of the money amount of such liabilities. That is they are all completely accounted for and properly valued.
- 3. To verify that the description given to the liabilities in the accounts is appropriate and the disclosure is adequate.
- 4. To verify that all existing liabilities actually occurred and have been properly included in the accounts.

#### 5.11.1 General Verification Procedures

- 1. Obtain or prepare a schedule for every class of liability. This would usually show the make up of the liability with the opening balance, any changes if any, and the closing balance.
- Cut off: the auditor would usually verify cut-offs by ensuring that where a service has been received before the year end, the corresponding liability has been set up. And where a liability has been set up, the corresponding benefit has been received.
- 3. Review for reasonableness: the auditor must consider reasonableness of a liability ensuring that there are no circumstances which may put him upon enquiry.
- 4. Review of internal controls: the auditor should determine, evaluate and test the internal control procedures surrounding that liability.
- Previous year's liability: consider the liabilities at the previous year end and see whether they have been properly cleared or are still applicable bearing in mind the statute of limitation.
- 6. Terms and Conditions: the auditor should review all terms and conditions agreed when accepting a liability between his client and the creditor. He should then ensure that the agreement is being complied with.
- 7. Authorization: authority for all liabilities should be sought. These can be found in the company's minutes, director's minutes and for some items the authority is in the Memorandum and Articles.
- 8. Disclosure and Description: the auditor must ensure that the description in the accounts is adequate.

9. Inspection of Documents: the auditor has to examine all relevant documents. In the case of liabilities, these include invoices, correspondence, debenture deeds, loan agreements, purchase orders etc.

- 10. Securities: most liabilities are secure in one way or another by either fixed or floating charges. The auditor should enquire into this and enquire that where necessary, they have been registered.
- 11. Confirmation: the creation of any liability should be vouched and external confirmation obtained.
- 12. Accounting policies: the auditor needs to certify himself that appropriate acceptable accounting policies are adopted and consistently applied.
- 13. Related evidence: review of related evidence can assist in confirming liabilities. For example existence of loans can be confirmed by interest payments.
- 14. Materiality: the materiality of the matter has to be taken into consideration.
- 15. Review of post-balance sheet events: this is a very important area and has been covered elsewhere.

#### 5.11.2 Completeness of Liabilities

In distortion, the directors tend to include non-existent assets or exclude liabilities. So whereas with assets we are very much concerned with existence, valuation and beneficial ownership, with liabilities, the major concern is with completeness and hence the need to devote some space to this area. It is not enough to be satisfied that all liabilities recorded in the books are correct and incorporated in the final accounts. The auditor must be satisfied also that there are no other liabilities in existence which for one reason or another are not included in the books in the accounts.

Examples of such liabilities are:

- Claims by employees for injury at work which should be covered by workman's compensation;
- b) Claims by ex-employees for unfair dismissal;
- c) Unfunded pension liabilities;
- d) Bonuses under profit sharing arrangement;
- e) Returnable packages or containers;
- f) Penalties for VAT and other taxes;
- g) Warranties and guarantees;
- h) Discounted bills;
- i) Pending litigation;
- j) Losses on forward contracts penalties for breach of contract;

It is important that the auditor realises that such liabilities can exist and he should take reasonable steps to unearth them if they exist. The procedures to adopt include:

- 1) Enquiry of the directors and other knowledgeable officers;
- 2) Representation in a proper letter of representation from the directors;
- 3) Minutes of meetings where the existence of unrecorded liabilities may be mentioned;
- 4) Post-balance sheet events review involving the inspection of purchase invoices and payments after date.
- 5) Reviewing last year's working papers to determine whether any liabilities existing then have been excluded.
- 6) Being constantly alert to the possibility of such a liability. For example, where the client sells goods subject to warranty period this would alert the auditor immediately of outstanding commitments.

#### 5.12 Trade Creditors

Trade creditors may be substantiated by the review of the system of internal control over the purchases cycle, review of creditor's statements with reconciliation, agreement of the control account with the individual creditor's ledger, effective cut off and analytical review procedures. The auditor may also circularise creditors to obtain direct confirmation.

# 5.13 Provision and Accruals

Before we consider the audit procedures with regard to provisions and accruals, it is necessary to clarify the meaning of two words in common use which tend to confuse students.

- a) **Provision:** this is any amount retained as reasonably necessary for the purpose of providing for any liability or loss which is likely to be incurred or is certain to be incurred but uncertain as to amount or as to the date on which it will arise. Thus a provision is a debit to the profit and loss account that reduces profit and therefore future dividends. It is for a likely or a certain future payment and the amount or the date of payment is uncertain.
- b) **Reserve:** this is that part of shareholders funds not accounted for by the nominal value of issued share capital or by the share premium account.

The need to create provisions must receive serious consideration by the directors and also by the auditors. Review of post balance sheet events often casts lights on the amount of the provision required. The auditor's duty is to see that any provisions set up are used for the purpose for which they were set up and that any provisions which are no longer needed are transferred back to profit and loss account. Considerable attention needs to be paid to accruals as like prepayments they are not checked by the double entry system and therefore open themselves to distortion of the accounts by the senior management. The auditor must ensure that last year's accruals are written back. Accruals do not alter much from year to year and therefore comparison of last year's and this year's listing is an essential audit procedure and any that are substantially greater or smaller would call for investigation.

## 5.14 Taxation

Companies suffer corporation tax. The Companies Act requires that corporation tax payable on the profits of any particular year should be matched against those profits in the profit and loss account and recognised as a liability in the balance sheet at the end of the period to which the profits relate. This means for example if a company has a calendar trading year, then the profits for the twelve months ended 31 December 2003 should be shown in the profit and loss account together with the corporation tax payable on those profits in 2003. The tax that is payable is computed using income tax rules that are different from accounting rules. The auditor's procedures involve him in:

- i. Obtaining the tax computation from his clients and ensuring that it is arithmetically correct. The items disclosed as disallowable are supported by evidence and the items claimed as allowable for example wear and tear allowances have been properly computed in accordance with the Income Tax Act.
- ii. Review of correspondence with the Income Tax Department, paying particular attention to queries raised and how they have been resolved, determining outstanding issues and their current status.
- iv. Obtaining a schedule summarising the tax liabilities that reflects the balance to be charged to the profit and loss account and the amount to be shown as current liability in the balance sheet.
- v. Disclosure of the tax position should be in accordance with legislation and KAS 10 which both require that the tax charged be disclosed separately in the profit and loss account and the tax payable be shown in the balance sheet under current liabilities

and a note to the accounts should amplify the basis of providing for taxation.

#### 5.15 Deferred Taxation

Deferred Taxation results from the fact that the income tax department use different rules for calculating profits from those used by the accountant in financial accounting, for example, capital allowances vs. depreciation. These different rules normally result in a reduced profit for tax purposes in the short term, but they result in a potential payment of deferred taxation in the long term. Also the different rules may result in accounts that would mislead the reader if he tries to compare the tax charged based on the accounting profits with that based on the taxation profits. To resolve this problem the accounting profession has come up with the need to provide for deferred taxation. This can be a highly subjective area and the relevant authority is IAS 12-Income Taxes. Before we look at the audit work involved let us note the ways in which a potential charge for deferred taxation can arise.

- i. Short term timing differences: the tax authorities in the most deal with items on a payments and receipts basis, therefore, general provisions will not be allowed until they have actually been paid. Such differences must always be provided against.
- ii. Wear and tear allowances vs. depreciation: wear and tear allowances usually on a reducing basis are invariably different from depreciation.
- iii. As a result of trading losses, debit balances may result.
- iv. Permanent differences as a result of items of expenditure that will remain permanently disallowed by the Income Tax Department such as depreciation on buildings and on the cost of saloon vehicles in excess of Shs.100,000/-.

IAS 12 requires that deferred taxation be provided for on all timing differences on the liability method. If however, the following conditions are complied with then provision is unnecessary. It will be reasonable to assume that timing differences will not reverse and tax liabilities will not crystallize if but only if the company is a going concern and

- a) The directors are able to foresee on reasonable evidence that no liability is likely to arise as a result of reversal of timing differences for some considerable period ahead (at least three years) and
- b) There is no indication that after this period the situation is likely to change so as to crystallize the liabilities.

Please note that the onus of proof is squarely on the directors, it is for them to prove to the auditor that a provision for deferred tax is not necessary and if they cannot prove, then a provision must be made for all timing differences.

We can therefore distinguish the audit functions as follows:

- i. To check the calculation of timing differences;
- ii. To ensure that permanent differences have not been taken into account;
- iii. Check the directors view of the extent of the provision required by:
  - a) Ensuring that the company is a going concern
  - b) Examining the evidence upon which the directors have based their assumption and that no timing difference has been reversed
- iv. Ensure that presentation in the accounts is in accordance with KAS 10, is comprehensive, and unambiguous.

Stage a) is a routine matter and the auditors always examine whether the company is a going

i.

concern, because many valuations bases would change if the company were not a going concern. So we can now examine the difficulties associated with the reliability of evidence in support of a reduction in the provision for deferred taxation.

Capital allowances vs. depreciation: If the client can prove that they will maintain

- the existing levels of investment in real terms, then there may be justification to accept a reduction of this category of deferred taxation however if investments begin to decline then deferred taxation could be crystallized. The maintenance of existing capital expenditure levels is dependent upon the sales and profitability of the company, thus the auditor is required effectively to perform an audit of the profit forecast for at least three years ahead. This would seem to be against generally accepted accounting principles which advise against auditing of profit forecasts because in a profit forecast many factors are outside the control of the directors. Capital expenditure and inventory levels are to a certain extent within the control of the directors. This may seem to be a weak argument because profitability affects capital expenditure and there is little likelihood of profit if the directors do not invest prudently, although it may well be within their control to do so. We therefore only require the auditor to assess whether profitability is likely to fall or not rise sufficiently to warrant or support plant capital expenditure. We do not expect him to assess precisely what that profitability is going to be. Evidence is based largely on the company's budgets and longer term forecasts. The procedures the auditor adopts are:
  - Assess the trend of past capital expenditure to see whether it is falling or rising or whether there is no consistent pattern.
  - b) Assess the company's past profit performance to see whether it is falling or rising and compare this performance with the company's previous budgets and estimates to determine its ability in forecasting as good forecasting in the past provides more confidence for the present.
  - c) Assess the company's capital, cash and profit forecasts for reliability. This involves determining whether they have been made on the basis of reasonable data or whether they are mere guess work.
  - d) Examine the directors minutes for evidence of policy changes which might affect future capital expenditure.
  - e) Take into consideration the economic situation particularly as it affects the client's own industry and the company's exposure to economic or legislative changes to labour disruption or material or components shortages.
- ii. Short-term timing differences. Their reversal should be easy to identify as if they were general provisions last year we can follow up their utilisation.
- iii. Debit balances as a result of trading losses. Review of current results, profit forecasts and agreed tax assessments should provide enough evidence as to the likelihood of these losses being fully utilised in the short-term.

# IAS 12 Income Taxes

1AS 12 requires that a deferred tax liability should be recognized for all taxable temporary difference with minor exceptions (e.g. goodwill, which is not allowable for tax purposes). Points for the auditor are:

(i) Confirm that the company's policy as regards deferred tax is in conformity with IAS 12 and is consistent with the previous year

(ii) Check the determination of and arithmetical accuracy of all temporary differences and the arithmetical accuracy of the deferred tax calculations

- (iii) If deductible temporary differences exist (leading to deferred tax assets) confirm that the conditions for recognition have been met.
- (iv) If a deferred tax asset has been recognized for unused tax losses being carried forward, confirm that the conditions allowing that recognition have been met. Confirm that all disclosure requirements have been met.

#### 5.16 SHARE CAPITAL

Share capital is a special type of liability and when it has been issued during the year then verification procedures are as follows:

- 1. Ensure that the issue is within the limits authorised by Memorandum and Articles of Association.
- 2. Checking the directors' minutes to ensure that the issue was authorised.
- 3. Vouch the correct recording of monies received.
- 4. Ensure the correct treatment of any share premium obtained in so doing remember that the share premium account can only be used to issue fully paid bonus shares, write off preliminary expenses, write off expenses of share or debenture issue, write off discounts on shares or debentures and to provide for a premium payable on the redemption of redeemable preference shares.
- 5. Examine the prospectus if there was one, applications, application and allotment sheets, the share register, the cash received records, share certificate counterfoils and repayment to unsuccessful applicants.
- 6. Vouch the payment of underwriting and other fees.
- 7. When the issue is not for cash but for other considerations e.g. the goodwill and other assets of a business, vouch the agreement and ensure that all entries are properly made.
- 8. If the issue was subject to approval from the Nairobi Stock Exchange, then ensure that approval has been obtained. If it has not been obtained all the money subscribed is returnable. Ensure that all the money was placed in a separate bank account until all conditions were satisfied. Ensure that the minimum subscription has been received because if there were not enough subscribers then the whole is returnable.

When there is no new issue of shares the audit work includes:

- Determination of the total shares of each class as stated in the balance sheet and the obtaining of a list share holdings which in total should agree with the balance sheet total.
- 2. Testing the balances in the share register with the list and vice versa.
- 3. If the share register is maintained by an independent firm of registrars, the auditor should obtain a certificate that the above work has been done.
- 4. Vouch transfers to the share register and share transfer forms.

# 5.17 RESERVES

Movements in reserves require disclosure in the balance sheet, the profit and loss account, the directors reports or in the notes to the accounts. The auditors must ensure proper authorization has been given for this movements and they must vouch the recording of this movement. The auditors must ensure that material amounts of reserves are classified under appropriate headings. The capital redemption reserve fund and the share premium account require separate identification and the aggregate amount should also be shown. Provisions must be reviewed to ensure that they did not contain secret reserves.

#### 5.18 LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities are usually evidenced by an agreement called a debenture. For this reason, long-term loans are often called debentures. They may be secured by a fixed charge over a specific asset or secured by a floating charge on all the assets or they may be unsecured in which case they are called naked debentures. Secured liabilities are sometimes referred to as mortgage debentures.

# **VERIFICATION PROCEDURES**

- a) Obtain a schedule detailing the sums due at the beginning of the year, additions and redemptions and the sum due at the year end.
- b) Note or photocopy the terms and conditions of the loan as evidenced in the deed.
- c) Agree the opening balances with last year's accounts and working papers.
- d) If any new loans have been received, vouch to board minutes, memorandum and articles, register of debenture holders and charges etc.
- e) Repayments made should be vouched with debenture deeds, the cash book and the register of debenture holders and charges.
- f) Interest payments should be vouched with debenture deeds, cash books and any outstanding amounts should be correctly accounted for.
- g) If the loans are secured, confirm that the charge is registered at the registrar of Companies.
- h) Agree total amounts outstanding with the register of debenture holders.
- i) Ensure disclosure is in accordance with Companies Acts requirements, clearly stating the date of redemption of the debentures.

# 5.19 Pending Litigation

Because of the inherent uncertainty in estimating the outcome of legal actions, this is an especially difficult area for the auditor. Some actions are possible that assist in verifying the existence but not necessarily the amount of liabilities that will arise out of legal action. These include:

- a) Review of the client system for recording claims and disputes and the procedures for bringing this to the attention of the board.
- b) Review of the arrangements for instructing solicitors.
- c) Examination of the minutes of the board for references to and indications of possible claims.
- d) Inspection of bills rendered by the solicitors.
- e) Review of correspondence with solicitors and obtaining a list of all matters referred to solicitors with an estimate of the possible ultimate liability.
- f) Written assurance in the form of a representation letter from an appropriate director that he is not aware of any other matters referred to the lawyers other than those disclosed. If the auditor is in doubt he should obtain a direct confirmation from the Company's lawyers. The request must be sent by the client not by the auditor.

# 5.20 Capital Commitments

The Companies Act requires that capital commitments be disclosed by a way of note to the accounts. The auditor must therefore perform sufficient work to ensure that such amounts are fairly and completely stated. He may obtain this information from the directors in a letter of representation but work must be performed to confirm the amounts stated. The director's minutes should be reviewed for evidence of authority to place capital contracts. Examination of capital commitments must be carried out and discussions held with the appropriate management staff. Correspondence with lawyers should be perused to discover whether any instructions have been given for drawing up major contracts. The note must distinguish between expenditure

authorised by the directors and the contracts which have already been entered into.

## IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

IAS 37 was issued in order to deal with the subjective area of provision and to prevent the use of 'big bath provisioning' and the practice of profit smoothing.

IAS 37 requires that (in accordance with the definition of a liability) a provision should be made where the matter gives rise to a constructive or legal obligation and where there is a probability that there will be an outflow of economic benefits which can be reliably measured.

In addition IAS 37 gives examples of how specific situations should be dealt in terms of recognition, measurement and disclosure depending on the circumstances. These include onerous contracts, re-organizations and restructuring costs, and environmental contamination.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are also dealt with by IAS 37. Evidence is required to support their classification and disclosure is appropriate under the standard.

The auditor's task is to obtain sufficient evidence that the financial statements include only valid provisions and that they adequate but not excessive and that adequate disclosures have been made. (See below the sections dealing with accounting estimates and discounting operations below).

# (a) Litigation and claims

ISA 501 Audit Evidence – Additional Consideration for Specific Items requires that auditors should carry our procedures to become aware of nay material litigation or claims involving the entity. Such procedures would include:

- (i) Make appropriate enquiries of management including obtaining representations
- (ii) Examine board or management minutes for indications of possible claims
- (iii) Examine correspondence with lawyers including bills rendered
- (iv) Examine legal expense account
- Obtain a list of matters refereed t lawyers with the company's estimates of possible liabilities
- (vi) Review the client's system of recording claims including the procedure for bringing them to the attention of management.

When litigation or claims have been identified or where the auditor believes they may exist, the auditor should seek direct communication with the entity's lawyers.

The letter should be prepared by management and sent by the auditor. It should specify the litigation and management's assessment of the outcome, and request that the lawyer confirm directly to the auditor the reasonableness of the statement and to provide the auditor with further information if the list is incomplete. If the lawyer is likely to respond to a more general enquiry, then that would be better - lawyers are generally unwilling to do this unless there is nothing to report.

In complex situations the auditor may need to meet the lawyer, with the client's permission and preferably with the client in attendance.

Where permission to communicate with lawyers is refused, a qualified audit opinion wll normally follow.

Etc

An extract from such a letter is set out below:

In connection with the presentation and audit of our financial statements for the year ended

# (b) Other Provisions and Contingencies

- (i) Obtain the client's schedule of provisions and contingencies and seek supporting documentation in the form of legal opinions, correspondence with customers, environmental and technical reports.
- (ii) Assess the basis of provisions for reasonableness and compliance with IAS 37
- (iii) Ensure that correct calculations have been made
- (iv) Physically inspect any sites in respect of which clean up restoration provisions have been made
- (v) Consider the need for expert technical assistance
- (vi) Assess the need for further similar provisions

# (c) Standard Letter of request to the Bank

This is likely to provide the necessary evidence in respect of bills discounted and guarantees. This letter is considered in an earlier lesson as the primary method of verifying bank balances.

#### (d) Letter of Representation

This will be considered later as a form of audit evidence. It also acts to remind the directors to acknowledge their responsibilities.

The knowledge of contingent liabilities may very well be confined to management and is therefore a suitable matter for inclusion in such a letter. In addition it will remind the directors of their responsibility to disclose such matters to the auditor

## 5.21 Amounts Derived From Preceding Financial Statements Please

note that the auditor is interested in preceding year's evidence because

The Companies Act states that corresponding amounts should be disclosed in respect
of every item in a company's balance sheet and profit and loss account for the
financial year preceding that to which the balance sheet and profit and loss account
relate. IAS 7 requires similar information for the cash flow statement.

- 2. These figures form the opening position from which the present year's are derived. The auditor must be assured that the opening figures have been properly brought forward.
- 3. Accounting policies must be applied consistently from year to year.
- 4. Corresponding amounts must be shown and the auditor should seek evidence that they are properly shown.

The auditor is not required to express an opinion on the corresponding figures, but he is responsible for ensuring that they are

- a) The amounts which appear in the preceding year's accounts or;
- b) They have been restated to achieve consistency and comparability or;
- c) They have been restated due to a change in accounting policy or the correction of a fundamental error as required by IAS 8.

## 5.22 The Audit of Accounting Estimates

An accounting estimate is defined in ISA 540 Audit of Accounting Estimates as 'an approximation of the amount of an item in the absence of a precise means of measurement'. Estimates include amounts for accumulated depreciation, deferred tax; write downs to net realizable value, losses on long term contracts, legal claims against the company, other contingent liabilities and other areas which a significant element of judgment is required.

Such items are inherently more risky than non-judgmental items and control risk is usually higher as these are non-routine transactions. Management is responsible for making estimates.

• Review and testing of the process used by management to develop the estimate

The audit of accounting estimates under ISA 540 involves the following three steps:

This will involve evaluation of the data and consideration of assumptions on which the estimate is based. Management's estimates as to warranty costs, for example should be based on past experience as to the level of claims and be in based. Management's estimates as to warranty costs, for example should be based on past experience as to the level of claims and be in line with the auditor's knowledge of the business. It will also involve checking of the mechanical calculations, comparison with estimates made in prior periods and consideration of management's approval procedures.

- Use an independent estimate (generated by the auditor) to compare with management's estimate
- Review subsequent events which confirm the estimate

Where in the case of contingent liabilities, subsequent events 'crystallize' the liability there will be no need to review management's processes or use independent estimates.

The auditor will normally test the calculations of the estimate, asses the assumptions made (e.g. the court is 90% likely to find in our favour) compare estimates with those made in previous periods and ensure that the estimate is in accordance with the auditor's knowledge of the business and the other audit evidence obtained.

# IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

A Discontinuing Operation is a component of an enterprise:

- (a) That the enterprise, a pursuant to a single plan, is:
  - (i) Disposing of substantially in its entirety such as by selling the component in a single transaction, by demerger or spin off of ownership of the component to the enterprise's shareholders.
  - (ii) Disposing of piecemeal, such as by selling off the component's assets and settling its liabilities individually; or
  - (iii) Terminating through abandonment
- (b) That represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; and
- (c) That can be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes.

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations prescribes the accounting for assets held for sale, and the presentation and disclosure of discontinued operations. The measurement provisions of IFRS 5 apply to all non-current assets and disposal groups, except for:

- deferred tax assets (IAS 12 Income Taxes);
- assets arising from employee benefits (IAS 19 Employee Benefits);
- financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;
- non-current assets that are accounted for in accordance with the fair value model in IAS 40 Investment Property;
- non-current assets that are measured at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs in accordance with IAS 41 Agriculture; and
- contractual rights under insurance contracts as defined in IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

#### Assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. That is, the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale and its sale is highly probable.

A non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale is measured at the lower of fair value less costs to sell and its carrying amount.

Any impairment loss on write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell is recognized in profit or loss. Any gain on subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell is also recognized in profit or loss, but not in excess of the cumulative impairment loss already recognized on the asset either in accordance with IFRS 5 or IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

# **Discontinued Operations**

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is held for sale. It may be a subsidiary, or a major line of business or geographical area. It will have been a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) as defined in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Disclosures of discontinued operations include:

 analysis of the post-tax profit or loss into revenue, expenses, pre-tax profit or loss, and the related income tax expense;

• the gain or loss recognised on measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on disposal, and the related income tax expense;

- net cash flows attributable to operating, investing and financing activities;
- assets held for sale separately from all other assets; and
- liabilities of a disposal group held for sale separately from all other liabilities.

As regards recognition and measurement, IFRS 5 does not establish any separate principles, but relies upon those of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets and IAS 37 Provisions, contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and also on IAS 19 Employees Benefits and IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

IAS 37 explains when a provision should be recognized on discontinuance. In particular, a restructuring provision should only include the direct expenditure arising form the restructuring which are both;

- (i) Necessarily entailed by the restructuring, and
- (ii) Not associated with the ongoing activities of the enterprise

It may be necessary, on a discontinuance, to apply the provisions of IAS 36 in recognizing impairment losses.

#### Presentation and Disclosure

An enterprise should include the following information relating to a discontinuing operation in its financial statements beginning with the financial statements for the period in which the initial disclosure even occurs.

- (i) A description of the discontinuing operation
- (ii) The business or geographical segment(s) in which it is reported in accordance with IAS 14
- (iii) The date and nature of the initial disclosure event
- (iv) The date or period in which the discontinuance is expected to be completed if known or determinable
- (v) The carrying amounts as of the balance sheet date of the total assets and the total liabilities to be disposed of
- (vi) The amounts of revenue, expenses, and pre-tax profit or loss from ordinary activities attributable to the discontinuing operation during the current financial reporting period, and the income tax expense relating thereto.
- (vii) The amounts of net cash flows attributable to the operating, investing, and financing activities of the discontinuing operation during the current financial reporting period.

If the initial disclosure even occurs after the end of an enterprise's financial reporting period but before the financial statements or that period are approved by the board of directors or similar governing body, those financial statements should include the disclosures specified above for the period covered by those financial statements.

Separate disclosure is required for each material discontinuing operation.

When assets are sold or liabilities settled in discontinuance, the pre-tax gain or loss, and the income tax expense relating to it must be disclosed on the face of the income statement but not as an extraordinary item. (Disclosures (a) to (g) above may be disclosed by note or on the face of the income statement).

For assets not yet sold but for which a binding sale agreement exists, the net selling prices and the expected date of receipt must be disclosed by note.

# Audit Approach

The accounting and auditing issues are mainly concerned with identifying the point in time at which the initial disclosure even occurs, and also ensuring that lonely appropriate costs are included in any provision for restructuring that is established. Appropriate formats must be used for the information to be disclosed.

The key auditing matters arising are that the auditors should confirm whether they agree with the company's view as to the need for disclosure of proposed or actual discontinuance, and that they agree that the company's disclosures are appropriate.

Typical procedures would include:

- (i) Determine the client's policies and procedures in respect of discontinuing operations
- (ii) Review board minutes and other relevant management documentation
- (iii) Make enquiries of management into significant disposals of assets and investments
- (iv) Examine after date information
- (v) Verify the make up pf discontinuing operations by reference to supporting documentation.

Lesson Five 169

#### **REINFORCING QUESTIONS**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

You are about to commence the final audit of Gigglane Sportswear Limited, a distributor of sports equipment and clothing. The internal auditor informs you that he has carried out a positive debtor's circularisation without your prior knowledge, utilising the following procedures:

- i. Obtained a list of outstanding debtors balances (total Kshs. 376,000) at 31 October 19X8.
- ii. Selected every third debtor for circularisation resulting in a sample of 30 debtors totalling Kshs 50,000.
- iii. Prepared and signed the circularisation letter himself. The letter requested the debtor to write the balance due to Gigglance Limited on the reply slip and to return the reply to the chief accountant.
- iv. Prepared a summary list of all replies received for submission to the external auditor.

Only eight replies (value Shs.10,500) had been received to date. The internal auditor is a little disturbed at the fact that you intend to re-circularise debtors as he feels that it is a duplication of effort and that the replies received are reliable audit evidence.

#### You are required to

- (a) Describe the work which you perform before you can make use of any of the work undertaken by the internal auditor.
- (b) Explain to the internal auditor the reasons why you wish to re-circularise debtors, commenting upon the procedure adopted by the internal auditor.
- (c) Describe the techniques which you could adopt to increase the response rate of the second debtors circulation made by you.
- (d) Explain the possible limitations of positive debtors circulation.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

The following is the draft balance sheet of Locksley Limited for the year ended 31 March 19X9.

## LOCKSLEY LIMITED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 19X9

|   | 19 <b>X</b> 9  | 19 <b>X</b> 9   |
|---|----------------|-----------------|
|   | £              | £               |
| Fixed Assets  |                |                 |
| Tangible assets   | 99,400         | 73,000          |
| Investments   | 85,100         | 101,400         |
|   | 184,500        | 174,400         |
| Development expenditure                                 | 59,810         |                 |
|   | 244,310        | 1 <u>74,400</u> |
| Current Assets  |                |                 |
| Stock   | 58,190         | 63,010          |
| Debtors   | 184,630        | 156,720         |
| Cash at Bank and in han <u>d 9,970</u>                  | <b>62,62</b> 0 |                 |
|   | 252,790        | 282,350         |
| Creditors: amounts falling due within one year          | 276,510        | 215,900         |
| Net current (liabilities)/assets                        | (23,720)       | 66,450          |
| Total assets less current liabilities                   | 220,590        | 240,850         |
| Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year | 53,100         | 46,320          |
| Provisions for liabilities and charges                  |                |                 |
| Deferred taxation                                       | 3,080          | 2,520           |
| Capital and reserves                                    |                |                 |
| Share capital   | 89,700         | 89,700          |
| Share premium account                                   | 11,300         | 11,300          |
| Revaluation reserve                                     | 9,750          | 9,750           |
| Profit and loss account                                 | 63,660         | _               |
|   | <u>174,410</u> | 192,010         |
|   |                |                 |

Locksley Ltd produces garden furniture and has incurred expenditure during the year ended 31 March 19X9 on the development of moulding for a new range of plastic garden furniture. The directors wish to carry forward the development expenditure indefinitely as they feel that the company will benefit from the new mouldings for many years. The product range is being developed because profits have been declining over the last few years owing to the uncompetitiveness of the products made by the company. The company has sold many of its fixed assets during the year and purchased new machinery which will enable the company's productivity to increase. The directors decided not to fund the above expenditure using outside finance but to generate the necessary resources internally by taking extended credit from its suppliers and utilising its liquid funds held at the bank. The company also sold part of its investments, which are made up of stocks and shares of public limited companies.

One of the reasons for this method of financing the expenditure was that the company already has a loan of £45,000 outstanding which has been included in the figure for creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year. This loan is secured on the fixed assets of the company and is repayable over ten years. The sale of the fixed assets and investments did not yield as much as was expected and a small loss on sale of £1,200 has been included in the profit and loss account as part of the amounts shown for `other expenses'.

As well as selling some of its assets the company had the remainder revalued by a professional

Lesson Five 171

valuer. The gain on revaluation of fixed assets has been credited by the company to the profit and loss account and treated as an extraordinary gain.

The directors felt that the shareholders should share in this `windfall' gain and have increased the proposed dividend accordingly. Over 90% of the shares of the company are held by the directors.

#### You are required to

- (a) List the audit tests the auditor would carry out to verify the value attributed to the development expenditure in the balance sheet of Locksley Ltd.
- (b) Explain to the directors why development expenditure should not be carried forward indefinitely in the financial statements, and describe the circumstances in which the costs may be deferred to the future.
- (c) List the audit procedures which should be carried out to verify the gain arising on the revaluation of fixed assets.
- (d) Describe the audit implications of the directors' decision to generate internally the funds required for the development of the business.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

Rubella Yarns Ltd manufactures cotton for sale to the textile industry. The stock of the company is valued on a standard cost basis and you are about to commence the final audit, having attended the physical stock count.

#### You are required to

- (a) State under what circumstances standard cost would be a suitable method of pricing stocks for financial accounting purposes
- (b) Describe how you would satisfy yourself, as auditor of Rubella Yarns Ltd that the standard costs has been properly determined
- (c) Discuss briefly what action you would take if you discover that there are significant variances between actual and standard prices for stock.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

Your firm has been appointed auditors of Compa Ring Ltd in succession to another firm of Certified Public Accountants. The first financial statements on which you are required to express an opinion are for the year ended 30th September 19X3.

#### You are required to detail

- (a) Your responsibilities in respect of prior period financial information, including comparatives, and
- (b) The procedures you would adopt in order to discharge your responsibilities.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

- (a) What basic legal responsibility has an auditor to seek to ascertain whether or not an aspect of the affairs of a client is being conducted in a lawful manner? (10 Marks)
- (b) What action should be taken if, in the course of an audit, an auditor has reasons to suspect that his client has carried on fraudulent trading? (6 Marks)
- (c) What amendments would you recommend to be made to the Kenya Companies Act (Cap.486) with a view to enhancing the auditor's social responsibility?

  (4 Marks)

(Total: 20Marks)

Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

Lesson Five 173

#### COMPREHESIVE ASSIGNMENT No. 2

#### TO BE SUBMITTED AFTER LESSON 5

To be carried out under examination conditions and sent to the Distance Learning Administration for marking by the University

#### **EXAMINATION PAPER: TIME ALLOWED: 3 HRS. ANSWER ALL QUESTIONS.**

**Answer ALL Questions** 

#### **QUESTION ONE**

What do you understand by the following expressions and terms and in which context might they be used?

- (a) Quality of evidence
- (b) Audit trail
- (c) Not material
- (d) Reservation of title

(20 Marks)

Time Allowed: 3 Hours

#### **QUESTION THREE**

- (a) Give examples of reliance by auditors on the evidence supplied by specialists
  (3 Marks)
  (2 Marks)
- (b) In what conditions may such reliance be required?
- (c) What factors indicate the reliability of the specialists?
  (3 Marks)
  (5 Marks)
- (d) How should the auditor evaluate the evidence? (Total: 13 Marks)

#### **QUESTION THREE**

Auditing working papers should always be sufficiently complete and detailed to enable an experienced auditor with no previous connection with the audit subsequently to ascertain from them what work was performed and to support the conclusions reached.

#### Required

- (a) Describe four benefits that the auditor will obtain from working papers that meet the above requirements (5 Marks)
- (b) In the case of a significant item requiring exercise of judgement (for instance, a material claim for damages) show what types of matter should be recorded in the current file in respect of it and give reasons for inclusion. You should use a material claim for damages to illustrate your answer (5 Marks)
- (c) List three types of information typically retained in the audit permanent file and state why they should be available for easy reference (6 Marks)
- (d) Comment on the desirability of using standardised working papers and give an example of such a working paper and its use. (4 Marks)

(Total: 20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

In carrying out an audit, the auditor appraises and tests the system of internal control in order to ascertain that it is capable of processing transactions or determining quantities and values completely and accurately. The auditor further carries out substantive tests in an attempt to ensure that the transactions, assets and liabilities recorded in the accounting records, upon which the figures in the financial statements are based, are in fact completely and accurately recorded.

#### You are required to

- (a) Explain the main areas which concern the auditor when carrying out substantive tests on asset and liability amounts recorded in financial statements (5 Marks)
- (b) List the substantive tests the auditor would carry out to verify the values attributed to the following assets and liabilities in a company's financial statements:

i. Trade debtor (8 Marks)

ii. Taxation payable within one year (7 Marks)
(Total: 20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

Mr A Black has recently acquired the controlling interest in Quicksand Limited, who are importers of sportswear. In his review of the organizational structure of the company Mr Black became aware of weaknesses in the procedures for the signing of cheques and the operations of the petty cash system. Mr Black engages you as the company's auditor and requests that you review the controls over cheque payments and petty cash. He does not wish to be a cheque signatory himself because he feels that such a procedure is an inefficient use of his time. In addition to Mr Black, who is the managing director, the company employs 20 personnel including four other directors, and approximately three hundred cheques are drawn each month. Further the petty cash account normally has a working balance of about £300, and £600 is expended from the fund each month. Mr Black has again indicated that he is unwilling to participate in any internal control procedures which would ensure the efficient operation of the petty cash fund.

#### You are required to

ii.

(b)

(a) Prepare a letter to Mr Black containing your recommendations for good internal control procedures for:

i. Cheque payments (6 Marks)

Petty cash (5 Marks) (Marks will be awarded for the style and layout of the answer)

Discuss the audit implications, if any, of the unwillingness of Mr Black to participate

in the cheque signing procedures and petty cash function. (3 Marks)

(Total: 14 Marks)

# END OF COMPREHENSIVE ASSIGNMENT No.2 NOW SEND YOUR ANSWERS TO THE DISTANCE LEARNING CENTRE FOR MARKING

Lesson Six 175

## **LESSON SIX**

## The Audit Process: Final Review of Audit of Financial Statements

#### **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this lesson you should be able to:

- Explain the review procedures in relation to opening balances and comparative figures
- · Review other information for its impact on the opinion on the financial statements
- Understand the impact of subsequent events on the view conveyed by the financial statements
- · Critically evaluate issues surrounding the going concern basis

#### **CONTENTS**

- 1) Events after the balance sheet date
- 2) Comparatives
- 3) Related parties
- 4) The implications of published un audited information
- 5) Going Concern
- 6) Subsequent Events / Events after the balance sheet

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

Assigned Reading International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) International standards on auditing (ISA)

#### 6.0 The Final Review of the Financial Statements

The work we have considered so far has shown that the auditor first gathers facts about the enterprise and the environment it operates in. The next stage was the gathering of audit evidence about individual items and groups of items which together form the accounts. We then find that the auditor is in a position of knowing that he has sufficient evidence to substantiate the detail of the accounts. He then needs to form an opinion as to whether the accounts as a whole contain certain qualities and this is when a final review is carried out.

This is a stage of the audit carried out by senior members of the audit team using the financial statements. This is further to the analytical review procedures carried out as part of substantive tests. The aims of this review are:

- To provide audit evidence by determining if the financial statements provide information that is internally consistent with other information in the possession of the auditor and
- ii. Also to determine if the financial statements have been prepared using acceptable accounting policies, they comply with IFRS and other requirements and that there is adequate disclosure of all relevant matters.

I would stress however, the following two issues:

- i. Qualities of the auditor who performs this review: this auditor must have:
  - An ability to distinguish between non-material, material and fundamental items;
  - b) An ability to assess the accuracy and completeness of information gathered in the audit;
  - c) Must possess skill, imagination and good judgement particularly on professional and economic issues;
  - An ability to recognise apparent inconsistencies and abnormalities which might indicate areas where errors, omissions, frauds, irregularities have occurred which might not have been revealed by the routine audit procedures and;
  - e) An ability to assess whether or not an audit opinion is possible.
- ii. The qualities required of the final accounts: the final accounts must possess certain qualities and these are:
  - Use of acceptable accounting policies, appropriate to the business and consistently applied;
  - b) They must show the results of operations in the profit and loss account, state of affairs in the balance sheet, changes in the financial position in the statement of source and application of funds and all other information included in the financial statement should be compatible with each other and with the auditor's knowledge of the enterprise;
  - c) All appropriate matters should be adequately disclosed and information contained in the accounts should be suitably classified and presented;
  - d) There must be compliance with statutory requirements;
  - e) There must be compliance with other relevant regulations;
  - f) There must be compliance with Kenya Accounting Standards.

Lesson Six 177

The final review may reveal:

- a) All is well or
- b) Further audit evidence is required in some areas or
- c) That it may be desirable to make amendments to the accounts and
- d) That a qualified report may be required.

The review stage is very important in modern auditing as current auditing opinion is moving more towards a consideration of the view given to users by financial statements. The detail is still important but the view given must be true in detail and fair in totality.

#### 6.1 Going Concern Considerations

*LAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements* recognizes the going concern assumption as one of the fundamental assumptions that underlie the periodic financial statements of enterprises. The meaning of going concern can be said to be that the financial statements assume that the enterprise will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, or put another way the financial statements assume no intention or necessity to liquidate or curtail significantly the scale of operation or put more simply that the enterprise can meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The going concern idea is very well established in accounting and there is an authoritative document, ISA 570 Going Concern, The student is advised to read it in detail. The points to note however are:

- i. The importance of the principle
- ii. The auditor's duty
- iii. Indications of the inapplicability of the principle
- iv. Counter indications
- v. Audit procedures
- vi. The impact on audit reports in practice.

#### 6.11 The importance of the principle:

We will probably understand better how important this principle is if we consider the implications of abandoning it. The effects of abandoning the principle include among others the following:

- a) Fixed assets would need to be valued at realisable values and not depreciated cost.
- b) Fixed assets would have to be classified as current assets as they would have no future benefits to the organization.
- Stock would have to be regarded at lower of cost or forced sale net realisable value.
- d) Prepayments and intangible assets may have no future benefits.
- e) New liabilities may appear such as redundancy pay, leave pay and closure costs.
- f) Long-term liabilities may crystallize and become immediately payable hence they cannot be classified as long-term liabilities.
- g) The departure from the assumption, the reasons for this departure and its effect need to be explained in the accounts in accordance with IAS 1.

#### 6.12 The auditor's duty

The auditor has a duty to express an opinion on the truth and fairness and compliance with legislation, of the accounts. The valuation basis adopted in preparing the accounts assumes that the company is a going concern in accordance with IAS 1. Therefore, for the auditor to form an opinion he should consider whether he has reasonable grounds for accepting the applicability of the going concern assumption. It follows therefore; he must carry out sufficient work to ensure that this assumption is justified. He therefore looks for evidence that the company is likely to continue trading for at least the next 12 months from the balance sheet date or 6 months from the date of the audit report or more practically, he looks for evidence that there is no indication to the contrary. He must however take account of significant events which are likely to occur even later.

In the event that the auditor considers that the company is not a going concern, he should advise the directors accordingly and ensure that the accounts are prepared on a market value or a break-up basis. If the directors refuse to comply then the auditor will have to qualify the accounts as a whole to the effect they are not true and fair. It is not possible for the auditor to rely on an assessment of the going concern position at the balance sheet date alone because the accounts usually only become public knowledge much later after the balance sheet date. It therefore becomes necessary to take into account events taking place after the year end and before the AGM which may affect the company as a going concern.

#### 6.13 Indications of inapplicability of going concern

Insolvency, unfortunately, is a growth industry as the economy suffers a down turn and therefore for a majority of enterprises in Kenya, the abandonment of the going concern assumption is no longer a remote possibility. Consequently, on all audits the auditor must consider whether or not his client is a going concern. ISA 570 gives numerous indications of going concern inapplicability.

#### 6.14 Counter-indications

That the auditor has found indications of going concern non-applicability does not of itself justify immediate conclusion that the entity is not a going concern. He must also seek for counter-indications or mitigating factors. This may include the following:

- a) Ability to raise cash by selling assets
- b) Ability to obtain new sources of finance for example leasing, factoring debts, hiring plant.
- Opportunities of rearranging debt repayments or conversion of long term debt into equity.
- d) The possibility of a rights issue.
- e) Support from other group companies or from associated companies.
- f) The possibility of making alternative trading arrangements.

#### 6.15 The auditors procedures

In forming an opinion on the going concern position of a company, the auditor should:

- a) Investigate the company, its background, its plans for the future, review of cash flows and financing plans;
- b) At every stage of the audit search for and evaluate evidence for and against the going concern applicability;
- c) If he is in doubt, and the directors have formulated plans for the continuation of the company, he should evaluate these plans, ensuring that:
  - 1. All parts of the plan are consistent with each other;

Lesson Six 179

2. If the plans are contingent on the response of third parties then he should seek third parties written confirmations;

- 3. Ascertain that the plans are specific rather than general;
- 4. Review the supporting evidence for the plans if available for reasonableness;
- 5. Seriously consider any professional advice obtained by the directors;
- 6. Consider any potential support from other group companies by looking at any contractual obligations, directors intentions and the ability of the group company to give the support.
- d) Consider whether he has sufficient evidence to form an opinion on the applicability of the going concern assumption.

#### 6.16 Audit Reports

In the vast majority of cases, the going concern assumption is appropriate and if applied no mention need be made in the auditor's report.

In rare incidences, notes to the accounts may make reference to the going concern assumption. This may include references to continued favourable trading or availability of finance. It may be that the going concern assumption is not in doubt, but for a full understanding of the accounts there is need for amplification of these notes. In such cases, the auditor may use an emphasis of matter which is not a qualification and is allowed in ISA 700

When the auditor has complete doubt about the going concern assumption he may be required to qualify his report and this is a highly charged area for the auditor because an expression in his audit report that a company is not a going concern may in itself bring about the closure of the company. The auditor should therefore:

- a) Not refrain from expressing a qualified opinion even though this may lead to receivership or liquidation;
- b) The auditor should consider materiality, if the adjustments required on abandoning the going concern assumption are not material, then no qualification should be given;
- c) If the auditor concludes that there is doubt then he should consider the consequences for the figures in the accounts. For example, he should obtain an estimate of the necessary provision against stock or the redundancy payments.

In practice because of the difficulties involved in making adjustments to the accounts and producing them on a break up basis, accounts in most cases in Kenya are produced on the going concern assumption and qualified by the auditor on the grounds that the going concern assumption may not be appropriate.

#### 6.20 Subsequent Events

#### **Definition**

IAS 10 Events After the Balance Sheet Date prescribes the accounting for, and disclosure of, events after the balance sheet date.

Events after the balance sheet date are those events that occur between the balance sheet date and the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue. Events After the Balance Sheet Date may be classified into two categories:

- Adjusting events and
- Non-adjusting events.

An entity adjusts the amounts recognised in the financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the balance sheet date.

**Adjusting events** are those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date (e.g. the settlement of a court case after the balance sheet date that confirms that the entity had a present obligation at the balance sheet date; the bankruptcy of a customer that occurs after the balance sheet date usually confirms that a loss existed at the balance sheet date on a receivable).

An entity does not adjust the amounts recognized in the financial statements to reflect non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date.

**Non-adjusting events** are those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date (e.g. a decline in the market value of investments between the balance sheet date and the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue).

For each material category of non adjusting event after the balance sheet date, an entity discloses the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect.

Dividends declared after the balance sheet dates are not recognized as a liability at the balance sheet date.

Financial statements are not prepared on a going concern basis if management determines after the balance sheet date either that it intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or that it has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The financial statements disclose the date when the financial statements were authorized for issue, and who gave that authorization.

#### 6.21 Auditors Procedures

The relevant authority on post balance sheet events is ISA. The preparation of profit and loss account and balance sheet will always involve the consideration of events which have or will occur after the balance sheet date. The reason being there are numerous transactions in progress at the balance sheet date whose outcome is uncertain and therefore events subsequent to the balance sheet date which have occurred or are expected to occur need to be examined to determine the appropriate values of assets and liabilities. Examples abound such as the collectability of debts, the net realisable value of old stocks, the outcome of litigation. Even the value of fixed assets is a function of their expected future useful life.

Since the directors in preparing the accounts will invariably use post balance sheet events, the auditor must obtain evidence that all post balance sheet events have been considered and where appropriate used and balance sheet values correctly incorporate post balance sheet events.

 The questions that arise are concerned with what subsequent events should be taken into account and how should they be treated in the accounts

#### **Principles**

- i. Financial statements should be prepared on the basis of conditions existing at the balance sheet date.
- ii. A material post balance sheet event requires changes in the amounts to be included in the financial statements where:
  - a) It is an adjusting event or
  - b) It indicates that application of the going concern assumption to whole or a

Lesson Six 181

material part of the company is not appropriate.

- iii. A material post balance sheet event should be disclosed where:
  - a) It is a non-adjusting event of such materiality and its non disclosure would affect the ability of the users of financial statements to reach a proper understanding of the financial position or
  - b) It is the reversal or maturity after the year end of a transaction entered into before the year end, the substance of which is primarily to alter the appearance of the company's balance sheet.
- iv. In respect of each post balance sheet event which is required to be disclosed under paragraph (iii) above, the following information should be stated by way of note in the financial statement:
  - a) The nature of the event and
  - b) An estimate of the financial effect or a statement that is not practicable to make such as estimate.
- v. The estimate of the financial effect should be disclosed before taking account of taxation and the taxation implication should be explained where necessary for a proper understanding of the financial position.
- vi. The date on which the financial statement is approved by the board of directors should be disclosed in the financial statements.

Post balance sheet events occupy a very important place in auditing and therefore there is usually a program of work that is carried out in this area. This includes:

- i. A routine examination of such events such as collection of debts, sale of stocks, payment of creditors, resolution of pending litigation;
- ii. A comparison of significant ratios before and after the year end, seeking explanations for any material differences as they may indicate the presence of adjusting or non-adjusting events or have going concern implications.
- iii. Examination of all material provisions and contingent liabilities at the latest feasible date prior to signing of the accounts to determine whether any additional evidence exists that may affect original estimates used.
- iv. Review of director's minutes looking for any major new contract or losses of customers or losses of major contracts, capital expenditure commitments, and changes in accounting policy, new borrowing or share issues, extra-ordinary or abnormal transactions, changes in market conditions or products.
- v. Discussions with the management, a review of management accounts, review of profit forecasts and cash flow projections, review of non-risk areas and
- vi. Review of relevant external information e.g. reports in newspapers. This review must be as near as possible to the date of signing the audit report.

It should be noted that

- i. The auditor must always date his audit report. This date should be as close as possible to the date of approval of the financial statement by the directors but must be after that date. ISA 700 requires that the date the directors approve their accounts must be disclosed.
- ii. Special situation. These are relatively rare circumstances but possible:
  - a) If the auditor becomes aware between the date of his report and the AGM when the accounts will be presented, of information which would change his report then he should:
    - Discuss the matter with the directors who may wish to amend the
      accounts
    - 2. Consider taking legal advice
    - 3. Consider making a statement at the AGM as he is allowed to by the Companies Act.
  - b) If the directors wish to amend the accounts between the date of the report and the posting to the members, the auditor should
    - 1. Consider if the proposed amendment requires a change in his report
    - 2. Re date his report
    - 3. Review post balance sheet events up to the re dating.

Lesson Six 183

#### **REINFORCING QUESTIONS**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements refers to three fundamental accounting assumptions which call for no explanation in published accounts and the observance of which is presumed unless it is stated otherwise. One of the fundamental accounting assumptions is the 'going concern' assumption.

#### Required

List the points which you, as auditor of a medium-sized manufacturing company, would consider in determining whether it is appropriate that the accounts are prepared on a 'going concern' basis.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

It has been your practice for some years to obtain letters of representation from the management of audit client companies. The newly appointed managing director of a client company has, however, expressed reluctance to sign a letter of representation, a suggested draft of which you sent him, and he makes the following observations in his reply to your request for such a letter.

- i. The company employs several qualified accountants who are responsible for preparing accurate accounts which comply with the Companies Acts and statements of standard accounting practice. It is his understanding that it is the responsibility of the auditors (who receive a substantial fee for their services) and not his responsibility to vouch for the accuracy of the accounts and the auditors have access to all accounting records, directors' minutes, correspondence and internal audit department reports, etc and even authority to approach third parties to enable them to draw their own conclusions.
- ii. He is not an accountant or lawyer and is not qualified to comment on some matters contained in the letter.
- iii. He and a fellow director will be signing the balance sheet before the report is signed.

#### Required

Draft your reply to the managing director

#### **QUESTION THREE**

You are the partner in the firm of Certified Public Accountants in charge of the audit of Textile Distributors Limited and are reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 19X2 having completed the review of the detailed audit work performed by your staff. The company is a wholesaler of textile products, it has an annual turnover of about £4 million and it is not part of a group of companies. It buys from a wide range of suppliers and sells to a large number of small shops within a 50 Km radius of its warehouse.

You are required to describe the work you would perform in reviewing the financial statements of Textile Distributors Limited for the year ended 30 September 19X2, dividing your answer into the following sections:

- (a) Accounting policies;
- (b) Profit and loss account;
- (c) Balance sheet;
- (d) Statutory disclosure requirements;
- (e) Other factors you would consider and trends you would expect to see during a period of economic recession.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

- (a) Why are related party transactions important?
- (b) How can the auditor go about identifying related parties?
- (c) What audit work is done in the area of related parties?
- (d) Give examples of related parties.

Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

## **LESSON SEVEN**

## **Specialized Audit Situations**

#### **OBJECTIVES**

Explain, discuss and carry out audits in specialised situations

#### **CONTENTS**

- 1. Banks and other financial institutions
- 2. Insurance Companies
- 3. Charities and non profit making organisations
- 4. Pension Schemes
- 5. Advocates
- 6. Co-operative Societies
- 7. Parastatals
- 8. Public and local authorities
- 9. Audit of Holding Companies and Group Accounts
- 10. Joint Audits

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

- 1. Assigned Reading:
- 2. Complete answers to Re-enforcing Questions at the end of this lesson without reference to the model answers.
- 3. Check your answers against those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack.

#### 7.0 Introduction

Companies carry on thousands of different types of trade, business or professional activities. It is not possible in a manual on general auditing procedures to consider the special audit problems of each of them. In Kenya therefore, when we are talking of specialised audit situations, we would be talking about the financial sector, including institutions such as banks, financial institutions, building societies, insurance companies, hire purchase companies. We are also concerned with charitable organisations, non-profit making organisations, lawyers practices and public entities such as cooperative societies, parastatals and local government authorities.

#### 7.1 Financial Institutions

Due to the recent collapse of many financial institutions, this is now a heavily regulated area. The banks and financial institutions and building societies are now subject to close supervision by the Central Bank of Kenya and insurance companies are subject to strict control by the Commissioner of Insurance.

#### 7.11 Banks

The Authoritative documents are:

- The Central Bank of Kenya Act,
- The Companies Act Cap 486
- IAS 30 Disclosure in the Financial statements of Banks and Similar financial Institutions
- IAPS 1000 Inter-bank confirmations procedures
   IAPS 1004 The Relationship between Supervisors of Banks and Banks External Auditors
- IAPS 1006 Audits of the Financial statements of Banks

#### Key audit points are

- 1. Internal control especially with regard to computerisation and internal audit.
- 2. Provision for doubtful debts on advances.
- The manner of describing the profit figure and balance sheet items which include hidden inner results.
- 4. Critical review of the banks financial position and reserves
- (a) Profit and loss account: When looking at a bank's profit and loss account the accountant should seek to discover what proportions of the bank's profits are derived from sustainable business and how much comes from sources of income that are speculative or uncertain. The three major sources of income that require examination are: the net interest between lending and borrowing, dealing profits derived from the banks investments portfolio and fees and commissions.
- **(b) Current status**: Although he may be auditing a prior period the auditor should discuss with the management any current problems to discover whether profits are still being made in the current trading period.
- **(c)** Review of projected profits: Enquiries should be made to ascertain whether projected profits take into account suspended interest, bad debts provision and any other decline in the realisable value of assets.
- **(d) Frequency of reviews**: The auditor should enquire whether provisions are being reviewed on a regular basis.
- **(e) Further enquiries:** Further enquiries are made in the following areas: investments, certificates of deposits, foreign exchange, land and property and loans. The fee earning activities of the bank are also investigated in the areas of loan commitment, acceptances, portfolio management and corporate advisory work.

Banks are incorporated under the Companies Act like any other business but are granted special privileges under the same Companies Act and subjected to very strict controls by the Central Bank of Kenya. Apart from frequent visits from the Central Bank and regular reports to the Central Bank on liquidity levels the auditor is also required to submit a copy of his audit report to the Central Bank. The auditor should review the reports submitted to the Central Bank and the reports submitted to the bank by the Central Bank as a result of the visits. The auditor is also concerned with enquiring into compliance with the Banking Act. In theory, banks are allowed to set up secret reserves by writing down assets or creating excessive provisions without disclosing that they have done so. The effect of this is:

- (a) The real position may be better than that disclosed but never worse.
- (b) In good years, secret reserves are created and in bad years they are run down. The effect of this is to even out the profits and the customers are not then tempted to withdraw their deposits if the bank has a bad year.

If the bank was to take advantage of these provisions then it would not be possible for the auditor to give a true and fair view report on the accounts. In practice banks in Kenya do not take advantage of the provisions and therefore the auditor carries out a normal audit and gives a report in true and fair terms.

#### 7.12 Insurance Companies

Authoritative documents include:

- The Insurance Act
- The Companies Act
- IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

The main legislation governing insurance companies and their conduct is the Insurance Act

**Key audit areas:** For an insurance company these are:

- 1. Investments,
- 2. unearned premiums, and
- Expired risks, this is when a category of business has proved to be unprofitable provision is made for future losses on risks already accepted,
- 4. Outstanding claims,
- 5. Ascertainment of debtors and creditors,
- 6. Actuarial valuation re: life insurance.

Insurance companies like banks are also subject to special exempting provisions in the Companies Act and in the Insurance Act. Unlike banks, not only do they take advantage of the special provision but are in fact required by the Commissioner to take advantage of the provisions. The auditor therefore, in practice gives two audit reports for an insurance company and is also required to sign various reports that are submitted to the Commissioner of Insurance. The insurance company prepares statutory accounts which are audited in the normal way and a true and fair view report given and these are submitted to the members in the normal way and adopted and dividends paid on their strength. The Commissioner then requires accounts to be prepared in accordance with insurance regulations taking advantage of creating secret reserves. These are also audited and reported on accordingly by the auditor but not in true and fair view terms but rather by simply stating compliance with the insurance act.

#### Key audit areas in detail

- (a) Ascertainment of debtors and creditors. Insurance companies do not maintain their personal ledgers in such a way as to produce directly a separate list of debtors and creditors. Their ledgers instead reflect the section of the market from which the business originates e.g. broker, reinsurer, direct policy holder etc, hence it is quite possible that both debtor and creditor balances will exist in one ledger sometimes for the same person. The legal position with regard to right of set off between debit and credit balances with the same person is not clear. From a professional point of view the auditor must ensure therefore that the company adopts a consistence approach in establishing the separate amounts of debtors and creditors.
- **(b)** Unearned premiums: This represents the appropriate portion of a premium received during the year under review but is applicable to later accounting periods. Once again, a consistent approach should be adopted and the accounts should declare the basis selected by the insurance company under the heading of accounting policies. The most common basis adopted for annual premiums is the 24th basis.
- (c) Expired risks: This represents the carry forward of provisions to the next accounting period in circumstances where it appears that insurance business undertaken in the period under review is unprofitable. This makes it similar to the provision on long term contracts in the construction industry. The audit difficulty is that a considerable element of adjustment enters the computation of such risks, the issue is for the auditor to form an opinion on the need for such a provision and if one exists whether the sum provided is adequate.
- (d) Outstanding claims: We can classify these claims in the following three categories:
  - i. Those which have been notified and agreed but are still outstanding at the balance sheet date
  - ii. Those which have been notified before, but not yet agreed at the balance sheet date and
  - iii. Those which have arisen but have not yet been notified to the company by the balance sheet date.

A good deal of estimation is needed with regard to category (ii) and (iii) above. The audit procedures therefore would invariably include, review of the claims files in order to appraise the company's estimates. We must also compare the average cost of outstanding claims for each class of business with current experience and finally the auditor should examine statistical elements comparing past estimates with actual results.

#### 7.13 Building Societies

Building Societies are organisations which exist to offer a savings and investment medium to the public and to lend to individuals money to enable them buy their own houses taking as security the deeds of the houses. They are not limited companies but are run by a board of directors elected by the investors and permanent staff. There are strong similarities in the legislation covering building societies and that covering companies.

There are additional control problems peculiar to building societies:

- i. The large volume of deposits and withdrawals of small amounts of cash;
- ii. The granting of loans on mortgage
- iii. Control over documents of title
- iv. Control over investments and their related income

It shall be the duty of the auditors of a building society to carry out such investigations as will enable them to form an opinion as to the following matter.

- (a) Whether the society has kept proper books of account;
- (b) Whether the society has maintained a satisfactory system of control over its transactions and records;
- (c) Whether the balance sheets and revenue and appropriation account are in agreement with the books of account and records of the society and if the auditors are of the opinion that the society has failed to keep proper books of account or proper records or a proper system of control they should state that fact in their report.

#### **Key Audit Areas**

- The auditor must examine the procedure for checking deeds on receipt from the lawyers to ensure that they are complete in accordance with the advance records properly executed and stamped;
- 2. Examine the maintenance of records that show the location of all deeds and the dates of any changes in the location of any of them.
- 3. Examine the procedure that ensures that the deeds are received from the society's lawyers without undue delay;
- 4. Examine the authority required for the release of deeds for a temporary period from their normal custody and the proper control for their prompt return;
- 5. Examine whether there is a continuous independent check of the deeds against the advance records or the borrowers ledger accounts;
- 6. Examine the necessity for satisfactory cross reference between the advance records, the cash book, the borrower's ledger account and the deed.
- 7. Examine the procedure for the release of deeds on redemption of the mortgage.

Other matters the auditor needs to be concerned with are:

#### Examination of deeds

- Ensure that the mortgage is in the name shown in the advance records;
- That there is a document of title to the property under mortgage and that the society's lawyers have been satisfied as to the borrower's title;
- The amount of the advance as stated in the mortgage deed is not less than that shown on the advance records;
- The mortgage deed is stamped, properly signed, witnessed and is prima facie in order;
- The property is adequately insured, the premium is paid up to date and the society's interest as mortgage is endorsed in the insurance policy.

#### Share and deposits

Shares may consist of subscription shares and paid up shares. Interest on shares may be credited to the accounts instead of being paid to ensure proper control the following should be covered by the system:

- There should be proper custody of unused share and deposit pass book, receipt forms and share certificates;
- There should be proper instructions to the staff as to the making of entries in the pass books and the issue of receipts;
- Withdrawal terms, notice and specimen signatures;
- O Authorization of withdrawals by the ledger department or against the pass books;
- Records of deaths, marriages, powers of attorney and transmission of shares and deposits;

 The comparison of the balance shown in the pass book with that shown in the ledger.

#### Cash

Possibility of error and misappropriation always accompany the handling of cash. Building societies transactions to a large extent are in cash. This however does not involve audit considerations which differ in principle from those encountered in any other business. So there should be surprise cash counts and any discrepancies should be investigated in detail.

#### Window Dressing

Auditors should examine transactions which have the effect of showing as at the balance sheet date a state of affairs particularly the society's liquidity which is materially better than it was during the year and shortly after. Of particular attention are:

- 1. Large deposits received shortly before the year end and repaid shortly after;
- 2. Large mortgage repayments received shortly before the year end and re-advanced on the same property shortly after;
- 3. Unusual delay until after the year end in making payments in accordance with applications received for withdrawals of shares or deposits;
- 4. An abnormal year end accumulation of commitments for advances followed by the making of the advances shortly after the year end;
- 5. The significance of items in the bank reconciliation statements.

Not only does the auditor report to the members on the financial statements, he is also supposed to give a report to the registrar of societies to accompany the annual return.

#### 7.15 Charities and Non Governmental Organizations

Kev audit areas:

- 1. Income: donations are hard to verify therefore good internal control is needed particularly on the opening of mail. A published list of donors can be very helpful in verification;
- 2. Outgoings: Should be minuted and be subject to delegated authority;
- 3. Investments: Many charities have investments and these are verified in the normal way of verifying in investments.

The audit report is usually qualified on grounds that it is not possible because of the nature of the society to verify whether all the income receivable in the form of donations has been fully accounted for.

#### Control problems in charities

- (a) Door to door collections: Volunteers should be issued with numbered boxes, the boxes should be sealed, the boxes should be opened and counted regularly preferably in the presence of the volunteer and one or more trustees. All contents should be promptly entered in a register kept for that purpose and banked. The entries in the book should be initialled by those counting.
- (b) Donations received by post: Two people including a trustee should open the mail. Receipts should be entered in a register kept for the purpose and the entries initialled.

- Banking should be immediate.
- (c) Deeds of covenant: A register of donors under deed should be kept. Checks should be made regularly to see that all amounts have been received or donors followed up.
- (d) Harambee and other fund raising events: The plans for the events especially expenditure should be approved in advance by the trustees. Records should be kept of all details of these events. Individuals should be politely instructed in their financial duties. All cash and cheques should go to the society's bank account. All proceeds should be counted in the presence of a trustee and banked promptly. An account should be drawn up after the event approved by the trustee and publicised to all the members.
- (e) Donations of equipment and materials: A full register of such donations should be maintained. An estimate should be made of the market value of all items. Maintenance materials should be properly stored.
- (f) All cash payments should be made out of cash drawn from the bank, unless any donor objects the annual report should contain a full list of donors. The annual report and the accounts should be as detailed as possible.

#### 7.16 Pension Funds

Pension funds are set up by companies or other organizations:

- (a) To administer the pension payable to retired employees and
- (b) Ensure that funds are available to pay pensions even if the sponsoring organization goes into liquidation. The auditors duties include:
  - i. Examining the trust deed that set up the fund and ensuring that its provisions have been correctly carried out;
  - ii. Verifying that there is proper control over the transactions of the fund;
  - iii. Verifying the portfolio of investments. All changes should be authorised by trustee minutes and all income must be received;
  - iv. Verify that the funds are sufficient to meet its future commitments. These are usually determined actuarially, preferably annually. Many schemes incorporate an undertaking by the sponsor to make good any deficiency.

#### 7.17 Advocates

The statutory provision regulating the handling of client's monies are covered in the advocate's act.

Purpose of the rules:

- To require a lawyer to keep client's money separate from his own money;
- To ensure that a lawyer keeps adequate records of his transactions so that his books show money received and paid and balance held on account of each client;
- To ensure that one client's money is clearly distinguished from that of other clients and from any other money passing through the lawyer's accounts.

Broad effects of the rules:

- That money received by a lawyer which does not belong to him should be dealt with through the client account;
- That his own money is kept in an office account

#### The Accountant's Role

Every year a lawyer who handles client's money is required to produce to the Law Society of Kenya a report by a qualified accountant that he has complied with the rules in the advocate's act. This report is required once every year, however, a complete audit is not required nor is there a

requirement for the preparation of the profit and loss account or balance sheet. For the purpose of giving his report the accountant must:

- 1. Ascertain from the lawyer particulars of all bank accounts kept or operated by the lawyer in connection with his practice.
- 2. Examine the book keeping system in every office of the lawyer to see that the system complies with the following requirements:
  - o That there is a ledger account for each client
  - o The ledger accounts show separately particulars of all client money received, held or paid on account of each client
  - O Transactions relating to clients money are recorded in the lawyers books so as to distinguish them from transactions relating to any other monies
  - Test check postings to client's ledger accounts from records of receipts and payments of client's money
  - o Make test checks of casts of such accounts
  - Compare a sample of lodgements and payments as shown in the bank statement with the lawyer's records of receipts and payments of client's monies
  - Enquire into and test check the system of recording costs and of making withdrawals in respect of costs from the client account
  - Satisfy himself by test examination that financial transactions are in accordance with the rules and that any entries in ledger accounts reflect the transaction in a manner which complies with the rules
  - Extract all client's ledger balances at least two dates in the year and reconcile the cash book balance with that confirmed direct to the accountant by the bank
  - Make test examination to ascertain whether payments from client account have been made on any individual account in excess of the money held on behalf of that client
  - O Peruse the office ledger, cash accounts and bank statements to see whether client money has not been paid into a client account

#### The accountant is not required

- To extend his enquiries beyond the information contained in the relevant documents as supplemented by such information and explanations as he may obtain from the lawyer.
- 2. To enquire into stocks shares other securities or documents of title held by the lawyer on behalf of clients.
- To consider whether the books of accounts of the lawyer were properly written up in accordance with the rules at any other time than at which his examination took place.

#### 7.18 Co-operative Societies

An audit in this case is carried out as a normal audit except you should note that the auditor is appointed by the Commissioner of Co-operatives and although he reports to the members the accounts must be registered with the Commissioner. Of special note is that he is required to carry out special investigations on the bad debts provision to determine its adequacy and on the good debts he has to confirm their recoverability.

#### 7.19 Public Sector Audits

#### 7.20 Parastatals

These are subject to audits by the Auditor General .The audit is carried out as for any other company.

#### 7.21 Central Government and Local Authorities

The audit of these accounts is governed again by the Audit and Exchequer Act and is carried out by the Controller and Auditor General who is accountable to the National Assembly

#### 7.3 Audit of Holding Companies and Group Accounts

Authoritative documents are:

- The Companies Act Cap 486
- IAS 27
- IAS 28
- IAS 31
- IFRS 3
- ISA 600 Using the work of another auditor

The Companies Act requires that where a company at its year end has a subsidiary then the directors of that company called a holding company are required to produce consolidated accounts or group accounts which show a true and fair view of the state of affairs and the results of the company and its subsidiaries so far as they concern the members of the holding company.

#### **Audit of Group Accounts**

The major problems in this area can be split into three sections:

- The audit of the holding company obtaining and confirming information about subsidiaries
- 2. Checking consolidation working papers and
- 3. Placing reliance on the work of other auditors

The audit of the accounts of a holding company follows the same lines as any company audit. However, special consideration has to be given to the dealings with and presentation of investments in subsidiary companies.

#### Audit work on the holding company

We will concentrate on the verification of investments in subsidiary companies.

- Obtain a schedule which should contain the following information. All the data
  which the Companies Act requires to be disclosed in the holding company's own
  accounts, copies of the accounts of each subsidiary with a note who the auditor
  is, details of any qualifications in any of the audit reports, summary of
  movements in investments in subsidiary and on current and loan accounts with
  its subsidiary, reconciliations of intercompany balances.
- 2. Existence and ownership must be verified by examining the share certificates and ensuring that they are in the name of the holding company. If not, then blank signed transfer forms should be available from the nominees. If the share certificates are held by third parties, then an appropriate certificate must be obtained.

- 3. Current and loan accounts: Their verification is normally done by obtaining a certificate from its subsidiary confirming the balances. Also if the auditor of the holding company is the auditor of the subsidiary, he can reconcile entries in both sets of books himself. The auditor must satisfy himself that dealings between group companies are not used to cover up material errors.
- 4. Valuation: Valuation is verified as follows: If the shares were acquired in the year consider cost and authorization. Examine accounting treatment of any premium or discount on acquisition and any dividends received out of pre-acquisition profits. The balance sheet value of its subsidiary must be considered and this could include review of each individual subsidiary's account to confirm that it is still a going concern.

#### Checking consolidation papers

The auditor pays particular attention to the calculation of:

- a) Goodwill arising on acquisition and consolidation
- b) Pre-acquisition and post-acquisition profits
- c) Minority interest
- d) Treatment of intercompany profits in stocks
- e) Agreements of intercompany indebtedness
- f) Necessary cancellations in respect of intercompany cash in transit
- g) Turnover, excluding group trading
- h) Necessary adjustments in respect of group companies with different accounting period ends
- i) Taxation

The consolidated accounts must comply with all relevant accounting and legal requirements.

#### Reliance on the work of other auditors:

The primary auditor or the principal auditor is solely responsible for the holding company's accounts. It is inevitable however that in large groups the holding company's auditor thus the principal auditor are not always the auditors of the subsidiary company, therefore, there is need for then to rely on the work of other auditors. The student must note that the principle auditors are fully responsible for their opinion on the group accounts and need not for this reason refer in their report to the fact that the accounts of some subsidiary or associated company have been audited by other firms. I refer you to the following important topics covered in the ISA. Accounting policies, availability of information, scope of work of the secondary auditors or other auditors, the materiality of the amounts involved. If the principal auditor is satisfied that the accounts present a true and fair view and comply with the Companies Act the auditor will be able to issue a an unqualified audit report. However, qualification will be necessary in the following circumstances.

- 1. A material subsidiary if qualified then there may be need for this qualification to be noted in the holding company's report.
- Failure by the principal auditor to obtain satisfactory information with regard to material subsidiary or material amounts that have been consolidated from an audited account.
- 3. Material disagreement with any of the consolidation calculations.
- Non-compliance with legal or professional requirements as far as disclosure is concerned.

The student is strongly advised to read the ISA on reliance on the other auditors and keep in mind the following requirements:

A complete list of subsidiaries showing the share holdings of the holding company
and other group members should be kept. He should have copies of the accounts of
each subsidiary noting qualified audit reports, agreement of intercompany balances,
division between pre and post acquisition profits, accounting policies adopted and
ensure that each set of accounts is properly signed by directors and auditors.

- Questionnaires used to determine the work undertaken by subsidiary company auditors.
- 3. Any letters of weakness sent by each subsidiary company auditor.
- 4. A checklist showing companies act requirements and IAS 27 and IAS 28.

#### Other matters to be covered are

- 1. Accounting policies: these should be uniform throughout the group and should be properly disclosed.
- 2. Consolidated adjustments should be carried out correctly both conceptually and mathematically.
- 3. He should ensure that all material subsidiaries have been audited.
- 4. He should investigate all known co-terminus accounts.
- 5. He should investigate for window dressing
- 6. He should consider foreign subsidiaries if any.

#### **IAS 27**

IAS 27 applies to the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements for a group of entities under the control of a parent. It also applies to accounting for investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate financial statements of a parent.

#### Summary of IAS 27

A parent presents consolidated financial statements in which it consolidates its investment in subsidiaries (those entities that it controls), unless certain conditions are met allowing it not to prepare consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies. The reporting date of the parent and its subsidiaries shall not be more than 3 months apart.

When separate financial statements are prepared, investment in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates should be accounted for either at cost or in accordance with IAS 39. The same accounting should be applied for each category of investments.

IAS 27 specifies disclosures to be made in consolidated and separate financial statements.

IAS 28 applies in accounting for investments in associates, except those held by:

- Venture capital organisations, or
- Mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds that upon initial recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss or are classified as held for trading and accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

#### Summary of IAS 28

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. Such influence is presumed to exist if the investor owns 20 per cent or more of the voting power of the investee. An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity

method. The equity method is not used when:

- The investment is classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations; or
- The investor is itself a subsidiary, its owners do not object to the equity method not being applied, and its debt and equity securities are not publicly traded. In this case the investor's parent must present consolidated financial statements that comply with IFRSs.

The investor's financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Any difference between the reporting date of the investor and its associate must not be more than 3 months.

An investor discontinues the equity method from the date that it ceases to have significant influence over the associate. From that date it accounts for the investment in accordance with IAS 39, provided the associate does not become a subsidiary or a joint venture as defined in IAS 31. IAS 28 specifies disclosures to be made in the investor's financial statements about associates.

#### 7.4 JOINT AUDITS

#### **QUIZ**

- a) Discuss the procedures usually followed in conducting an audit by more than one firm of accountants and the division of work between them.
- Discuss the general advantages and disadvantages of joint audits. b)

#### ANSWER

- All auditors may be liable to the consequences of loss arising from a) negligence. Each joint auditor accepts all the obligations of the office of auditor and this can mean that losses flowing from a wrong auditor's report may be recovered from either of both auditors. Thus a joint auditor might be financially responsible for losses arising as a consequence of the negligence or incompetence of his fellow auditor.
  - Before accepting a joint office, an auditor must:
  - i. Consider whether he is prepared to serve jointly with the other auditor. He may well ask himself if he would take him as a partner.
  - ii. Assure himself that adequate control and review of all aspects of the audit can be organised.
  - iii. Ensure that professional indemnity insurance cover can be obtained to cover the special situation.

Several possible arrangements could be made:

- i. Each joint auditor could conduct its own audit with its own standard documentation and files. Leading schedules would need to be photocopied and exchanged.
- A unified set of documents and files could be produced by both ii. firms. This may involve some modification of each firm's methods.
- iii. Each firm could use one standard set of documents and files using the standards of the larger of the two firms.

Whatever the method is used, extensive discussion and planning must precede

the commencement of any audit work.

#### The considerations which are likely to dictate the division of work are

- i. Expertise: Each firm may have special expertise e.g. in certain types of client, computers etc.
- ii. Geography: The particular location of the firms and their branches must be considered.
- iii. Competence: One of the joint auditors may be especially competent with small clients, the other with large clients.
- iv. Size and availability of staff.
- v. Cost: Audit costs may be minimised by a particular division of work.

#### b) The general advantages and disadvantages of joint audits

#### are Advantages

- i. All work and fees are welcome to audit firms.
- An opportunity to closely inspect the auditing methods of another firm.
- The other firm may have special expertise which might fit well in a joint business.
- iv. The other firm may have geographical location possibilities which complement.
- v. The other firm may be of such a size that a client company can be serviced which may otherwise be beyond available resources.
- vi. Flexibility of working arrangements with another firm may avert bottlenecks owing to staff shortage at peak times.

#### Disadvantages

- i. Shared legal responsibility. Liability for co-auditor's negligence.
- ii. Lack of control. The other firm may have different audit standards which may be unsatisfactory.
- iii. Any shared work or responsibility may lead to personality clashes.

#### **REINFORCING QUESTIONS**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

- a) What is the criterion of prudent management laid down by the Building Societies Act?
- b) In drawing up the audit programme, which areas should particular attention be paid to which are of particular significance or unique to building societies? In which areas should substantive tests concentrate on?
- c) On the statistical returns to the Central Bank of Kenya by a building society what opinions is the auditor required to form on the information contained therein?

#### **QUESTION TWO**

- a. What areas constitute significant banking markets?
- b. Give examples in the following control areas of controls which may be compliance tested over customers accounts and cash.
  - i. Segregation of duties
  - ii. Physical
  - iii. Authorisation and approval
  - iv. Arithmetical and accounting
  - v. Supervision

#### **QUESTION THREE**

Muungano Hardwares Ltd. a wholly owned subsidiary of MK Holdings Ltd. is a leading hardware manufacturer in the country. Approximately 80% of the products are sold to distributors, and the remaining portion to a small number of retailers.

While receiving the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2003 the directors of MK Holdings have noticed that Muungano had incurred a trading loss. This was due to a substantial fall in the gross profit margin compared with previous years.

Your firm has been appointed as auditors of the Muungano group of companies for the first year in 203. The directors of MK Holdings have requested your firm to carry out an investigation to find the reasons for the dramatic fall in the Muungano's gross profit margin. The group internal auditor of Muungano, whose work you have concluded you can place reliance on, has informed you that:

- The directors had not expected the loss incurred in 1989 since the monthly accounts upon which they rely are calculated using historical gross profit percentage.
- ii. The company does not have a proper system of comparing actual costs with estimate costs and does not maintain basic stock records.
- iii. The range of products manufactured and sold by the company has not changed significantly in the past 5 years.
- iv. Purchases and sales cut off were correctly carried out on 31 December 1989.
- v. In certain areas the standard of the work performed by the previous auditors was not as high as would be normally expected.

#### Required

Describe the investigations you would make and the work you would carry out to find the reasons for the fall in gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 1989.

(Total: 18 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

a. In addition to the statutory audit, the auditors of insurance companies are required to report on various other schedules submitted to the Commissioner of Insurance. Name these other schedules.

- b. What are the important control objectives relating to premium and claims that are unique to the insurance business?
- c. What important ratios need to be considered by the auditor?
- d. What substantive tests of detail (on areas known as technical provisions) are of importance to the auditor?

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

For information purposes only, the balance sheet of a typical medium-sized building society is shown below:

|  | £'000   |
|--|---------|
| Assets                                   | 20,489  |
| Liquid assets                            |         |
| Commercial assets                        |         |
| Advances secured on residential property | 102,040 |
| Other advances secured on land           | 4,101   |
| Tangible fixed assets                    | 2,861   |
| Other assets                             | 66      |
|  | 129,557 |
| Liabilities and Reserves                 |         |
| Shares and deposits                      |         |
| Retail funds and deposits                | 115,414 |
| Wholesale funds                          | 3,929   |
| Other liabilities                        | •       |
| Income and corporation tax               | 2,413   |
| Other                                    | 62      |
| Provision for liabilities and charges    |         |
| Provision for deferred tax               | 609     |
| Total liabilities                        | 122,427 |
| General reserve                          | 7,130   |
|  | 129,557 |

#### Required

(a) List and describe the audit checks you would perform over the granting of advances to mortgages from the initial application by the mortgage to the payment of the mortgage sum.

- (b) Describe the controls which should exist over the custody and movement of deeds of properties and briefly describe how you would check these controls.
- (c) Describe the audit checks you would perform to verify the amount owing to retail share and deposit account holders, as shown in the balance sheet.
- (d) Define a dormant account. Why are they a high risk area of the audit and what audit tests would you carry out to verify that no frauds are taking place on these accounts?

Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

#### **COMPREHENSIVE ASSIGNMENT NO.3**

#### TO BE SUBMITTED AFTER LESSON 7

To be carried out under examination conditions and sent to the Distance Learning Administration for marking by the University

#### **EXAMINATION PAPER: TIME ALLOWED: 3 HRS. ANSWER ALL QUESTIONS.**

**Answer ALL Questions** 

#### **QUESTION ONE**

You have been appointed the auditor of Jenga Nyumba Building Society which has branches in all the major towns in Kenya. The head office and all the branches are fully computerised.

You are required to list down the aspects of controls which are of particular relevance to building societies in addition to controls common to other banking and non-banking financial institutions. In each case state the objectives of every control and show how it can be strengthened.

(20 Marks)

Time Allowed: 3 Hours

#### **QUESTION TWO**

Your firm has been appointed to a joint audit with another firm of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya. In case of joint audits:

- (a) Discuss the procedures usually followed in conducting an audit by more than one firm of accountants and the division of work between them.
- (b) Discuss the general advantages and disadvantages of joint audits. (20 marks)

#### **QUESTION THREE**

- (a) The expressions "management audit, operational audit, and efficiency audit" are very often used these days.
  - Do they differ from internal audits? If so, to what extent? Discuss.
- (b) Write short notes on "Value for Money audits" with a special reference to government and quasi-government bodies. (20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

- (a) Describe briefly the responsibility of the auditors of a holding company when reporting upon group accounts which incorporate the accounts of subsidiary and associated companies of which have not been audited by them (3 Marks)
- (b) Detail the principal matters which must be considered by the auditors before placing reliance on accounts not audited by them. (9 Marks)
- (c) The auditors of the holding company usually prepare questionnaires to be completed by the outside firms of auditors. Suggest eight important matters relating to accounting policies or scope of the audit which would be included in the questionnaire under the section on stock and work-in-progress.

(8 Marks)

(Total: 20 Marks)

### **QUESTION FIVE**

What details require examination by the Accountant with regard to the lawyers' records? (20 Marks)

END OF COMPREHENSIVE ASSIGNMENT No.3

NOW SEND YOUR ANSWERS TO THE DISTANCE LEARNING CENTRE FOR MARKING

Lesson Eight 203

## **LESSON EIGHT**

#### EXTERNAL AUDITORS REPORTS AND OTHER REPORTS

#### **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this lesson you should be able to:

- Discuss and explain the concept of 'true and fair' and appreciate its relevance to the work of an auditor
- Prepare audit reports to meet different specified situations
- · Prepare reports for management

#### **CONTENTS**

- Introduction to auditor's reports
- Auditors Reports to Shareholders
- · Auditors Reports to Management
- Accountants Reports:
  - o Unaudited Financial

Information, o Prospectuses,

- o Interim financial statements,
- o Proforma financial statements and Tax certificates
- Electronic Communication
- · Compliance with IFRSs
- · Review Reports
- Small Company reports

#### **Assigned Readings**

- The Seventh Schedule to the companies Act Cap 486
- ISA 700 The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements
- ISAE 3000 Assurance Engagements
- ISAE 3400 The examination of prospective financial information

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

- Complete Answers to Reinforcing questions at the end of the lesson without reference to the model answers
- Check your answers with those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack

#### 8.0 Introduction

The audit report is the final stage in the process of an audit. The terms 'true and fair' 'present fairly' have special significance in the audit report. At this level you will be required to draft unmodified and modified audit reports in accordance with ISA 700. The auditor's report on financial statements taking into account a variety of circumstances which may affect the audit opinion. The lesson also covers other reports or letters sent by the auditor to the client's directors and managers in accordance with ISA 1007 Communication with management. Finally, we consider some special purpose audit reports.

#### 8.1 True and Fair

#### (a) History

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) make it quite clear that the terms 'true and fair' and 'present fairly' which are used in audit reports in many other countries, mean the same thing. There is no definition of either term in legislation or standards anywhere. Although both have existed for a long time.

IAS 1 (revised) *Presentation of Financial Statements* states that financial statements should 'present fairly' the financial position, performance and cash flows of and enterprise and goes on to state that financial statements prepared in accordance with IASs (with additional disclosures if necessary) will generally result in fair presentation. The 'true and fair' override, as used in the UK, that allows any accounting standard to be departed from, in the interest of giving a true and fair view, is only to be applied on 'extremely rare circumstances'.

The term *true and fair* was first used in the UK, where it originates, in legislation of 1948. However, prior legislation had used similar phrases.

Companies legislation dated 1844 required UK companies to present a full and fair balance sheet, though the meaning of this phrase was never defined. A company was required to keep full and true accounts. By 1900 the auditor was required to state whether the balance sheet was properly drawn up so as to exhibit a true and correct view. This phrase was retained until 1948.

The Kenya Companies Act Cap 486 is based on the UK Companies Act of 1948

At no stage has any legal definition of the meaning of these terms been provided. ISAs does not set out what is meant by either 'true and fair' or 'present fairly'.

#### (b) Attempts at definition of the 'true and fair' view

The following quotations represent authoritative views on the meaning of true and fair view.

A true and fair view implies that all statutory and other information is not only available but is presented in a form in which it can be properly and readily appreciated. (Sir Russell Kettle).

A true and fair view implies appropriate classification and grouping of items .. (and) consistent application of generally accepted principles. (The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia – Recommended on Accounting Principles 1964).

... the meaning attached to (the words true and fair) has been built up over the years by standards of presentation specifically required by the Act; established accounting techniques; case law decisions; the natural desire of responsible directors of companies and auditors to

ensure that the facts and figures which are presented in the public properly reflect the position; and last but not least common sense. (Sir Henry Benson 1962).

For an auditor to be able to say that a financial statement is true and fair it must be:

- (a) Relevant to the business transactions etc it purports to describe
- (b) Objective, being free from any bias ... and being based on unprejudiced and verifiable evidence which us capable of supporting it (Lee).

... true and fair has become a term of art. It is generally understood to mean a presentation of accounts drawn up according to accepted accounting principles using accurate figures as far as possible and reasonable estimates otherwise, and arranging them so as to be show within the limits of current accounting practice as objective a picture as possible free from willful bias, distortion, manipulation or concealment of material facts. (Lee).

It must be concluded that there has been little attempt precisely to define true and fair.

The Companies Act requires an auditor to report in true and fair view terms as regards the balance sheet and the profit and loss account. The Companies Act however, does not define what constitutes a true and fair view. We have no decided case in Kenya or anywhere in the world that has given a definition of true and fair view.

It has therefore been left to the profession to try to define the meaning of true and fair view or at least to determine what not a true and fair view is. The Companies Act in the 6th Schedule gives the minimum disclosure requirements of items in the balance sheet and profit and loss account. It would therefore seem to follow that compliance with the requirements of the 6th Schedule, would result in the accounts giving a true and fair view.

Professional thinking has tried to put a meaning to this expression by analysing the two words separately. If we took this approach we would come up with the following decision:

#### (c) True

#### Meaning of 'true and fair'/present fairly'

Truth in accounting is quite different form scientific truth. Accounting does not deal with that type of truth which has a fixed and unchanging quality. Costs and revenues for any accounting period which is less than the full life of each venture involved cannot be determined with precision. In accounting only cash draws close to the concept of scientific truth, but since the value of cash changes with time, it lacks total correspondence with the precision of scientific truth.

The auditor should attempt to ensure that the accounts which are subject of his audit present clearly and equitably the financial state of affairs of the enterprise. This suggests that in order to achieve the statutory true and fair view it is necessary not only to present certain information impartially but also that this data is shown in such a way that it is clearly understood by the user.

A dictionary definition of true includes such words as:

- In accordance with reality;
- In accordance with reason, or correct numbers or perceived standard;
- We can also think of truth as meaning: not false, or not fictitious and in accordance with facts.

We can clearly identify that accounts contain elements of truth in that if the balance sheet states

that the company has got land and buildings valued at 10 million shillings then it is either true or not true that the company owns the land. Therefore statements made in the accounts can be tested to prove whether they are true of false. In this case, we are concerned with ownership of assets and liabilities, we are concerned with their existence and we are concerned with their proper definition or description and classification. Hence the auditor looks for evidence to confirm stated and implied assertions in the accounts. True does not relate to value because value is dependent on many factors.

#### (d) Fairness

The word *fair* can have the following meanings: on the one hand *clear, distinct* and *plain* and on the other *impartial, just* and *equitable*. All can be considered relevant when fair is used in an accounting text.

We ask ourselves the questions—fair to whom? And it seems that we should be fair to the user of the accounts in that the user of the accounts has certain expectations. He expects that accounts will comply with the Companies Act requirements and he also expects that the accounts will conform to generally accepted accounting principles and the IAS, hence if we can satisfy the expectations of the user it can be felt that we have been fair. This therefore leads us to relevance, in other words, the accounts must give a view that is relevant to the needs of the user. It will therefore be expected that the accounts will show the resources employed in the company, claims against those resources, the changes in the resources and claims over a period of time. The accounts also report on historical events. They are therefore not intended to be used for decision making although they are regularly used for this purpose.

# Objectivity

Most accounting figures are subjective and contain substantial elements of subjective judgement. Many business transactions have financial effects that spread over many years. Decisions are therefore to be made, as to the extent to which expenditure incurred in one year can reasonably be expected to produce benefits in the form of revenue in other years. Objectivity therefore requires that accounts state externally verifiable changes rather than subjectively considered opinions. The accounts must therefore be free from bias, thus the producer of the accounts should not allow personal preferences to enter into their accounts preparation work. In practice, all activities are influenced by personal experience and prejudice. An important thing is for the auditor to be aware of this and also for him to be aware of the tendency to bias in all financial reporting.

# Conformity

Although the user of the accounts expects the accounts to conform to general accepted accounting principles and the IFRSs, simple rigid conformity can lead to a misleading view. Thus if we simply included profits from overseas branches and those profits are not available to shareholders because of exchange control restrictions, then the accounts would be misleading.

#### Conservatism

The concept of prudence is highly esteemed in the accounting profession. However, taken to extremes it could result in accounts not giving a true and fair view as in the case of long term construction contracts, contingent liabilities and in substance over form transactions. The accountant is a pessimist by nature but the auditor must guard against over conservatism.

#### Accounting Principles and Policies

The user of the accounts expects that the accounting principles and policies used will be in conformity with IAS, be generally accepted, be widely recognised and supported and be appropriate and applicable in the particular circumstances. It is crucial for the auditor to get

evidence that the accounting policies used are appropriate in the circumstances, not only acceptable.

#### Substance over Form

Transaction should show the commercial reality rather than the legal form. These would require therefore that the accounts should show all the assets and liabilities of the organization even though legally the assets or liabilities do not relate to the organization.

#### Presentation and Disclosure

The overall result and final position can only be appreciated by aggregating transactions and balances into suitable classes and categories. The description given to these classes and categories must show their true nature.

# Materiality

An item is material if its disclosure or non-disclosure would make any difference to the view received by the user of the accounts. Fairness is therefore a function of materiality. The accounts must not be cluttered with trivialities or amounts and statements that are insignificant to the overall view given by the accounts. The auditor has to keep the concept of materiality in mind at all times.

#### 8.2 Regulations governing Audit Reports in Kenya

- The requirements of the Companies Act Cap 486
- International Financial Standards (IFRSs)
- International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)

#### 8.21 The Requirements of the Companies Act

The seventh schedule to the Companies Act give the matters which must be expressly stated in the AUDITOR'S REPORT

- 1. Whether they have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of their knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of their audit.
- Whether, in their opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the company, so far as appears from their examinations of those books, and proper returns adequate for the purposes of their audit have been received from branches not visited by them.
- 3. i. Whether the company's balance sheet and (unless it is framed as a consolidated profit and loss account) profit and loss account dealt with by the report are in agreement with the books of account and returns.
  - ii. Whether, in their opinion and to the best of their information and according to the explanations given them, the said accounts give the information required by this Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view:
    - a) In the case of the balance sheet, of the state of the company's affairs as at the end of its financial year; and
    - b) In the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit or loss for its financial year, or

as the case may be, give a true and fair view thereof subject to the non-disclosure of any matters (to be indicated in the report) which by virtue of Part III of the Sixth Schedule are not required to be disclosed.

4. In the case of a holding company submitting group accounts whether in their opinion, the group accounts have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of this Act so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and its subsidiaries dealt with thereby, so far as concerns members of the company, or, as the case may be, so as to give a true and fair view thereof subject to the non-disclosure of any matters (to be indicated in the report) which by virtue of Part III of the Sixth Schedule are not required to be disclosed.

# The Meaning of Proper Books of Accounts

S.147 of the Companies Act requires every company to keep in the English language proper books of accounts with respect to:

- a) All sums of money received and expended by the company and the matters in respect of which the receipt and expenditure takes place. Hence, most companies will have a cash book to comply with this requirement but note that the Companies Act does not specifically call for a cash book nor does it lay down any hard rules on what form these records should take.
- b) All sales and purchases of goods by the company: Most companies comply with this requirement by maintaining sales and purchases journals or day books. Again, the Companies Act does not specify the form which these records should take.
- c) Assets and Liabilities: Most companies comply with this requirement by maintaining personal and general ledgers with regard to assets and liabilities of the company and changes therein.

The books of accounts generally speaking can be kept anywhere the directors deem fit and are open to inspection by the directors at any time. The Companies Act also requires that a company keeps the following statutory books.

- 1. A register of directors and secretaries
- 2. A register of charges, fixed and floating
- 3. Minute Book of meetings of the company, meeting of its directors
- 4. An indexed register of accounts
- 5. An indexed register of each director's shareholding

It also requires that public companies must keep a register of major shareholders, thus an interest of 5% or more in the nominal value of the voting share capital is a major holding. Proper books of accounts are such books that are necessary to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and to explain its transactions. The auditor's interest in the statutory books is:

- a) They are usually concerned with accounts;
- b) They are audit evidence in their findings and details of items in the accounts;
- c) Failure to maintain proper books of accounts casts doubt upon the accuracy and reliability of the books generally.

The Companies Act principles requires that where a company has branches, then returns must be received from those branches that can explain its transactions as for the main company.

# 8.22 The Auditor's Report to Shareholders

The Content and Meaning of Unqualified and Modified Audit Repots

The **audit report** is usually the only channel of communication between the auditor and the shareholders of the company whose financial statements have been subject to audit. As such the report acts as a bridge taking the large volume of information possessed by the auditors and conveying it to the shareholders in a much abbreviated form.

In order to convey information in a succinct from the audit report has become extremely formalized group of phrases, each of which has special significance. Any deviation from the standard format is regarded by an accountant as being significant and may provide important extra data.

The possibilities are as follows:

- (a) an unqualified audit report
- (b) a modified audit report which required an audit qualification
- (c) a modified audit report which, although the opinion is unqualified, may require additional detail emphasizing particular matters contained within the financial statements.

IFAC has issued ISA 700 *The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements* in order to reduce the differences which previously existed in the method of reporting so that shareholders and other users of financial statements could grasp more easily the standardized message which the auditor is intending to convey.

It is important that you recall from your earlier studies that auditors do not 'guarantee' or 'certify' that financial statements are 'correct', they express opinions on the matters required by ISA 700 i.e.

- (a) Whether they give a true and fair view
- (b) Whether they are properly prepared in accordance with the financial reporting framework.

Where appropriate, the auditor will also report whether the financial statements comply with relevant local statutory requirements such as the companies Act Cap 486

As an alternative to the phrase 'true and fair view' the auditor may report that the financial statements are 'presented fairly in all material respects'. These two expressions are equivalent and emphasize that the auditor is only concerned with material items.

The content of the auditor's report is governed by the Companies Act, Seventh Schedule to The Companies Act and the ISA 700, The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements

The Companies Act lays down no specific requirements as to the wording to be used in the audit report so long as all the matters as mentioned in the Seventh Schedule are specifically mentioned in the auditor's report. The auditing standard seeks to provide guidance on the form of wording that is acceptable.

The auditing standard requires the auditor to:

- a) Identify those to whom his report is addressed i.e. the members of the company;
- b) The auditor should identify the financial statements on which he is reporting, this is done by numbering the pages of the accounts;
- c) The auditor should refer expressly to whether the financial statements have been audited in accordance with the approved auditing standards;

- d) The auditors must state expressly whether in their opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, profit and loss, and where applicable source and application of funds;
- e) The auditor should refer expressly to any matters described by relevant legislation or any other requirements.

#### 8.23 Circumstances in Which Qualification Is Necessary

When the auditor has no reservations on the matters required by the Seventh Schedule, he issues a clean report. If he has any reservations, he may issue a qualified report. The circumstances which cause auditors to introduce qualifying statements into their reports where the matters at issue are material include the following

- a) If the auditors are unable to obtain all the information and explanations they consider necessary for the purposes of their audit, for example, if they are unable to obtain satisfactory evidence:
  - of the existence of ownership of material assets or of the amounts at which they have been stated on the basis adopted;
  - ii. of the validity of payments;
  - iii. That the records properly reflect all transactions of the business because the evidence has been lost or destroyed or is otherwise not forthcoming or has never existed.
- b) If in the opinion of the auditors:
  - i. Proper books of accounts have not been kept in accordance with the Companies Act;
  - ii. Proper returns adequate for their audit have not been received from branches nor visited by them;
  - iii. The balance sheet and the profit and loss account are not in agreement with the accounting books and returns.
- c) If in the opinion of the auditors the accounts though based on proper books of account fail to give the information required by the act for example, a failure to comply with specific disclosure requirements of the Companies Act in material respects.
- d) If in the opinion of the auditors the accounts though otherwise complying with the disclosure requirements fail to disclose a true and fair view for example:
  - Because in the auditor's opinion the underlying accounting policies do not conform to accounting principles appropriate to the circumstances and nature of the business;
  - Because they are prepared on principles inconsistent with those previously adopted and without adequate explanation and disclosure of the effects of the change;
  - iii. Because the auditors are unable to agree with the amounts at which an asset or a liability is stated;
  - iv. Because the auditors are unable to agree with the amount at which income or expenditure or profit is stated;

 Because the accounts do not disclose information though not specifically required by the companies act, is necessary for the presentation of a true and fair view;

- vi. Because additional information given in a note or in the director's report materially alters the view otherwise given by the accounts.
- e) If in the case of a holding company submitting group accounts it is the opinion of the auditors that the group accounts have not been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the act so as to give a true and fair view of the profit and loss of the company and its subsidiaries so far as it concerns the members of the company.

More than one of the circumstances in which qualification is necessary may be present in any particular case. Where the auditor has these reservations, he must inform the shareholders in his audit report.

#### 8.24 Principles of Qualifying Reports

A qualified report is not necessary unless the amounts at issue are material. If a qualified report is called for the auditors must decide:

- a) To which specific matters their reservations apply;
- b) Whether they actively disagree or on the other hand lack sufficient evidence to enable them form an opinion as regards material items in the accounts;
- c) Whether in either event the matters in question are so material as to affect the presentation of a true and fair view.

If for instance the items in doubt or disagreement are limited and therefore not so material as to cast doubt on the views shown by the accounts as a whole, the auditors will be able to report that in their opinion subject to specific reservations or with specific exemptions the accounts present a true and fair view. There may however be cases where the substantial items or those in disagreement are so material that the audits must report stating their reason either:

- i. that they are unable to form an opinion whether the accounts present a true and fair view or;
- ii. that in their opinion the accounts do not present a true and fair view. A qualification in this extreme term is only made in rare circumstances.

The Companies Act lays down no specific requirements as to the manner in which auditors should when they judge it necessary, qualify their report. This can only be decided in the circumstances of each particular case. It would be undesirable to suggest standard forms of working that might be appropriate to the variety of circumstances in which it may be necessary for auditors to give a qualifying report. The guiding principle is that it is the duty of an auditor to convey information not merely to arouse inquiry.

Before qualifying their report, auditors should discuss the accounts with the company's management and make their views clear. This enables the directors to examine the matter at issue and as far as they judge it practical and appropriate they may take steps to provide the missing information or to amend the accounts in such a way as to enable the auditors give a report without

qualification. A qualifying statement should be direct and informative. It should be phrased as to leave the reader in no doubt as to its meaning. Therefore, it should:

- a) Be as concise as is consistent with clarity;
- b) Be specific as to the items and facts as far as possible the amounts involved;
- c) Within the limits of the information available to the auditors make clear its effects on the accounts and;
- d) Express the auditor's opinion without the possibility of misinterpretation.

The object is to give in clear and unequivocal terms so far as circumstances permit such information in augmentation of that provided by the accounts and notes thereto as will in the auditor's opinion provide the information required by the acts and ensure that the accounts will then give a true and fair view. It must be emphasised that the fact that the auditors judge it necessary to include qualifying statements in their report does not necessarily impute the financial integrity of a company's directors who are ultimately responsible for the form and presentation of the accounts and the information they contain. It is the duty of the auditors to exercise their judgement and express their opinion, their obligation is inescapable. It would be wholly inappropriate for instance for auditors to seek to avoid qualifying their reports by resigning before the expiry of their term of office simply because they are dissatisfied with the position disclosed by their audit.

i. it identifies the nature of circumstances and recognises only two which are uncertainty and disagreement.

# Uncertainty

The auditor may be unable to express an opinion on a set of accounts as a result of uncertainty. This would seem to imply that to some extent he has been unable to obtain all the information and explanation which he deemed necessary for the purposes of the audit. These can be as a direct intervention or lack of cooperation by the management or the management can give him all the help he needs but he is still unable to express an opinion due to circumstances beyond a management's control and limitations from the available information. The standard recognizes that uncertainty can arise as a result of limitations in the scope of the audit and as a result of inherent uncertainties.

Uncertainty can be of two levels, material and not fundamental and fundamental. An uncertainty is material but not fundamental if the auditor has reservations on only a particular aspect of the accounts and not on the accounts as a whole. In this situation the auditor is able to form an opinion on the accounts as a whole with particular reservations on a specific matter. He therefore disclaims opinion on only an aspect of the accounts and not the accounts taken as a whole.

An uncertainty becomes fundamental when its impact on the accounts taken as a whole is to make them meaningless for any decision making purposes and to reduce their informational value. In this situation, the auditor is unable to form an opinion on the accounts taken as a whole and he therefore disclaims his opinion altogether by stating that he is unable to form an opinion as to whether the financial statement gives a true and fair view.

# Disagreement

The ISA gives circumstances in which disagreement could arise between the auditor and the management.

These are:

- Departures from accepted accounting practices where (i) there has been failure to comply with the relevant IAS and the auditor does not concur (ii) an accounting policy not the subject of a IAS is adopted which in the opinion of the auditor is not appropriate to the circumstances of the business or (iii) exceptionally a IAS has been followed with the result that the financial statements do not present a true and fair view.
- Disagreement as to the facts or amounts included in the financial statement.
- Disagreement as to the manner or extent of disclosure of facts or amounts in the financial statements.
- Failure to comply with the relevant legislation or other requirements.

Where the auditor disagrees with the management on just an aspect of the accounts, he will indicate in his report that he has exceptions as against reservations noted under uncertainty and he will mention in his report that to the extent of the exceptions the accounts do not give a true and fair view. This is where the disagreement is material but not fundamental. A disagreement becomes fundamental where its impact on the financial statements is to make them misleading as a whole. In this situation the auditor will state that the accounts taken as a whole do not give a true and fair view.

## Materiality

The auditors will not clutter their opinion with trivial matters and therefore their audit is carried out with emphasis on matters that could have material impact on the report. A matter generally is held to be material if its disclosure or non-disclosure would affect the view given by the accounts. Materiality may be considered in the context of the financial statement as a whole, the balance sheet, the profit and loss account, or individual items within the financial statement. In addition, depending upon the nature of the matter materiality may be considered in relative or absolute terms. If therefore the auditor concludes that, judged against criteria he believes to be most appropriate in the circumstances, the matter does not materially affect the view given by the financial statements he should not qualify his opinion.

Materiality is essentially a matter of professional judgement and therefore an individual item can be judged material if knowledge of that item could reasonably be deemed to have influence on the users of the financial statement. The issue of materiality arises in two situations:

(i) determining the extent to which detailed audit work should be performed in specific areas and (ii) determining whether errors or other mis-statements have affected the true and fair view.

An amount is not material solely by reason of its size. Other factors including those set out below must be considered in making decisions as to materiality: (a) the nature of the item i.e. whether it is a factor entering into the determination of net income, unusual or extra-ordinary, contingent upon an event or condition, determinable based upon existing facts and circumstances and required by statute or regulation (b) the amount itself in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole, the total of the amount of which it forms or should form a part, related items (e.g. if the figure under review is the doubtful debt provision then debtors would be related items), the corresponding amounts in previous years or the expected amounts in future years. It has been found that it is possible to have quantitative guidelines as to materiality and these range between 5

and 10 percent when compared to an appropriate base. Below 5% would not normally be material unless it is one of those transactions which must be disclosed by statute e.g. directors emoluments.

# ii. Fundamentality

When a matter is fundamental then it is considered so crucial to the view given by the accounts that it can render them totally misleading or meaningless. This usually arises in very rare circumstances. Remember that an uncertainty ceases to be just material and becomes fundamental when its impact on the financial statements is to make them meaningless. A disagreement ceases to be just material and becomes fundamental if its impact on the financial statements taken as a whole is so great as to make them totally misleading. It would appear that failure to comply with IAS and the requirements of legislation would automatically make a disagreement fundamental because compliance with the IAS and Companies Act is necessary for accounts to give a true and fair view.

When the auditor is faced with a situation of uncertainty whether it is limitation of scope or inherent but it is only restricted to an item in the accounts and not the accounts as a whole then he should use a "subject to" form of report.

Where the uncertainty is considered fundamental then the auditor should use a disclaimer of opinion.

When it is a situation of disagreement on an aspect of the accounts then the auditor uses an "except for" opinion.

When the disagreement is fundamental, then he gives an adverse opinion

# **Emphasis** of matter

The standard states as a general principle, the auditor issuing an unqualified opinion should not make reference to specific aspects of the financial statements in the body of his report as such a reference may be misconstrued as being a qualification. In rare circumstances the reader will obtain a better understanding of the financial statements if his attention is drawn to important matters. These situations arise when there is an unusual event, an unusual accounting policy, or an unusual condition and it is felt that awareness of such a situation is fundamental to the understanding of the financial statement, therefore to avoid being misconstrued as being a qualification reference which are intended to be of emphasis of matter should be minimal and should be made not in the opinion paragraph of the report but in a separate and subsequent paragraph introduced with the phrase "Without qualifying our opinion above, we draw attention to....",

#### 8.26 Basic Elements of the Auditor's Report

The auditor's report includes the following basic elements, ordinarily in the following layout:

- (a) Title;
- (b) Addressee;
- (c) Opening or introductory paragraph
  - (i) Identification of the financial statements audited;
  - (ii) A statement of the responsibility of the entity's management and the responsibility of the auditor;
- (d) Scope paragraph (describing the nature of an audit)
  - (i) A reference to the ISAs or relevant national standards or practices;
  - (ii) A description of the work the auditor performed;
- (e) Opinion paragraph containing:

- (i) A reference to the financial reporting framework used to prepare the financial statements (including identifying the country of origin3 of the financial reporting framework when the framework used is not International Accounting Standards); and
- (ii) An expression of opinion on the financial statements;
- (f) Date of the report;
- (g) Auditor's address; and
- (h) Auditor's signature.

A measure of uniformity in the form and content of the auditor's report is desirable because it helps to promote the reader's understanding and to identify unusual circumstances when they occur.

# (a) Title

The auditor's report should have an appropriate title. It may be appropriate to use the term "Independent Auditor" in the title to distinguish the auditor's report from reports that might be issued by others, such as by officers of the entity, the board of directors, or from the reports of other auditors who may not have to abide by the same ethical requirements as the independent auditor.

## (b) Addressee

The auditor's report should be appropriately addressed as required by the circumstances of the engagement and local regulations. The report is ordinarily addressed either to the shareholders or the board of directors of the entity whose financial statements are being audited.

# (c) Opening or Introductory Paragraph

The auditor's report should identify the financial statements of the entity that have been audited, including the date of and period covered by the financial statements. The report should include a statement that the financial statements are the responsibility of the entity's management4 and a statement that the responsibility of the auditor is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on the audit.

Financial statements are the representations of management. The preparation of such statements requires management to make significant accounting estimates and judgments, as well as to determine the appropriate accounting principles and methods used in preparation of the financial statements. This determination will be made in the context of the financial reporting framework that management chooses, or is required, to use. In contrast, the auditor's responsibility is to audit these financial statements in order to express an opinion thereon.

#### (d) Scope Paragraph

The auditor's report should describe the scope of the audit by stating that the audit was conducted in accordance with ISAs or in accordance with relevant national standards or practices as appropriate. "Scope" refers to the auditor's ability to perform audit procedures deemed necessary in the circumstances. The reader needs this as an assurance that the audit has been accordance with established standards or practices. Unless otherwise stated, the auditing standards or practices followed are presumed to be those of the country indicated by the auditor's address.

The report should include a statement that the audit was planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

#### (e) The auditor's report should describe the audit as including:

- (a) Examining, on a test basis, evidence to support the financial statement amounts and disclosures;
- (b) Assessing the accounting principles used in the preparation of the financial statements;
- (c) Assessing the significant estimates made by management in the preparation of the financial statements; and
- (d) Evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

# (f) The report should include a statement by the auditor that the audit provides a reasonable basis for the opinion.

An illustration of these matters in a scope paragraph is:

"We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (or refer to relevant national standards or practices). Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion."

# (g) Opinion Paragraph

The opinion paragraph of the auditor's report should clearly indicate the financial reporting framework used to prepare the financial statements (including identifying the country of origin of the financial reporting framework when the framework used is not International Accounting Standards) and state the auditor's opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view (or are presented fairly, in all material respects) in accordance with that financial reporting framework and, where appropriate, whether the financial statements comply with statutory requirements.

The financial reporting framework is determined by IASs, rules issued by recognized standard setting bodies, and the development of general practice within a country, with an appropriate consideration of fairness and with due regard to local legislation. To advise the reader of the context in which the auditor's opinion is expressed, the auditor's opinion indicates the framework upon which the financial statements are based. The auditor refers to the financial reporting framework in such terms as: "... in accordance with International Accounting Standards (or [title of financial reporting framework with reference to the country of origin]) ...."

In addition to an opinion on the true and fair view (or fair presentation, in all material respects), the auditor's report may need to include an opinion as to whether the financial statements comply with other requirements specified by relevant statutes or law.

An illustration of these matters in an opinion paragraph is:

"In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of (or present fairly, in all material respects) the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 20X1, and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Accounting Standards (or [title of financial reporting framework with reference to the country of origin]) (and comply with ...)."

# (h) Date of Report

The auditor should date the report as of the completion date of the audit. This informs the reader that the auditor has considered the effect on the financial statements and on the report of events and transactions of which the auditor became aware and that occurred up to that date.

Since the auditor's responsibility is to report on the financial statements as prepared and presented by management, the auditor should not date the report earlier than the date on which the financial statements are signed or approved by management.

# (i) Auditor's Address

The report should name a specific location, which is ordinarily the city where the auditor maintains the office that has responsibility for the audit.

# (j) Auditor's Signature

The report should be signed in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor or both, as appropriate. The auditor's report is ordinarily signed in the name of the firm because the firm assumes responsibility for the audit.

# The format of the unqualified audit report

Here is the illustrative unqualified report from ISA 700

# Auditor's Report

(APPROPRIATE ADDRESSEE)

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of the ABC Company as of December 31, 20x1, and the related statements of income, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (or refer to relevant national standards or practices). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the account principles used in significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and view of (or 'present fairly, in all material respects,') the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 20x1 and of results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with ... (and comply with ....)

**AUDITOR** 

Date

Address'

#### Footnotes:

- 1. Reference may be by page numbers
- 2. Indicate IASs or relevant national standards
- 3. Refer to relevant statues or law

#### 8.27 Modifies Reports

There are four situations in which the auditor will depart from the form of report given above. Matters that do not affect the auditor's opinion

(a) Emphasis of a matter

Matters that do affect the auditor's opinion

- (a) Qualified opinion
- (b) Disclaimer of opinion
- (c) Adverse opinion

# (a) Emphasis of Matter

An emphasis of matter is an extra paragraph inserted in the report to draw attention to a significant matter affecting the financial statements which is explained more fully in a note to the financial statements.

An emphasis of the matter paragraph should follow the opinion paragraph and will normally refer to the fact that the auditor's opinion is not qualified.

# (b) Going Concern

The auditor should modify the auditor's report by adding a paragraph to highlight a matter regarding a going concern problem.

# (c) Significant Uncertainty

The auditor should consider modifying the auditor's report by adding a paragraph if there is a significant uncertainty (other than a going concern problem), the resolution of which is dependent upon future events and which may affect the finical statements. An uncertainty is a matter whose outcome depends on future actions or events not under the direct control of the entity but that may affect the financial statements.

#### Illustration

An emphasis of matter paragraph relating to a pending lawsuit might take the following form: Without qualifying our opinion we draw attention to Note X to the financial statements. The company is the defendant in a law suit alleging infringement of certain patent rights and claiming royalties and punitive damages. The company has field a counter action, and preliminary hearings and discovery proceedings on both actions are in progress. The ultimate outcome to the matter cannot presently be determined and no provision for any liability that may result has been made in the financial statements.

It is important to realize that an emphasis of matter does not affect the audit opinion; it merely draws attention to nay significant matters so that the reader is able to obtain a full understanding of the finical statements.

#### 8.28 The qualified opinion, disclaimer or opinion and adverse opinion

These three modifications to the auditor's report are used when there is either:

- (a) a limitation on the scope of the auditor's work or;
- (b) disagreement with management regarding the acceptability of the accounting policies selected, the method of their application or the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

The effect of these circumstances can be material or fundamental. The qualified report is used for material problems.

If a limitation on scope or a disagreement is so material and pervasive tat a simple qualification is not sufficient, one of the two stronger forms are used.

(a) A **qualified opinion** should be expressed when the auditor concludes that an unqualified opinion cannot be expressed but that the effect of any disagreement with management, or limitation on scope is not so material and pervasive as to require an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion. A qualified opinion should be expressed to being 'except for' the effects of the matter to which the qualification relates.

- (b) A **disclaimer of opinion** should be expressed when the possible effect of a limitation on scope is so material and pervasive that the auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and accordingly is unable to express an opinion on the financial statements.
- (c) An **adverse opinion** should be expressed whet the effect of a disagreement is so material and pervasive to the financial statements that the auditor concludes that a qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or incomplete nature of the financial statements.

Whenever the auditor expresses an opinion that is other than unqualified, a clear description of all the substantive reasons should be included in the report and unless impracticable, a quantification of the possible effect(s) on the financial statements. Ordinarily, this information would be set out in a separate paragraph preceding the opinion or disclaimer or opinion and may include a reference to a more extensive discussion, if any, in a note to the financial statements.

# Examples of modified reports

- (a) Limitation on scope
- (i) Limitation on scope qualified person

We have audited ... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the introductory paragraph of the unqualified above).

Except as discussed in the following paragraph, we conducted our audit in accordance with ....(remaining words are the same as illustrated in the scope paragraph of the unqualified report above).

We did not observe the counting of the physical inventories as of December 31, 20x1, since that date was prior to the time we were initially engaged as auditors fir the company. Owing to the nature of the company's records, we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to inventory quantities by other audit procedures.

In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary had we been able to satisfy ourselves as to physical inventory quantities, the financial statements give a true and (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the opinion paragraph of the unqualified report above).'

# (ii) Limitation on scope - disclaimer of opinion

We are engaged to audit the accompanying balance sheet of the ABC Company as of December 31 20x1 and the related statements of income, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. (Omit the sentence stating the responsibility of the auditor).

(The paragraph discussing the scope of the audit would either be omitted or amended according to the circumstances.)

(Add a paragraph discussing the scope limitations as follows:)

We were not able to observe all physical inventories and confirm accounts receivable due to limitations placed on the scope of our work by the company.

Because of the significance of the matters discussed in the preceding paragraph we do not express an opinion on the financial statements.

# (b) Disagreement

(i) Disagreement on Accounting Policies- Inappropriate Accounting method – Qualified Opinion

We have audited ....(remaining words are the same as illustrated in the introductory paragraph of the unqualified report above.)

We conducted our audit in accordance with ... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the scope paragraph of the unqualified report above).

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, no depreciation has been provided in the financial statements which practice, in our opinion, isn't in accordance with International Accounting Standards. The provision for the year ended December 31, 20x1 should be based on the straight line method of depreciation using annual rates of 5% for the building and 20% for the equipment. Accordingly the non current assets should be reduced by the accumulated depreciation of xxx and the loss for the year and accumulated deficit should be increased by xxx and xxx respectively.

In our opinion, except for the effect on the financial statements of the matter referred to in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements give a true and .... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the opinion paragraph of the unqualified report above).

(ii) Disagreement on Accounting Policies - inadequate disclosure - qualified opinion

We have audited ... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the introductory paragraph of the unqualified report above).

We conducted our audit in accordance with.. (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the scope paragraph of the unqualified report above.

On January 15, 20x2, the company issued debentures in the amount of xx for the purpose of financing plant expansion. The debenture agreement restricts the payment of future cash dividends to earnings after December 31, 20x1. In our opinion, disclosure of this information is required by .... (insert reference to statutory or regulatory requirement).

In our opinion, except for the omission of the information included in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements give a true and ... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the opinion paragraph of the unqualified report above).

(iii) Disagreement on Accounting Policies – inadequate disclosure – adverse opinion

We have audited ... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the introductory paragraph of the unqualified report above).

We conducted our audit in accordance with.. (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the scope paragraph of the unqualified report above.

In our opinion, because of the effects of the matters discussed in the preceding paragraph(s), the financial statements do not give a true and fair of ( or do not 'present fairly') the financial position of the company as at December 31, 20x1, and of result of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with (insert relevant IASs or national standards) .. and do not comply with ..... (insert relevant statutes or law).

#### The extent to which users understand the audit report

Users of accounts have information needs, and the auditor's report as an independent attestation lends credibility to the accounting information. However there has been the tendency for users to place far more reliance on the audit report than its actual function merits.

Typical, and erroneous, beliefs of users, have included the following:

- (a) Auditors are the persons responsible for ensuring the accounts show a true and fair view
- (b) Auditors are responsible for preventing and/or detecting fraud.
- (c) Auditors guarantee that the company is going concern.

#### How qualification may be avoided by negotiation with management

Before deciding on the nature of the audit opinion, the auditor should review the impact of the Summary of Audit Differences. A meeting between the auditor and the directors should be held to discuss the issues which may affect the opinion and review the audit differences. In practice, after negotiation, it is often the case that a compromise will be reached with the client such that some audit differences are adjusted whilst those that do not materially affect the view given by the financial statements are left as they are.

Management are generally keen to avoid qualifications in the audit report because:

- (a) Adverse publicity may arise from the media
- (b) If the qualification concerns a matter of statutory accounting policy, the powers of the courts may result in the preparation of revised accounts.

(c) Loan/debenture deed may refer to an audit qualification as giving rise to a breach of a covenant, thus giving loan note holders an immediate right to repayment or the right to appoint a receiver.

Therefore if the auditors have a contentious issue, the directors will often reconsider their decision on a particular policy provided that the auditors present the matter in an effective way with management. Thus can sometimes be a difficult and sensitive area because the auditor would normally want to avoid antagonizing or losing the client, although of courts, the need for 'truth and fairness' must prevail.

#### 8.3 Audit reporting implications of opening balances and comparatives

# 8.31 Opening balances

ISA 510 *Initial Engagements – Opening Balances* requires that when auditors take on a new client, they must ensure that:

- (a) *Opening balances* do not contain misstatements that materially affect the current period financial statements.
- (b) Prior period closing balances have been correctly brought forward or restated
- (c) Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied, or changes adequately disclosed.

Where the prior period was audited by another auditor the current auditor may be able to gain sufficient appropriate evidence from a review of his working papers.

He should obviously consider the professional competence and independence of the predecessor auditor. The predecessor may or may not be willing to cooperate in practice and is under no ethical obligation to open his file to another auditor. If the prior period audit report was modified with an emphasis of matter or a qualification, particular attention should be paid to the modification.

Where the prior period was not audited or was not adequately audited, some evidence can be obtained from current audit procedures such as the checking of receipts and payments of cash to substantiate receivables and payable figures. Inventories are more difficult, additional procedures maybe necessary. These may include the observation of current physical inventory taking and reconciliation back to opening quantities testing of opening figures and the review of gross margins. For non current assets and liabilities, underlying documentation can be checked.

Where there is insufficient evidence, the auditor issues an 'except for' or disclaimer of opinion similar to the following:

We did not observe the counting of the physical inventory stated at XXX as at December 31, 20x1 since that date was prior to our appointments as auditors. We were unable to satisfy ourselves as to the inventory quantities at that date by other audit procedures.

In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary has we been able to observe the continuing of physical inventory and satisfy ourselves as to the opening balance of inventory, the financial statements give a true and fair view of (or 'present fairly, in all material respects.') the financial position of .... As at December 31, 20x2 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with ...'.

Where misstatements on opening balances are not properly accounted for or adequately

disclosed, and where accounting polices have not been consistently applied or restated an 'except for' or adverse opinion is issued.

#### 8.32 Comparatives

ISA 710 Comparatives requires that comparatives comply in all material respects with the identified financial reporting framework. The IASB's Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements both require that financial statements show comparatives.

Two categories of comparatives exist:

(a) Corresponding figures – which are an integral part of the current period's financial statements and are not intended to stand alone. The audit report in this case only refers to the financial statements of the current period which encompasses the prior period figure, and does not refer specifically to corresponding figures.

Audit work in respect of corresponding figures is significantly less than that required for the current period. It is limited to ensuring that corresponding figures have been correctly reported or restated and appropriately classified.

If a matter in respect of which the prior period audit report was qualified is unresolved, the current report should also be qualified in respect of corresponding figures. Where the matter is resolved, an emphasis of matter paragraph may still be appropriate.

If prior period financial statements turn out to be materially misstated, and the corresponding figures are property restated in the current period, an 'emphasis matter' paragraph may also be appropriate.

Local regulations sometimes permit a reference to the fact that the prior period was audited by another auditor. If prior period financial statements were not audited at all, the audit report should state that fact.

If the corresponding figures are materially misstated, a qualified audit report should be given.

(b) **Comparative financial statements** – which are included for comparison with the current period but do not form part of the current period's financial statements. The audit report here refers specifically to each period presented (as is in the US, three years for the income statement and two years for the balance sheet.)

The auditors assess whether the accounting polices are consistent with the prior period or have been properly adjusted and disclosed. They also ensure that prior period figures agree with prior period financial statements or have been properly adjusted.

It is perfectly possible for the opinion on one set of financial statements to be different from that on the others. If an opinion different to one previously issued is given in any year, an 'emphasis of matter' paragraph should be given.

When prior periods were audited by another auditor, the predecessor auditor may reissue the audit report on the prior year in the current year, or the incoming auditor should indicate that the prior period was audited by another auditor and give details of the report issued.

Where prior period financial statements audited by another auditor require restatement, either the predecessor auditor issues a report on the revised financial statements, or, the incoming auditor state in his report that adjustments to the prior period financial statements have been made and that they have been audited.

Where prior financial statements have not been audited the audit repot should state that fact.

#### 8.4 Communications on internal control

#### Introduction

It should be normal practice at the end of an audit to send a letter to the client setting out weaknesses in the system of internal control. Certain rules should be observed when preparing such a letter (known as the management letter, the letter of weakness, the internal control memorandum, the letter of recommendations or the constructive service letter). General points of good practice are as follows:

- (a) it should make clear that the object of the audit is not to discover fraud, but to report on the financial statements. The matters referred to have been discovered incidentally to the main objective.
- (b) The points should be listed logically.
- (c) There is no point in drawing attention to a weakness which is inherent in the nature or size of the business, or its totally trivial.
- (d) Only the weakness should be noted. It should not be implied that no fraud is taking place although the possible consequences of the weaknesses can be expanded upon.
- (e) Recommendations for improvements should be made in respect of each weaknesses.
- (f) Communications in respect of recommendations should be made on a timely basis.

The management letter will normally be a natural by-product of the audit, and the auditor should incorporate the need to issue the letter in the planning of the audit. The letter should be sent as soon as possible after completion of the audit procedures giving rise to the need to comment. Where audit work is carried out in more than one stage it may be appropriate to issue a letter at the interim audit stage as well as the final audit stage.

It is important that the management letter is sent and responded to on a timely basis (at the audit completion stage) in order to have impact, be effective and acted upon by the client. It is important to discuss all the points in the letter with management before the letter is issued. Any significant matters should be brought to management's attention immediately first verbally followed up in writing. It is essential that the contents of the letter are considered by the management. A copy of the letter with replies should be kept on the file. Significant matters should be followed up after the client's response by way of discussion or the performance of system tests. Normally, it is usual for the auditor to review points made in previous years at the first subsequent audit visit.

When a group of companies is involved, the management of the holding company may want to be informed of significant points arising in the reports of the management of the subsidiaries. The auditor must obtain permission from the management of the subsidiary before releasing such information.

Any report made to management should be regarded as confidential communication. The auditor should therefore not normally reveal the contents of the report to any third party without the prior written consent of the management of the company.

In practice, the auditor has little control over what happens to the report once it has been dispatched. Occasionally, management may provide third parties e.g. their bankers, with copies of the report.

The auditor can use a disclaimer of liability against foreseen liability to third parties but this may not give full protection from liability where the auditor knows or ought to know that a report to management may be passed to a third party who would rely on it.

# Example of a management letter

There are other acceptable layouts which you may have seen in practice; columnar formats with

the headings 'weakness', 'implication' and 'recommendation' are common. Again it is not necessary to learn this example, as the points would not be appropriate for all enterprises. Note however the type pf points made.

#### PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

The Directors

Jaribu Ltd.

Nairobi

Morovia 15th May 20x8

Dear Sirs

#### Jaribu Ltd.

# Audit for the year ended 31 December 20x7

In accordance with our normal practice, we are writing toe you with regard to matters arising out of our audit for the year ended 31 December 20x7 which we consider should be brought to your attention.

Our responsibilities as auditors are governed by the (IASs/ national laws) and principally require us to report on the accounts laid before the company in general meeting.

This report has been prepared for the sole use of the directors of Upper plc. None of its contents may be disclosed to third parties without our written consent. Swift and Co assumes no liability to nay other persons.

The matters detailed in this report reflect matters coning to our attention during the course of our audit. They are not intended to be a comprehensive statement of all weaknesses that may exist or of all improvements that could be made. We set out below those matters which we consider to be of fundamental importance. Other matters of lesser significance, but which nevertheless require your attention, are dealt with in note form in the attached appendix.

#### (a) Management reporting

A fundamental requirement to allow proper control over your business is the regular and timely preparation of accurate management accounts. Preferably those should be prepared monthly, compared with budgets and submitted for formal consideration and adoption by the full board of directors. At the moment no such system exists.

# (b) Internal control – accounting system

- (i) The company exercises no control over the input, processing or output of information processed by the computer bureau. Reliance is placed on the computer bureau to ensure complete processing of accounting information. In our opinion the directors should ensure that the company effects proper control over the completeness and accuracy of information processed.
- (ii) There are other areas covering aspects of inventory, non-curent assets and receivables where control is lacking or inadequate which are dealt with in the appendix attached.
- (iii) Our audit work was made considerably more difficult by the absence of care in filing supporting documentation which was therefore difficult to trace. The proper maintenance of records is not only a requirement of the (national laws/IASs but is also necessary for the efficient running of your business.

# (c) Preparation of accounts

The quality of the draft financial statements submitted to us for audit was poor.

- (i) The financial statements were produced late without proper support. When support was provided in some cases it failed to agree with the amounts stated in the draft financial statements.
- (ii) A number of items required to be disclosed under the (IAS/national laws) was omitted. Extensive discussions were necessary with you to ascertain the information to be disclosed in respect of director's interests and capital expenditure.

To reduce the time spent on the audit, and this the cost to you, all supporting documentation should agree with the financial statements and statutory disclosure information would be assembled prior to our examination.

We would be pleased to discuss these points with you at your convenience.

Yours faithfully

Swift & Co

# **Appendix**

Jaribu Ltd. - year ended 31 December 20x7

# (a) computer

# processing Weaknesses:

Lack of control exercised over computer processing.

#### **Implications**

The completeness, accuracy and validity of the accounting records may be undermined.

# **Recommendations:**

- (i) Authorization of input especially journals not arising from books of prime entry.
- (ii) Batch controls using registers over all input in terms of value and number of documents/transactions processed.
- (iii) Use of hash totals
- (iv) Management control over master file amendments
- (v) Reconciliation to control accounts
- (vi) Clear audit trial for the correction and resubmission of nay rejected
- (vii) All financial information processed at one location
- (viii) A back up system should be available if the bureau is unable to process the input.

#### (b) Payroll

# Weaknesses

No evidence of approval

# **Implications**

Unauthorized changes may occur

#### Recommendations

Management should evidence their approval of the payroll, changes in rates of pay and the employment of new staff.

# (c) Inventory

#### Weaknesses

- Lack of physical and financial control over times of inventory
- Cut off errors were discovered for widgets dispatched prior to the year end but un invoiced
- Overhead allocation in valuation of widgets lacked support

# **Implications**

- Inventory could be misappropriated
- The year end inventory figure could be misstated

# Recommendations

- (ii) A simple system of perpetual inventory should be implemented at each location. This should be used to check for the dispatch and receipt of inventory and would provide good overall control to enable a comparison of:
  - · Expected use to actual by comparison with orders, and
  - Book inventory to actual after regular inventory checks
- (iii) Improvements should be made to the system of control to facilitate a review of the dispatches at the year end to ensure that a proper cutoff is achieved.
- (iv) The valuation of widgets depends on the estimated throughout during the year. It is important that the number of widgets produced is properly recorded and that consideration is given to normal production levels to allow compliance with accounting standards.

#### (d) Non-current assets

## Weaknesses

- Lack of physical control
- Lack of clear capitalization policy
- Assets will nil net book vale subject to depreciation charge.

#### **Implications**

- Portable assets could be misappropriated.
- Items could be incorrectly capitalized
- The depreciation figures in the accounts could be overstated.

#### Recommendations

- (i) A register should be introduced to record all assets at cost together with associated depreciation
- (ii) In previous years capital additions, notably the improvements to the leasehold premises, have been written off. Also, assets scrapped have not been written off. The effect of these cancel out and therefore we have not proposed an adjustment to opening figures. A capitalization should be laid down and adhered to.

(iii) A register would enable the identification of fully depreciated assets and allow them to be excluded from the deprecation calculations.

# (e) Purchases of payments

#### Weaknesses

- Lack of proper allocation of costs
- Lack of supporting documents
- Lack of control over cheque books
- Unauthorized charges
- Poor control over unrecorded liabilities

# **Implications**

- Purchases in the accounts may be misstated
- Payables may be understated if unrecorded liabilities are not controlled

#### Recommendations

- (i) All charges incurred should be allocated to the relevant cost centre to promote accountability of these centers.
- (ii) Proper supporting documents for all payments must be retained and property filed for easy retrieval.
- (iii) Control over payments would be improved if only one cheque book was in sue at any one time.
- (iv) Documents supporting charges should be authorized by an appropriate level of management
- (v) A purchases journal should be introduced. Payments should be marked off. This would provide control over unpaid invoices and a means for regular control account reconciliation.

## 8.5 Communications of Audit Matters with those Charged with Governance

ISA 260 Communications of Audit Matters with Those Charged with Governance. The standard requires auditors to communicate, on a timely basis, matters of governance interest to those with the governance of an entity.

This rather obscure form of words means that auditors should communicate to management matters such as the following:

- (a) The general approach and overall scope of audit, including any expected limitations thereon, or any additional requirements.
- (b) The selection of, or changes in, significant accounting polices and practices that have, or could have, a material effect on the entity's financial statements.
- (c) The potential effect on the financial statements of any significant risks and exposures, such as pending litigation, that are required to be disclosed in the financial statements.
- (d) Audit adjustments, whether or not recorded by the entity, that have or could have significant effect on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.
- (e) Material uncertainties related to events and conditions that may cast sufficient doubt on the entity's ability to a continue as a going concern.
- (f) Disagreement with management about matters that, individually or in aggregate, could be significant to the entity's financial statements or the auditor's report. This

- communication includes consideration of whether the matter has, or has not, been resolved, and the significance of the matter.
- (g) Expected modifications to the auditor's report.
- (h) Other matters, such as material weakness in internal control, questions regarding management integrity and fraud involving management.

(i) Any other matters agreed upon in the terms of the engagement.

#### 8.6 Recent Developments

#### 8.61 Electronic Communications

An increasing number of companies are posting financial statements, including the auditor's report onto their websites or allowing shareholders to receive the annual report in electronic from in place of a hard copy version. In these circumstances auditors check that the electronic version of the financial statements is identical in content to the manually signed accounts. (In the UK guidance for auditors to perform procedures as suggested above has been issued in this matter.)

#### 8.62 Disclaimer

Some of the major firms are now including a disclaimer paragraph in an attempt to restrict liability to third parties. An example of such paragraph (shown after the opinion paragraph) based on PricewaterhouseCoopers audit report is as follows:

'We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or in whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.'

#### IAPS 1014 Reporting on Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The purpose of this IAPS is to clarify when financial statements are in full compliance with IAS/IFRS and proposes additional guidance when the auditor expresses an opinion on financial statement prepared in accordance with:

- IAS/IFRS
- Both IAS/IFRS and national standards
- Relevant national standards but disclosure notes in the financial statements which explain the extent of compliance with IAS/IFRS.

The issue is of increasing relevance as more countries become required to comply with IAS/IFRS and claim compliance. (E.g. Australia and the EU as from January 2005).

# NB IAS 700 and IAS 610 are currently being revised

#### 8.7 Special Purpose Audit Reports

#### 8.71 Reports on Summarized Financial Statements

An entity may prepare financial statements summarizing its annual audited financial statements for the purpose of informing user group interested in the highlights only of the entity's financial position and the result of its operations. Unless the auditor has expressed an audit opinion on the financial statements from which the summarized financial statements were derived, the auditor should not report on summarized financial statements.

Summarized financial statements are presented in considerably less detail than annual audited financial statements. Therefore, such financial statements need to clearly indicate the summarized nature of the information and caution the reader that for a better understanding of an entity's financial position and the results of its operations, summarized financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the entity's mist recent audited financial statements which include all disclosures required by the relevant financial reporting framework.

Summarized financial statements need to be appropriate titled to identify the audited financial statements from which they have been derived, for example, 'Summarised Financial Information prepared from the Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 20x1

Summarised financial statements do not contain all the information required by the financial reporting framework used for the annual audited financial statements. Consequently, wording such as 'true and fair' or 'present fairly' in all material respects' is not used by the auditor when expressing an opinion on summarized financial statements.

The auditor's report on summarized financial statement should include the following basic elements ordinarily in the following layout:

- (a) Title
- (b) Addressee
- (c) An identification of the audited financial statements from which the summarized financial statements were derived
- (d) A reference to the date of the audit report on the unabridged financial statements and the type of opinion given in that report
- (e) An opinion as to whether the information in the summarized financial statements is consistent with the audited financial statements from which it was derived. When the auditor ahs issued a modified opinion on the unabridged financial statements yet is satisfied with the presentation of the summarized financial statements, the audit report should state that although consistent with the unabridged financial statements, the summarized financial statements were derived from financial statements on which a modified audit report was issued.
- (f) A statement, or reference to the note within the summarized financial statements, which indicates that for a better understanding of an entity's financial performance and position and of scope of the audit performed, the summarized financial statements should be read in conjunction with the unabridged financial statements and the audit report thereon.
- (g) Date of the report
- (h) Auditor's address, and
- (i) Auditor's signature

Examples of Reports on Summarised Financial Statements

When an Unqualified Opinion was Expressed on the Annual Audited Financial Statements

#### AUDITOR'S REPORT TO .....

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company for the year ended December 31 20x, from which the summarized financial statements were derived, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (or refer to relevant national standards or practices). In our report dated March 10 20x1 we expressed an unqualified opinion on the financial statements from which the summarized financial statements were derived.

In our opinion the accompanying summarized financial statements are consistent, in all material respects, with the financial statements from which they were derived.

For a better understanding of the Company's financial position and the results of its operations for the period and of the scope of our audit, the summarized financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements from which the summarized statements were derived and our audit report thereon.

Date AUDITOR

**Address** 

When a Qualified Opinion was Expressed on the Annual Audited Financial Statements

#### AUDITOR'S REPORT TO .....

We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company for the year ended December 31 20x, from which the summarized financial statements were derived, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (or refer to relevant national standards aor practices). In our report dated March 10 20x1 we expressed an unqualified opinion on the financial statements from which the summarized financial statements were derived gave a true and fair view of (or 'presented fairly, in all material respects') ... except that inventory had been overstated by .......

In our opinion the accompanying summarized financial statements are consistent, in all material respects, with the financial statements from which they were derived and on which we expressed a qualified opinion.

For a better understanding of the Company's financial position and the results of its operations for the period and of the scope of our audit, the summarized financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements from which the summarized statements were derived and our audit report thereon.

Date AUDITOR

## 8.8 Revised Accounts

It may be discovered after the audited financial statements have been presented to members and/or filed that they are defective. This is a relatively rare event.

Depending on the particular national requirements such as 'defective' accounts must be, may be

or may not be, revised. Where revision is required or permitted the revisions should relate only to matters arising before the original accounts were approved and in respect of fundamental errors of fact (and not for changes in accounting policies).

Revision of accounts may be by way of:

- · Revision by replacement (in which case the original version is withdrawn) or
- Revision by supplementary note.

The main duties of the auditor are to cover the following points:

- (a) Ensure that revisions are properly prepared in accordance with the applicable reporting framework
- (b) The revised accounts show a 'true and fair view'/'are presented fairly', as seen at the date when the original accounts were approved.
- (c) Ensure that the original accounts failed to comply with the local or national requirements/applicable accounting standards. A company cannot revise accounts without good reasons.

Typical audit procedures should include

- Review the original audit plan and consider what further audit evidence may be required
- Reassess the matters of judgment involved
- Obtain specific evidence in respect of the adjustments required to the original accounts
- Extend the post balance sheet review period (from the date on which the original accounts were approved)
- Perform a 'final review' on the revised accounts
- Consider any legal or regulatory consequence of the version.

An example of an opinion paragraph included in the auditor's report revised accounts is as follows:

'In our opinion, the revised financial statements give a true and fair view (or 'present fairly, in all material respects') as at the date the original financial statements were approved, of the financial position of the Company as of December 31 20x1 and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with (national legislation).

Or

In our opinion, the original financial statements for the year ended December 31 20x1 failed to comply with (relevant national standards or legislation).

#### 8.81 Distributions following an audit qualification

A company is limited in the amount of dividends it can pay to its shareholders by the total distributable profits available. These can be defined as:

Accumulated realized profits, so far as not previously utilized by distributor or capitalization, less accumulated realized losses.

In some countries there are additional restrictions for public companies.

In order to determine the amount of distributable profits, reference is made to the latest audited accounts. If those accounts have been qualified, and directors want to pay a dividend, auditors

are normally required (under national legislation) to state in writing whether in their opinion the qualification is material for determining whether the proposed distribution is legal.

# 8.9 IAS 14 Segment reporting

IAS 14 is mandatory for enterprise whose equity or debt is publicly quoted or about to be publicly quoted. IAS 14 encourage other enterprise to provide segmental information, and if they do they should comply with the provisions of IAS 14.

When consolidated financial statements are presented as well as those of the parent, the segmental analysis need only be disclosed on a group basis.

#### 8.91 Definitions

IAS 14 contains the following definitions:

# (i) Business Segment

A business segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.

# (ii) Geographical Segment

A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments.

# (iii) Reportable Segment

A reportable segment is a business segment or a geographical segment identified based on the foregoing definitions for which segment information is required to be disclosed buy this standard.

# (iv) Segment revenue

Segment revenue is revenue reported in the enterprise's income statement that is directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of enterprise revenue that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, whether from sales to external customers or from transactions with other segments of the same enterprise.

Segment revenue includes a joint venture's share of the revenue of a jointly controlled entity that us accounted for by proportionate consolidation in accordance with IAS 31 Financial reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures.

# (v) Segment expense

Segment expense is expense resulting from the operating activities of a segment that is directly attributable to the segment and the relevant portion of an expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment, including expenses relating to sales to external customers and expenses relating to transactions the other segments of the same enterprise.

Segment expense includes a joint venture's share of the expense of a jointly controlled entity that is accounted for by proportionate consolidation in accordance with IAS 31.

#### 8.92 Extent of Segmental Analysis

In view of these definitions, it may be seen that segmental analysis of the income statement is only required as far as operating profit, presumably because allocations of finance costs would be likely to be arbitrary. Even general administrative costs are excluded.

Segmental analysis of assets and liabilities must be consistent with that for revenue and expenses.

#### 8.93 Reportable Segments

In determining whether a segment is a reportable segment, a 10 per cent rule is adopted. A segment is a reportable segment if most of its sales are to external customers and it has at least 10 per cent of:

- (i) Total sales, including sales to other segments, or
- (ii) Total profit of all profit making segments, or total loss of all loss making segments or
- (iii) Total assets of all segments

A segment which is below these levels may still be designated as a reportable segment.

A segment below the 10 per cent thresholds and not designated as a reportable segment may be combined with another similar segment. If this is not possible, it is included as an unallocated reconciling item.

# 8.94 Identifying Reportable Segments

The main choice in identifying segments is between business segments and geographical segments. In fact, IAS 14 require some segmental analysis for both of these, but the IAS 14 disclosure requirements are based on the idea of 'primary' and 'secondary' segment reporting formats. If classification by business is the primary format, a full segmental analysis is required on this basis, with limited disclosure in the secondary geographical format, and vice versa if the geographical format is chosen as primary.

Most businesses will probably choose analysis by business as their primary format. One could also envisage a single product enterprise which produced geographical analysis only.

The geographical analysis may be done in two ways – by location of assets and by location of customers. There are thus three possible choices for the primary format:

- Business (analysis by different product or services)
- Geographical by location of assets
- Geographical by location of customers

# 8.95 Implication of IAS 14 for Auditors

There is significant amount of discretion allowed to the directors in applying IAS 14. The auditor will need to establish the basis for the analysis provided by the directors and check whether they have followed the guidance given in IAS 14 regarding significant segments. The segments need to be consistent with previous periods but there can be valid reasons for changes as the relative importance of different sectors changes.

Test checks to source documentation will need to be made of the analyses supplied and then reconciled to the aggregate figures in the financial statements.

#### 8.96 IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements

The amounts appearing in the cash flow statement are derived mainly from the balance sheet and the income statement particularly where the indirect method has been used and verified accordingly. Where the direct method has been used the amounts should be verified by reference to the source accounting records (for example the cash book). The auditor should also ensure that the items have been properly classified and that cash and cash equivalents fall within the definition in the standard. Arithmetical tests should be performed on the cash flow statement and it should be reviewed for compliance with the disclosure requirements of IAS 7.

Thus if the auditor has qualified because of a disagreement over the accounting treatment, the auditor will adjust the accounts for his own preferred accounting treatment and compute whether the proposed dividend would be affected.

An example of a report (based on UK legislation) is as follows:

# AUDITORS' STATEMENT TO THE MEMBERS OF XYZ PLC (OR LTD)

We have audited the financial statements of XYZ plc for the year ended 31 December 20.. in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board and have expressed a qualified opinion thereon in our report dated .....

#### Basis of opinion

We have carried out such procedures as we considered necessary to evaluate the effect qualified opinion has for the determination of profits available for distribution.

# Opinion

In our opinion, this qualification is not material for the purpose of determining whether the distribution of f..... proposed by the company is permitted under section 263 of the Companies Act 1985.

Certified Accountants and Registered Auditor Date Address

# REINFORCING QUESTIONS

# **QUESTION ONE**

1. It has been said that an auditor's report is the formal result of all his efforts. This being the case it is very important that the reader well understands the meaning of the Audit Report, particularly where the auditor wishes to qualify his opinion on the financial statements subject to audit.

# Required

- (a) Explain how the International Standards on Auditing attempt to ensure that the Audit Report is clearly understood.
- (b) Describe clearly the circumstances in which an Adverse Opinion and a Disclaimer of Opinion would be appropriate. (Give two examples—one each—to illustrate your answer—a full audit opinion should not be given).
- (c) Do you believe that a disclaimer of opinion is largely valueless? Give reasons to support your opinion.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

- (a) What reports should be made to management?
- (b) When should these reports be made?
- (c) What names are given to these reports?
- (d) List the contents of such reports?

## **QUESTION THREE**

- (a) List the circumstances in which the 7th Schedule requires qualification in audit reports
- (b) List the circumstances in which the ISA 700, "The Auditors Report on Financial Statements" regards as involving inherent uncertainty
- (c) What types of qualification are there?
- (d) Give examples of limitation of scope
- (e) Give examples of disagreement
- (f) Distinguish between materiality and fundamentality
- (g) What is emphasis of matter?

# **QUESTION FOUR**

You are an audit senior in a firm of accountants which has been requested by one of the directors to carry out an examination of the accounting policies, calculations and procedures adopted by the company in preparing a profit forecast. The client requires an Accountant's Report to accompany the profit forecast. One of the partners has asked you to deal with this inquiry.

# You are required

- (a) To record the preliminary considerations and in particular those matters that the firm needs to agree with the directors of the clients company before accepting the assignment. (6 Marks)
- (b) To record the main points which will need to be considered when carrying out the assignment before preparing the Accountant's Report. (6 Marks)
- (c) To record the points that need to be considered when drafting the Accountant's Report.

(10 Marks)

(Total: 16 Marks)

# **QUESTION FIVE**

Computer Maintenance Services Ltd. are computer Engineers with a current annual turnover of Sh.8,000,000. Generally customers are invoiced for maintenance work at the time that service is provided although the company offer their customers a three year service contract on payment of a non-refundable fixed sum at the beginning of the contract.

You have been appointed auditor, your predecessors having resigned after completing the audit for the year ended 30 September 1989. Their report was unqualified.

You have commenced planning the audit of the financial statements for the year ending 30 September 1990 and have found that on the basis that payments for three year service contracts are non-refundable, the directors have in previous years taken credit for all such income at the time that the contract is entered into.

The management accounts for the year to date show that direct costs represent approximately 80% of the service contract income. The net profit for the year ended 30 September 1989 was Sh.480,000 and income from service contracts entered into during that year amounted to Sh.2,150,000.

You are required to write a formal letter to the directors setting out:

- (a) Your reservations, if any, on the accounting policy adopted for three year service contracts, and
- (b) Your recommended treatment of such income, together with the disclosures you consider necessary in order for the financial statements to show a true and fair view.

  (16 Marks)

CHECK YOUR ANSWERS WITH THOSE IN THE LESSON 10 OF THE SUDY PACK

240 Lesson Nine

# **LESSON NINE**

# **Audit Investigations, Receiverships, Liquidations and Current Issues in Auditing**

# **OBJECTIVES**

When you have studied this chapter you should be able to:

- Explain and carry out audit investigation
- Prepare various accountants reports
- Explain and discuss the main principles of independence
- Discuss the role of audit committees
- Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of carrying out non audit work for an audit client
- Explain and discuss the fundamental principles of professional ethics
- Discuss the forms of organizations available to professional firms

#### **CONTENTS**

- · Investigations
- Specific Types of investigations
  - Requests for Loans
     Fraud Investigations
  - o Back Duty Investigations
- The Accountants Report on Prospectuses
- Conduct an investigation into and prepare an auditor's report on prospective financial information and on projections of financial information.
- Investigation by the Registrar of Companies
- Receiverships and Liquidations
- Auditor Independence
- · Environmental Auditing
- Management Auditing
- · Non Audit work

#### **INSTRUCTIONS**

- · Assigned Readings The Study text is sufficient.
- Complete answers to Reinforcing Questions at the end of this lesson without reference to the model answers.
- Check your answers against those given in Lesson 10 of the Study Pack.

#### 9.0 Investigations

An investigation can be defined as an enquiry commissioned by a client for some purpose of his. The scope of enquiry, the range of possible clients and the number of purposes can be very large. We shall therefore confine ourselves to the most common types of investigations that the professional accountant may be called upon to do.

# 9.1 Common types of investigations:

- a) Acquisition of companies;
- b) Purchase of business;
- c) Prospective investments;
- d) Admission of new partners;
- e) Prospective lending;
- f) Fraud;
- g) Systems breakdown;
- h) Company Acts investigations;

Under this heading we shall also consider, prospectuses and profit forecasts.

Investigations may be needed whenever facts are in doubt or in dispute or where knowledge is required. Anybody can commission an investigation and you will find that companies, individuals, financial institutions and banks, local authorities, the tax authorities can all commission various investigations.

# 9.2 Investigations: The Stages

All investigations are carried out in the same way, therefore the student must remember this section of this chapter.

#### Stage 1:

You must always obtain precise written instructions from the client. This must incorporate a very clear view of the aims of the investigation, the scope of the investigation, the degree of the detail required, the degree of secrecy to be observed, the person to whom the accountant must address his report. At this level, consideration must be given to the resources the client is ready to utilise and the cost of the job, both in terms of money and time.

#### Stage 2: Professional courtesies

Professional etiquette requires that if investigations are carried out in the affairs of organizations to which the accountant is not the auditor then the auditors must be communicated with. This is to observe the usual courtesies and to obtain their cooperation.

# Stage 3: Organization of the investigations

This involves the accountant assessing the aims of the investigation, estimating the time to be taken and the likely costs and ensuring that the appropriate staff will be available.

#### Stage 4: Obtaining the background information

This is particularly important in investigations in acquisition of business. It involves gathering as much background information as possible about the object of the investigation, the size of the industry and its structure, history since commencement, the future prospects, the relevant legislation affecting that industry, investment information and relevant accounting ratios. This information is usually available from published sources such as government statistics, trade

associations and the financial statements.

#### Stage 5: Gathering preliminary information

This information has to be gathered on the subject to be investigated. This information includes the location of the subject, its products, its range of services and its share of the market, key personnel, major accounting control systems and past reports.

#### Stage 6: Preparing the report outline

A report that meets the needs of many accounting investigations is as follows:

- **Part A:** Introduction whereby we have references to the instructions given. The object of the investigation must be apparent from the introduction.
- **Part B:** A summary of the instructions must be given.
- **Part C:** A statement of the precise objectives of the investigation and the report.
- **Part D:** A statement of the scope of investigation stating the time period and the area covered.
- **Part E:** A statement of the documents used. If it is necessary to reproduce any of these documents this is usually done in an appendix.
- **Part F:** An outline of the work actually done, again it may be necessary to put some of this material in an appendix.
- Part G: A summary of the information obtained.
- **Part H:** Further information which could be of use to the client but does not flow from the investigation proper.
- **Stage I:** Recommendations of the accountant. In giving recommendations, the accountant must always ensure that:
  - He gives information from which the client can draw his own conclusions
  - b) Avoid presenting information in such a way that the clients' judgement is influenced
  - c) If information is based upon assumptions, then the accountant must state the assumptions in full and substantiate them if possible
  - d) Make no forecasts
  - e) If you are giving opinions, estimates or forecasts, then the accountant must state who made them and what qualifications they had to making them
  - f) The recommendations are practical
  - g) The investigation has been comprehensively completed.
  - h) The report is drafted and discussed with the client
  - i) The final report is submitted

#### 9.3 Specific Investigations

#### 9.31 Acquisitions (Interest Acquisition Audits)

# These are agreed procedures engagements.

Accountants are frequently requested by individuals or companies to investigate a business or a company of which the client is contemplating purchase. What the accountant is being asked to do is to help his client make up his mind on whether to buy or not and if to buy at what price and for what consideration. The accountant's approach will depend on his instructions. An investigation of this nature might be carried along the following lines:

i. Obtain written instructions. This is to determine the purpose of the investigation and any particular criteria the client may wish to apply. So, we must know the cash

- availability, the consideration to be offered, the minimum return on the investment, the scope and cost of the investigation.
- ii. Establish contacts. The accountant must open up a relationship with his client, the subject of the investigation, its professional advices particularly accountants and auditors.
- iii. Examine and redraft the accounts for a period of years. This is usually taken to be 3 years, one year being considered too short because there are no comparatives, two years being considered too short because there is no trend, three years being considered optimum because you have a comparative and trend. More than three years is considered to be purely of historical value. Under this stage, we eliminate all the non-recurring items and all items which will not apply after the change of ownership and we include notional amounts for items that will become applicable after the change of ownership. These may involve redrafting of the accounts using different accounting policies.
- iv. Establishing the reliability of the accounts: If they have been audited by a well recognized firm, then little verification is required apart from considering any qualifications in the auditors reports and the appropriateness of the accounting policies used. If the accounts have not been audited, then you require some more information in the following areas:
  - a) Sales: You have to investigate for inclusion of fictitious sales or sales from other businesses;
  - b) Purchases: Look out for exclusions;
  - c) Cut off: This is important as potential sellers are well known for switching sales into final periods to boost turnover and profits;
  - d) Work in progress and stock: It is important to check the quantity and value sometimes an independent stock take should be arranged at the take over date:
  - e) Gross profit ratios: This should be consistent year to year and with the industry average;
  - f) Asset valuations: Adequacy of depreciation and the value of debtors need to be looked at critically. Look out to see whether necessary repairs and renewals of assets have been ignored;
  - g) Undisclosed liabilities: Items may include pension obligations compensation for redundancies and taxation liabilities.
- v. Commercial considerations: The various factors to be considered include:
  - a) Requiring a knowledge of the spread of customers and products;
  - b) Knowing the development plans for the district;
  - c) Length of leases of premises and the possibilities of renewal;
  - d) The continuity of trading arrangements;
  - e) The personal connections of the vendors will the customers continue to patronise the business after change in ownership;
  - f) Personnel considerations;
  - g) The need for an agreement that the vendor will fill in from original.
- vi. Future prospects: The important factors here are:
  - a) The future of the industry;
  - b) The future of the enterprise within the industry;
  - c) The capital working needs and the fixed assets investment needs, you may find cash flow forecasts essential:

d) Miscellaneous issues: Your client will be interested in being given facts upon which he can form an opinion. He would also like to know the reason for the sale of the business and he may be interested in working methods that are ordinarily used for valuing businesses.

#### 9.32 Requests for Loans

The bank in wishing to give loans requires certain information from the applicant. The bank wants to know:

- a) The purpose for which the loan is required
- b) The adequacy for that purpose of the amount being sought
- c) The nature and adequacy of the underlying security and the ease with which it may be realised if necessary
- The proposed arrangement for the payment of interest and the period over which repayment of the principal sum will be completed

So, to carry out an investigation the following procedures are generally adopted:

#### General

- a) The background and professional standing of the promoters of the company;
- b) The viability of the concern in the light of current and probable future requirements in the area of operation;
- c) The size of the existing market and the likelihood of success for a new venture;
- d) The quality of the goods and services to be offered must be compared with what is already available including comparison of price;
- e) The availability of suitably located premises at an economic rent possessing permission for the use intended.

#### Financial

- a) The bank wants to know the extent which the promoters can match the requested finance with their own resources;
- b) Their personal financial status, the possibility of providing personal guarantees as security for the loan sought;
- c) Their past success or failure in business ventures;
- d) Their ability to provide references as to their commercial acumen, honesty and integrity in business dealings.

# Schedules included in the presentation

- a) The cash flow budgets of the proposed concern for the first two years of operation (usually the most difficult for new businesses). At this stage cash budgets are far more significant than profitability, although the bank will obviously wish to be satisfied as to potential future profitability;
- b) Estimates, set out month by month, of income from sales/services, net of direct (i.e. variable) expenditure incurred in earning that revenue;
- c) Estimates, once again set out monthly, of the fixed and set up costs likely to be incurred from the inception of the enterprise. Such expenses would cover:
  - i. Administrative salaries including directors drawings;

- ii. Establishment expenses e.g. rent and rates, premiums on leases, installation of telephones, light and heat;
- iii. Refurbishing and decorating costs to meet the company's initial requirements;
- iv. Cost of acquiring furniture, typewriters etc.;
- v. Initial and regular advertising direct mail, stationery;
- vi. Repairs and maintenance;
- vii. Interest charges on the finance which it is hoped the bank will extend as a result of the presentation;
- d) A duplicate set of estimates and under (a c) above except that they should be prepared on the basis of a worst position.

# 9.33 Fraud Investigations

The nature and scope of a fraud investigation are dependent on the instructions given. The main problems usually are:

- a) The past time period that needs to be investigated. This could be a few days or many years.
- b) The scope of the investigation. We have to determine whether we are investigating an individual, a whole company, a whole department or a group of companies.
- c) The questioning of individuals. This can be a very painful exercise and the following general rules can be helpful:
  - i. The questioner should have a colleague present;
  - ii. The person being interviewed should be allowed to have a friend present;
  - iii. Accusations should not be made but evidence should be presented and explanations requested;
  - iv. The questioning should be in private;
  - v. If necessary, judges rules should be observed. This means that a person being questioned understands the nature of the question and should not unwittingly incriminate himself;

#### There are two broad categories of fraud

- a) Fraud involving the manipulation of the records and the accounts usually by the company's senior officer with a view to benefiting in some way from the false picture which they convey.
- b) Frauds usually by employees involving the theft, misappropriation or embezzlement of the company's funds usually in the form of cash or other assets.

Below is a summary of procedures the investigating accountant will be required to follow in arriving at estimates of losses from case (b), assuming that it is already known that a defaulting employee has been at work.

- i. He has to ascertain the level of authority and the nature of duties of the defaulting employee;
- ii. Cast and vouch the cash book and obtain certificates of opening and closing balances from the bank;
- iii. Check the cash book against bank statements paying particular attention to the dates of lodgement to ascertain whether receipts were banked promptly;
- iv. Examine pay-in-slips at the bank and compare with counterfoils as these may reveal teeming and lading;

- v. Carry out a positive circularisation of debtors;
- vi. Scan the cash book for any apparently irregular payments;
- vii. Examine returned cheques comparing names or payees with the details in the cash book and invoices;
- viii. Obtain duplicates of missing expenditure vouchers;
- ix. Vouch all amounts shown as partners or directors drawings or loans;
- x. Vouch and cast the petty cash book;
- xi. Confirm names of all employees shown on payroll with the chief accountant and the personnel manager and confirm amounts payable to them;
- xii. If the defrauder has access to all books then all postings should be checked and a trial balance extracted;
- xiii. Confirm all bad debts written off, discounts allowed and returns of goods;
- xiv. Check the order book against the sales day book, or copy sales invoices in order to detect any unrecorded sales;
- xv. Vouch purchase invoices with purchases day book and see that none of them has been processed twice;
- xvi. Obtain duplicates of all missing purchase vouchers;
- xvii. Compare the creditors statements against purchase ledger balances;
- xviii. Check goods inwards book or order against invoices to ensure that the latter relate to genuine purchases.

#### 9.34 Back Duty Investigations

Where the income tax authorities have reason to suspect that a resident individual subject to taxation has not made complete and accurate return of income for taxation purposes, they may require an investigation to determine the correct position. This investigation is ordinarily called a back duty investigation. The victim is required to appoint his own accountant to carry out the investigation at his own cost. The appointment has to be approved by the income tax department. A statement known as a capital statement is usually the form in which the results of this investigation are summarised. The purpose of the statement is to attempt a reconciliation of net worth at the opening and at the close of the period respectively by reference to known and estimated sources of income and expenditure. The final discrepancy that is revealed being the closest possible approximation of the undisclosed income which gave rise to the investigation in the first place.

The following procedural points should be noted: The investigation relates to the income and expenditure of the tax payer in his private as well as business capacity. The enquiries must therefore extend to his wife and children and other dependants. All sources of potential information must be tapped such as: bank statement, deposit receipts, brokers notes, insurance policies, interest and dividend counterfoils etc. Receipts and payments have to be traced through to source and destination respectively. Do not ignore small items since they may indicate the existence of assets previously undisclosed. The amount of insurance covered should be ascertained since it may indicate the approximate value of the underlying assets. The final report should refer to the deficiences in the information provided as well as the assumptions and estimates which it has therefore been necessary to make.

Special points which arise in this investigation are: the period to be covered which could be many years, the apparent cash available for living compared with the tax payers actual standard of living, the accumulation of capital compared with known sources of such accumulation, the existence of other sources of income and capital must be investigated. This will include: gambling wins, gifts and legacies. The result of the investigation may be that undeclared income comes to life. This will involve the payment of tax on the income, interest thereon, and a negotiated penalty in some cases strangely very rare, the tax payer may be jailed. The statement of capital may look like this.

| Taxpayer          |                    |
|-------------------|--------------------|
| Period covered by | this investigation |

# STATEMENT OF NET WEALTH AT OPENING AND CLOSING DATES

| tarrage wife and done                     | Kshs. Kshs.   | Kshs.Total                           | wealth   | of               |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|--|------------------|
| taxpayer, wife and deperate the commence  |   | xx,xxx                               |  |                  |
|   | own sources of earned income declared own sources of unearned income declared   |                                      | xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx   |                  |
| Pro                                       | fits on sales of: Investments Rights issues Other issues (specified in detail)  | xx,xxx                               | xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx   |                  |
| Cap — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — | oital increases from: Gifts Legacies Life policies matured Life policies surrendered Windfall gains Other items (specified in detail) |                                      | xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx |                  |
| ack                                       | own expenditure accounted for and, nowledged to be consistent with taxpayer's standard of living                                      | xx,xxx                               | xx,xxx   |                  |
| _   | Investments Other assets (specified in detail) oital decreased: Gambling losses Gifts   | xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx |  |                  |
|   | Other losses, including assets worn out/scrapped (specified in detail)  | XX,XXX                               | <u>xx,xxx</u>  | xx,xxx           |
|   | Wealth at the close of the period at the close of the period (as  |                                      |  | xx,xxx           |
| admitted)                                 | to undisclosed source of income   |                                      |  | xx,xxx<br>xx,xxx |

# 9.35 The Accountants Report on Prospectuses

#### a) The contents of the Accountants Report for the purposes of a prospectus are:

- i. Title of report and identification of the reporting accountants, with details of their address.
- ii. Addressee usually the Director of the company.
- iii. Report with the following information:
  - Examination of audited accounts of the company for the years required, Report on proposed issue stating number of shares and nominal value.
  - b) The accounts have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. The accounting policies used disclosed.
  - c) Whether reporting accountants have also been auditors of the company, if not the auditors are mentioned.
  - d) Whether any accounts have been made up for submission to the members subsequent to previous balance sheet.
  - e) Opinion on truth and fairness of the accounts;
  - f) Significant accounting policies that have been used in preparation of the accounts;
  - g) Profit and Loss Accounts for the last five years that must show earnings per share, profit before taxation, taxation and extraordinary items, directors emoluments.
  - h) Latest balance sheet.
  - i) Capital commitments and contingencies not provided for.
  - j) Date of report, signed.
- b) Provision is made for disclosure of the adjustments made by reporting accountants in arriving at the information included in the report. The purpose of these adjustments is to reflect past results in future conditions so far as these are known. This is a reasonable principle acceptable under the third schedule provisions. As a result of these adjustments it may be difficult to reconcile reported figures with those in the past published accounts of the company.

The published stewardship accounts are prepared by a company's directors for presentation to committed shareholders in order to acquaint them with the result of the company's activities during the last complete year of stewardship. There is no over-riding need for the accounts to be comparable and consistent with each other. In a prospectus, the information is addressed to potential investors in such a way as to enable them to form an opinion on the likely prospects of the company under future trading conditions so far as they can be assessed. The purpose must be met, consistency and comparability must be achieved but also future conditions must be taken into consideration.

Examples of situations in which adjustments would be appropriate are:

- i. Income and/or expenditure which has arisen in the past, but which it is known will not arise in the future may be eliminated, e.g. nationalised subsidiaries, uninsured losses, extra-ordinary items etc.
- ii. Revaluation of assets causing a change in depreciation charges. This should be adjusted only if revised figures can be produced with reasonable certainty otherwise it may be preferable to explain the position in a note to the accounts.
- iii. A significant change in accounting policies at any point during the period reported on, in which event the accounts for all affected periods should be

adjusted to reflect the accounting policies which are known to be applicable in the future.

#### 9.36 The Accountants Report on Prospective financial information

Auditing procedures for historical financial information are well established. However companies often prepare and publish prospective financial information such as profit forecasts. In order that the forecasts should have credibility the company may ask the auditor to examine and express an opinion on the prospective financial information. This examination does not amount to an audit. However, users of the prospective financial information do get some assurance from an examination of the prospective financial information by the auditor.

According to International standard on Assurance engagements No. 3400 *The Examination of Prospective Financial Information*, 'Prospective financial information' (PFI) means financial information based on assumptions about events that may occur in the future and possible actions by an entity. It is highly subjective in nature and its preparation requires the exercise of considerable judgment. Prospective financial information can be in the form of forecast, a projection or a combination of both, for example, a one year forecast plus a five year projection.

The purpose of the ISAE 3400 is to establish standards and provide guidance on engagement to examine and report on prospective financial information including examination procedures for best —estimate and hypothetical assumptions. This ISAE does not a apply to the examination of prospective financial information expressed in general or narrative terms, such as that found in management's discussion and analysis in an entity's annual report, though many of the procedures outlined herein may be suitable for such an examination.

ISAE 3400 defines a 'forecast' as prospective financial information prepared on the basis of assumptions as to future events which management expects to take place and the actions management expects to take as of the date the information is prepared (best –estimate assumptions).

A 'projection' is defined as prospective financial information prepared on the basis of:

- (a) hypothetical assumptions about future events and management actions which are not necessarily expected to take place, such as when some entities are in a start –up phase or are considering a major change in the nature of operations, or
- (b) a mixture of best-estimate and hypothetical assumptions

PFI can include financial statements or one or more elements of financial Statements. In effect a forecast is an informed opinion on what will happen and a projection is an opinion on what might happen in certain circumstances. Often a one-year forecast is given together with a five year projection.

# Acceptance of engagement

Before accepting an engagement to examine prospective financial information, the auditor would consider, among other things:

- The intended use of the information.
- Whether the information will be for general or limited distribution
- The nature of the assumptions, that is, whether they are best –estimate or hypothetical assumptions
- The elements to be included in the information; and
- The period covered by the information.

# Purposes of Prospective Financial Information Prospective financial information can be issued: (a) as an internal management tool e.g. to support a possible capital investment (b) or distribution to third parties, for example ☐ In a prospectus In an annual report To inform lenders or to support an application for finance. The preparation of PFI involves the following steps: Make best estimate assumptions about the future e.g. sales will rise by 4%, interest rates will remain stable and exchange rates will fluctuate. Determine the accounting policies used in the past which must be used in preparing the PFI. Issue the PFI with the material assumptions clearly disclosed, including an indication as to whether they are best estimate assumptions or hypothetical assumptions. Prepare the PFI on the basis of the assumptions and accounting policies. Assurance Procedures An auditor may be engaged to report on the PFI. The auditor will normally carry out the following procedures: ☐ Agree a letter of engagement Obtain a sufficient knowledge of the business – the auditor should have the knowledge Consider the period to be covered – in the case of a forecast this cannot be very long, normally not more than a year. Assess the source and reliability of the evidence supporting management's best estimate assumptions. Evidence can be obtained from internal sources (e.g. past financial statements) and external sources (e.g. the auditor's knowledge of current economic circumstances). Any plans should be within the client's capacity. The auditor should consider, when hypothetical assumptions are used, whether all implications of such assumptions have been taken into account. Forecasts should consider the capital spending needs, productive capacity, staff recruitment, working capital, cash flow and all other aspects of a proposed plan. Any hypothetical assumptions should be realistic. The auditor should make arithmetical checks on the forecasts and supporting schedules (budgeted financial statements). The whole set should be internally consistent and in accordance with proposed management actions and with assumptions. The auditor should focus on areas which are particularly sensitive to variation. When part of the period, which is the subject of the forecast, has already elapsed, the auditor should examine evidence for the financial results already achieved. If the client's year end is 31 December, a forecast for the year ending 31 December 20x3 may be made in say May 20x3 when four months or so have already elapsed. The auditor should obtain written representations from management on the intended use of the prospective financial information, the completeness of significant

# ☐ Finally the auditor should issue a report.

prospective financial information.

# .

information.

Consistency

The PFI should be based on budgeted financial statements. It should take into account the assumptions and ensure that all items are consistent with each other and that accounting

management assumptions and management's acceptance of its responsibility for the

The auditor should assess the presentation and disclosure of the prospective financial

policies normally adopted by the company have been used.

#### Disclosure

The prospective financial information must be properly and comprehensively disclosed and presented, which means that:

| <br>ou, when means that   |
|---|
| The information is not misleading   |
| The accounting policies used are clearly disclosed in the notes to the prospective financial information  |
| The assumptions are adequately disclosed in the notes to the prospective financial information. It needs to be clear whether the assumptions represent management's best-estimates (e.g. inflation will be at 3% which agree with government forecasts) or hypothetical (let us assume that our market share increase to 46% from 43%, which may be unrealistic). If the assumptions are material and subject to a high degree of uncertainty, the sensitivity of the forecast to these assumptions must be adequately disclosed. |
| The date when the forecast was prepared must be disclosed   |
| Sometimes the forecast is in the form of a range, and the basis of selection of the points on the range must be unbiased and disclosed  |
| Any change in accounting policy since the last set of financial statements must be disclosed together with the reason for the change and the effect on the prospective financial information.   |

# Reporting On Prospective Financial Information

#### Contents of the Report

The report by the auditor should contain the following:

- 1) Title
- 2) Addressee
- 3) Identification of the prospective financial information
- 4) A reference to the auditing standard applied (e.g. ISA 810), if any
- 5) A statement that the management is responsible for the prospective financial information including the assumptions on which it is based
- 6) When applicable, a reference to the purpose and/or restricted distribution of the prospective financial information
- 7) A statement of negative assurance as to whether the assumptions provide a reasonable basis for the prospective financial information
- 8) An opinion as to whether the prospective financial information is properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions and is presented in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework
- 9) Appropriate caveats concerning the achievability of the results indicated by the prospective financial information
- 10) Date of the report, which should be the date procedures have been completed
- 11) Auditor's address
- 12) Signature

#### Reports on profit forecasts

An example of such a report is set out below:

Auditors' report on the profit forecast issued by the Directors of B Limited and covering the twelve months ending 31 December 20x3

To the Board of Directors of B Limited

We have examined the profit forecast covering the twelve months ending on 31 December 20x3 set out on earlier.

We carried out our examination in accordance with International standard On Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3400: The examination of prospective financial information.

Management is responsible for the forecast including the assumptions set out on pages XX and XX on which it is based.

Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that these assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis for the forecast. Further, in our opinion the forecast is properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions.

Actual results are likely to be different from the forecast since anticipated events frequently do not occur as expected and the variation may be material.

ABC&CO

Nairobi

13 April 20x3

# Note the following points:

| Ц | The negative assurance given (nothing has come)   |
|---|---|
|   | If the forecast is presented in accordance with a relevant reporting framework (e.g. the national legislation of ISAEs or an IERS), that fact should be stated. |
|   | A statement that the forecast may turn out to be wrong  |
|   | Management responsibility   |

# **Reports on Projections**

The following is an example of a report on a projection

We have examined the projection of the profits to be earned by C Ltd. in the five years ending 31 December 20x5 set out on pages XX to XX of this document in accordance with International Standards on Assurance Engagements applicable to the examination of prospective financial information. Management is responsible for the projection including the assumptions set out in Note X on which it is based.

This projection has been prepared for the purpose of the offer for sale of 10% convertible debentures.

As the entity is in a start up phase the projection has been prepared using a set of assumptions that include hypothetical assumptions about future events and management's actions that are not necessarily expected to occur. Consequently, readers are cautioned that this projection may not be appropriate for purposes other than that described above.

Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that these assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis for the projection, assuming that sales growth of 10% annually is achieved. Further, in our opinion the projection is properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions and is presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Even if the events anticipated under the hypothetical assumptions described above occur, actual results are still likely to be different from the projection since other anticipated event frequently do not occur as expected and the variation may be material.

ABC & Co Nairobi 13 April 20X5

#### Inadequate Disclosures

The auditor may form a conclusion that the presentation and disclosure of the prospective financial information is not adequate. This may arise because the financial information fails to disclose adequately the consequences of any assumptions that are highly sensitive. In such cases the auditor may:

| Express a qualified opinion  |
|------------------------------|
| Express an adverse opinion   |
| Withdraw from the engagement |

In practice the auditor would discuss the issue with management and persuade them to change the forecast.

# Quiz

# Hopeful

As a response to a falling share price, Hopeful, listed companies, who are magazine printers, have issued a profit forecast with the annual accounts for the year ending 31 December 20x8. The annual accounts were signed off on 24 April 20x9. The forecast is for profits in 20x9 of \$26 million which contrasts with the current profit of \$21.5 million. This depends on increasing turnover by 7% and reducing overheads by 4%.

To give assurance to shareholder and other investors, the company has asked Swallow and Co, the auditors, to report upon the forecast.

#### Required

(a) Explain the term 'prospective financial information' and identify the principal problem which reporting on such information raises for auditors. (10 marks)

(b) Summarize the procedures that Swallow should carry out in order to be in a position to report on the forecast. (15 marks)

(Total: 25 marks)

# Summary of the Auditors Responsibility

- a) Preliminary considerations:
  - i. The accountant must have sufficient time to carry out his review. In tense and fast moving takeover situations the accountant may be asked to conduct a review, literally overnight. They must not allow themselves to conduct a review at a faster pace than the problem merits.
  - ii. It must be clearly established and made clear to all parties that the accountants are reporting only on accounting bases and the calculations as distinct from the assumptions including commercial assumptions.
  - iii. The accountant should only review the current period, and if a significant part of that has elapsed, then the next following period.
  - iv. Reporting accountants cannot relieve the directors of their responsibility for profit forecasts which may be used and relied upon by outsiders.
  - v. The accountant must establish the purposes for which the forecasts have been prepared.
  - vi. The accountant must be sure that the directors assume full responsibility for the forecasts by:
    - a) A minuted board resolution;
    - b) A statement to that effect in the document containing the forecast.
  - vii. The accountant must take note of the other advisers acting in the matter.
- b) The main points to be considered in conducting the review:
  - Nature and background of the company's business. Establish its activities, products, customers, markets, labour force, prospectus, and the trends of its financial results.
  - ii. Accounting policies. Establish the accounting policies adopted for interim and final accounts and forecasts. Ensure that they are acceptable and consistently followed especially in the forecasts. Special areas to be watched include stock and work in progress valuations, depreciation, the method of taking profit on long term contracts, exceptional and extraordinary items, and deferred tax.
  - iii. The assumptions:
    - a) These should be stated;
    - b) The forecast should be consistent with the assumptions which may be economic (e.g. growth in G.N.P), financial (e.g. interest rate movement, marketing (e.g. market share), (e.g. output potential), labour relations (e.g. strike free periods) etc.

The accountant is not concerned with the correctness of these assumptions although he should be sure the directors are responsible for them and that they are reported on by the advisers.

- iv. The procedures adopted by the company to prepare the forecasts: the accountant should investigate:
  - a) Whether forecasts are regularly prepared for management or prepared only for this occasion.
  - b) If they are regularly prepared, the degree of accuracy and reliability achieved.
  - c) Whether the forecasts are best estimates, honestly believed to be achievable, or simply targets.
  - d) The extent to which forecasts for wholly or partly expired periods are covered by reliable interim accounts.
  - e) The extent to which the forecasts are built up from detailed divisional or activity based sectional accounts, distinguishing those with steady performance from those with more volatile results.
  - f) The treatment of material, extraordinary, and exceptional items.
  - g) The adequacy of provisions for future losses and contingencies.
  - h) The adequacy of working capital. If finance will be required to fulfil the forecast, this should have been arranged and confirmed.

# c) The report:

This will be addressed to the directors and will contain:

- A statement that the reporting accountants have carried out a review of the accounting bases and calculations on which the profit forecasts have been based.
- ii. Specific identification of the forecasts and documents to which the report refers.
- iii. If, as is likely, the accountants have not carried out an audit of estimated results of expired periods, a statement to that effect.
- iv. Whether in the opinion of the reporting accountants the forecasts have been properly compiled on the basis of the assumptions made by the Board of Directors, as set out in the prospectus or circular, and are presented on a basis consistent with the accounting practices normally adopted by the company.
- v. If the accountants have material reservations about any part of the forecast, they should qualify their report.

#### 9.37 Letters of Consent

If a prospectus contains any statement purporting to be made by an expert (e.g. the reporting accountant), then the expert must have given and not withdrawn his consent to the issue of the prospectus with the statement in the form and context in which it is included.

A statement that consent has been given and not withdrawn must be included in the prospectus.

# An example of a letter of consent is

We hereby consent to the issue of the prospectus dated 14th May 2004 issued in connection with the offer for sale of ten million shares of Going Places Group Ltd with the inclusion therein of our

report dated 14th May 2004 and the references thereto, and the references to our name. In the form and context in which they appear. We attach a copy of the document initialled by us for the purposes of identification.

The letter of consent should be available for public inspection and except for quoted companies, be filed with the Registrar of Companies.

Before signing a letter of consent, the reporting accountant should review the whole prospectus to ensure that the information in it is not inconsistent with anything in his report. He is none-the-less not responsible for anything except his own report.

#### 9.38 Comfort Letter

The reporting accountant may be asked by the director or by the sponsor to prepare reports on other matters. These letters are not for publication and are not required by statute or other regulations. The reason for them is that the directors must make statements in the prospectus on such matters as:

- a) The adequacy of working capital
- b) The aggregate of borrowings at the latest practicable date
- c) Any pro-forma financial statement shown in the prospectus to indicate the effect of a major acquisition or re-organisation
- d) Taxation clearances and indemnities
- e) Any other financial information anywhere in the prospectus.

Clearly the directors or sponsor must be sure these matters are correctly stated and thus ask the reporting accountant to investigate and give a comfort letter that all is well.

Example of a Comfort letter

Directors Harbridge Ltd Gentlemen

We refer to the document dated 2nd January 2003 issued by your company in connection with a placing by ourselves of 1,000,000 shares of 20/= each. The document contains a forecast (for which you as directors are solely responsible) of the company's profits to the year ending 30th June 2003 We have discussed with you the bases and assumption upon which the forecast has been made and have considered the letter dated 2nd January 2003 addressed to you from Wahasibu & Co, regarding the accounting bases and calculations for the forecast.

In our opinion, the profit forecast for the year ending 30th June 2003 has been prepared after due and careful enquiry.

Yours faithfully GOLDFINGER & Co Member of the Nairobi Stock Exchange

Examples of the assumptions and letters associated with a forecast are

#### Assumptions

In arriving at the profit forecast by the directors for the year ending 30th June 2004 the principal assumptions made are that:

- a) Group turnover of Kshs20 million will be achieved
- b) Overhead costs will have increased at a rate of 5% since 30th June 2003
- c) Interest rates will not vary significantly from those ruling at 31st December 2003
- d) No further claims will be received by the directors relating to the profit forecast for the financial year ending 30th June 2004

The Directors Harbridge Limited

#### Gentlemen

We have reviewed the accounting bases and calculations for the profit forecast of Harbridge Limited (for which the directors are solely responsible), for the year ending 30th June 2004 as set out in the document dated 2nd January 2004 issued by your company in connection with a placing of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of Kshs10/- each.

In our opinion the forecast so far as the accounting bases and calculations are concerned has been properly compiled (on the footing of the assumptions made by the directors set out in the document) and is presented on a basis consistent with the accounting practices normally adopted by the company.

Yours faithfully XYZ Certified Public Accountants

Directors Harbridge Ltd

#### Gentlemen

We refer to the document dated 2nd January 19X9 issued by your company in connection with a placing by ourselves of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of 10/= each. The document contains a forecast (for which you as directors are solely responsible) of the company's profits to the year ending 30th June 19X9. We have discussed with you the bases and assumption upon which the forecast has been made and have considered the letter dated 2nd January 19X9, addressed to you from XYZ, regarding the accounting bases and calculations for the forecast.

In our opinion, the profit forecast for the year ending 30th June 19X9 has been prepared after due and careful enquiry.

Yours faithfully S.B. ROBERT Nairobi Stock Exchange

#### 9.39 Investigations by the Registrar of Companies

Section 164 to 175 of the Kenya Companies Act provide for the inspection of a companies affairs by the Registrar of Companies.

Section 164, the Registrar may appoint inspectors on the application of either not less than 200 members or of members holding not less than one tenth of the issued shares of the company.

Section 165, the Registrar must appoint inspectors if:

- a) The company by special resolution or
- b) By court order

Declare that the company's affairs should be investigated.

Section 166 empowers the High court to appoint inspectors if it appears that there are circumstances suggesting that:

- a) the business is being run with intent to defraud creditors or in a manner oppressing to any part of its members or for any fraudulent or unlawful purpose, or
- that persons concerned with the company's formation for the management of its affairs have in connection therewith been guilty of fraud, misfeance or other misconduct towards it or its members, or
- c) that its members have not been given all the information with respect to its affairs which they might reasonably expect, or
- (d) that it is desirable to do so.

Section 166: This section gives inspectors power to investigate affairs of investigated company's holding or subsidiary companies if they consider it relevant to their enquiries.

A team of inspectors usually consists of one accountant, and one advocate. Investigations usually take the form of a very extensive audit involving much use of verification, analytical review and detailed tests. The work can often take many years so it is usual for the inspectors to issue interim reports.

# 9.4 Receivership and Liquidations

#### Remedies of Debenture Holders

A debenture holder who wishes to release his security and recover his money may make use of all or any of the following remedies:

- a) He may sue on behalf of himself and all other debenture holders to obtain payment or to enforce his security by sale. The Courts will appoint a Receiver and a manager for the company's business, if necessary, and declare the debentures to be a charge on the assets of the company, and order the sale of the property.
- b) He may appoint a Receiver, if the conditions of the issue of the debentures give him the power to do so. The Receiver will sell the property and the sale proceeds will be utilised for the payment of the principal sum, interest, and costs due to debenture holders.
- c) He may apply to the Courts for the foreclosure of the company's rights to redeem the debentures. This remedy is not common, as it is necessary for all the debenture

- holders of every class to be parties to the court action.
- d) He may as a creditor for the principal and interest thereon, present a petition for the winding up of the company, or if there be a winding up in progress, he can prove in the winding up for the amount due to him, but not having any security, he ranks merely with the ordinary creditors.
- e) He may have the property sold by the trustees if the debenture trust deed permits the sale.
- f) If the company is being wound up and his security is insufficient he may value his security and prove for the whole debt.

#### Appointment of a Receiver

A debenture holder can appoint a receiver under the express power in his debenture, or he can apply to the Courts. Under Section 347 the Courts have power to appoint a receiver on the application of the debenture holder or other creditors. A receiver will be appointed by the Courts.

- a) If the principal sum becomes due
- b) If default is made in the payment of principal or interest
- c) If the company is being wound up, or the winding up is imminent
- d) If the company is disposing of its undertaking in violation of the terms of the security
- e) If there are judgements against the company
- f) If the security is in jeopardy, i.e. in danger of loss or serious deterioration in value. The question whether the security is in danger is one of fact in each case.

Although the courts will be willing to appoint a receiver whenever the security of a debenture holder is in jeopardy, they will not do so:

- a) If the company is not in fault; and
- b) If the assets of the company realised would be insufficient to pay the debenture holders in full.

# Notice of Appointment

Section 103 provides that any person obtaining a Court order for the appointment of a receiver or manager, or appointing a receiver or manager under a power contained in the debenture or trust deed must:

- a) Give notice of receiver's appointment to the Registrar within seven days after the order of appointment; and
- b) If such a person ceases to act as a receiver, he must within seven days give the Registrar notice to that effect.

Section 351(1) imposes an obligation on a receiver so appointed, that he must forthwith give notice of his appointment to the company.

#### Position of Receiver

A receiver appointed by the Courts, being an officer of the court, is not a mere agent but becomes personally liable on all contracts which he makes. In his capacity as a receiver he takes the custody of the property into his own hands for the benefit of the parties interested in it. Where he sustains any personal losses as a result of performing his duty as a receiver, he is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the company to the extent of its assets, and beyond this he has no right of indemnity.

A receiver may borrow money to carry on the business or to preserve the company with the sanction of the Court but not for speculative business. The sum borrowed will rank in priority to the debentures. A receiver appointed by the Courts is not bound by the company's contracts unless he accepts liability by means of a contract of novation.

A receiver appointed by the debenture holders under power in the debenture is their agent, and they are therefore liable on his contracts, unless the document conferring the power to appoint a receiver expressly states that he is to be the agent of the company.

#### Remuneration of Receiver

The remuneration of a receiver may be by the terms of the debentures or by the debenture holders in accordance with its terms. But a receiver appointed by the Courts has the amount of his remuneration fixed by the Courts. Although a receiver appointed by the debenture holders under power in the debentures has his remuneration fixed by agreement, the Courts may, on the application of the liquidator, fix the amount to be paid by way of remuneration to the receiver. Section 350(1).

#### **Delivery of Accounts**

Where a receiver or manager of all (or substantially all) the property of the company is appointed either under the power of the debentures or the Courts on behalf of the holders of debentures secured by a floating charge, the Receiver must send to the company notice of his appointment forthwith, and the company within fourteen days makes out and submits to him (i.e. the Receiver) a statement of its affairs.

Within two months after receiving this statement, the receiver must send to the Registrar and to the Courts (if he was appointed by the Courts) a copy of the statement and any comments he sees fit to make and must send to the Registrar a summary of the statement and of his comments, and must send to the company a copy of his comments, and to the trustees and all debenture holders a copy of the summary. Section 351.

The receiver must also within two months after the end of each year and within two months after he ceases to act as a receiver or manager, send to the Registrar and to the trustees (if any) and the company and the debenture holders any abstract of his receipts and payments during the relevant period.

Contravention of the aforesaid requirements renders the receiver liable to a fine of one hundred shillings for every day during which the default continues.

# 9.5 Bankruptcy and Insolvency

a) Bankruptcy is a legal status which a person (not a company) acquires when the court makes an adjudication order against him. The order effectively deprives him of the ownership of all his property (with certain exceptions) and subjects him to certain disabilities. b) Insolvency refers to the inability of a person (including a company) to pay debts as and when they fall due. However, although a debtor may be insolvent, he is not a bankrupt until and unless the court adjudges him to be so.

# Objects of bankruptcy laws

The principal objects of the law relating to bankruptcy are as follows:

- a) To ensure that the debtor's property is distributed equitably among his creditors. (In this context equitable is not the same as equal; certain creditors are entitled to be paid in full before the other creditors receive anything from the state).
- b) If the court agrees, to grant the bankrupt a discharge, thereby freeing him from any further liability for past debts. (Note, Section 7 of the Bankruptcy Act provides for the automatic discharge of a bankrupt, at the end of five years from the day he was first adjudged bankrupt, if he has not obtained his release before then.
- c) To examine the debtor in order to see if he has committed any offence, and to punish him in appropriate cases. This procedure is therefore a protection for creditors and other members of the public who might subsequently have become creditors.

#### Who can be made bankrupt?

A debtor who:

- a) Has committed or suffered an act of bankruptcy within the three months immediately preceding the presentation of a petition seeking to have him made bankrupt;
- b) Owes liquidated debt (or debts) of at least Shs. 1,000/= to the presenter(s) of the petition, such (debts) being due both at the relevant act of bankruptcy and at the date of the petition's presentation; and
- c) Is domiciled in Kenya or, within the year prior to the petition, was resident or carried on a business (personally or through an agent) in Kenya.

# Procedures in Bankruptcy

# Procedure in Outline

The following are the summarised steps in a typical bankruptcy:

- A) An act of bankruptcy committed or suffered by the debtor;
- b) Lodgement of a petition (by a creditor or by the debtor itself);
- c) The issue of a receiving order against the debtor by the court;
- d) The appointment of the official receiver;
- e) The private examination of the debtor;
- f) Preparation of a statement of affairs and deficiency account by or on behalf of the debtor;
- g) The first meeting of creditors;
- h) (Occasionally) a scheme of arrangement or composition prepared by the debtor;
- i) The public examination of the debtor (unless excused by the court);
- j) An adjudication order against the debtor (making him a bankrupt);
- k) The appointment of a trustee in bankruptcy to deal with bankrupt's property;
- 1) The trustee's duties, powers and responsibilities;
- m) Proofs and proxies;
- n) The realisation of assets by the trustee;
- o) Payments to creditors;
- p) The discharge of the bankrupt;

#### The Official Receiver

a) The official receiver is appointed, removed and controlled by the Court and is an officer of the court to which he is attached.

- b) He becomes receiver of the debtor's property when the receiving order is made. He also acts as trustee in bankruptcy:
  - i. In small bankruptcy (unless the creditors want someone else as trustee);
  - ii. during a vacancy in the office of trustee;
  - iii. When a trustee is released;
  - iv. In bankruptcy proceedings under penal code;
  - v. in the administration of the estate of a deceased insolvent (unless and until creditors appoint their own trustee;
  - vi. In a composition or scheme or arrangement until a trustee is appointed (and during any vacancy).

#### Duties of the official receiver

- a) Regarding the debtor's conduct. As and when required by the court:
  - i. To investigate and report to the court on the debtor's conduct (in order to determine whether a discharge should be granted);
  - ii. To take part in the debtor's public examination (where required);
  - iii. To take part in the prosecution of a debtor accused of fraud.
- b) Regarding the debtor's estate:
- i. To act as receiver, temporary trustee or special manager (where one is needed but no one is acting as such);
  - ii. To authorise the special manager to raise moneys or to make advances, where necessary;
  - iii. To summon and to chair the first meeting of creditors;
  - iv. To issue and process forms of proxy for use at meetings of creditors;
  - v. to report to creditors on any proposal for a composition or scheme of arrangement;
  - vi. To arrange for advertisements in the Kenya Gazette and local papers, as and when necessary (e.g. in respect of the receiving order, the first meeting of creditors, and the public examination);
  - vii. To act as trustee (where necessary to protect assets);
  - viii. To authorise, on occasion, the employment of an accountant (e.g. to prepare the debtor's statement of affairs).

#### Special Manager

- a) A special manager may be appointed:
  - i. if the debtor's business needs a manager;
  - ii. at the request of a creditor;
  - iii. by the official receiver (at his discretion).
- b) The debtor himself may be the special manager, if the official receiver considers it in order for him to act;

- c) The special manager must give security as directed by the court;
- d) The special manager must submit accounts (verified by affidavit) to the official receiver who, after approving them, adds them to his own accounts;
- e) The special manager's remuneration is fixed by the creditors in general meeting, or by the court;
- f) The official receiver can remove the special manager, if he considers he is no longer needed. The official receiver must remove the special manager if the creditors so resolve (by special resolution).

# **Company Liquidations**

The life of a company may be terminated as follows:

- a) Compulsory liquidations commenced by petition to the court;
- b) Voluntary liquidations commenced by resolution of the members;
- Voluntary liquidations subject to the courts supervision order. Shares are virtually absolute;
- d) Company transferring its undertaking to another company under a scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation may be dissolved by court order without winding up Sec.209.
- e) A defunct company may be struck off the register by the Registrar and so dissolved without winding up.

Liquidation and winding up mean the same thing. A company cannot be made bankrupt.

# Powers of the Liquidator

These powers fall into two categories:

Those which he may exercise without sanction and those which require sanction.

With the consent of C of I, the liquidator may:-

- Bring or defend any legal proceedings in the name and on behalf of the company;
- b) Carry on the company's business so far as may be necessary for its beneficial winding-up;
- c) Appoint a lawyer to assist him;
- d) Pay any class of creditors in full;
- e) Make compromise claims arrangements with creditors;
- f) Compromise claims against contributions for unpaid capital by the company against any person.

Without consent of C of I, the liquidator may:-

- a) Sell and transfer the company's property;
- b) Do all acts and execute all documents in the name of and on behalf of the company;
- c) Prove in the bankruptcy of any contributory;
- d) Sign bills of exchange or promissory notes in the name and on behalf of the company;
- e) Raise money on the security of the company's assets;
- f) Appoint an agent to do business which the liquidator cannot do himself;
- g) To do all things necessary to wind-up the company affairs and distribute the assets.

#### Duties of the Liquidator under the Act and Winding-up Rules

The liquidator must:-

a) Take all the company's property into his custody or control as soon as possible;

- b) Settle a list of contributories, discharge its liabilities and distribute any surplus amongst the members;
- c) Have regard to any directions given by resolution of creditors or contributories at a meeting or by C of I. Directors of the creditors or contributories override those of the C of I. He must summon meetings of creditors or contributories at such times as they, by resolution, direct or when requested in writing to do so by ten or more of the creditors or contributories;
- d) Keep the prescribed books and subject to the control of the court, allow any contributory or creditor to suspect them;
- e) Send an account in the prescribed form of his receipts and payments to registrar;
- f) Pay all money received by him during the liquidation into the company's liquidation insolvency services account;
- g) If the winding-up is not completed within a year after its commencement, send to the Registrar at the end of that year, a statement in the prescribed form concerning the progress of the liquidation;
- h) Pay into Insolvency Services Account all money representing unclaimed or undistributed assets which have remained unclaimed or undistributed for six months. Thereafter, any person claiming any part of such moneys may apply to the Registrar for an order for such payment.

#### 9.6 Current Developments in Auditing

# 9.61 Auditor Independence

There has been much debate recently about the issue of auditor independence. In particular the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) which regulates investment, proposes to make auditor's independence a large issue.

Independence is something that is both a mater of fact and a matter of appearance. It is important to be independent but it is also important to appear to be independent.

In recent years auditing firms have seen auditing almost as a loss leader, giving access to a client so that the client can be sold all manner of additional services, all of which are the really lucrative ones for the audit firm as a whole. Financial disasters of Enron and WorldCom have concentrated the collective professional minds on how to deal with the issues which have been highlighted by these cases.

#### 9.62What is independence?

The SEC has suggested four principles of independence:

- An auditor may not have a mutual or conflicting interest with the client
- An auditor may not audit his own firm's work
- An auditor may not function as management or as an employee of the audit client
- An auditor may not act as an advocate for the audit client

#### **9.63 Rules**

To ensure both independence and the appearance of independence, rules have been set out in the professional bodies' ethical codes. Included in the codes are the following matters which impair independence.

- Undue dependence on an audit client as a proportion of fee income
- Actual or threatened litigation
- Family or other personal relationship
- Beneficial interest in shares and other investments
- Beneficial interest in trusts
- Loans to or from client
- The provision of goods and services or hospitality
- The provision of other services

#### 9.63 Provision of Non Audit Services (other services)

The provision of other services, has proved particularly contentious, and this is what concerns us here

- Book keeping or other services related to accounting records
- Preparation of financial statements
- Financial information systems design and implementation
- Appraisal or valuation services
- Internal audit services
- Management functions
- Obtaining or advising on human resources
- Broker/dealer services
- · Contingency fee arrangements

#### Advantages of auditors taking on non-audit work

- In economics terms, an extensive knowledge of the client will enable the auditor
  to offer his or her services to his or her client in context which he/she already
  understands.
- The auditor will not need to obtain large amount of background knowledge before conducting the other work.

# Disadvantages of auditors taking on non-audit work

- The auditor will be perceived as not being fully independent
- The auditor will in many cases be auditing his or her own work
- · Effectively much of this kind of other work involves management functions
- Some of the work may effectively involve acting as and advocate for the client.

Should an auditor act as a tax adviser and negotiate on behalf of the client? The current situation is that most auditors do act in this capacity for their clients especially in the SME (small and medium sized) sector. Indeed many small companies see the auditor primarily as a tax negotiator and as an auditor only secondly. But should an auditor act in this way?

The dispute between the Big Four accounting firms and the SEC is a bitter one. Although it only relates to listed US companies, its resolution will have repercussions around the world. Part of the problem is the concentration of auditing of listed companies with a handful of giant accounting firms. This means that these firms are also the main suppliers on non-audit professional services, and the partners and staff of these firms have restricted opportunities for investment if they cannot invest in their client companies. This topic has received additional attention recently in the USA and UK as a result of the Enron scandal and Anderson's.

#### 9.64 Auditor independence and audit staff joining client companies.

Clearly, independence is threatened where audit staffs join a client company. For example, the knowledge of audit approach, perhaps influence over, or close relationship with, continuing audit staff could be factors which threaten an objective approach. The level of the threat would in part be determined by the seniority of position in the client company. (For example, the former engagement partner becoming a client company director would present the greatest risk).

The firm's independence procedures should include safeguards to ensure that objectivity and independence is not compromised and would include:

- Non- involvement in client audit staff leaving
- Consideration of whether to continue the audit engagement
- Rotation of audit partner/staff on subsequent audits
- Requiring a gap period
- Judgments. Objectivity is the state of mind which has regards to all considerations relevant to the task in hand but no other. It presupposes intellectual honesty.

# Advantages of an Ethical Framework' approach.

It is also important to realize that the ethical framework approach has advantages over rule based systems. The main advantages are considered to be as follows:

- It is virtually impossible for rule based systems to be able to deal with every situation that may arise.
- The onus is very much placed on the auditor to demonstrate that each matter is properly considered within the principles of the framework
- A framework is more appropriate to changing circumstance in a dynamics profession.
- Rule based systems can be interprets narrowly in order to circumvent the underlying 'spirit' or intention of the rule.
- A framework approach may include some specific 'prohibitions' or rules to deal with certain specific matters.

# 9.7 AUDIT COMMITTEES (Introduction to Audit Committees and the Reasons for their Growth)

#### a) The roles of an audit committee might include:

- To review the company's financial statements prior to their submission to the board;
- To review the scope and planning of the audit;
- To review the findings of the independent auditor;
- To ascertain whether the accounting and reporting policies of the company are in accordance with legal requirements and best practice;
- To keep under review the effectiveness of the company's systems of accounting and control;
- To make recommendations to the board concerning the appointment and remuneration of the independent auditors;

A particular role is to assist in the communication process between the board and the auditors throughout the medium of the non-executive directors and it provides a useful way of assisting the latter in the discharge of their duties.

# b) The benefits may include

- helping directors to meet their legal responsibilities. Very often main boards spend very little time on reviewing the financial statements. An audit committee could spend the time on completing this task in depth;
- enabling non-executive directors to become deeply involved in the company's affairs;
- the audit committee can review the financial statements objectively. This may improve the quality of financial reporting and improve public confidence;
- The audit function may become more independent as there will be a quasiindependent body between the board and the auditors. It may paradoxically improve communications between auditor and board;
- Improvement in the quality of the accounting and auditing functions. A continuous review of the functions of financial management and internal and external audit will inevitably result in higher status to the practitioners and superior performance.

# c) Some of the arguments against the formation of Audit Committees

- Audit committees would split the board;
- Audit committees would pre-empt (and hence delay the coming) of two-tier boards (which is the European practice);
- Audit committees would create conflicts within companies;
- Audit committees would encroach on management's responsibilities;
- Audit committees would be a talking shop with no real power;
- There are not enough non-executive directors;
- Audit committees would take too much time and cost too much;
- Audit committees would be least effective in companies which need them most (e.g. companies dominated by ambitious and unscrupulous entrepreneurs).
- The production of financial statements may be delayed.

#### d) Detailed matters to be considered by the Chairman of a new audit committee

- Ensuring the committee has the full backing of the board;
- The precise constitution and program of the committee;
- Adequate resources (secretarial, communication, time etc must be made available);
- The correct number of members. Three to five is probably optimal;
- Membership probably but not essentially non-executive;
- His own role as chairman;
- The frequency of meetings;
- The establishment of agendas;
- The establishment of administrative arrangement calling meetings, involving other people, auditors, managers etc. taking minutes;
- The dissemination of findings to the offers responsible for changes consequent upon the findings.
- The relationships required with the main board, external audit, internal audit, financial managers etc.
- any publicity requirements.

#### 9.8 Development in the US

In the US the Sarbanes Oxley Act (2002) has been enacted. This attempts to address many aspects of auditor independence and corporate governance issues. For example it places restrictions on the nature of non- audit services that can be performed by h auditors and also require that the audit committees approve any allowed additional services.

#### 9.9 Developments in the UK and other countries.

New measures for the UK's accountancy profession, aimed at preventing Enron-style financial scandals, have been announced by the government. The proposals include a new, single regulator governing accounting standards, and limits on how long auditors can work on the accounts of one company.

- Senior auditors will not be allowed to spend more than five years working on a single company's books
- New voluntary rules will stop partners and senior employees of audit firms moving to
  jobs with the companies they have audited for two year.
- A single regulator governing accounting and auditing standards will also be created
- The code on corporate governance of listed companies would be strengthened requiring that half of board members and the chairman should be independent

# 9.10 The Consultancy and Auditing Profession

Tiers in the Profession. The auditing profession is currently seen as having three layers or tiers:

- The Big Four (previously the Big Five before Enron!) international firms
- The second tier smaller firms which have numerous branches and international connections
- The small firms

The great majority of listed company audits are conducted by the Big Four with the remainder conducted by the second tier. The concentration of the market into very large firm has come about because of the growth of globalization in world markets everywhere. As a result audit firms have to have the resources and expertise to operate in every country and have to know how to audit highly regulated modern businesses. The larger firms found that amalgamations amongst the audit firms were the way forward and as a result the world audit market is now concentrated in very few firms.

There are clearly benefits to this as these firms have expertise and global facilities and can invest in expensive systems and the necessary Information Technology to meet their international clients' needs. The disadvantages are the lack of competition and choice particularly for large companies.

Globalization of business is now established fact and local factories, shop and service organizations in many countries are likely to be foreign owned or controlled. The problem with global businesses is that they operate in widely different legal and ethical systems. Only the large audit firms can acquire the global expertise to handle such audits.

#### 9.11 The Future of the Profession

Current trends are still towards more mergers both of firms in the countries where the profession is more highly developed, for example USA and many European countries with firms in overseas locations.

Another trend is the debate about audit firms offering other services and the trend may be for audit firms to divest themselves of such consultancy services. A possible scenario is for firms to offer only a relatively limited range of services such as auditing, accounting and taxation. (Some firms have already sold off their consultancy services).

# 9.12 Partnership or Incorporation

In the past accounting firms were always sole traders or partnerships. The main reason for this form of trading was the requirement for unlimited liability. Firms who damage their clients in any way may have damages awarded against them and all the partners in the firm are then jointly and severally liable up to the limit of their personal estates.

This liability still exists in many countries and is a substantial worry to the profession.

Possible alternative forms of trading for audit firms are as follows:

- Sole trading for the one man band
- Global partnerships
- Local partnership with a loose connection between them but sharing expertise, systems and the name
- Limited partnerships
- Incorporation as companies but with unlimited liability
- Limited liability company

Few firms have as yet opted for incorporation. In the UK the Limited Liability Partnership Act received the royal assent in 2000 and is now law. Probably many firms will register under this stature (KPMG have already done so). Registration under this statute gives firms the organizational and tax flexibility they need and also limits liability to some extent. If a member of the firm is negligent and has to pay damages then the LLP is fully liable as well as the member. Further the negligent member may be required to contribute to assets up to the limit of his estate but other members are not so liable unless they agree to be.

#### 9.13 Information Technology and the Auditor

#### 9.13.1 Audit Automation

Automation and rapid developments are affecting all aspects of life and the auditing profession is no exception. Whilst the essential process of the audit is the same the computerized techniques and software available to the auditor have developed significantly.

Useful packages include the following:

- File interrogation packages, e.g. search sales ledger
- Audit programme generators
- Checklist software
- Spreadsheets for calculations, listings etc
- Word processors to generate documents and store audit working papers and reports
- Relational databases
- Reference information over the internet all regulations and rules governing auditing and accounting can be searched
- Systems documentation
- Risk analysis software
- Trial balance processors
- Time management software

# 9.13.2 File Interrogation software

File interrogation software has been around for a long time. Its principal uses include the following:

- Totaling and subtotaling files
- · Stratifying and analyzing files
- Re-performing calculations
- Producing exception reports
- Detecting gaps or duplicate entries
- Selection of audit samples including monetary unit sampling
- Comparison of information on separate computer files
- Multiple file format handling, so that client files written in different formats can still be worked.

#### 9.13.3 Automating Procedures

There are obvious benefits in automating audit procedures and these include the following:

- Files are kept in a more compact form
- Systems designed for optimal auditing are adhered to by audit staff
- Automatic generation of audit plans, programmes, schedules and procedures
- Instant availability of information on a wide range of audit related subjects
- The creation of data for audit examination or analytical review that is not readily available from clients records
- · Savings due to more efficient working
- Better compliance with audit firm procedures and ISAs
- Better Public Relations as clients expect and demand that their auditors are up to date and efficient
- Freeing audit personnel to think rather than merely to go through procedures
- Creation of networks so that online supervision becomes possible
- · Rapid sharing of information

As indicated above there are many benefits in automating audit procedures. However automation also brings problems. Increased automation (added to the need for firms to be competitive) may reduce the level if trained and experience staff used on the audit thereby increasing the risk of errors not being detected. Furthermore there is also a danger that automation may result in a 'standard' approach to audit work being followed rather than being tailored to the business audited.

#### 9.14 IAPS 1013 Electronic Commerce - Effect on the Audit Financial Statements

This IAPS was issued in 2002 and this new guidance responds to the increasing use of the internet for business to consumer business to business, business to government and business to employee eCommerce and how emerging new elements of risk need to be considered when planning and performing the audit of financial statements. This new IAPS helps auditors address e-commerce issues by focusing on, among other matters the level of skills and knowledge required to understand the effect of e-commerce on the audit; the business, legal, regulatory and other risk faced buy entities engaged in e-commerce activities; internal control considerations, such as an entity's security infrastructure and transaction integrity; and the effect of electronic on audit evidence.

#### 9.15 The Future of Auditing

There are many factors that are continually causing changes in the auditor's approach to his work. Some of these relate to the nature of the service that the auditor provides while others reflect external demands on the role of the auditor in society. Some have already been mentioned but are included here for completeness:

a) Changes in reporting objectives and the introduction of accounting and auditing standards;

- b) The increasing complexity of the business unit, e.g. conglomerates and multinational companies;
- c) The widespread use of electronic data processing and, in particular, of real time, data base systems and micro-computer systems;
- d) Increased government awareness of the profession exemplified by the increasing number of accountants in the Civil Service.
- e) The increased responsibility that accountants bear towards third parties, as a result of such cases as Jeb Fasteners Limited v. Marks Bloom and Co.
- f) The reaction of clients to alarming increases in audit fees. This has prompted many accountants to feel that it is essential that the profession develops new ways of increasing the efficiency of audit work, and may well lead to greater use of statistical and other analytical review techniques.
- g) Increased public awareness and criticism of the auditing profession, resulting in the Ethical Guidelines.
- h) The development of public sector auditing beyond the traditional role of reporting on financial statements in terms of truth and fairness, into the realms of measuring economy, efficiency and effectiveness of an entity so called 'value for money' auditing.

# REINFORCING QUESTIONS

#### **QUESTION ONE**

- (a) What is a value for money audit?
- (b) What are the relevant statutory provisions with regard to investigations by the Registrar of Companies?

# **QUESTION TWO**

You are a partner in a firm of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the local golf club. One day whilst at the club you are approached by another club member, James Bryden, who seeks your professional advice. James has the opportunity of acquiring a one-third share in the partnership business of Messrs Long, Tall and Short. At present these three gentlemen are equal partners but as Long is due to retire. Messrs Tall and Short would like someone to take over Long's share of the partnership. The firm which has been in business over twenty years specialises in the retailing of car accessories. After having a brief discussion with James it is agreed that you will act for him.

#### Required

Describe the procedures you will adopt following your initial discussion.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

You are the auditor of Roaches Coaches Ltd. You have been asked to review the management and accounts of Roaches Coaches Ltd for the eleven months ended 30th November 19X5, which the company intends to submit to its bankers before 31st November 19X5 in support of an application for further facilities to fund the increasing working capital requirements of the company and the replacement of half of its fleet of 24 coaches. In the past it has been the company's policy to replace 4 coaches every year, with proceeds on disposal usually equating to half of the original cost. During the last three years no coaches have been replaced due to lack of funds.

The company's turnover for the current year is expected to be in the region of £500,000 and consists mainly of contract hire. The coaches are housed and maintained in the company's own freehold garages and workshops.

#### Requirements

- (a) Outline the approach you would take to carry out the review, and state those matters to which you would pay particular attention.
- (b) State the extent to which such a review will have an effect on the statutory audit for the year ending 31st December 19X5.

# **QUESTION FOUR**

- (a) Critically, examine the following statement:"Investigation is a critical examination of records and is, therefore similar to an audit".
- (b) What precautions are necessary before undertaking an investigation? State the procedure that you would adopt in an investigation on behalf of a bank proposing to advance a loan to a private limited company.

(Total: 20Marks)

CHECK YOUR ANSWERS WITH THOSE GIVEN IN LESSON 10 OF THE STUDY PACK

274 Lesson Nine

# COMPREHENSIVE ASSIGNMENT No. 4 TO BE SUBMITTED AFTER LESSON 9

To be carried out under examination conditions and sent to the Distance Learning Administration for marking by the University.

## EXAMINATION PAPER: TIME ALLOWED: 3 HRS. ANSWER ALL QUESTIONS.

#### **QUESTION ONE**

A registered charity, constituted as a trust, has recently commenced operating in Nairobi to provide accommodation and other social amenities to elderly citizens.

The charity has been granted a licence by the City Commission to occupy a social centre free of charge, although all maintenance and running costs are to be borne by the charity.

The charity receives income from the following sources:

- i. Door-to-door collections by volunteers with boxes;
- ii. Donations in the form of cheques and cash maintenance received through the postal system;
- iii. Donations under deeds of covenant entered into by individuals;
- iv. Harambee fund raising events organised from time to time;
- v. Sales of refreshments at the social centre.

In addition, some local businesses have donated equipment and maintenance materials to the charity.

The trustees have appointed you as auditor of the trust.

You are required to write a formal letter to the trustee setting out:

- (a) The controls over the above income which you would expect the trust to operate, and
- (b) Those aspects which could give rise to problems in reporting in "true and fair" terms without qualification. (20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION TWO**

Stylus is a medium sized listed engineering company with sales revenues of Kshs 12 million and a workforce of 150 employees. Frazer and Company have been the auditors of Stylus for four years. Stylus is one of a number of clients that have been refereed to Frazer and Company by Coultard Bank. The bank receives a commission from Frazer and Company of 10% of the first year's audit fee for these referrals.

During the early stages of the final audit for the year ended 30 September 20x9 the following issues arose:

Taylor, a publicly listed company, is a maker customer of Stylus. At 30 September 20x9 the work in progress and trade receivables of Stylus contained Kshs1.2 million and Kshs800,000 respectively relating to contracts with Taylor. Frazer and Company are also auditors of Taylor and acting in this capacity, they are aware that Taylor is in severe financial difficulties and will be unable to carryon trading much longer. As a consequence it is likely that Taylor will not be able to pay the amount it owes to Stylus nor be able to accept the work that it has on order and

currently in progress with them. The materiality of the above amount is such that the losses that Stylus should sustain may put its going concern status in doubt.

Until very recently Stylus had not paid the audit fee and expenses for the year ended 30 September 20x8. An associated company of the practice, 'Frazer Consulting', provides most of the staff of the internal audit department of Stylus in a consultancy capacity. Again a considerable amount of fees for this work were unpaid. In view of the possibility that Stylus may itself soon be in financial difficulties, the partners of Frazer and Company had insisted that before any further work was undertaken all amounts due to the practice must be paid together with a payment on account for the current year. A similar action was taken by the directors of Frazer Consulting. Bankers drafts were obtained from the directors of Stylus and these were presented to the bank for 'special clearance'.

Due to its specialist knowledge, Frazer and company have a number of clients in the property letting sector. The fee income from one particular client is a significant proportion of the total practice income. Frazer and company is in exploratory merger talks with Bradley and company, a similar sized audit firm. Unfortunately another of Razer and company's clients, Toddy Property Management, recently went into receivership after speculative investments made by the directors, using clients' money resulted in huge losses. The receiver of Toddy Property Management has appointed Bradley and Company to investigate the collapse and in particular the role of the auditor, Frazer and company.

#### Required

- (a) Describe the ethical issues and problems in relation to:
- (i) The audit of Stylus, and

(8 marks) (5 marks)

- (ii) The proposed merger of Frazer and company with Bradley and company
- (b) As the auditor of Stylus, describe the work you would perform and the action you would take in regard to the work in progress and accounts receivable of Stylus which relate to Taylor

(7 marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

#### **QUESTION THREE**

The establishment of audit committees to act as a liaison between the external auditors and the board of directors is widespread in North America. It would be a very good idea to introduce similar audit committees here in Kenya.

#### Required

Discuss the case for and against the establishment of audit committees. (20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

Saidia Masikini Development Agency (SMDA) had been funding projects in Kenya since independence. The projects supported by SMDA are those which the Agency considers most beneficial to the less advantaged social groups. Most of SMDA's projects are located in rural areas although some are based in urban centres.

Projects are managed by locally recruited staff supported by one or two expatriate technical advisers. The Government of Kenya is involved in the projects through the District Development Committees and the relevant Ministries.

Recently SMDA complained to the host Government about the millions of shillings of project funds which it (SMDA) suspected were being siphoned out of the projects. After consultations, it was decided that an independent firm of auditors be appointed to probe SMDA's allegations. The auditors were appointed and terms of reference agreed on.

276 Lesson Nine

You are **required** as the auditor in charge of this assignment, to state in detail the procedures you would undertake in investigating the allegations made by SMDA.

(20 Marks)

# **QUESTION FIVE**

You have been approached by a firm of stockbrokers to prepare a report for a prospectus for a private company, which is about to issue shares to the public.

You are required to:

- (a) Detail the relevant financial statistics on which you will need to report and
- (b) Describe the relevant aspects and items shown in the financial statements during the previous five years that may require amendment for the purposes of your report.

# END OF COMPREHENSIVE ASSIGNMENT No.4

NOW SEND YOUR ANSWERS TO THE DISTANCE LEARNING CENTRE FOR MARKING

# **LESSON TEN**

# **Revision aid**

# **CONTENTS**

# KASNEB syllabus

- 1) Model answers to reinforcement questions
  - Lesson 1
  - Lesson 2
  - Lesson 3
  - Lesson 4
  - Lesson 5
  - Lesson 6
  - Lesson 7
  - Lesson 8
  - Lesson 9

# 2) Selected past papers

December 1997

June 1997

December 1996

June 1996

# 3) Answers to past papers

December 1997

June 1997

December 1996

June 1996

4) Mock examination papers

#### **SYLLABUS**

# PAPER NO. 17. AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS

#### **OBJECTIVE**

To ensure that the candidate has competence in the auditing of public and private institutions and to carry out audit investigations.

# SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

A candidate who passes this subject should be able to:

- Describe the professional and legal framework within which auditing is practiced
- Plan and execute all types of audits
- Prepare and analyze comprehensive audit reports
- Prepare all specialized reports required of an accountant.

#### CONTENT

#### Professional and Legal Development

- Accounting standards and the auditor
- Audit standards and guidelines, comments and review
- Auditors professional ethics and disciplinary procedures
- Auditor's independence
- Legal liability of auditors.
- Structure of audit reports
- The cost-benefit analysis of an audit
- Auditing beyond the financial statements

#### **Controls and Monitoring Systems**

- Controls and the development of computer technology;
- Impact of development in information technology on the auditor, auditing techniques, controls within a computerized accounting system
- The utilization of an internal audit department
- Audit committees
- Impact of controls and information technology on sufficiency, relevance and reliability of audit evidence.

#### **Auditing of Financial Statements**

- Sampling and risk assessment of evidence from financial statements
- Audit of assets, liabilities and equities
- Audit of profit and loss items
- Audit of group accounts
- Post balance sheet audits.
- Audit Approach of Specialised Organizations
   Banks, financial institutions, building societies, insurance companies and hirepurchase companies
- Charities and no-profit making organizations
- Co-operative societies, public authorities and local authorities
- Small businesses' audits
- Pension schemes

# **Accounting Reports**

- Unaudited financial statements
- Reports on prospectuses
- Interim and proforma financial statements
- Tax certificates

# **Audit Investigations**

- Meaning and importance of audit investigations
- Types: Interest acquisition audits; Fraud and error investigations; Management audits; Professional tasks undertaken on behalf of statutory authorities such as Registrar of Companies, Controller and Auditor General and Auditor General
- (Corporations).

# Receivership and Liquidations

- Auditors responsibility in receiverships and liquidations
- Structure and contents of reports
- Ethical issues in receivership and liquidations.

# MODEL ANSWERS TO REINFORCING QUESTIONS LESSON 1

#### **QUESTION ONE**

- a. The duties of an auditor of K.K. Ltd, as for all companies are set out in the Companies Act as:
  - i. To make a report to the members of K.K. Ltd. on all accounts examined by him and laid before the company in general meeting, stating whether the accounts:
    - Give a true and fair view
    - Have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act.
  - ii. To investigate, and form an opinion on, whether:
    - o Proper accounting records and returns have been kept
    - The accounts are in agreement with the accounting records and returns. He must report if either of these are not so and also if he fails to receive all the explanations and information which he requires.
  - iii. The Companies Act requires that the auditor gives certain information on the remuneration of and other transactions of the company other transactions of the company with the directors, if these are not given in the Accounts.
    - In addition the auditor must comply with the Auditing Standards approved by his professional body.
    - The directors can add to these duties with the agreement of the auditors but cannot reduce them.
- b. There is no statutory or Auditing Standard relationship prescribed between auditors and directors. The auditor has prescribed relationship with the company and in the reporting sense with its members.
  - In practice the auditor has to establish modus vivendi with the directors.
- c. The auditors rights include:
  - i. Access at all times to the books, accounts and vouchers of the company.
  - ii. Right to such information and explanations as he thinks necessary for the performance of his duties.
  - iii. To receive notice of, attend and speak at meetings of the members.
  - iv. To report in his report to the members.
  - v. To be informed of and make protestations in any attempt to unseat him.
- d. In theory, the directors have no authority to dismiss an auditor. However, in practice, a resolution put to the company to dismiss the auditors will often be passed because of the passive attitude of shareholders. In most small companies, the directors and shareholders are the same people.
- e. The following steps should be taken:
  - i. Discuss with the board the role of the auditor as outlined in the C.Act and make sure that an appointment can be made by the members with all parties fully

knowledgeable about all the facts.

ii. Determine whether appointment as auditor to K.K. Ltd will infringe legal or ethical requirements and whether there are any practical reasons for non-acceptance.

iii. Agree a letter of engagement with the directors.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

a. Matters relevant to the credibility of the auditor (other than independence include: —

**Competence.** An auditor must be a good accountant and auditor and must be competent at accounting, auditing systems, and information technology and he must be able to communicate.

**Judgement.** An auditor must be able to make sound judgements, not only in professional matters but also of people.

**Integrity.** An auditor must be, and be seen to be, honest, a follower of the ethical code of his professional body, a man of discretion and a man/woman aware of his/her wide responsibilities.

The professional bodies have taken or might take the following steps to secure these qualities in auditors:

- i. Requirement of very comprehensive examinations for entry into the profession (as you know!)
- ii. Introduction of a requirement for a good general education before entry into training.
- iii. Requirement of a minimum period of practical experience before qualifying.
- iv. Requirement of a minimum period of public practice experience before a practising certificate is given (an accountant cannot be an auditor without a practising certificate).
- v. Issue of KASs to refine the concept of "true and fair".
- vi. Issue of auditing standards and guidelines.
- vii. Issue of ethical guidelines.
- viii. Issue of guidelines in many other areas.
- ix. Issue of magazines and other technical literature.
- x. A post qualification education programme.
- xi. Existence of investigation and disciplinary committees.
- b. The following comments can be made in these cases:

i.

- o The audit partner hold no shares in the client.
- The audit manager holds 1% of the shares in Andrew Ltd (immaterial in the context of Andrew Ltd) but possibly very material to the audit manager.
- o The audit manager may wish to enhance or prevent a decline in the value of his shares by overlooking some lapse of truth and fairness in the accounts.
- o It would be desirable for another audit manager to manage this audit or for the audit manager to sell his shares.

ii.

- The audit partner is not the reporting partner for James Ltd.
- The personal friend concerned is not a director.
- Personal relationships between auditor and management personnel are undesirable but inevitable.
- So long as the audit partner concerned does not audit James Ltd, all is well.

iii.

- The ethical guidelines suggest 15% as the maximum fee from any one client but this is for guidance only and the precise circumstances must be looked at in making a judgement.
- This fee is 14.2%
- The firm will be very reluctant to lose this fee income and objectivity must be assiduously guarded at all times.

iv.

- This is clearly of negligible importance to the Bank.
- It might be of material importance to the audit senior.
- It would not compromise or appear to compromise the audit senior's independence if the terms of the loan were ordinary commercial terms eg. if the senior had not received a special interest rate.

v.

- This is a case of conflict of interest. In assisting Harry (using inevitably, confidential knowledge of Jean) Jean may be prejudiced as Harry may not be the optimal supplier.
- The firm should not advise Harry Ltd.
- Harry Ltd should be told the position and advised to seek professional assistance from another firm. The audit partner could no doubt suggest a firm who would not poach the audit.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

A. Commission. Many accountants receive commissions from financial institutions as building societies and insurance when clients act on their advice. It should be seen that any advice is in the best interest of the client. The client should be informed in writing that commission will be received and as far as possible what terms.

#### B. Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of interest can arise between an accountant and his client. As we have seen, it may pay the accountant to place a client's insurance with an insurance company that gives a 15% commission rather than one that pays only 10% and charges lower premium. Conflicts of interest can also arise between a client and another client, and an accountant should not act for both parties if the parties are in dispute. For example the accountant may be called upon to advise two clients who are tendering for the same contract. Or he may be advising a company and one of its directors who are in dispute. In all such cases the accountant should not accept assignments where he is put in a position where he must advise both sides. One the other hand he may well be able to put forward proposals to settle the dispute.

Specific examples of conflicts of interest include:

1. Provision of other services to audit clients. It is customary for auditors in many cases to provide other services as well as the audit, for example preparing accounts. This is

- perfectly acceptable providing the service does not involve performing executive functions or making executive decisions. For example discussing the annual dividend decision with the board would be an executive action and hence unacceptable.
- Preparation of accounting records. Care should be taken that the client takes
  responsibility for the work done and that objectivity in auditing is not impaired. The
  accounting records of public company clients should not be prepared by the auditor.
- 3. A practice should not report on an audit client if a partner or member of staff is an officer of the company. This enlarges on the Companies Act requirement in prohibiting employees of a practice from being officers of audit clients.
- 4. No person in an accounting firm should take part in the reporting function (i.e. take part in the audit) if he or she has in the accounting period or in the previous two years been an officer or employee of that company.
- 5. Receivership, liquidation and audits. In general auditors should not accept receivership or liquidatorship of client companies without a two year gap between the assignments. Clearly a liquidator of a company would be inhibited from taking a negligence action against the auditor if he had himself been the auditor.

# C. Restrictions on advertising include:

- 1. The advert should not reflect adversely on the advertiser, his professional body or on the profession. For example, it should not be vulgar.
- 2. The advert should not discredit the services offered by others or claim superiority over other firms.
- 3. The advert should not be misleading, either directly or by implication. For example, implying that the firm is large when it is, in fact, small.
- 4. The advert must not fall short of the requirements of legality, decency, honesty and truthfulness.
- 5. The competitiveness of firms should be maintained despite differences in financial resources. To that end, adverts should be intended to inform not impress.
- 6. Adverts may refer to the basis on which fees are calculated. However, no hourly or other charging rates are permissible.

# D. Examples of acceptable publicity include:

- Advertising for staff, or partners for sub-contract work o Advertising on behalf of a client
- Publishing the opening of new premises, of a new partnership,
  etc.
  Entries in a directory
- Publishing literature—many firms produce a guide to the budget. Such literature can be sent to clients, business contacts (e.g. bankers, solicitors) or others who ask for it, it may not be sent unsolicited to non-clients.
- o Receiving public acknowledgement of donations to charities etc.
- Participating in exhibitions, seminars, etc.

Accountants may now advertise for work and engage in other forms of publicity. However there are still some restrictions:

- Accountants may not directly approach a prospective client nor instigate such an approach by a third party.
- 2. Accountants may not directly give any commission, fee or reward to a third party for introducing clients. Such commissions may, however, be given to his employees or other practising accountants.

# E. Use of video

Yes so long as that company has invited him to quote. It must be accompanied by a letter clearly stating that it is only for the client's use and should not be shown to others.

#### F. Remuneration

The normal basis for charging for professional work, is on the time spent on the work calculated at appropriate hourly rates for principals, seniors and other staff. The hourly rates may vary according to the difficulty or complexity of the work involved. It is up to the accountant to decide upon his hourly rates depending on his cost structure, profit requirement, market conditions. It is not permissible to charge:

- On a percentage basis except where law or custom allows, e.g. in liquidation and receivership work. Many accountants are jealous of the percentage charging method of estate agents, architects, solicitors, etc., but these professional people generally do not have recurring work from clients and continually need to seek new clients.
- 2. On a contingency basis. This means accountants cannot accept work on a percentage of tax saved basis or anything similar.

Accountants who receive commissions from stockbrokers, insurance brokers, etc. for transactions effected for clients or for trusts of which the accountant is a trustee should either:

- 1. Pass on the commissions to the client or trust by deducting the amounts received from his fee invoice and showing the deduction.
- 2. Keep the commissions if he has been specifically authorised to do by the client.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

Answer apparent from the text of the manual, the section on audit of partnerships and sole proprietors.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

(a) Under the law of contract, an auditor may be sued by the company for loss resulting from negligence on the part of the auditor (Foss v Harbottle 1843). The case of Candler v Crane Christmas (1951) exemplified the view that there was privity of contract between the auditor and the company. This view precluded third parties from suing for losses.

The position was altered in 1964 by the case of Hedley Byrne v Heller (1964) in which it was judged that in the absence of a disclaimer of liability, a duty of care to third parties would arise. This suggested that auditors would be liable to third parties with whom there was a 'special relationship', for instance, the prospectic purchaser of a business who was relying on audited accounts in making his decision to buy. This decision related only to cases where a specific interested party existed and the auditor knew or should have known of their interest in the accounts. The principle of liability to unknown third parties was still unchanged from the Ultramares v Touche case (1932) where Judge Cardozo commented that auditors should not be subjected to 'liability in an indeterminate amount for an indeterminate time to an indeterminate class'.

The position is still undergoing modification. Three cases are relevant here: Jeb Fasteners v Marks, Bloom & Co (1981), re Twomax (1983) and Caparo Industries v Dickman (1990). The Jeb and Twomax cases both involved plaintiffs who had relied on audited accounts in purchasing shares of the relevant companies, but whose existence was not known to the auditors. In the Jeb case, the auditors knew that the company was likely to be looking for outside finance, as it was in

difficulties. It was held that the auditors had a duty of care to the third party, albeit an unknown one, who was likely to be relying on the accounts; this clearly extended the view of liability taken in the Hedley Byrne case. The plaintiffs' action was, however, dismissed on the grounds that they would have made their investment even if the accounts had given a fair picture of the company's position.

In the Twomax case, the same approach to auditor liability was adopted, and the judge found for the plaintiffs. The auditor, it was held, 'should have foreseen.... that these accounts might be relied on by a potential investor'.

The recent Caparo case is of great interest because it appears to reject the two earlier cases. It was stated that the auditors could not have known, or be expected to know, that Caparo would rely on their work in deciding to invest in a company. There was a need for a close relationship to exist between the maker and recipient of negligent mis-statements for a duty of care to exist. On appeal, although it was held that auditors have a duty to individual shareholders, this did not extend to potential investors. This approach seems to be in line with the comments of Woolf J in the 1985 Lloyd Cheyham v Littlejohn case that there is a duty of care to known third parties, but they should still protect themselves by making 'the usual enquiries' before investing. The House of Lords ruling in the Caparo case narrowed the scope of the duty of care still further. It was ruled that the auditors owed a duty of care to shareholders as a body, but not to third parties nor to individual shareholders considering buying more shares.

It is evident, in conclusion, that the auditor's liability was extended after the Candler case, although the extent of liability to third parties is uncertain, and appears to have been severely limited by the Caparo finding.

(b) Audit risk may be defined as the risk that the auditor will deliver an inappropriate or incorrect audit opinion on the financial statements. The auditor's assessment of risk should be an intrinsic part of the planning and execution of an audit. The auditor should plan the distribution of audit effort by identifying the areas involving greatest audit risk, in terms of their materiality, the existence of adequate internal controls, and previous experience. Detailed testing can then be concentrated on high risk areas.

Audit risk is reduced by appropriate quality control procedures. These include:

- i. The observation of relevant Auditing Standards and Guidelines;
- ii. The establishment, maintenance and observance of standards of quality within the audit firm:
- Procedures for ensuring that staff and partners have the ability and knowledge required to do the job. This implies suitable procedures for recruitment, supervision and training;
- iv. Audit files properly reviewed with points of difficulty or error being cleared before the audit report is signed;
- v. Peer review procedures. In addition to routine review of files during the audit, partners should take part in peer review to ensure that the firm's standards are maintained;
- vi. Procedures on deciding whether to accept an engagement. Before accepting an engagement, the auditor should consider its implications for the firm. Will it threaten the firm's independence? Has the firm the resources to carry out an adequate audit? Does the client present a potential risk because of the nature of its business or its financial position?
- (c) It is in law the duty of the directors of a company to produce accounts which are true and fair, but it is the auditor who is required to report on the truth and fairness of the accounts. There is to this extent a joint responsibility for the accounts.

Although the full significance of the audit report is often misunderstood, it is regarded by users of accounts as independent evidence that the accounts are reliable. It is arguable that the investors have a duty to themselves to `make the usual enquiries' before investing, but this cannot and should not absolve the auditors of a duty of care. It may be that in some cases, investors and others take action against auditors because they are known to have liability insurance whilst directors do not, but it seems inescapable that auditors and directors share responsibility for financial statements.

# **LESSON 2**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

(a) Four areas of risk concerning a computer system are as follows.

#### i. Hardware

The computer hardware may be stolen or damaged, especially the modern 'desk-top' type peripherals. A system which does not incorporate physical controls will be subject to such risk.

#### ii. Unauthorised access

If terminals are not secure it might be possible for unauthorised users to obtain or corrupt information held on file.

#### iii. System breakdown

If the system does not incorporate retrieval procedures there might be a loss of data if the system breaks down for any reason such as power failure.

#### iv. Corrupt files

If stringent checks are not carried out on data, input files may be corrupted, with the consequent fall in the quality of output.

(b) Forms of control which may be instituted to safeguard against these risks are as follows.

#### Physical controls

All hardware and files should be kept in secure locations with access only available to authorised personnel. The use of special rooms, storage cupboards and strict control over keys will assist in establishing secure locations. To protect the hardware and files from damage they should be located away from possible hazards such as fire and flood which might arise near a canteen or washroom facilities. The installation of smoke/heat alarms and other detectors of environmental hazards should also be carried out.

# ii. Access controls

This will be partly helped by physical controls such as locked EDP rooms. In addition to this terminal keys should be issued to authorised personnel. These ensure that the terminal will only become live for a valid user. The use of unique

passwords will further improve control because, in the event of a key being stolen, the system will still be unaccessible without a valid password.

#### iii. Retrieval controls

There should be procedures which will enable all data to be retrieved if the system breaks down. Examples of these are the system displaying or outputting the state of the file and the stage of the process immediately before the breakdown so that restart can be made at the appropriate place. Also, back-up facilities should be provided so that processing can continue if part of the system goes down. Regular dumping of files will help to recreate any lost data due to a systems breakdown.

## iv. Input controls

There should be controls over the validity of input data. These can be a combination of manual and computer checks. Manual checks may encompass calculation of control totals and authorisation of data by an official prior to input. Computer checks will include data-vet procedures such as range, format and sequence checks. All items which fail these edit checks should be output and investigated by a person independent of the person who input the data.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

## .(a) Parity check

A character is represented by a computer as a series of binary zeros and ones (using negative and positive polarity of ferrite cores). In a machine with an odd parity system, the computer adds an additional bit to each character so that the total number of bits which are, say, zero is an odd number. Subsequently whenever that character is used by the computer it will check that the parity bit is in the correct state and thus that the character has been accurately moved from one store to another.

#### (b) File protection ring

This is a piece of plastic which fits into the centre of a reel of tape. If the ring is not present it will be impossible to write to a tape and only reading can occur. Thus it protects a tape from being inadvertently corrupted as a decision to write to the tape must be accompanied by the insertion of a ring.

# (c) Tape labelling

This is part of the tape at the beginning and end, called a header and trailer label respectively. It is encoded by the computer and identifies things such as the type of information on the tape, the number of records on the tape, hash totals of the records, the date of creation and the date before which writing-over must not take place. The computer will check this data when the tape is loaded to be used with a program and ensure it is the correct tape.

#### (d) Record count

Record counts are used as a processing control. The computer counts and outputs the number of records used during a run and this can be checked against a predetermined total.

It is also a total of the number of records of each tape which can be amended after each run.

#### (e) Control total

This is an accumulation by the computer of the data in a numerical field such as amounts on an invoice, which can be used to check the completeness of processing when compared to a predetermined manually-prepared total.

#### **OUESTIONTHREE**

A. Generally, the manner in which the management run their enterprise is of great relevance to an auditor. A well controlled company with efficient production, marketing systems and good documentation and recording systems with good internal controls is usually easy to audit as much reliance can be placed on compliance tests and information is readily available. Systems are more than the sum of the parts and an auditor always has to look at the whole system.

#### i. Carry on ... manner

Clearly the converse (disorder and inefficiency) will be unsatisfactory from any point of view—management, owners, lenders customers etc. It will also be difficult to audit records of disorderly and inefficient business. For example, information will be unavailable, detailed substantive testing will be required, it will be difficult to obtain sufficient audit evidence eg. of the adequacy of stocktaking.

#### ii. Ensure ... policies.

A company without policies is likely to collapse into chaos or anarchy. Policies can be general—products, markets, location of premises and also detailed—pay rates of junior typists, life and type of reps' cars, and also depreciation policy, stock valuation policy etc. The auditor is particularly interested in management policy in areas such as budgets, authorisations, recording, documenting and internal controls, and accounting policies.

# iii. Safeguard the assets.

Safeguard the assets means measures to directly safeguard (against theft, damage wear and tear) the assets by physical means—locks, keys, safes, insurance etc. It also means - ensuring all items sold to customers are invoiced, all incoming invoices are for goods and services actually received.

The auditor is interested because:

- o Records are likely to be complete (e.g. sales invoices)
- o Good safeguarding increases the reliability of all evidence collected.
- The existence of all assets (and condition) is a proposition for which audit evidence is required.

#### iv. Secure ... records

The management cannot effectively manage a business without adequate records. They also have a statutory duty to maintain records. The auditor has a statutory duty to investigate whether proper books of account have been kept and report if they have not. Clearly also financial statements prepared from incomplete or inacurate records are unlikely to show a true and fair view or comply with the Companies Act requirements.

# **QUESTION FOUR**

(a) Audit risk, the risk that the auditor will draw an invalid conclusion from his work, is made up of three elements:

'Inherent risk' describes the risk arising from the nature of the client's business or industry and environment prior to the consideration of the internal control system by the auditor. It will vary between different account items and different types of industry.

'Control risk' is the risk that errors will not be prevented or detected by audit procedures.

'Detection risk' is the risk that material error will not be detected by audit procedures.

(b) In assessing audit risk on a company audit assignment, the auditor should bear the following factors in mind.

#### Inherent risk

- i. The nature of the business, its products or services, and its market position;
- ii. The company's present and likely future financial position;
- iii. The auditor's previous experience of that company;
- iv. The existence of circumstances which could put pressure on management to manipulate results;
- v. The susceptibility of the company's assets to fruad;
- vi. The existence of related party or unusual transactions;
- The possibility that error could have a material effect on the financial statements.

#### Control risk

- i. The quality and effectiveness of management and the degree of supervision exercised by management;
- ii. The existence and quality of internal controls;
- iii. The competence of accounting staff;
- iv. The nature of accounting records kept;
- The existence and effectiveness of the internal audit department, if there is
  one.
- (c) A material error in financial statements is one which would significantly influence the reader of the financial statements. In deciding whether an error or mis-statement is material, the auditor should consider not only the company's profit figure, but also its balance sheet total and the trend in its results. It is possible that a number of individually immaterial errors may in total have a material effect on the company's accounts. For this reason, the auditor should record all errors noted in order to establish whether in total they reach a level which requires adjustment. Material error is normally thought of in relation to monetary amounts, but it also relates to the way accounting information is presented in the financial statements. Thus, it would be possible for accounts to show a fairly stated profit figure, but to be materially misleading because, for instance, assets and liabilities were netted off instead of being separately disclosed.

(d) The use of a predetermined materiality level has some clear advantages. It enables the auditor to restrict the scope of audit work, and hence to make the most efficient use of time and staff, by avoiding unnecessary testing of immaterial items. The use of pre-set materiality limits does, however, also have some drawbacks. The choice of materiality level may have to be made before the final accounts are available, and may as a result prove to be too high or too low if the actual result is much different from that anticipated. The choice of a limit is in any case a subjective one; there is nothing to decide what figure is appropriate in any given case.

The use of a materiality limit implies that errors below a certain size may not be detected by the auditor's work. This may not be satisfactory to the audit client, who may, for instance, wish to be sure that all defalcations, however trivial in amount, will be reported. There is also a possibility that individually immaterial errors may in total result in material mis-statement. Rigid application of a pre-set limit may result in this being overlooked.

Materiality limits clearly play a useful role, but not if they are applied rigidly. The auditor should be prepared to adjust limits if they appear to be inappropriate, and should be aware of the possibility that individually immaterial errors may amount to a material total in aggregate.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

#### (a) Responsibility for the Detection of Fraud and Error

The responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and error rests with management through the implementation and continued operation of an adequate system of internal control. Such a system reduces but does not eliminate the possibility of fraud or error.

The objective of an audit financial information is to enable an auditor to express an opinion on such financial information. In forming his opinion, the auditor carries out procedures designed to obtain evidence that will provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is properly stated in all material respects. Consequently, the auditor seeks reasonable assurance that fraud or error which may be material to the financial information has not occurred or that, if it has occurred the effect of fraud is properly reflected in the financial information or the error is corrected. The auditor therefore, should plan his audit so that he has a reasonable expectation of detecting material mis-statements in the financial information resulting from fraud or error. The degree of assurance of detecting errors would normally be higher than that of detecting fraud, since fraud is usually accompanied by acts specifically designed to conceal its existence. Due to the inherent limitation of an audit there is a possibility that material mis-statements of the financial information resulting from fraud and to a lesser extent, error may not be detected. The subsequent discovery of material misstatement of the financial information resulting from fraud or error existing during the period covered by the auditor's report does not, in itself indicate that the auditor has failed to adhere to the basic principles governing an audit. The question of whether the auditor has adhered to the basic principles governing an audit is determined by the adequacy of the procedures undertaken in the circumstances and the suitability of the auditor's report based on the results of these procedures.

#### (b) Risk of Fraud and Error

In planning and performing his examination the auditor should take into consideration the risk of material misstatement of the financial information caused by fraud or error. He should inquire of management as to any fraud or significant error which has occurred in the reporting period and modify his audit procedures if necessary.

In addition to weaknesses in the design of the internal control system and non compliance with identified control procedures, conditions or events which increase the risk of fraud or error include:

- (a) Questions with respect to the integrity or competence or management;
- (b) Unusual pressures within an entity;
- (c) Unusual transactions;
- (d) Problems in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

Examples of these conditions or events as well as additional factors unique to an EDP environment are set forth.

#### Examples of Conditions or Events Which Increase the Risk of Fraud or Error

# 1. Questions with respect to the integrity or competence of management

- i. Management is dominated by one person (or a small group) and there is no effective oversight board or committee;
- ii. There is a complex corporate structure where complexity does not seem to be warranted;
- iii. There is a continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in internal control where such corrections are practicable;
- iv. There is a high turnover rate of key accounting and financial personnel;
- v. There is a significant and prolonged understaffing of the accounting department;
- vi. There are frequent changes of legal advisors or auditors.

# 2. Unusual pressures within an entity

- i. The industry is declining and failures are increasing;
- ii. There is inadequate working capital due to declining profits or too rapid expansion;
- iii. The quality of earnings is deteriorating, for example increased risk taking with respect to credit sales, changes in business practice or selection of accounting policy alternatives that improve income;
- iv. The entity needs a rising profit trend to support the market price of its shares due to a contemplated public offering, a takeover or other reason;
- v. The entity has a significant investment in an industry or product line noted for rapid change;
- vi. The entity is heavily dependent on one or a few products or customers;
- vii. Pressure is exerted on accounting personnel to complete financial statements in an unusually short time period.

#### 3. Unusual transactions

- i. Unusual transactions, especially near the year-end that have a significant effect on earning;
- ii. Transactions with related parties;
- iii. Payments for services (for example, to lawyers, consultants or agents) that appear excessive in relation to the services provided.

#### 4. Problems in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence

- i. Inadequate records, for example, incomplete files, excessive adjustments to books and accounts, transactions not recorded in accordance with normal procedures and out of balance control accounts;
- ii. Inadequate documentation of transactions, such as lack of proper authorization, supporting documents not available and alteration to documents (any of these documentation problems assume greater significance when they relate to large or unusual transactions).
- iii. An excessive number of differences between accounting records and third party confirmations, conflicting audit evidence and unexplainable changes in operating ratios.
- iv. Evasive or unreasonable responses by management to audit inquiries.

# 5. Factors unique to an EDP environment which relate to the conditions and events in A through D above include:

i. Inability to extract information from computer files due to lack of, or noncurrent, documentation of record contents or programs;

- ii. Large numbers of program changes that are not documented, approved and tested;
- iii. Inadequate overall balancing of computer transactions and data bases to the financial accounts.

#### C. Procedures when there is an indication that fraud or error may exist

If circumstances indicate the possible existence of fraud or error, the auditor should consider the potential effect on the financial information. If the auditor believes the suspected fraud or error could have a material effect on the financial information, he should perform such modified or additional procedures as he determines to be appropriate. The extent of such modifications or additional procedures depends on the auditor's judgement as to:

- (a) The types of fraud or error that could occur;
- (b) The relative risk of their occurrence;
- (c) The likelihood that a particular type of fraud or error could have a material effect on the financial information.

Performing modified or additional procedures will normally enable the auditor to confirm or dispel a suspicion of fraud or error. Where confirmed, he should satisfy himself that the effect of fraud is properly reflected in the financial information or the error is corrected.

However, the auditor may be unable to obtain audit evidence either to confirm or dispel a suspicion of fraud. In this circumstance, the auditor should consider the possible impact on the financial information and the effect on his report. The auditor will also need to consider relevant laws and regulations and may wish to obtain legal advice before rendering any report on the financial information or withdrawing from the engagement.

Unless circumstances clearly indicate otherwise, the auditor should not assume that an instance of fraud or error is an isolated occurrence. If the fraud or error have been prevented or detected by the system of internal control, the auditor should reconsider his prior evaluation of that system and, if necessary, adjust the nature, timing and extent of his substantive procedures.

When fraud or error involves a member of management, the auditor should reconsider the reliability of any representations made by that person to the auditor.

# LESSON 3

# **QUESTION ONE**

- A. It is of great importance that an audit is planned in advance because:
  - 1. The intended means of acheiving the audit objectives must be established.
  - 2. Attention can be focussed on to critical and high risk areas and the work can then be completed economically and to time scale requirements.

#### B. Matters to take into account

- 1. The work to be performed in addition to the audit.
- 2. Reviewing last years working papers.
- Changes in legislation (e.g. Companies Act) or auditing or accounting practice (a new guidline, a new KAS)
- 4. Analytical review of management accounts, consulting with management.
- 5. Changes in the business or its management.
- 6. Changes in systems or accounting procedures.
- 7. Timing requirements.
- 8. Extent of preparation by the client of analyses and summaries.
- 9. Use of internal audit.
- 10. Degree of reliance on internal controls.
- 11. Joint auditors if any.
- 12. Rotational testing.

# **QUESTION TWO**

#### (a) Audit Planning Memorandum

Most audit firms prepare an audit planning memorandum which sets out factors to be taken into account, the methods by which the audit objectives will be achieved and the organisational matters to be put in train.

Planning memorandum might contain:

# 1. Terms of engagement

work to be done—audit, precise accounting work to be done for the client, tax etc., letters to be sent—letter of weakness etc.

# 2. The client and its background

history, products, locations, especially noting factors like a new managing director, a new computer, a new product.

#### 3. Import figures and ratios

from previous years and if available, from management and draft accounts.

# 4. Audit risk areas

this might include stock, work in progress, or dealings with a company under common ownership.

# 5. **Listing of all assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses** with summaries of the procedures to be adopted to verify them.

6. Extent of involvement of internal audit

#### 7. Requirement for involvement of specialists

these may be from within the audit firm e.g. computer audit or rarely external specialists.

#### 8. Setting of materiality levels

#### 9. Client assistance

assistance from the client may be required in providing documents and analysis,

providing computer time, arranging visits to branches.

#### 10. The audit approach

The extent of reliance on internal control, the use of substantive tests and analytical review procedures.

#### 11. Timetable

dates of interim, year end and final audits and of deadlines to meet e.g. A.G.M. of the company.

- 12. Staffing requirements
- 13. Budget and fee

#### b. Knowledge of the client's industry, business and organisation

It is essential that all the members of the audit team fully understand the client's industry, business and organisation. This is so because only that way can they judge the risks associated with the engagement. Also an economical and effective audit can only be carried out with a full knowledge of significant environmental, operational and organisational factors. Knowledge of such factors also helps in communication with the client's staff, in assessing the reliability of management representations and in judging the appropriateness of accounting policies and disclosures. This knowledge can be gained from:

- The client's annual report and accounts
- Analytical review of the clients interim accounts, financial reports variance analysis etc.
- Internal audit reports
- o visits to the client's premises and discussions with management and staff
- Perusal of minutes of shareholders, directors and audit committee, budget committee etc.
- o Previous years audit files including the permanent file
- Consideration of the state of the economy (audit staff are no doubt avid readers the or financial sections of the daily newspaper)
- Reports from within the audit firm which may be relevant to the client e.g. tax department and management consultancy.
- Perusal of relevant literature from credit rating agencies, stockbrokers, investment analysts
- Perusal of relevant trade magazines and journals.

#### c. Practical problems that can arise in implementing audit planning may include:

- i. the work to be done may not be spread evenly during the year. For example, many clients have similar year ends especially March 31st and December 31st.
- Any given audit will not accord to the plan as "put upon enquiry" situations may arise.
- iii. Clients may cause delays or require unexpected speed ups.
- iv. High staff turnover is common in professional offices and staff tend to often absent themselves through illness, holidays and attendance at courses.
- v. the particular availability of staff in terms of junior/senior or experienced/inexperienced may be what is required for optimal planning.
- vi. New audits requiring rapid attention may interrupt the planning flow of audit work, as may special assignments in fields like insolvency and investigations.

Minimising these problems can be achieved by:

i. Close liaison with clients to achieve as much flexibility with their requirements as

- possible.
- ii. Putting as much work as possible into the interim audit. Delays and problems at the final audit are much more disruptive.
- iii. Planning staff requirements, training programmes and recruitment as long in advance as possible. Many absences are known long in advance.
- iv. The use of long range planning so that difficulties can be envisaged in time to be solved. There should be strategic plans and tactical plans both for the office as a whole and for individual clients.
- v. The use of special departments to deal with randomly received assignments such as insolvency and investigations. Arrangements for swapping specialist staff with other firms can also be a useful idea.

# **QUESTIONTHREE**

It is recognised that each firm has its own needs depending on size, geographical spread, special expertise etc but all firms must organise procedures which ensure audits are performed:

- a. In accordance with approved auditing standards
- b. In conformity with statutory (e.g. Companies Act) and contractual (letter of engagement) requirements
- c. In conformity with personal(ethical) standards
- d. In conformity with any professional standards set by the firm itself—many firms pride themselves on their professionalism
- e. Economically and to time schedules
- f. With minimum risk

#### The procedures required are:

- a. each firm should establish a set of procedures and communicate these to all partners and staff. Larger firms employ printed manuals but smaller firms may have to rely on verbal instructions.
- b. Acceptance and reappointments as auditor. There should be a procedure of evaluating prospective clients with consideration of the firms ability to meet client's needs and for making the decision on acceptance which may be made by an individual partner, or by a committee. The integrity of client's management is not mentioned in the guideline but many firms regard this relatively new idea as important.
- c. Professional ethics. Procedures to ensure all partners and staff are aware of and adhere to the principles of independence, objectivity, integrity and confidentiality. It is important to instruct staff who are not members of professional bodies and to monitor observance of ethical standards. For example, staff might not be aware of the prohibition on ownership of shares in client companies or may be unwilling to sell them if they are so aware.
- d. **Skills and competence**. The objective is to have a fully competent and skilled set of partners and staff. Procedures include:
  - i. Recruitment only of suitably qualified and expert staff. Staffing needs should be planned ahead.
  - ii. Technical training and updating. All partners and staff should be encouraged to learn, and to keep up-to-date with technical matters. The firm could provide literature, maintain a technical library, send people on courses and hold courses themselves. Some firms produce a special newletter at intervals to update staff with technical developments.

iii. On-the-job training and professional development. Planning, Controlling and Recording emphasises the importance of relating staff abilities to client needs but opportunities should also be provided for staff to have adequate experience on a range of clients as on-the-job training. Performance of staff should be evaluated and the evaluation discussed with the staff concerned. This kind of assessment and feedback is now common practice in all walks of life.

- e. **Consultation**. Individual members of the firm should not take decisions on problem areas without consulting with others. Problem areas might be technical (e.g. in computers where expert members of staff should be consulted) or matters of risk (e.g. to qualify or not to qualify). Sole practitioners are advised to consult with other firms or with professional advisory services.
- f. **Monitoring the firms quality control procedures**. Suitable procedures should be introduced to ensure that all procedures are working adequately. This is dealt with in the review section.

#### On Individual Audits

The control procedures to be applied to individual audits include:

- a. **Allocation of staff**—staff allocated should have appropriate training, experience, proficiency and , if required, special skills (e.g. in computing).
- b. **Proper briefing of staff**—staff should be properly informed on:
  - i. object of the audit
  - ii. Timing requirements
  - iii. The overall plan of the audit
  - iv. Significant accounting and auditing problems
  - v. related parties
  - vi. The need to bring problems and put upon enquiry situations to superiors
- c. Audit completion checklist—with sections for completion by staff and reporting partner. It is a common experience, that in the rush to complete an audit on time, matters of importance can be overlooked.
- d. **Contentious matters**—all problems, special difficulties, and potential qualifications must be identified, recorded and discussed by, if necessary, the reporting partner with colleagues or even another practitioner.
- e. **Documentation**—all audit work and conclusions reached must be fully recorded in the working papers.
- f. **Reviews**—all audit work must be fully reviewed. This is dealt with in the next section.
- g. **Acknowledgement**—all audit work and review action should be acknowledged in writing by the performer.

# **QUESTION FOUR**

- A. Benefits of, and needs met by, planning, controlling and recording of audits:
  - The audit will achieve its objectives—the giving of an opinion on truth and fairness etc. of financial statements.
  - The audit will be done within the time requirements of the client
  - The audit will be economical from the point of view of the auditor and of the client

## In particular:

- o planning will ensure comprehensive coverage, focus on risk areas and timely completion
- o control will ensure that the audit is carried out as planned, and the staff perform in an accurate, conscientious and timely manner
- Recording will ensure that the audit can be controlled, no work is omitted, the
  work done can be reviewed, an opinion can be formed by the reporting
  partner and evidence is available of work performed.
- B. Steps to be taken prior to the audit of an existing client:
  - · Preparation of an audit plan by manager or partner
  - Review of previous years files.
  - · Clarification of problem areas from previous years.
  - Research into the current background to the client
  - i. Economic and industrial matters
  - ii. Any new legislation affecting the client.
  - iii. Any new SSAP's or auditing guidelines affecting the client.

#### Discuss with management to elicit:

- i. Any changes in business
- ii. Any changes in key personnel
- iii. Any changes in bookkeeping systems and accounting policies.
- C. Review of interim accounts, management accounting reports, internal audit reports etc. O Identification of high risk areas to focus the audit.
  - Determination of client's timing requirements and ability to supply schedules.
     Consideration of co-operation with internal audit.
  - o Consideration of staff requirements.
  - Brief audit staff including instruction on risk areas and related parties.
     Liaison with secondary or joint auditors if any
  - o Preparation of time and cost budget.

Compliance with the auditors' operational standard. Assurance of conformity can be obtained by:

- i. planning the audit as in B. above. Particularly, planning should ensure a focus on risk areas, the use of suitable, well briefed staff and the completion of all necessary work.
- ii. Controlling and supervising the work at all times.
- iii. Maintenance of comprehensive working papers.
- iv. Reviewing the client's system for recording transactions and internal controls
- v. determining the extent to which the controls can be relied upon and performing sufficient compliance tests.
- vi. Obtaining sufficient relevant and reliable audit evidence on all aspects of the financial

- statements.
- vii. Performance by a suitable experienced and competent person of an analytical review.
- viii. A review of the working papers by the reporting partner to see that all has been done that should be done.
- ix. Special attention to the audit opinion and steps from which it was built
- x. special consideration of risk, put upon enquiry, the concept of audit evidence and the briefing and debriefing of staff.

# **QUESTION FIVE**

- A. Reason why it is desirable for the auditor to send a letter of engagement
  - i. It defines the extent of the auditor's responsibilities and so minimises the possibility of any misunderstanding between the management of the enterprise and the auditor.
  - It documents and confirms the auditor's acceptance of the appointment, the objective and scope of the audit, the extent of his responsibilities, and form of his reports.
- B. The points to be included in an engagement letter under the headings indicated are as follows:

#### i. Definition and scope of the audit.

It should be made clear that an audit involves the examination of, and expression of opinion on, the financial statements of an enterprise by an appointed auditor in pursuance of that appointment, and in the case of statutory audit, that the matters to be reported upon are laid down in the Companies Act 1962 or in other relevant legislation. In case of non-statutory audit the matters to be dealt with in the report should be agreed in writing between the auditor and his client.

The letter should explain the scope of an audit and state that the auditor will review the accounting system in order to assess their adequacy as a basis for the preparation of the financial statements. Furthermore, the letter should state the auditor will need to obtain relevant and reliable evidence sufficient to enable him to draw reasonable conclusions therefrom. To this end, the letter should state that if the auditor plans to place reliance on any internal controls, he will ascertain and evaluate those controls and perform tests on their operation. In this respect, reference should be made to the auditor reporting to the management any significant weaknesses in, or observations on the company's systems which come to the auditor's notice and which he thinks should be brought to the management's attention.

Mention should be made of any recurring special arrangements concerning the audit, such as:

- 1. The relationship with internal auditors.
- 2. Arrangements for audits of divisions.
- 3. audits/reviews of overseas subsidiaries, and
- 4. Arrangements for involvement of any other auditors.

The letter should state that the auditor will carry out his work and make his report in accordance with approved auditing standards and, where appropriate, will have regard to IAS when reviewing the financial statements.

It should be made clear that the client, not the auditor, is responsible for the preparation of financial statements giving a true and fair view, and for maintaining proper accounting records and a system of internal control which is appropriate to the enterprise.

# ii. Fraud or irregularities

The responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and error rests with the management and this responsibility is fulfilled mainly through the implementation and continued operation of an adequate system of internal control. The engagement letter should indicate that it is not the main purpose of an audit to discover fraud and other irregularities and that the examination should not be relied upon to disclose all irregularities that may exist. It should however explain that the auditor would plan his audit so that he has a reasonable expectation of detecting material mis-statements in the financial statements resulting from irregularities and fraud. If a special examination of irregularities, which goes beyond the scope of the audit, is required by the client, then this should be specific in the engagement letter.

#### iii. Accounting, taxation and other services

The auditor may undertake the services for his client in addition to his statutory duties as auditor. The letter should delineate clearly the accountant's and the client's responsibilities in relation to these services and to the day-to-day bookkeeping, the maintenance of all accounting records and the preparation of financial statements.

If purely accounting services are being provided to a client such as a sole trader or partnership, the letter of engagement should make it clear that this is done without any audit work being carried out.

In the case of taxation services, the responsibility for the various procedures such as the preparation of tax computations and submission of returns to the relevant authorities should be clearly set out, either in a section of the main letter or in a separate letter where necessary.

#### iv. Fees

Mention should normally be made of fees and the general basis on which fees are computed and rendered.

#### **LESSON 4**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

# A. i. Flowchart of company's payroll system

#### Relevance

This will constitute an important part of the recording of the company's systems, to be held along with other details on the permanent audit file. It will assist the auditor's evaluation of the strengths and weaknesses of the company's system in this area and thus the extent to which the auditor will wish to place reliance on the system should compliance tests show that it is operating satisfactorily in practice.

# Reliability

As audit evidence which is generated by the auditor himself, forming part of the audit working papers, this is an extremely reliable source of audit evidence, particularly as the accuracy of the chart appears to have been backed up by the compliance test in the area of the payroll.

## Other evidence required

Given the apparently satisfactory results of compliance tests in the area of the company's payroll routine, the only further evidential matter required would appear to be that gained from limited substantive testing in this area.

#### ii. Production director's estimate of working life of new

# plant Relevance

The auditor has to form an opinion on the adequacy of the company's depreciation policy. If the company's financial statements are to show a true and fair view of the valuation of fixed assets, then it will be necessary for an assessment to be made of the useful life of the plant to the business.

# Reliability

As a general rule documentary evidence will be seen as more reliable than oral evidence. The uncorroborated oral representations of management will therefore, by themselves, constitute a particularly reliable source of audit evidence.

#### Other evidence required

One way in which the auditor should seek to confirm the production director's estimates is by considering the past experience of the company with similar items of plant, in relation to its effective working life.

#### iii. Newspaper report on impact of new technology on

#### sales Relevance

Evidence which suggests a possible significant curtailment in the level of the company's sales will be important to the auditor's assessment of the future viability of the company and

whether it may be properly regarded as a going concern.

#### Reliability

As evidence obtained indirectly from a third party source which is not subject to the influence of the client, this should be seen as a reliable source of audit evidence.

# Other evidence required

The auditor will need to test the reliability of the newspaper report by seeking evidence of similar assessments of the likely impact of new technology from other sources. Those sources might include trade journals, discussion with management and a review of current sales trends (including post balance sheet sales).

# iv. Letter from company's bankers confirming overdraft

# facility Relevance

The extent to which the company is dependent on short-term finance and the continued availability of such finance (in the form of an agreed overdraft facility) will once again be an important factor in the auditor's assessment of whether or not the company may properly be regarded as a going concern at the balance sheet date.

# Reliability

The bank letter is an example of evidence which originates outside of the business but then forms part of the records maintained by the client. It will therefore be more reliable than evidence both originated and forming part of the records maintained by the client's staff but less reliable than that which the auditor himself obtains directly from third parties.

#### Other evidence required

The auditor should ensure that this important matter is also confirmed by the direct communication which, with the client's permission, he has with the company's bankers.

#### v. Details recorded by audit staff during attendance at client's stock

#### account Relevance

Stock is often one of the most important single items within the company's financial statements and as with all assets of the company, the auditor must be satisfied as to ownership existence and valuation. Notes taken by audit staff will be important with particular regard to the auditor's assessment of existence and condition, which in turn has a direct bearing on the subsequent valuation.

#### Reliability

As audit evidence obtained directly as a result of the auditor's own tests and enquiries this is an example of the most reliable audit evidence available.

#### Other evidence required

The auditor should ensure that the details recorded by his own staff agree with the details in the final inventory prepared by the client.

#### vi. Positive reply to debtor confirmation

#### request Relevance

This will assist the auditor in both assessment of the effective working of the company's systems in the area of sales and debtors and in his consideration of the reasonableness of the figure for debtors shown as an asset in the balance sheet.

#### Reliability

As audit evidence is obtained directly from third parties this would be second only in reliability to that audit evidence which the auditor himself generates as a result of his own test and enquiries.

# Other evidence required

The auditors ensure that there is no question of the debtor being a related party as this would mean that they were under the influence of the client, which would in turn reduce the reliability of the evidence obtained.

# **QUESTIONTWO**

A. An external auditor must consider the following matters in deciding the extent to which he can rely on the work of an internal auditor.

#### i. Degree of independence from the accounting function

The internal auditor should not be reporting on the work of those who control his salary, and promotion prospectus. He should report to the Board or an audit committee and have free access to the external auditor.

#### ii. Scope and objectives of the internal audit department

If their primary task is to review non-financial decisions and systems, then their work will be of limited use to the external auditor.

#### iii. Professional standards

This can be gauged by the audit manual in use, if any, the existence and implementation of adequate procedures for ensuring the assignments are planned, controlled recorded and reviewed and whether quality control work is done and reports are followed up.

#### iv. Technical competence

This can be assessed from a review of training, experience and qualification of staff.

# v. Quality of work done

The external auditor can compare his findings with those of internal audit and should also consider constraints affecting the work of internal audit such as lack of staff or equipment or non-cooperation of management.

#### B. **MEMORANDUM**

To: J Wragg, Internal Auditor, Gigglane Sportswear Ltd

From: A N Auditor, Tom Dick, Harry & Co.

Date: 30 November 19X8

#### **DEBTORS' CIRCULARISATION**

As you know, I do not think that I can rely sufficiently on the results of your debtors' circularisation to come to a conclusion on the existence and valuation of trade debtors as at 31 October 19X8. I therefore intend to reperform the circularisation. I realise that this is inconvenient and does not represent an efficient use of our time or resources, and so would suggest that next year we hold a planning meeting well in advance of the audit to establish the best way of covering all the necessary ground between us.

I list below my reasons for reperforming the circularisation.

- i. The responses cover only the total value of debtors and as such the evidence which they provide is very limited with regard to reaching a conclusion on whether the total of the debtor balances is fairly stated;
- ii. Statistical sampling techniques would have helped overcome the sampling risk that your techniques were subject to. Stratification would have been a cost-effective strategy to adopt. All accounts above a certain value could have been selected for circularisation, with statistical sampling being applied to the remainder;
- iii. Special attention should have been paid to unusual items, credit or nil balances, and accounts which were long overdue;
- iv. Your circularisation was not designed to maximise the value of the third party evidence to be produced. You do not appear to have cast the debtors' listing to ensure that the total value of accounts on the printout agreed to the sales ledger control account; you cannot otherwise be sure that no accounts were suppressed to prevent their investigation. Similarly, you should have asked the consumer to reply directly to me so that the possibility of suppressing the requests and replies could be eliminated. For the same reason, you should have investigated discrepancies in the replies yourself or left it to me to do.

# C. The response rate could be improved by:

- i. Enclosing a pre-addressed, prepaid or stamped envelope with the request;
- ii. Sending the request letters with the monthly statements (if the auditor retains control over the filing and posting of the envelopes) or enclosing an analysis of the balance so that the customers can vouch the invoices if they cannot agree the balance (for example, they have open item systems);
- iii. Use of telex, facsimile transmission or recorded letters might be more effective in some cases than ordinary letter post by imparting a sense of urgency and importance, and in the case of overseas customers the first two will be quicker and possibly cheaper;
- iv. The letters would have more weight in the customer's eyes if signed by a senior member of management like sales or financial director, and this would have the added advantage that any letters unlikely to be answered might be weeded out at this early stage. However, the auditor would be put upon enquiry by a request not to circularise a particular customer and should employ alternative verification procedures for these balances.

D. A debtors' circularisation is a standard procedure in auditing the trade debtors balance but it should be remembered that it is a means to an end and not an end in itself. There is a risk that whoever replies to a circularisation in the debtor's name—and in practice this may be a relatively junior sales clerk—has not taken adequate steps to verify the account before replying positively. Other procedures such as analytical review may be important as procedures complementary to the carrying out of a circularisation. Where it is not expected to produce a good response rate or where most customers settle their accounts before the final audit, it may be more efficient to dispose with a circularisation altogether. However, this decision should be carefully thought through as a carefully planned and executed circularisation provides third party evidence and as such is a very valuable technique.

## **QUESTION THREE**

The managing director is very persuasive. One tends to agree with him!

A good start to the answer must be to state the purpose of the letter of representation viz.:

- a. Reduction to writing of oral statements by the directors.
- b. The letter is a form of evidence.
- c. Evidence available to a court that the directors knew their responsibilities.
- d. The Companies Act strengthens the value of written evidence from directors.

## Additional points

Some matters of fact are not obtainable from the evidential sources mentioned, e.g. all liabilities included.

Some matters of opinion have no other evidence available e.g. life of plant, obsolescence.

It is a remainder to management of those matters in the accounts which they must take particular care over.

Although the director is not an accountant or lawyer, he does have a legal duty with respect to the preparation of the accounts.

In theory point 3 is well taken but in practice few directors sign the accounts after careful review.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

# A. Responsibilities for prior period financial information:

- The opening figures form part of "cost of sales". All such figures must be subject to audit opinion obtained through audit evidence.
- The previous and current year accounts must be consistent in accounting policies.
- o The previous year's figures form the comparative figures. The auditor must see that they are indeed the figures (possibly restated) appearing in the previous year's accounts.

# B. Procedures

- The directors should have restated the figures to conform to the new format verify that this has been done
- determine if opening figures are correctly brought forward and are correct, by seeking evidence from:

- i. Current year work
- ii. Consulting with management
- iii. Review of client's records in previous year
- iv. If necessary, enquiry of previous auditor to determine the adequacy of his audit procedures.
- Review accounting policy consistency: changes will need to be in conformity to IAS 1 and IAS 8
- Review restatement of previous year's figures to conform to new format. This may be the difficult part. Especially difficulties may arise on analysis of expenses into cost of sales, administrative expenses and distribution costs.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

- (a) Risk-based auditing refers to the development of auditing techniques which are responsive to risk factors in an audit, which can be analysed as follows:
  - i. The risk that material error will occur (inherent risk);
  - ii. The risk that the client's system will not prevent or detect such error (control risk);
  - iii. The risk that undetected material errors will be overlooked by the auditor (detection risk).

The auditor applies judgement to determine what level of risk pertains to different areas of a client's system and devises appropriate audit tests. This approach should ensure that the greatest audit effort is directed at the riskiest areas, so that the chance of detecting errors is improved and time is not spent on unnecessary testing of `safe' areas.

- (b) Potential high risk areas in an audit might include the following:
  - i. If management is under pressure to produce favourable results (for instance, to avoid the threat of closure by a parent company or where the company is approaching insolvency), there is a risk such that they will attempt to inflate profitability by fraudulent means such as overstating assets (stock, debtors) or concealing liabilities.
  - ii. Valuable assets readily subject to misappropriation (for instance, high value stock) may be stolen if adequate physical controls are not in force.
  - iii. An environment where controls are inadequate or non-existent (for instance a new and expanding business which has not developed suitable accounting systems) gives rise to a risk of various kinds of fraud or of error resulting in under or over-statement in any accounting area.
  - iv. Where there are numerous related party transactions (e.g. between the company and its directors) or transactions of an apparently unusual nature, the auditor is dependent on obtaining explanations from management.

- (c) The increased use of risk-based auditing reflects two factors:
  - i. The growing complexity of the business environment increases the danger of fraud or mis-statement; factors such as the developing use of computerised systems and the growing internationalisation of business are relevant here;
  - ii. Pressures are increasingly exerted by audit clients for the auditor to keep fee levels down while providing an improved level of service.

Risk-based auditing is responsive to both factors. It allows risk areas to be identified, so that the auditor can concentrate on the areas presenting the greatest danger of fraud or misstatement. Audit work can be kept to a minimum on low risk areas, making the best use of audit staff time and effort.

(d) Risk-based auditing and statistical sampling techniques are often associated because sample size will be affected by the degree of audit assurance the auditor plans to obtain from the results of the sample. The greater the degree of assurance required, the greater the sample size. The auditor will relate the degree of assurance required to the risk that the audit procedures may be invalid, because of the three risk factors described in the answer to (a) above. Statistical sampling allows a sample size to be objectively determined by reference to the degree of risk the auditor is prepared to accept.

Statistical sampling is appropriate in areas where the auditor wishes to arrive at a conclusion about a homogeneous population, and can do so by making a random selection of items which will be representative of that population. For instance, if an auditor wishes to test that sales invoices are correctly calculated, in a situation where a large number of invoices are issued all under the same system, it would be appropriate to select a sample by statistical techniques.

A statistical approach is not appropriate when an auditor wishes to examine individual items which have a particular significance (e.g. all items over a certain value or invoices relating to a particular product or customer). It will not be possible to use a sampling approach in these cases.

(e) The term `confidence level' relates to the degree of assurance that the auditor obtains from a particular test or combination of tests. In statistical sampling, this is expressed as a percentage. For instance, a 90% confidence level means that the auditor is 90% sure that the objective of a test has been attained (e.g. that purchases are properly authorised). The higher the confidence level, the less the risk of misstatement.

#### LESSON 5

#### **QUESTION ONE**

A. An external auditor must consider the following matters in deciding the extent to which he can rely on the work of an internal auditor.

# i. Degree of independence from the accounting function

The internal auditor should not be reporting on the work of those who control his salary, and promotion prospectus. He should report to the Board or an audit committee and have free access to the external auditor.

# ii. Scope and objectives of the internal audit department

If their primary task is to review non-financial decisions and systems, then their work will be of limited use to the external auditor.

#### iii. Professional standards

This can be gauged by the audit manual in use, if any, the existence and implementation of adequate procedures for ensuring the assignments are planned, controlled recorded and reviewed and whether quality control work is done and reports are followed up.

#### iv. Technical competence

This can be assessed from a review of training, experience and qualification of staff.

# v. Quality of work done

The external auditor can compare his findings with those of internal audit and should also consider constraints affecting the work of internal audit such as lack of staff or equipment or non-cooperation of management.

# B. **MEMORANDUM**

To: J Wragg, Internal Auditor, Gigglane Sportswear Ltd

From: A N Auditor, Tom Dick, Harry & Co.

Date: 30 November 19X8

#### **DEBTORS' CIRCULARISATION**

As you know, I do not think that I can rely sufficiently on the results of your debtors' circularisation to come to a conclusion on the existence and valuation of trade debtors as at 31 October 19X8. I therefore intend to reperform the circularisation. I realise that this is inconvenient and does not represent an efficient use of our time or resources, and so would suggest that next year we hold a planning meeting well in advance of the audit to establish the best way of covering all the necessary ground between us.

I list below my reasons for reperforming the circularisation.

- i. The responses cover only the total value of debtors and as such the evidence which they provide is very limited with regard to reaching a conclusion on whether the total of the debtor balances is fairly stated;
- ii. Statistical sampling techniques would have helped overcome the sampling risk that your techniques were subject to. Stratification would have been a cost-effective strategy to adopt. All accounts above a certain value could have been selected for circularisation, with statistical sampling being applied to the remainder;

iii. Special attention should have been paid to unusual items, credit or nil balances, and accounts which were long overdue;

iv. Your circularisation was not designed to maximise the value of the third party evidence to be produced. You do not appear to have cast the debtors' listing to ensure that the total value of accounts on the printout agreed to the sales ledger control account; you cannot otherwise be sure that no accounts were suppressed to prevent their investigation. Similarly, you should have asked the consumer to reply directly to me so that the possibility of suppressing the requests and replies could be eliminated. For the same reason, you should have investigated discrepancies in the replies yourself or left it to me to do.

# C. The response rate could be improved by:

- i. Enclosing a pre-addressed, prepaid or stamped envelope with the request;
- ii. Sending the request letters with the monthly statements (if the auditor retains control over the filing and posting of the envelopes) or enclosing an analysis of the balance so that the customers can vouch the invoices if they cannot agree the balance (for example, they have open item systems);
- iii. use of telex, facsimile transmission or recorded letters might be more effective in some cases than ordinary letter post by imparting a sense of urgency and importance, and in the case of overseas customers the first two will be quicker and possibly cheaper;
- iv. the letters would have more weight in the customer's eyes if signed by a senior member of management like sales or financial director, and this would have the added advantage that any letters unlikely to be answered might be weeded out at this early stage. However, the auditor would be put upon enquiry by a request not to circularise a particular customer and should employ alternative verification procedures for these balances.
- D. A debtors' circularisation is a standard procedure in auditing the trade debtors balance but it should be remembered that it is a means to an end and not an end in itself. There is a risk that whoever replies to a circularisation in the debtor's name—and in practice this may be a relatively junior sales clerk—has not taken adequate steps to verify the account before replying positively. Other procedures such as analytical review may be important as procedures complementary to the carrying out of a circularisation. Where it is not expected to produce a good response rate or where most customers settle their accounts before the final audit, it may be more efficient to dispose with a circularisation altogether. However, this decision should be carefully thought through as a carefully planned and executed circularisation provides third party evidence and as such is a very valuable technique.

# **QUESTION TWO**

- A. The relevant audit tests are as follows:
  - i. The auditor should obtain from the client a breakdown of the figures for development expenditure, which makes it possible to trace the amounts spent to the nominal ledger and the final accounts.
  - ii. Compliance tests should be performed to ensure that a system exists for controlling the authorising and the recording of development expenditure, and that the system is operating adequately. (This work may be covered where practicable by the audit tests

performed on the company's purchases and payroll systems).

iii. Individual amounts should be vouched by reference to supporting documentation. The relevant documentation will vary according to the type of expenditure, but tests might include:

- 1. Agree purchases to requisitions, orders, and goods received notes, invoices, cashbook and bank statement.
- 2. Agree labour costs to the payroll and to supporting evidence, such as time sheets or job cards.
- If overheads have been included in the development figure, ensure that
  they have been calculated on a basis consistent with that used generally by
  the company.

The auditor will wish to set a materiality level for testing individual items; this will have to be established when the breakdown of the total figure is known. For instance, it may be possible to restrict testing considerably if one or two large invoices represent the bulk of the relevant expenditure.

- iv. The arithmetical accuracy of the schedule of expenditure should be checked.
- v. The auditor should ensure that there has been no double-counting, ie that development items capitalised have not also been charged as an expense in the profit and loss account.
- v. Finally, the auditor should carry out a review of the development figure in order to be satisfied that it is reasonable and consistent with what else is known about the company and its business.
- B. IAS 38 lays down the basis on which development costs may be carried forward. They may be carried forward only if, and to the extent that, they represent an asset which is likely to generate income for the company in the future. It would contravene the prudence concept to carry forward expenditure which is not reasonably expected to generate future income.

According to IAS 38, development expenditure should be written off in the year it is incurred, unless there is a clearly defined project, and the related expenditure is separately identifiable.

The out come of the project must then be examined for:

- i. Its technical feasibility; and
- ii. Its ultimate commercial viability considered in the light of such factors as:
  - likely market conditions (including competing products or services);
     Public opinion
  - o Consumer and environment legislation.

# The project will be of value

- Only if further development costs to be incurred on the same project, together
  with related production, selling and administration costs, will be more than
  covered by related revenues; and
- ii. Adequate resources exist, or are reasonably expected to be available, to enable the project to be completed and to provide any consequential increases in working

capital.

If taking a prudent view of the available evidence, these conditions are met, development costs may be deferred and amortised over the period expected to benefit.

- C. The following audit procedures may be performed to verify the revaluation gain arising on fixed assets:
  - i. Ensure that the valuer appears to be appropriately qualified and independent of the company. If these conditions are not fulfilled, the auditor will need to consider their possible impact on the results of the valuation.
  - ii. By reference to the instructions given to the valuer and the valuer's report, ensure that the valuation has been performed on a basis which is reasonable and consistent with previous valuations.
  - iii. Check that profits or losses on individual fixed assets have been correctly calculated by reference to the fixed asset register and the detailed analysis of the revaluation.
  - iv. Check arithmetical accuracy of the compilation of the revaluation schedule and of the calculation of asset profits and losses.
- D. The decision to finance development internally has resulted in a large increase in creditors and decrease in cash balances. This may lead to liquidity problems, especially since the company will still need funds to finance new products. These funds will have to be generated either by sale of further investments, the raising of loan from the directors or an outside investor, or by the issue of shares. If funding is not available, the development expenditure should be written off on the basis that it will not be possible to complete the project. This would eliminate the profit and loss reserve and would create doubts about the company's status as a going concern.

The auditor should discuss with the directors their plans for obtaining additional finance and request that they produce cash flow forecasts in support of these. If the auditor does not obtain satisfactory evidence of the company's ability to obtain finance, it may be necessary to qualify the audit report on grounds of going concern.

# **QUESTION THREE**

A. Standard costing is widely used for management accounting as it is often not practicable to relate expenditure to specific units of stock. However it is only acceptable for financial accounting if it produces a valuation approximating to actual cost. Management should thus be reviewing standards regularly (at least once a year) to ensure that they bear a reasonable relationship to actual costs incurred in the period. Such a review should include:

- i. Consideration of the suitability of overhead allocation bases and absorption rates;
- ii. Expected materials usage and labour hours;
- iii. Amendments to technical specification; and
- iv. Changes in prices, wage rates and capacity.

Management should also investigate all significant variances from standards and act on them. Any changes to standards should only be made on the authority of a suitable senior employee.

B. If the auditor's review of the standard costing system reveals that there are internal controls in respect of stock valuation which can be relied on, **compliance tests** should be carried out to test these controls.

# Compliance tests

- i. Assess the adequacy of procedures for reviewing standards.
- ii. Establish that all revisions to standards have been properly authorised.
- iii. Check that management have spotted and acted on all significant anomalies in gross margins and price and usage variances.

#### Substantive tests

- i. Compare standard costs with actual costs as evidenced by supplier's invoices and price lists, payroll, union agreements on wages and pay scales.
- ii. Assess the accuracy of standard hours and quantities by reviewing product specifications, recent time and motion studies, union agreements and production records and comparing the results with standards.
- iii. If overhead absorption costing is in use, the auditor must ensure that only direct overheads are included in year end valuation. If marginal costing is used, then direct overheads should be added to the stock valuation to confirm with IAS 2.
- iv. Overheads should only be absorbed on the basis of normal activity levels, taking one year with another. The cost of unused capacity should be written off in the year incurred. The auditor should ensure that normal capacity does not differ markedly from the capacity estimated for overhead absorption by reviewing the budgets for current and future periods and actual levels of production for current and prior years.
- v. The auditor should ensure that appropriate bases are used for absorbtion of overheads. If, for example, overheads are being absorbed by labour hours then this is a sensible basis fro supervisory personnel costs but rates, for example, would be better absorbed on the basis of floor space.
- C. The calculation of the variances should first be checked for arithmetic accuracy and the variance further analyzed, if necessary. Any variance arising from pilfering, wastage and so on should be written off in full in the period when incurred, as should idle time costs, and no adjustment to standard costs should be made in this case.

The company should, however, adjust stock valued at standard cost to a closer approximation to actual by a suitable proportion of the *price* variances which arose in the period. In this case, the

auditor must ensure that only the variances which arose over the same period as the stock balances are taken into account; that is, if stock quantities are held at approximately two months' purchases, then only price variances which arose in the last two months of the year should be added to stock values. He should also check that the standards have not been changed since the variances arose.

Other, non-price, variances should be reviewed to establish whether they arise from such factors as temporary fluctuations in usage, capacity, or whether the standards are out of date or unrealistic, in which the case the standard should be amended.

# **QUESTION FOUR**

Work to be performed on the review of the financial statements

# A. Accounting policies

- i. Complete check list of compliance with IAS.
- ii. Review especially compliance with any recent IAS.
- iii. Review accounting policies for consistency with previous years, appropriateness to the business and general acceptance.
- iv. If there has been a change see that this has been explained in the notes to the Accounts and if necessary included as a prior year adjustment under IAS.
- v. Review disclosure of accounting policies complies with IAS.

#### B. Profit and Loss Account

- i. See that turnover increase/decrease is in line with expectations and knowledge of the business.
- ii. Review gross profit margin with previous year, expectations and known business conditions e.g. price increases.
- iii. Compare all expenses headings with corresponding amounts for previous year.
- iv. Review for correct disclosure of extraordinary and exceptional items and prior year adjustments.
- v. Review the tax computation. Capital allowances should agree with capital expenditure, IAS 12 should be accorded with.
- vi. Review the profit and loss account to see that it reflects any known post-balance sheet events and the auditor's knowledge of the business and its environment.

# C. Balance Sheet

- i. Review fixed asset additions. These should conform to the auditors knowledge of the business and previous period's capital expenditure contracts placed or approved.
- ii. Review depreciation to determine if rates are adequate. Indications will include scrappings, excessive profits/losses on sales and new technology.
- iii. Any asset revalued should be correctly treated and the matter disclosed (credit to capital reserve, show name of valuer etc.).
- iv. Review stock, compare turnover rate with previous year and knowledge of market conditions; review treatment of stock at net realisable value, if any.

v. Review debtors with turnover (rate should be compared with previous year and market conditions). Provision for doubtful debts should be reviewed in the light of aging schedule (in the working papers and market conditions.

- vi. Creditors. Review with inputs and compare ratio with previous year. Review post balance sheet events examination in the working papers to test if all liabilities are included.
- vii. Bank. Review with overdraft facilities and the bank letter.
- viii. Taxation—see profit and loss account.
- ix. Dividends. Review for legality, approval by directors and see that the A.G.M. agenda includes it.
- x. Long term loans. Review new issues. Review with interest charges in the profit and loss account, borrowing powers in the memorandum and repayment requirements with new arranged facilities and cash flow forecasts.
- xi. Share capital. Review new issues.
- xii Review liquidity ratios and trends.
- xiv. Complete check list on going concern.

# D. Statutory disclosure requirements:

These should be examined by means of check list.

# E In a period of recession the following should be considered/expected:

- i. Lower gross and net profit margins.
- ii. Reduced sales.
- iii. Higher stocks, with net realisable value problems.
- iv. Slower paying debtors with doubtful debt problems.
- v. Liquidity problems and pressure from creditors.
- vi. Fixed assets may not all be in use and should then be written down.
- vii. Redundancy and closure costs.
- viii. Attempts by management to window dress accounts.
- ix. Going concern problems.
- x. Difficulties in meeting loan and overdraft agreements.
- xi. Agreed gearing ratios exceeded.

# **Question 4**

Answers apparent from the text

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

Answers apparent from the text

# LESSON 6

# **QUESTION ONE**

There are numerous possible indications that a client is no longer a going concern. Here is a check list of some of them:

To determine insolvency that is inability to meet debts as they fall due:

- 1. Adverse current ratio or trend.
- 2. Adverse acid test ratio or trend.
- 3. Overdue PAYE, VAT.
- 4. Dependence on short term finance for long term needs.
- 5. Gearing ratios high or increasing.
- 6. Borrowing in excess of debenture trust deed agreements.
- 7. Defaults on loan interest or capital repayment.
- 8. Preference dividends in arrear.
- 9. Excess stocks.
- 10. Excessive debtors
- 11. Overdrafts in excess of facilities granted.
- 12. Restriction on trading terms (eg, cash only by suppliers).
- 13. Long term loans becoming due with no arrangements for refinance.
- 14. Excessive reliance on high interest finance (eg. HP).
- 15. Credit terms taken in excess of agreed terms.
- 16. Recurrent operating losses.
- 17. Deficiency of share capital and reserves.
- 18. Necessity to seek new sources or methods of finance.

To determine other possible causes of a business discontinuing:

- 1. Loss of key management or staff.
- 2. Delay in filing documents at companies house.
- 3. Labour difficulties (eg. a prolonged strike).
- 4. Substantial dependence on one uncertain project.
- 5. Uneconomic long term commitment.
- 6. Legal proceedings.
- 7. Loss of key franchise.
- 8. Patents running out.
- 9. Loss of principal supplier or customer.
- 10. Political risks.
- 11. Increasing import penetration.
- 12. Foreign exchange movements.
- 13. Technical obsolescence.
- 14. Financial failures of suppliers, customers or others in the same industry.
- 15. Voluntary or imposed output restrictions.
- 16. Imposed competitiveness (eg. abandonment of cartel arrangement).
- 17. Continued use of old plant because of lack of funds to replace it.
- 18. Potential losses on long term contracts.

Answers to questions 2,3,4 and 5 are apparent from the text.

# LESSON 7

# **QUESTION ONE**

- (a) The criteria of prudent management under the Building Societies Act are:
  - i. Maintenance of adequate reserves;
  - ii. Maintenance of a structure of commercial assets such that at least 90% of assets are loans secured by first mortgage for owner-occupied housing;
  - iii. Maintenance of adequate assets in liquid form;
  - iv. Maintenance of arrangements for ensuring the adequacy of security over mortgage loans i.e. proper valuation of properties in determining the amount of loan that can be advanced;
  - v. maintenance of requisite accounting records, systems of control, and systems of inspection and report;
  - vi. Direction and management by fit and proper directors and officers, and with prudence and integrity;
  - vii. Conduct of the business with adequate professional skills.
- (b) In drawing up the audit programme, particular attention should be paid to the following areas which are either unique to building society operations or are of particular significance:
  - i. Advances and repayments of mortgages;
  - ii. Investor's accounts:
  - iii. Communication between the society and investors and borrowers;
  - iv. Accounting records at branches and agencies;
  - v. computer systems;

Substantive testing will be important in verifying;

- i. Existence and completeness of investors' and borrowers' balances;
- ii. Existence of deeds held as security on loans;
- iii. Existence, ownership and valuation of property, investments and cash;
- iv. Completeness and occurence of interest received and paid.

Analytical review procedures are likely to be of particular importance. These will include the determination of ratios of significance to prudent management, such as the maintenance of adequate reserves and a comparison of the society's performance and financial position with readily available published statistics on trends amongst societies.

© The exact nature of statistical returns and which of them will need to be examined and reported on by the auditor will be determined by the Central Bank of Kenya specifically for each bank.

The auditor is required to form an opinion on whether the information contained in the returns is:

- i. Complete in the sense that there is no information in the accounting and other records required to be included that has not been included;
- ii. Accurate in its reflection of information contained in the accounting and other records;
- iii. Prepared in accordance with the Central Bank of Kenya requirements;
- iv. Based on accounting policies consistent with those used in the annual accounts.

The auditor is not required to form an opinion as to the reliability of the accounting and

other records on which the returns are based. Of course, he reports separately on internal control. He may, however, consider it prudent to review changes in internal controls since the date of the last annual report on internal control.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

The following summary provides an idea as to the range and complexity of banking activities.

- i. The making of loans and advances and the provision of trade credit;
- ii. The management of customer accounts and the associated movements of cash and other transfers of funds;
- iii. Engaging in money market activities;
- iv. Dealing in foreign exchange markets, futures markets, options markets and commodity markets;
- v. Dealing in share markets as agents or principals and related activities such as underwriting;
- vi. The provision of advisory services such as portfolio management and acting as

# Segregation of duties

- (a) Adequate segregation of duties between those who control receipt and custody of cash, transfer and receive funds and maintain accounting records;
- (b) Dual control over signature plates for cheque-signing machines;
- (c) Signature controls on bankers' payments, cheques and drafts and effective review of underlying documentation;
- (d) Dual control over receipt of mail;
- (e) adequate control procedures in relation to staff holidays.

# Physical

- (a) Teller area has adequate physical protection;
- (b) Physical control over till contents;
- (c) Control over spare keys to tills;
- (d) Surprise counts of cash, and vault funds according to a systematic plan;
- (e) Relief tellers have separate floats or transfers of floats between tellers properly documented;
- (f) Reserve cash kept in vault under adequate security control;
- (g) Controls over stocks of unused cheques, bankers' drafts, bankers' payments, travellers' cheques and other blank documentation;
- (h) Access to contents of ATMs properly secured.

#### Authorisation and approval

- (a) Formal policies established;
- (b) Authorisation procedures for withdrawing from reserve cash;
- (c) Control procedures relating to issue of travellers' cheques;
- (d) Authorisation controls on non-EFT payments;
- (e) properly authorised reconciliations of branch and head office clearings accounts to control accounts, review and follow-up procedures for all old and unusual items and exception reporting system for overdue response/clearance items and usually high balances;
- (f) Evidence of identity for withdrawals, e.g. Signature, cheque guarantee card and

- checking identity prior to cheque clearance;
- (g) Balance enquiry to support evidence of sufficient funds/undrawn for withdrawals;
- (h) Limits on tellers' funds and vault cash to reduce exposure;
- (i) Cash cards issued only to properly authorised customers;
- (i) Control over dormant accounts.

# Arithmetical and accounting

- (a) Immediate recording in books;
- (b) Cheques restrictively endorsed on receipt;
- (c) Daily balancing of tills and investigations of variances;
- (d) Regular reconciliation of control accounts;
- (e) Control over opening accounts;
- (f) Sequence control over bankers' payments, cheques and bankers' drafts;
- (g) Detailed analysis of branch and head office clearings accounts readily available;
- (h) Proper reconciliation procedures governing related control and suspense accounts relating to ATMs;
- (i) Control over standing data amendments.

# Supervision

(a) Policies established subject to regular review at an appropriate level.

#### Loans, Advances and Trade Finance

- (a) Agreement of facilities and drawdowns (overdraft limits) to source documents;
- (b) Testing calculation of interest and accruals;
- (c) Review of provisioning procedures and assessment of the adequacy of loan provisioning;
- (d) Review of loan files;
- (e) Testing of masterfile amendments;
- (f) testing/checking security;
- (g) Review of exceeded facilities;
- (h) Review of suspense accounts;
- (i) Performance of circularisation of balances or transactions;
- (j) Inspection of collateral or circularisation of holders of collateral;
- (k) Analytical review of balances and income compared with prior periods or budgets.

# Customer Accounts, Cash and Transfer of Funds

- (a) Checking of cash records including cash counts;
- (b) Checking of daily clearing reconciliation: in-debits and credits, out-debits and credits and other payments and receipts, such as direct debit and CHAPs (Clearing House Automated Payments);
- (c) Agreement of entries to source documents;
- (d) Testing of interest calculation and recording;
- (e) Testing of amendments to masterfiles;
- (f) Testing of SWIFT/telex control logs, including sequence and contamination testing to ensure no unregistered transfers; (SWIFT is the electronic funds transfer system used by banks internationally);
- (g) Circularisation of customer accounts;
- (h) Testing of suspense accounts;
- (i) Testing of interest accruals;

(j) Testing of cut-off.

#### Source: IAPS

#### Final Review

The auditor will need to consider carefully the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted and the accounting treatment of particular transactions in view of the opportunities for window dressing, for off-balance sheet finance, for manipulating the valuation of assets as between cost and market value and for altering the timing of revenue recognition. The draft IAPS `Banks', paragraph 50 identifies the following problem areas in bank's accounts:

- i. Provisions for bad and doubtful debts;
- ii. Valuation of securities;
- iii. Off-balance sheet transactions;
- iv. Treasury instruments;
- v. Foreign exchange;
- vi. Fees and commissions;
- vii. Taxation.

# **QUESTION THREE**

The crucial point to note first is that gross profit margin is arrived at as follows:

| Sales                | X     |
|----------------------|-------|
| Cost of sales        |       |
| Opening Stocks       | X     |
| Purchases            | X     |
| Labour               | X     |
| Production overheads | X     |
|                      | X     |
| Less: Closing stock  | (X) X |
| Gross Profit         | X     |
| Gross profit margin  | 0/0   |

Theoretically the gross profit margin should be steady from year to year as any increase in costs are passed on to the consumer by the company. It is thus expected that all the above cost components would retain the relationship to the sales figure. They therefore all have to be investigated to determine their contribution to the fall in the margins.

#### Sales

Compare sales values with previous years. Determine volumes and the mix of sales to determine whether increase in turnover is as a result of price increases or volume increases. Determine market demand for the products and whether discounts have been given to encourage higher volume sales. Determine whether any price increases were introduced during the year. Determine the sales mix and whether any changes occurred therein.

#### **Opening Stocks**

Determine whether the accounting policies used in valuing opening stocks have been consistently applied in 1990. Determine whether the values attached to these stocks were based on an actual stock-take at end of 1988 and review the working papers on this for any obvious errors. Confirm that the amount brought forward is the closing amount for the previous year. Select material or high value items at end of 1988 and investigate their movements during 1989 for volumes and costs.

#### **Purchases**

Compare purchases with previous years determining whether any price increases result in increases in sales prices. Review the system of internal control ensuring that all goods purchased are received into the warehouse in the quantity and quality ordered at approved prices (The receipt should be supported with a goods received note and entry into stock records, but basic stock records are not maintained in this company).

# Labour and Production Overheads

Confirm that the basis of absorption has remained consistent.

Investigate increases in the costs, seeking to establish whether they match sales price increases. Investigate and confirm that employees exist, and that they are paid for work done at approved rates.

Confirm no labour strikes had resulted in non-productive time.

# **Closing Stock**

Determine whether a stock-take was carried out at the year end and check the quantities used in valuing stocks for accounts purposes. Determine the extent of damaged slow-moving and obsolete stock items and how they were treated in the accounts. Investigate the possibility of pilferage and non-receipt of goods purchased.

# General

Hold discussions with the management and the previous auditors as to the causes of the drop in the gross profit margin.

Review the general economic environment and particularly the industry in which your client operates, and determine the average performances therein. Access the age of machinery used and its capacity, ensure that it is still economical and efficient.

The results of these investigations will reveal the reasons for the falls in the margin.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

The most important control objective relating to premiums and claims that are unique to the insurance business are as follows:

#### **Premiums**

- i. Risks are underwritten and cover granted only on laid-down terms:
  - (a) Particulars of risks that may be underwritten are laid down;
  - (b) Authority for underwriting risks and determining extent of cover is specified;
  - (c) Up-to-date rate books are maintained and issued to agents and brokers;
  - (d) Intermediaries from whom business is accepted are properly vetted;
  - (e) Policies are only issued in respect of risks that have been properly evaluated in accordance with laid-down procedures.
- Proper control is established over all proposals accepted, risks underwritten and policies issued: policy documents should be prenumbered and control maintained over blank forms;
- iii. Proper control is maintained over premiums due to ensure that premiums are received in respect of all business accepted;
- iv. Inwards reinsurance treaties are authorised at an appropriate level of authority:
  - (a) Business is accepted only from approved reinsurers;
  - (b) Reinsurance statements are reviewed as being in accordance with the treaty;
  - (c) There are controls to ensure that regular statements are received in respect of all inwards reinsurance business.
- v. Outwards reinsurance treaties are approved at an appropriate level of authority:
  - (a) Business is ceded only to approved reinsurers;
  - (b) Business ceded is complete and in accordance with the terms of the treaty;
  - (c) Statements of reinsurance ceded are sent regularly and are in agreement with the company's records.
- vi. Acquisition costs are properly authorised:
  - (a) Commissions paid are properly calculated in respect of proposals accepted from agents and brokers;
  - (b) Acquisition costs are properly calculated.
- vii. Premium income is properly calculated and the amount of unearned premium income properly determined.

# Claims

- i. All claims are fully recorded:
  - (a) Procedures exist for identifying and recording claims at the earliest possible opportunity;
  - (b) Claims intimated are evaluated to ensure that a valid policy was in force at the date of occurence, premiums have been paid and the event appears to relate to an underwritten risk;

- (c) Control is established over all claims intimated and over all information received in respect of each claim.
- ii. Estimates of claims outstanding are properly determined:
  - (a) Procedures exist for making reliable estimates of claims outstanding which are revised each time new information becomes available;
  - (b) procedures exist for ensuring that the estimates are complete with respect to all claims outstanding.
- iii. Claims are admitted and settled on proper authority:
  - (a) Payments are properly authorised, agreed to evidence that fully supports the amount and liability of the claim, and made to persons entitled to receive payment;
  - (b) A release is obtained from policy holders in respect of all settlements;
  - (c) Proper records are maintained of claims payments;
  - (d) Records of the claim are transferred from claims outstanding;
  - (e) Control is maintained in respect of any recoveries or salvage owing to the company.
- iv. Claims are properly notified to reinsurers and accounted for on statements to the reinsurers.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

My checks would be principally by way of performing compliance tests over the operation of the system of control over mortgages advances.

- I would select of mortgage applications and check that they were evidenced as having been verified with respect to written confirmation of the applicant's salary from the employer and the report of the society's valuer as to the valuation of the property, which jointly determine the maximum permissible advance;
- ii. I would check final approval of the advance by a senior official confirming that the application met the requirements of the Board's policy for the granting of advances;
- iii. I would select a sample of cheque disbursement authorisations in respect of mortgage advances and sight evidence that they had been checked against:
  - The approved application;
  - Receipt of a statisfactory solicitor's report as to title;
  - The undertaking by the solicitor to deliver the title deeds to the society as soon as the change of title had been registered;
  - Mortgage documents signed by the applicant.
- iv. I would check that the documents supporting the disbursement in (iii) above were evidenced as having been sighted by the cheque signatories at the time of signing the cheque and in such a way as to prevent their being re-used;

v. I would finally check the procedure for ensuring that security documents required to be delivered to the society were duly delivered. I would do this by checking computer appliaction controls over the system whereby the issue of a cheque on a mortgage advance automatically opened an entry in the register of deeds held by the society indicating that the deeds and other appropriate documents, such as a copy of the insurance policy on the property, were outstanding. I would further check that appropriate action was taken in response to periodic listings of outstanding documents to enquire into reasons for their non-delivery.

In addition to compliance tests I would also perform a number of substantive tests using the record of cheque disbursement on mortgage advances as my starting point and verifying these backwards with the approved mortgage application and other supporting documents and forwards to the receipt of the security documents.

(b) The Building Societies Act imposes a specific responsibility on the society to establish and maintain a system to ensure the safe custody of all documents of title relating to property mortgaged to the society, and on the auditors to report to the Registrar on whether or not the system complies with the Act's requirements.

Controls should exist to ensure that:

- i. All movements of deeds are recorded;
- ii. All deeds are checked on receipt for legal requirements and for agreement with the accounting records;
- iii. An investigation is made to enquire into the reasons for any deeds not being received when due;
- iv. There is strict security over access to the deed room;
- v. Deeds are released only on proper authority;
- vi. There is periodic agreement of deeds held with the accounting records.

The auditor should perform compliance tests to verify the proper functioning of these controls, and substantive tests over the existence of deeds and the completeness of the records.

Important compliance tests will include:

- i. Verifying application controls over the computer recording of mortgage accounts to ensure that for every mortgage advance an entry would be made in the register of documents held of the relevant title deeds, and that such record could not be removed until the mortgage was properly discharged;
- Observing the procedure for the recording of the physical movement of documents into and out of the deed room;
- iii. Sighting evidence of the legal authentication of deeds received;
- iv. Sighting evidence of the follow up of deeds not received when due;
- v. Observation of deed room security;
- vi. Sighting the authority held in support of the removal of deeds;
- vii. Observation of the comparison of deeds held with accounting records by persons independent of both the custody and recording of deeds.

An important substantive test will be the selection of a sample of deeds from the register for inspection and checking that the deeds are, prima facie, valid.

(c) At the time of the interim visit I would check compliance with the control system and perform a number of substantive tests to determine the completeness and occurrence of all transactions affecting share and deposit accounts. My audit tests

would include the examination of passbooks of depositors making deposits or withdrawals and verifying passbook entries against the accounting records. I would also check controls over entries through the automatic teller machines.

At the final audit visit, with the use of computer audit software, I would:

- Check the additions of share and deposit accounts and agree the total to the accounts;
- ii. Check entries to and from the accounts around balance sheet date to records of movements in cash in the same period to verify cut-off;
- iii. Select a sample of accounts for circularisation and investigate differences reported.
- (d) An dormant account is one where the depositor cannot be traced, or where no transactions have taken place for a specified period, or where a request for noncommunication has been received.

The risk with such accounts is that employees could withdraw funds from such accounts for their own benefit without the account holder's knowledge.

I would check the society's procedures for dealing with such accounts. The computer should be programmed to identify such accounts and to `mark' them to indicate that withdrawals need to be subjected to extra controls such as by recording, against the withdrawal record, the password of the teller or other employee recording the withdrawal.

I would perform compliance tests to ensure that the laid-down controls were operating properly such as by the use of a test deck to ensure that dormant accounts are properly identified and withdrawals properly checked.

I would also carry out substantive tests using computer audit software to search for dormant accounts not marked, and to obtain details of a sample of withdrawals from dormant accounts to verify their authenticity, such as by comparing signed withdrawal requests against the account holder's specimen signature.

I would include a number of inactive accounts with substantial balances in my circularisation but this test could not be extended to accounts where the client could not be traced or declined to receive communications.

#### LESSON 8

# **QUESTION ONE**

- a. The auditors report is short and concise. To be fully understood it is vital that uniform wording should be used so that readers can easily recognise the information being conveyed. The Kenya Auditing Standard "The auditing report" requires the inclusion of:
  - O Those to whom it is addressed and identification of the financial statements and the auditors and the date of their report.
  - o Whether the auditing standards have been complied with.
  - o Any matters prescribed by relevant legislation.

Clearly auditing is a complex matter and full understanding can only be gained by the well versed. However the standard does require an important minimum of information.

The standard largely standardised qualified audit reports and have mostly eliminated ambivalent and vague qualified reports.

- b. An adverse opinion will be given if the auditor disagrees with the view given by the Accounts and the matter is so fundamental that a completely false or misleading view is, in the opinion of the auditor, given.
  - An example is the use of the going concern convention when the auditor thinks it is inappropriate.
  - A disclaimer of opinion is give when the auditor is unable to give an opinion due to lack of audit evidence on some matter of fundamental importance in the Accounts. The matter may be inherently uncertain (e.g. a long term contract) or caused by inability to carry out necessary audit procedures. An example might be the failure of the client to take stock
- c. A disclaimer of opinions means that the auditor is unable to express an opinion. On the face of it, it would appear that the auditor has failed to fulfil his duty of expressing an opinion, making the report useless.
  - But closer scrutiny would show that a disclaimer where everything is explained, giving enough information on the uncertainties surrounding the enterprise and the financial statement enables the reader of those financial statements to understand the accounts, and in the case of limitation of scope that the directors are at fault and in the case of inherent uncertainty that the company may have problems. A disclaimer is therefore not largely valueless.

# **QUESTION TWO**

The procedures to adopt will include:

a. Agreement in writing of the work to be done including scope and extent of the investigation required, the period to be covered and the date of the report.

- b. Obtain permission to approach the partners and also the auditors. These people will supply you with information.
- c. Obtain documentary evidence of the partnership including; the partnership agreement, several years accounts and, if possible, supporting schedules, details of the history of the business, systems of accounting and control, loan agreements, property leases etc.
- d. Obtain background data e.g. inter firm comparison data from trade association, government statistics, published sources such as Extel and Moodies.
- e. Prepare a schedule of accounts for several years. Ensure each is adjusted so that they are comparable. Note ratios and, more particularly, trends.
- f. Prepare a forecast of future results based on budgets or extrapolations from the past adjusting for known differences e.g. rent or interest.
- g. Examine the values of assets especially any property (a professional valuation may be required) and the expiration of any lease.
- h. Examine and review the partnership agreements both the present one and the proposed one. See that the proposed terms are reasonable in terms of the profit share and capital share obtained in return for consideration, time and expertise to be input.
  - i. Examine any proposal for the valuation of goodwill.
  - ii. Examine the reason why the partnership change is proposed and why your client was selected.
- k. Enquire into any partnership debts and especially contingent liabilities, long term contracts, long term liabilities for dilapidations or redundancy pay.
- i. Ensure agreement can be reached on matters such as taxation, audit, book keeping and financial statements.
- m. Prepare the report in draft and discuss it with your client.
- If agreed, type the report and submit it formally.

# **QUESTION THREE**

- a. The contents of the Accounts Report for the purposes of a prospectus are:
  - i. Title of report and identification of the reporting accountants, with details of their address.
  - ii. Addressee—usually the Director of the company.
  - iii. Reporting with the following information:
    - 1. Examination of audited accounts of the company for the year required. Report on proposal issued, stating the number of shares and nominal value.
    - 2. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. The accounting policies used disclosed.
    - 3. Whether reporting accountants have also been auditors of the company, if not the auditors are mentioned.
    - 4. Whether any accounts have been made up for submission to the members subsequent to previous balance sheet.
    - 5. Opinion, truth and fairness of the accounts,
    - 6. Significant Accounting policies that have been used in preparation of the

accounts.

7. Profit and loss accounts for the last five years that must show earnings per share, profit before taxation, taxation and extra ordinary items, directors embursements.

- 8. Latest balance sheet.
- 9. Capital commitments and contingencies not provided for
- 10. Date of report signed.
- b. Provision is made for disclosure of the adjustments made by reporting accountants in arriving at the information included in the report. The purpose of these adjustments is to reject past results in future conditions so far as these are known. This is a reasonable principle acceptable under the 3rd schedule provisions. As a result of these adjustments, it may be difficult to reconcile figures with those in the past published accounts of the company.

The published stewardship accounts are prepared by a company's director for presentation to committed shareholders in order to acquaint them with the results of the company's activities during the last complete year of stewardship. There is no over-riding need for the accounts to be comparable and consistent with each other. In a prospectus, the information is addressed to potential investors in such a way as to enable them to form an opinion on the likely prospects of the company under future trading conditions as far as they can be assessed. This purpose must be met, consistency and comparability must be achieved but also future conditions must be taken into consideration.

Examples of situations in which adjustments would be appropriate are:

- i. Income and/or expenditure which has arisen in the part, but which it is known will not arise in the future may be eliminated, e.g. nationalised subsidiaries, uninsured losses, extra-ordinary items, etc.
- ii. Devaluation of assets causing a change in depreciation charges. This should be adjusted only if revised figures can be produced with remarkable certainty. Otherwise it may be preferable to explain the position in a note to the accounting
- iii. A significant change in accounting policies at any point during the period reported on, in which event the accounts for all affected periods should be adjusted to reflect the accounting policies which are known to be applicable in the future.

# **QUESTION FOUR**

Answer apparent from the text of the manual, the section on audit of partnerships and sole proprietors.

# **QUESTION FIVE**

A1. The Director Tick and Cast

Computer Maintenance Certified Public Accountants

Services Limited P.O. Box XYZ P. O. Box ABC Nairobi

Nairobi

Dear Sir,

We have commenced planning the audit of the financial statements for the year ending 30 September, 1990. As already mentioned in our letter of engagement dated 1 April 1990, our audit is designed to give us in the main reasonable assurance that the financial statements give a true and fair view as at the balance sheet date.

It therefore involves consideration of significant accounting adopted by the company as to their suitability.

It is generally held that for an accounting policy to be suitable it must be:-

- i. Acceptable, i.e. in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- ii. Commonly adopted within that particular industry;
- iii. Consistently applied over the years;
- iv. Consistently applied throughout the enterprise;
- v. Appropriate and applicable to the particular circumstances;
- vi. In compliance with any relevant IAS
- vii. Adequately disclosed in accordance with IAS.

Our initial review of the significant accounting policies has revealed that the accounting policy adopted with regard to service contract income might not be suitable for the following reasons:-

- i. One of the fundamental accounting assumptions is that of matching revenues with the costs of generating that revenue. These service contracts are for a three year period and the company therefore has to commit itself to costs over the period of the service contract.
  - Accounting for income at the date of the contract but charging costs as they are incurred would imply that the company is not matching revenue with related costs. Contract revenue is so significant to the operations of the company that this policy would seem to be imprudent as profits are likely to be over stated.
- ii. This policy is not commonly adopted within the industry in which you operate.

We recommend that the contract revenue is credited to the profit and loss account over a three year period, based on the proportion of the actual cost incurred during each year.

For the financial statements to give a true and fair view we further recommend that amount of contract revenue taken credit for any one year be separately disclosed as a note for the financial statements, so that the reader of the accounts can determine the uncredited reserve at the beginning of the year, amount credited during the year, amount of new contracts entered into the year, the balance at the end of the year disclosed as unearned income.

Also the accounting policy note to the financial statements should disclose this accounting policy.

In our opinion adoption of this policy will ensure that the accounts present fairly the results from operations and the profits will not be overstated.

Please do not hesitate to contact us for any clarification you may consider necessary.

Yours faithfully

TICK & CROSS CAST CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

#### LESSON 9

# **QUESTION ONE**

Answers to question 1 are apparent from the relevant sections of the text. Please review.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

The procedures to adopt will include:

- a. Agreement in writing of the work to be done including scope and extent of the investigation required, the period to be covered and the date of the report.
- b. Obtain permission to approach the partners and also the auditors. These people will supply you with information.
- c. Obtain documentary evidence of the partnership including; the partnership agreement, several years accounts and, if possible, supporting schedules, details of the history of the business, systems of accounting and control, loan agreements, property leases etc.
- d. Obtain background data e.g. inter firm comparison data from trade association, government statistics, published sources such as Extel and Moodies.
- e. Prepare a schedule of accounts for several years. Ensure each is adjusted so that they are comparable. Note ratios and, more particularly, trends.
- f. Prepare a forecast of future results based on budgets or extrapolations from the past adjusting for known differences e.g. rent or interest.
- g. Examine the values of assets especially any property (a professional valuation may be required) and the expiration of any lease.
- h. Examine and review the partnership agreements both the present one and the proposed one. See that the proposed terms are reasonable in terms of the profit share and capital share obtained in return for consideration, time and expertise to be input.
  - i. Examine any proposal for the valuation of goodwill.
  - ii. Examine the reason why the partnership change is proposed and why your client was selected.
- k. Enquire into any partnership debts and especially contingent liabilities, long term contracts, long term liabilities for dilapidations or redundancy pay.
- Ensure agreement can be reached on matters such as taxation, audit, book keeping and financial statements.
- m. Prepare the report in draft and discuss it with your client.
- n. If agreed, type the report and submit it formally.

# PAST CPA EXAMINATION PAPERS KENYA ACCOUNTANTS AND SECRETARIES NATIONAL EXAMINATION BOARD

#### **CPA PART III**

#### **AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS**

#### **DECEMBER 1997**

Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of each question.

# **QUESTION ONE**

Modern Furniture Ltd., a furniture manufacturer which is an audit client of your firm has decided to acquire 21st century Furniture Ltd. A company is the same business.

As audit partner in charge of Modern Furniture Ltd., you have been asked to carry out brie review of 21<sub>st</sub> Century Furniture Ltd.'s operations with particular emphasis on its accounting practices, its current trading performance and future prospects. Mr. Fred Ransley, the managing director of Modern Furniture ltd. Believes 21<sub>st</sub> Century Furniture ltd. Has a sound and expanding business which offers attractive prospects to Modern Furniture Ltd. The managing director of 21<sub>st</sub> century Furniture Ltd. Is Miss Claire Smith. From your inquiries, you discover the following:

- About 10% of 21st Century Furniture Ltd.'s sales are to Deedee ltd. Two members of the board of directors of 21st Century Furniture Ltd. Hold a minority interest in Deedee Ltd. Prices arranged between 21st Century Furniture ltd. And Deedee Ltd. Appear to be at arm's length basis.
- 2. The current year's results reflect an exceptional profit of Sh.8,480,000 form the sales of a property which had been carried in the books at historical cost.
- 3. Management accounts for the first six months of the current year have been used to support an application to the bank manager for additional loan facility. This facility has been requested to enable replacement of directors' motor vehicles and to build a new staff canteen and washroom facilities insisted upon by the unions. The accounts submitted to the bank contain stock and debtor balances which exceed the figures in the books of accounts by Sh.21,200,000. This 'difference' has also been added to reported profit. After careful enquiry, you established that the board agreed to these revisions in order to assist with their loan application. A down run in trading necessitated the revisions in order to demonstrate to the bank that 21st Century Furniture Ltd. was on budget for the year. Miss Claire Smith tells you that she is very confident of a recovery in demand for the company's products which will enable results to exceed budget.
- 4. No provision for sales returns is made ion the company's accounts. No reliable information is readily available as to the volume of returns as a proportion of sales and the extent of repair work needed to rectify the faults. Miss Claire Smith informs you that from past experience the impact of sales returns is not material to the financial results of 21st Century Furniture Ltd.
  - No other matters of significance arise from your review. You are provided with a budget forecast for 21st Century Furniture Ltd. For the current year and for the following year to append to your report. These reflects arising profit trend.

#### Required

From your brief review as specified by your client, draft a report to the board of Modern Furniture Ltd. Containing your findings, conclusions and recommendations.

(25 marks)

# **QUESTION TWO**

You are the auditor of TNP Group and its subsidiaries. TNP Group Limited, a company quoted on the Nairobi Stock Exchange is the holding company of a group of companies involved in various specialized activities connected with the printing industry. Your audit of the accounts for the year ended 30 September 1997 disclosed the following:

- A freehold property occupied and owned by the group was sold during the year and leased back on a long lease. The proceeds from the sale and rents payable under the lease are both well in excess of open market. The proceeds of the sale and lease back transactions have been used as a basis for capitalizing the property in the accounts and for determining the finance lease obligation which is to be incorporated in the balance sheet.
- 2. The holding company has given guarantees on bank borrowings by subsidiaries which are noted in the accounts. However, there is no provision in the holding company's accounts for one subsidiary which is insolvent and dependent upon increasing support from the bank.
- 3. Unlisted investments include a trade investment in a significant supplier stated at original cost. The investment represents 12½% of the equity of the supplier concerned and no dividend have been paid for many years. The supplier may be seeking permission for its shares to be listed in the Nairobi Stock Exchange and there is speculation that the market value may be greatly in excess of the original cost.

#### Required

(a) Comment on the treatment of the items detailed above

(9 marks)

(b) Suggest possible alternative treatments which you consider could be adopted in order for the accounts to show a true and fair view. (9 marks)

(Total: 18 marks)

# **QUESTION THREE**

You are the auditor of Motor Vehicle Parts Ltd., an engineering company producing components for the motor car industry. Following your discussions with the fiancé director, it appears that the company may have a liquidity problem.

#### Required

Describe the factors which, by themselves, or taken together, could indicate that the going concern concept of the company may be brought into question.

(18marks)

# **QUESTION FOUR**

In carrying out an audit, the independent auditor must consider the reliability of audit evidence. Among other things, the auditor is required to pay attention to reliability of evidence from third partied and specialists. The audit procedures must ensure that the auditor is able to verify and ascertain the reasons for material differences between balances stated in the books of the cline and those available from external sources.

# Required

(a) Give a concise definition of:

(i) Audit evidence(ii) Third party(2 marks)(2 marks)

(iii) Specialist evidence (2 marks)

(b) Detail the procedures you would follow in verifying material differences, stated in the above preamble, with regard to:

(i) Matters confirmed in the letter, the auditor received direct from the bank

(ii) The replies to a debtors' circularization (4 Marks)

Valuation of the company's properties by a valuer. The valuation is to be Incorporated in the company's accounts (4 Marks)

(c) Consider the reliability of statements made by the directors in the letter of (4 Marks) representation (Total: 22 marks)

# **QUESTION FIVE**

Information revolution using computers in the banking sector has meant simplifying the processes of:

- 1. Transfer of funds
- 2. Payment of cheques at cash counters by the cashier without referral to their seniors withdrawal and banking of funds using Automatic Teller Machines

# Required

With reference to a full computerized banking system, explain for each of the three areas specified above, the controls the auditor would expect to find in place to ensure that the risk of errors and fraud is minimized.

(17 marks)

# KENYA ACCOUNTANTS AND SECRETARIES NATIONAL EXAMINATION BOARD

# CPA PART III AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS

**JUNE 1997** 

# **QUESTION ONE**

You are the auditor of Nairobi Lorry Co. You have been asked to review the management accounts of the company for the eleven month ended 30 April 1997, in support if an application to a bank for further facilities to fund the increasing working capital requirements of the company and for the replacement of half of its fleet of twenty four lorries. In the past, it has been the company's policy to replace four lorries every year with proceeds on disposal usually equating to half of the original cost. During the last three years no lorries have been replaced due to lack of funds.

The company's turnover for the current year is expected to be in the region of Sh.50 million and consists mainly of contract hire. The Lorries are housed and maintained in the company's own freehold garages and workshop.

#### Required

- (a) Outline the approach you would take to plan and carry out the review, and state those matters to which you would pay particular attention. (5 Marks)
- (b) State the extent to which such a review will have an effect on the statutory audit for the year ending 31 May 1997. (5Marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

#### **QUESTION TWO**

You are the auditor of Kenya Shoes Wholesalers Ltd., a shoe wholesaling company, whose financial year is ending on 30 September 1997. The company intends to determine quantity and value of each line of stock at a physical stock check to be held on Saturday 27 and Sunday 28 September 1997, and then adjust for the movements between 28 and 30 September. The purchases and sales ledger will be closed at 30 September.

The company has a fast moving stock but operates a satisfactory recording system which incorporates goods inwards and dispatch records.

# Required

Describe the audit procedures that you would adopt to satisfy yourself that the company's cut off disciplines including valuation are adequate. You can assume that the company does not maintain perpetual stock records.

(Total: 20 marks)

# **QUESTION THREE**

You are the auditor of a major organization whose financial records were transferred at the end of 1996 to an online database computer system operated by a central computer section with terminals located in various stations.

# Required

- (a) Outline the controls or procedures you would expect to be incorporated into the systems to counteract the risks of potential losses arising from the possibilities of human errors, hardware or software errors, natural disasters or deliberately malicious actions. (15Marks)
- (b) Discuss the implications for your audit for the year ending 31 December 1997 on discovering that there were many deficiencies in the operating of the system during the first six calendar months of 1997, but none of any significance are expected thereafter.

(5 Marks

(Total: 20 marks)

# **QUESTION FOUR**

Agro-Chemical Limited is a large manufacturing company producing fertilizers and other agro-chemicals. It employs about 3,000 workers. Attendance by factory hands and other wage employees is evidence by the use of clock card, whereby each worker clocks in and out of the factory. Time keeper man the clocking machine and at the end of each week a summary is prepared of record of attendance of each employee. These weekly summarise serve as the input for the preparation of payrolls at the end of the month.

During the course of your audit of the company's wages expenditure, you discovered that fraud had taken place and the management has commissioned you to investigate it.

#### Required:

- (a) Clearly state and describe five possible ways in which wages fraud can be committed in an organization (5Marks)
- (b) Detail the areas and audit tests you will conduct to assess the extent of the fraud.

(15 marks) (Total: 20 marks)

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

(a) 'The concern of auditors is to limit the scope of their responsibilities, public opinion, on the other hand, believes that their audit responsibilities should be extended'.

#### Required

- (a) Discuss those areas in which the public believes the auditors responsibilities should be extended and provide comments from an auditor's point of view. (10 Marks)
- (b) The accounting profession needs to develop a conceptual framework for the preparation and interpretation of financial statements.

Discuss the benefits of such a framework for both the users and auditors of financial statements and consider the difficulties in developing a framework that is useful in practice.

(10 Marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

# KENYA ACCOUNTANTS AND SECRETARIES NATIONAL EXAMINATION BOARD

# CPA PART III AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS

#### **DECEMBER 1996**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

You are a partner in an established practice. Mr. Brown, a director of Brown Keer ltd. approached you to investigate a suspected computer fraud in his company.

The company supplies civil engineering services to the public and private sector. Most of its work is done through subcontractors. As many as 100 subcontractors may be working on projects for the company at any one time.

The company commenced business five years ago with about 15 employees and has since grown rapidly. It cruelty employs 600 permanent staff.

As a result of the rapid expansion of the company, the accounting systems were computerized in 1994 and have since been upgraded and improved. At the end of 1994 the company discontinued cheque payments to sub-contractors and instituted the method of direct payment through the banking system. Since then, the engineers in charge of the various projects have sent facsimile copies of engineering certificates of work completed through to the head office in Nairobi. These are received by the 22 day of each month and serve as the authorization document for updating sub-contractors' accounts. All contact work certified in this way is processed by the 25 day of each month. A magnetic tape containing complete details of the payments to sub-contractors is delivered the following day to the company's bank. The bank processes the relevant data and passes the payments for the credit of the sub-contractors' accounts through to the relevant banks for batch processing during the evening of the 27 day of each month. Each sub-contractor's bank account is thus credited by the morning of 28 day of each month within amount equal to the value of work certified up to the 22 day of that month. From your discussion with Mr. Brown you establish the following:

- 1. Mr. Solo, a sole practitioner, has been the auditor of Brown Keer Ltd. since inception
- 2. The engineer in charge of one of the large projects recently requested a complete project cost analysis after he had been questioned by management regarding excessive expenditure compared with the original tender. He subsequently established that a number of fictitious subcontractors had been paid for work that he had not certified. Further investigation revealed that fraudulent engineering certificates had been received for processing form the Mombasa office. Provisional investigations indicate that the fraud started early in 1995.
- 3. Mr. Solo issue unqualified audit reports for the year ended 31 March 1995 and 31 March 1996, and had not brought any weaknesses in the company's internal control system to the attention of the management during the years covered by those audits.
- 4. Mr. Solo has been informed of the suspected fraud but he is unable to undertake the investigation immediately as he does not have available staff.

# Required

(a) State, in point form, the factors you must consider and the procedures your firm must follow before accepting this assignment (6Marks)

- (b) Describe the internal control weaknesses and accounting problems that can normally be expected in circumstances where a small company grows so rapidly (8Marks)
- (c) List the main controls which could have assisted in the prevention or timely detection of fraud such as that which took place in the circumstances outlined above (9Marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

# **QUESTION TWO**

You are auditor of a large manufacturing company, Product Supplies Ltd. The major asset of the company is stock. In prior years, no use has been made of the computer when auditing stock. The hard copy of the year end stock master file was used as the basis for selecting stock items for detailed testing.

Your firm has recently purchased a limited number of personal computers (hard disk capacity of 40MB) and specialized software to enable you to access information stored on a main frame computer. You are extremely keen to use a personal computer to assist in the audit of stock in the current year.

The accountant pf Product Supplies ltd. has agreed that you may access the company's mainframe computer as he believes that this will lead to a more efficient and effective audit of stock.

He referred you to the data processing manager with whom you discussed the possibility of coupling your personal computer to Product Supplies Ltd.'s mainframe computer. The data processing manager requested certain details regarding your personal computer. After examining the details, he coupled your personal computer to the mainframe. After gaining access to the stock data base, you identified the following data fields:

- Product number
- Description
- · Quantity of stock on hand
- · Latest purchase date, including details of supplier and order number
- Latest sales date and sales invoice number
- Minimum stock requirements
- Maximum stock requirements
- Most current selling price
- Identification of stock location

You intend sorting the data that will be required for purposes by using your firm's specialized software. The reports that you require will be extracted from the stock master file and stored on the hard disk of your personal computer for future use.

# Required

- (a) Identify the controls required to ensure the integrity of the client's stock data (6 Marks)
- (b) List the advantages that the coupling of your personal computer to the mainframe of your client will have above the conventional manner in which the audit of stock was performed in previous years. (You may assume that there are sufficient controls to ensure the integrity of the data base). (4 Mrks)
- (c) List five reports you would extract from the stock master file using the personal computer and discuss how each report would assist you in performing the necessary audit tests and stock. (15 marks)

(Total: 25 marks)

# **QUESTION THREE**

You are the auditor of CF Ltd., a company operating a chain of twelve stores in a turnover in the region of Sh.450 million per annum and employing approximately 100 staff. The finance director has informed you that the company is to set up an internal audit department responsible to him with a staff of three officers who will be responsible for reviewing and recommending improvements to the systems of internal control. In addition, the finance director has suggested that in order to improve existing systems of internal control, the internal audit department would be required to authorize all payments over a specified limit, the payment of salaries to all staff and the issue of credit notes.

# Required

Write a formal letter to the finance director commenting on the extent to which you would be prepared to rely upon the work of the internal audit department in carrying out your audit of the accounts of CF Ltd.

In your answer five attention to the main features of a properly planned letter laid out in paragraphs giving emphasis to internal audit functions, reliance on internal audit under normal circumstances, extent to which you would rely on this particular audit department and suitable conclusion regarding the matters at hand.

(Total: 20 marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

Recently the Central Bank of Kenya issued a guideline to banks and non-bank financial institutions advising them to consider setting up audit committees.

You are required to set out below:

(a) The purpose and objective of an audit committee

(5 Marks)

(b) Composition of an audit committee

(2 Marks)

(c) Responsibilities of an audit committee

(6 marks)

(d) The relationship between the audit committee and the external auditors

(2 marks)

(e) The relationship between the audit committee and the board of directors

(2 marks)

(Total: 17 marks)

# **QUESTION FIVE**

With reference to appropriate International Standards on auditing, discuss the extent to which the auditor can rely on representation made by management which are not capable of independent verification by the auditor.

(Total: 15 marks)

# KENYA ACCOUNTANTS AND SECRETARIES NATIONAL EXAMINATION BOARD

#### CPA PART III

#### **AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS**

# **JUNE 1996**

# **QUESTION ONE**

You are the newly appointed financial director of KQ Shoes Ltd., which operated a chain of 50 retail stores, selling on a cash only basis. The stores are administered and monitored from a central head office and all stock is issued to the stores from a central warehouse at retail selling price. One of your key functions is to review the quarterly branch accounts.

A detailed analysis of the branch accounts for the last quarter revealed that the average gross profit margin for the 50 stores was 46% whilst five stores reported margins below20%.

Being most concerned about this finding, you asked your internal auditor to recount the stock of the five stores and prepare their branch accounts to the date of the second stock take. Following this second stock take similar gross profit margins were reported, thus confirming your suspicion of theft in the five stores.

You approached the managers of the stores in question and they all ascribed the stock/cash losses to week branch internal control systems. You conceded that the company has grown rapidly and that no formal branch systems or controls exist.

You reported your findings to the managing director who asked you to design branch systems and controls which would highlight theft from stores and result in a constant gross profit margin at all outlets.

As a result of the number and distribution of the stores, it is not possible to computerize branch activities although all processing at head office is computerized.

# Required

Design branch systems and controls which will highlight theft from the stores and result in a constant gross profit margin at all outlets.

Your systems and controls should be detailed under the following headings:

| (a) Dispatch from warehouse to stores |  | (5 Marks) |
|---------------------------------------|--|-----------|
| (b) Receiving of goods by stores      |  | (5 Marks) |
| (c) Physical store and stock controls |  | (6 marks) |
| (d) Mark down of stock                |  | (5 Marks) |
| (e) Cash controls                     |  | (4 marks) |

Detailed computer applications need not be considered

(Total: 25 marks)

# **QUESTION THREE**

The published annual report of a public limited company, may include financial and a statistical information within the directors' report and the chairman's statements well as the audited financial statements.

# Required

- (a) State the responsibilities of the auditor for the financial statements covered by his audit report (6 marks)
- (b) State the responsibilities of the auditor for the financial and statistical information included within the directors' report and chairman's statement (4 Marks)
- (c) Discuss the various actions which could be taken by the auditor if he considers and such financial or statistical information refereed to in (b) contains a material misstatement or inconsistency with the financial statements covered by his audit report

(5 Marks) (Total: 15 marks)

# **QUESTION FOUR**

You are the auditor of Kenya drinks Ltd., a company which imports and distributes whisky to a wide range of customers in the country. In recent years company has experienced low profitability as the popularity of whisky has declined. The draft accounts as at 30 April 1996 show net liabilities of Sh.16,000,000. The company's major source of finance is a bank loan of Sh.40,000,000 which is due for repayment in full on 30 September 1996. The company is negotiating with its bankers for a replacement long term loan of Sh.80,000,000 and intended to use these additional funds to finance an expansion of its activities into the potentially more profitable business of importing and distributing wines.

The directors are optimistic that the bank will agree to make the loan available in view of the profit forecast for the year to 30 April 1997 which they submitted with their loan application. However, they do not expect negotiations to be completed before the Annual General Meeting on 23 August 1996.

The detailed audit work has been completed with the exception of obtaining the necessary confirmation from the bank and no other audit problems have been noted. The directors have asked you not to approach the bank because of the negotiations.

# Required

- (a) State the enquiries you would make and the procedures you would perform with regard to establishing the status of Kenya Drinks Ltd. as a going concern (8 marks)
- (b) Discuss the alternative audit opinions which may be relevant to the accounts of Kenya Drinks ltd. together with the circumstances in which each would be appropriate

(7 marks)

(You are not required to draft full audit report)

(Total: 15 marks)

# **QUESTION FIVE**

(a) Discuss whether it is practical and desirable within the limits of procedures and costs, for the auditor to accept a general responsibility to detect fraud and other irregularities

(12 marks)

(b) With reference to decided cases briefly explain the extent and limits of an auditor's obligation to detect error and fraud

(8 marks)

(Total: 20 marks)

# REVISION PAPER

#### **QUESTION ONE**

You are the senior audit manager in charge of the final audit of Old Traders Ltd. Before finalising the audit for the year ended 30 September 2003, you sit back and reflect on the various contentious issues which have come to light in the course of the audit. You have recorded the following major points in your working papers.

- i. The Finance Manager of Old Traders Ltd. has presented you with his draft accounts; some of the figures appear to be incorrectly stated. He informs you that the figures are final and cannot be adjusted under any circumstances.
- ii. While checking the valuation of stocks you discovered that the clerk used the costs in force before July 2003. You are aware that there was a 10% general price increase between July and September 2003
- iii. The Finance Manager has also informed you that the majority of the fixed assets are motor-vehicles. No depreciation was charged in the year in view of the fact that "the vehicles can be resold at the end of the five years to realise more than 75% of their original cost". The company's depreciation policy is straight-line at 20% per year. The second reason for not charging depreciation is that all the motor vehicles were fitted with new tyres during this year and therefore in his opinion the high repairs expense obviated the need to charge depreciation. The company does not intend to sell the motor-vehicles in the near future.
- iv. Included in debtors is an amount of Sh.580,000 which is owed by Mafuta Distributors. You remember reading in the mid June 2003 issue of the local daily newspaper that Mafuta Distributors was put under receivership. It is the Old Traders Ltd. policy not to provide for doubtful debts.
- v. No provision for tax payable has been made. The Finance Manager maintains that a provision is not necessary since plans have already been finalised for Old Traders Ltd. to acquire a dormant company with huge tax losses.

vi. The following are extracts of the financial statements for the company:

# OLD TRADERS LTD. ABRIDGED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2003

|                          | 2003       | 2002             |
|--------------------------|------------|------------------|
|                          | Sh'000'    | Sh'000'          |
| Fixed Assets Cost        | 6,000      | 6,000            |
| Accumulated depreciation | (3,500)    | (3,500)          |
| Debtors                  | 600        | 500              |
| Stocks                   | 1,100      | 800              |
| Cash                     | 100        | 550              |
| Creditors                | (700)      | (600)            |
| Share Capital            | (2,600)    | (2,600)          |
| Revenue reserves         | (1,000)    | ( <u>1,150</u> ) |
|                          | <u>-0-</u> | -0-              |

# ABRIDGED PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER, 2003

|                         | 2003<br>Sh'000 | 2002<br>Sh'000 |
|-------------------------|----------------|----------------|
| Turnover                | <u>6,400</u>   | 4,500          |
| Gross profit            | 5,400          | 4,000          |
| Depreciation charge     | <del>-</del>   | (1,200)        |
| Repairs and maintenance | (1,450)        | (150)          |
| Other expenses          | (4,100)        | (1,700)        |
| Tax charge              | ` <u> </u>     | (100)          |
| Net Profit after tax    | (150)          | 850            |

# Required

- (a) Prepare a memorandum to the Board of Directors of Old Traders Ltd. to explain your observations, reservations and suggestions with regard to the matters raised above. (12 Marks)
- (b) Draft an adjusted set of accounts in the same format as that presented by the Finance Manager but incorporating the suggestions you have made to the Board
- (c) In the event that the Board refuses to accept your suggestions, draft an appropriate audit report. (6 Marks)

(Total: 24 Marks)

### **QUESTION TWO**

Your firm acts as auditors of New Kenya Garments Manufacturing Limited (NKGM). The company buys all its yarn and textile materials locally. It operates only one factory. Cloth is sold to various distributors from this factory.

You are currently engaged in the audit of NKGM whose year end is 31 October 2003 To your dismay you learn that in the month of October 2003, the purchase ledger clerk lost all the loose leaf pages of the purchase journals, purchase day books and purchase ledger cards for September and October 2003. The Finance Director has informed you that he will not be able to re-write these books from the available source documents in view of the large volume of transactions involved and the lack of time. He has, however, told you that the manual nominal ledger is still intact. The ledger has control accounts for purchases, creditors, sales and cash.

The final audit clearance on the accounts of NKGM is required in two weeks time.

#### Required

Describe the audit procedures you would employ to satisfy yourself that creditors as at 31 October are not materially mis-stated. (Total: 22 Marks)

# **QUESTION THREE**

Summarise the law relating to the auditors duty of care to the users of published accounts. In your summary outline the key court decisions on the tort of negligence and discuss the relevance of these decisions to the accounting profession in Kenya today. (Total: 18 Marks)

# **QUESTION FOUR**

Critically discuss the concept of evidence in auditing. In your decision show the impact of custom, convention and auditing standards on what constitute evidentual matter in Kenya today.

(Total: 18 Marks)

# **QUESTION FIVE**

Whilst the objectives and end results remain the same, it is true that the audit approach for computer based systems differs significantly from that adopted for conventional manual systems.

# Required

Critically examine the validity of the above assertion paying special attention to the choice of audit approach, extent, timing and nature of audit tests. (Total: 18 Marks)

## Suggested Solutions to Selected Past Papers and the Revision Paper

#### **DECEMBER 1997**

#### **QUESTION ONE**

#### MODERN FURNITUTE LIMITED

The Directors Modern Furniture's limited P.O.Box xyz Nairobi

Dear Sirs

## RE: REVIEW OF THE OPERATIONS OF 21st CENTRURY FURNITURE LTD

#### INTRODUCTION

In accordance with your instructions we have carried out a brief review of the operations of 21st Century Furniture Ltd with particular emphasis on its accounting practices, its current trading performance and future prospects.

#### Objective of the review

#### To determine

- 1. The suitability of the accounting practices adapted.
- 2. The profitability and the financial position of the company
- 3. The future prospects of the company.

#### Our findings

#### Accounting practices

- The exceptional item of profit of kshs 8,480,000 is not a recurring trading item. It is an exceptional item that is not likely to recur. The current IAS 8 accepts its treatment as exceptional although previously it would have been recognized as an extra ordinary transaction
- Management has engaged in creative accounting. The reported profit for six months has been manipulated. Debtors and stocks are overstated with an amount of ksh 212,000,000 hence profit is also overstated by the same again.
- Necessary provisions are not being set up to match revenues with costs. Sales
  returns are accounted for in the year they occur whereas the related sales are
  accounted for in a different period. This mismatch is even more apparent in the
  non-provision for rectification costs.

#### Current trading performance

The company appears to be unable to meet its budget, there has been a downturn in trade and company's products appear to have limited demand.

#### Future prospects

The company is disposing of its properties and leasing premise. Therefore increased operational cost are likely in the future on account of rent and hire. The management is optimistic about the future prospects.

#### Conclusions and from findings

- The company's accounting practices are not in accordance with approved accounting practices. The assets of the company could be overstated and liabilities understated.
- 2. The profitability of the company is lower than disclosed in the financial statements.
- 3. The future of the company is bleak and the forecasts are over optimistic.

#### Recommendations

- 1. Proper financial statements should be prepared in accordance with approved accounting standards, the IASs.
- 2. The true and fair view of these accounts should be confirmed by audit work.
- 3. Fixed assets, stocks and debtors be properly determined, through physical count and inspection or circularization and be properly valued.
- 4. The audited financial statements should be re analyzed to eliminate the "exceptional" profits from disposal of properties as these will not arise in the future and to incorporate notional amounts for expenses such as rents which will apply in the future and adequate provisions be made for returns and rectification work.
- 5. A more realistic budget be worked out as the current one shows increasing profits, which are not backed by current performance.

#### Conclusion

Our above report is based on a brief review of the operating results of the 21<sub>st</sub> Century Furniture Limited and discussions with the company's management. It cannot form the basis of concluding a buy-out arrangement unless the recommendations stated above are implemented. However, should you require any clarification do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours faithfully

Turu & Feya Certified public accountants.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

#### **TNP** Group

For an accounting treatment to be appropriate and

Fully acceptable it must fall within an accepted framework. Treatment of items in the financial statements is governed by the suitability of the accounting policy adopted by the entity. For an accounting policy to be suitable, it must satisfy the following conditions.

- It must be generally acceptable, that is, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
- It must be appropriate to the circumstances of the entity
- It must be consistently applied from one accounting period to the next, within the accounting period and within entity
- Ideally it should be a method that is commonly adopted within the industry
- It should be in accordance with an I.A.S. if there is one covering the matter It should be adequately disclosed, if it is
- Significant in the determination of values for assets or liabilities or charges and credits to the income statement.
- a) Bearing the above in mind, the following comments and alternative treatment could be made.

#### 1) Sale and Lease Back

The authority on sale and leaseback transactions is I.A.S. 17, which provides as follows:

If a sale and leaseback transaction results in a finance lease; any excess of sale proceeds over the carrying amount should not be immediately recognized as income in the financial statements. Such excess should be deferred and amortised over the lease term.

It further provides that the amount to be used for capitalization and recognition of obligations should be the fair value.

The treatment adopted is not consistent with I.A.S. 17. It recognizes the asset at other than fair value, and is therefore not suitable.

#### 2) Guarantee to Subsidiary

I.A.S 28, on Consolidation of Subsidiary Companies provides that if the going concern assumption is not justified in the case of a subsidiary that has suffered a a permanent diminution in value through losses then a provision should be made in the consolidated profit and loss account.

The subsidiary described above would appear to have suffered a permanent diminution in value and should accordingly

be provided for to recognize its real value. The method adopted by this client therefore is not suitable.

#### 3) Investments

I.A.S 39 deals with Accounting and Disclosure of Investments. It provides that long term investments can be carried at cost or a valuation.

The companies Act requires that where investments are shown at cost a director's valuation be disclosed by way of note. The treatment given by the a management is acceptable. What may be questionable is its adequacy in information content.

b) Alternative treatment to ensure true and fair view being shown

#### 1) Sale and Lease back

The possible alternative that could be

Adopted for the accounts to show a true and fair view would be for the asset to be capitalized at its present book value and the proceeds to be shown as cash at bank and the financial obligation to be shown at the amount of the proceeds. In other words the asset is not revalued but the proceeds are recognized as a loan.

#### 2) Guarantee to Subsidiary

The subsidiary could be valued at a realizable value and a provision set up in the consolidated profit and loss account for the permanent diminution in value.

If the going concern assumption is not justified it could be misleading to consolidate the subsidiary and accordingly the holding company should also recognize the loss in its own profit and loss account and reduce the value of investments in its own balance sheet.

#### 3) Investments

The directors could value the trade investment and as an additional piece of useful information for the reader disclose the cost in the balance sheet and in note to the amounts or on the face of the balance sheet also disclose the director's valuation of the trade investment.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

#### Motor Vehicle Parts Ltd

When planning and performing audit procedures and in evaluating the results thereof, the auditor should consider the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements.

The going concern assumption is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements. Under the going concern assumption, an entity is ordinarily viewed as continuing in business for the foreseeable future with neither the intention nor the necessity of liquidation, ceasing trading or seeking protection from creditors pursuant to laws or Regulations. Accordingly, assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that the entity will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Examples of events or conditions, which individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt about the going concern assumption, are set out below. This listing is not all-inclusive nor does the existence of one or more of the items always signify that a material uncertainty exists.

#### Financial

- Net liability or net current liability position.
- Fixed-term borrowings approaching maturity without realistic prospects of renewal or repayment; or excessive reliance on short-term borrowings to finance long-term assets.
- Indications of withdrawal of financial support by debtors and other creditors.
- Negative operating cash flows indicated by historical or prospective financial statements.
- Adverse key financial ratios.
- Substantial operating losses or significant deterioration in the value of assets used to generate cash flows.
- Arrears or discontinuance of dividends.
- Inability to pay creditors on due dates.
- Inability to comply with the terms of loan agreements.
- Change from credit to cash-on-delivery transactions with suppliers.
- Inability to obtain financing for essential new product development or other essential investments.

#### Operating

- Loss of key management without replacement.
- Loss of a major market, franchise, license, or principal supplier.
- Labor difficulties or shortages of important supplies.

#### Other

- Non-compliance with capital or other statutory requirements.
- Pending legal or regulatory proceedings against the entity that may, if successful, result in claims that are unlikely to be satisfied.
- Changes in legislation or government policy expected to adversely affect the entity.

The significance of such events or conditions often can be mitigated by other factors. For example, the effect of an entity being unable to make its normal debt repayments may be counter-balanced by management's plans to maintain

adequate cash flows by alternative means, such as by disposal of assets, rescheduling of loan repayments, or obtaining additional capital. Similarly, the loss of a principal supplier may be mitigated by the availability of a suitable alternative source of supply.

#### **QUESTIONFOUR**

"Audit evidence" is all the information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the audit opinion is based, and includes the information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial statements and other information. Auditors are not expected to address all information that may exist. Audit evidence, which is cumulative in nature, includes audit evidence obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the audit and may include audit evidence obtained from other sources such as previous audits and a firm's quality control procedures for client acceptance and continuance.

Specialist evidence refers to the evidence provided by an expert. "Expert" means a person or firm possessing special skill, knowledge and experience in a particular field other than accounting and auditing. When using the work performed by an expert, the auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that such work is adequate for the purposes of the audit.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

#### Controls in a computerized banking system

#### 1) Transfer of funds

This relates to transfer of funds between accounts of individual customers, between the bank and its branches or other banks. The following controls would be expected,

- (i) Use of passwords which are regularly changed to effect the transfer of funds. The computer will be programmed to check the password against its list of authorized passwords.
- (ii) Use of designated terminals, which are closely monitored to effect transfers.

  Authority limits to the amounts that can be transferred by any person or persons.
- (iii) The computer should generate sequential numbers for all transfers. These transfers should then be logged and the log should be regularly scrutinized by a responsible official to detect any authorised transfers.
- (iv) Transfers effected by customers at their offices should be through a dedicated line whereby access is only permitted by the banks mainframe computer after it has itself dialled the dedicated number.
- (v) Statements sent out to customers regularly so that they can detect irregular transfers.

#### 2) Payment of cheques at cash counters without referral to their seniors

Use of MICR technology to automatically read the correct number, account number and branch numbe

- **(vi)** The computer should generate sequential numbers for all transfers. These transfers should then be logged and the log should be regularly scrutinized by a responsible official to detect any authorised transfers.
- (vii) Transfers effected by customers at their offices should be through a dedicated line whereby access is only permitted by the banks mainframe computer after it has itself dialled the dedicated number.
- (viii) Statements sent out to customers regularly so that they can detect irregular transfers.

#### 2) Payment of cheques at cash counters without referral to their seniors

Use of MICR technology to automatically read the correct number, account number and branch number

#### 3) Withdrawal and banking using Automated Teller Machines

- (i) A limit would be established as to how much can be withdrawn per week using the ATM. The computer would then monitor the withdrawals and ensure that they do not exceed the limit.
- (ii) An account holder will be expected to have a card and PIN to facilitate access.
- (iii) The ATM would be expected to retain the card where the PIN error occurs, say after three unsuccessful attempts.
- (iv) In addition to a cash counting, machine, the computer would be linked to a scanner to not only identify the denomination of the currency but also that it is genuine cash for banking of funds.
- (v) An advice slip would be sequentially numbered and logged so that each type of transaction is fully detailed.
  - Regular statement to customers to confirm balances on their accounts

#### June 1997

#### **QUESTION ONE**

- A. The following approach would be adopted
  - (a) Obtain precise written instructions clearly specifying the objectives of the investigation;
  - (b) Obtain copies of the audited accounts for the previous 2 years;
  - (c) Obtain copies of the management accounts for the previous 2 years;
  - (d) Obtain copies of the management accounts under review;
  - (e) Obtain copies of the budgets and reports to management on variances between budget and actual as per management accounts;
  - (f) Analyse the accounts establishing trends;
  - (g) Hold a discussion with the management on the prospects of the industry the client is in, their present condition and the operating styles of competitors;
  - (h) Review the accounting policies used in the preparation of the management accounts and ensure that they are consistent with those used in preparing the audited accounts and have been properly applied;
  - (i) Compare past management accounts with final audited accounts for the same years to determine the nature of adjustments made to the management accounts so that they can be published as audited accounts.
  - (j) Visit the company's premises and inspect the conditions of the coaches to determine whether they have any realisable value;
  - (k) Discuss the future plans with the directors and confirm that prospected cash flows will ensure that the qualities can be serviced profitably;
  - (l) Consider the company's underlying security for the facilities and its acceptability by the bank;
  - (m) Consider the proposed repayment terms and determine the validity of the project;
  - (n) I would review the treatment of the following:
    - Stocks of spares
    - Repairs and maintenance;
  - (o) The operations of the garage need to be reviewed to see if it can be self supporting.
- B. If adequate analytical review procedures can be carried out on the management accounts, similar work need not be carried out on the final audited accounts. This will therefore provide evidence as to the reliability of the audited accounts;
  - Review of the plans of the management will provide the auditor with evidence as to the going concern applicability to the company;
  - Having retained some coaches well beyond their normal useful life the accounts may
    be showing a misleading portion with regard to the depreciation charged, accounting
    policies adopted and necessary disclosure as KAS 17 on fully depreciated assets still
    in use.
    - Accordingly the view given by the accounts will need to be considered to ensure that it is fair.
  - The auditor can circularise debtors early and the inspection of the coaches at the review stage will mean that similar inspection is not necessary at the final audit.

#### December 1996

#### **QUESTION ONE**

a)

Factors to consider before accepting the assignment When a professional accountant is approached by a prospective client to accept an assignment and another professional accountant is providing auditing services to that prospective client the factors to consider are: -

- a. Whether there may be reasons, professional or otherwise why the assignment cannot be accepted.
- b. Whether there are adequate resources in terms of manpower and skill to perform the assignment
- c. Whether the timing and other requirements of the client are realistic

After considering the above factors the accountant then follows the following procedures before accepting the appointment.

1. Holds a meeting with the directors of the company to establish in detail the aims of the investigation, the scope of the investigation, the degree of detail required, the degree of secrecy required, the cost of assignment the timing requirements, including the period to be investigated and the employees to be investigated. These discussions are essential to form the basis of the engagement letter, which should be received before the work can begin.

The accountant must obtain precise written instructions.

- 2. The accountant must observe professional etiquette or courtesies by informing the auditor, Mr. Solo, of the fact that he has been approached to accept an assignment to investigate fraud in his client. In addition to observing usual courtesies, this helps to obtain the cooperation of the auditors, as it may be required at some point. The accountant ensures that he obtains the permission of the prospective client to communicate with the auditor.
- a) Internal control weaknesses and accounting problems in small entities.

When a company is small the following characteristics are clearly apparent.

- 1. There is a concentration of ownership or operational control in one or a few individuals (owner-manager dominance).
- 2. There is a limited segregation of functions within the accounting system because of the small number of employees.
- There is greater potential for management override of internal accounting controls.
- 4. Management personnel or employees have limited accounting knowledge.
- 5. There is an inactive or ineffective policy making body (e.g. Board of Directors).
- 6. Clerical personnel have easy access to assets.
- 7. Management does not hire or is unable to hire employees who have accounting experience or formal accounting training.
- Record-keeping systems are often informal and documentation of transactions inadequate.

However because the transactions are few in number, the owner-manager is able to exercise direct supervision and authorize all transactions.

When a small company grows rapidly inevitably the systems of accounting and internal controls do not keep pace with this growth and broadly one ends up with a big business tied down to small company systems. The following internal control weakness and accounting problems can then normally be expected.

- The owner manager is over stretched and cannot exercise adequate direct supervision, leading to increased errors and irregularities on the part of the staff.
- 2. Segregation of functions is not adequate and the increased volume of transactions will now contain more errors and give room to irregularities as the owner manager delegates some of his functions to overworked and not properly trained and competent staff.
- Regular financial management reports essential for controlling the business are not readily available on a timely basis nor are they complete and accurate as the accounting records are inadequate to cope with the increased demands.
- 4. The assets of the company can easily be misappropriated as the primary records like registers may not be available and the staff that maintains the records have access to the assets they record, therefore opening opportunities for theft and concealment.
- 5. Accounting systems and related internal controls are not planned and get added on haphazardly to deal with any current crises. As such even the computerization action is not properly planned with the result that a few employees may be in a position to process and record complete transactions without any other authorization.
- 6. Whereas supervision checks on the excesses of junior staff there are usually no means of checking on the activities of the management.
- Accounting records and documents are ill designed to facilitate complete and accurate documentation or recording of transactions.
- 8. Limited exposure of staff to accounting matters result in use of inappropriate accounting policies.
- b) The controls that could have assisted in the prevention or timely detection of fraud.
  - 1. Maintaining a list of approved subcontractors detailing
    - The total contracted amount due to each sub contractor and
    - Cumulative total payments to date
  - Pre numbering engineering certificates, insisting on their being issued in numerical sequence with the original copy faxed by the engineer being subsequently submitted to head office for comparison with the faxed one.
  - 3. An independent person at head office should have been charged with the responsibility of checking the faxed certificates to confirm the signatures of the engineers, check for the reasonableness of the amounts certified, check for the numerical sequence of the certificates, then prepared the list of genuine claims for approval by

the directors before the preparation of the magnetic tape containing the payments.

- 4. The bank should have been asked to provide a hard copy list of actual payments effected. These should have been compared to those approved to detect any other payments fraudently inserted.
- 5. Project cost analysis should have been prepared regularly with comparative contract amounts and submitted to the engineer in charge to examine and review and confirm that the costs were reasonable.
  - The directors should also have reviewed these analyses and sought explanations for significant fluctuations of variances
- 6. The work of the computer operators should have been supervised and then checked for completeness and accuracy by a senior officer before the magnetic tape was release to the bank for paying.
- An audit trail should have been maintained by ensuring that a
  printout is produced of all processing done by a computer. A director
  should then have checked them regularly to detect apparently
  fictitious entries.
- 8. Unused important stationery, such as the engineer's certificates should have been kept under lock and key and if pre numbered their use controlled by a register.
- 9. Use of the fax machine should have been controlled to ensure that only valid authorized documents are transmitted.

#### **QUESTION TWO**

- (a) Controls include input, processing and output controls
- (b) Include high accuracy, speed, large samples, and higher quality audits © Slow moving stocks, outstanding orders, stock balances,

#### **QUESTION THREE**

Mr. John Kamau
The Finance Director
CF Ltd.
P.O. Box bhb
NAIROBI

AB & Co. Certified Public Accountants P.O. Box xyz NAIROBI

Dear Mr. Kamau

#### REF: RELIANCE ON INTERNATIONAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT

Before we can take any decision to place reliance on internal audit, it is necessary for us to make a general assessment of the likely effectiveness and the relevance of the internal audit functions. The criteria for making such an assessment include the following:

- (a) The degree of independence: Although an internal auditor is an employee of the enterprise and cannot therefore be independent of it, he should be able to plan and carry out this work as he wishes and have access to the highest level of management. Furthermore, an internal auditor should be free to communicate fully with the external auditor, who should be able to receive copies of all internal audit reports that he requires. Any constraints or restrictions placed upon internal audit will be carefully evaluated by us.
- (b) The scope and objectives of the internal audit function as external auditors we will examine the internal auditor's formal terms of reference and ascertain the scope and objectives of internal audit assignments. In most circumstances, as external auditors we will regard assignments as likely to be relevant where they are carried out in areas of:
  - 1. Reviewing accounting systems and internal control and
  - 2. Examining financial and operating information for management, including detailed testing of transactions and balances.

We will also be interested in the internal auditor's role in respect of:

- 1. Reviewing the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of operations and of the functioning of non-financial controls.
- 2. Review of he implementation of corporate policies, plans and procedures and
- 3. Special investigation: Where this has an important bearing on the reliability of the financial statements o other matters being reported on.
- **(c) Due professional care** We will also consider whether he is free of any operating responsibility, which may create a conflict of interest. We will check whether the work of internal audit generally appears to be properly planned, controlled, recorded and reviewed. Examples of the exercise of due professional care by internal audit are the existence of an adequate manual, general internal audit plans, procedures for controlling individual assignments, and satisfactory arrangements for reporting and follow-up.
- **(d) Technical competence** We will ascertain whether the work of internal audit is performed by persons having adequate training and proficiency as auditors. Indicators of technical competence may be membership of an appropriate professional body or the possession of relevant practical experience.
- **(e) Internal audit reports** We will consider the quality of reports issued by internal audit and ascertain whether management considers, responds to and where appropriate acts upon internal audit reports, and whether this is evidenced.

Once we have made the general assessment and decided that we can place reliance on internal audit, the extent of that reliance will depend on the following considerations:

- 1. The materiality of the areas or items to be tested or the information to be obtained.
- 2. The level of audit risk inherent in the areas or items to be tested or in the information to be obtained
- 3. The level of judgment required
- 4. The sufficiency of complementary evidence
- 5. Specialist skills possessed by internal audit staffs.

Reliance will be affected by the following matters:

(a) That the internal audit unction is to report to you as the fiancé director. As the fiancé director, you are directly responsible for the production of financial statements. The internal auditors may therefore not be seen to be independent.

Instead of carrying out a review function, the internal auditors are also engaged in operating certain elements of internal control; we may therefore not rely on their work in areas of payments, payment of salaries and issues of credit notes.

These shortcomings we believe can easily be overcome by making the internal audit function report to the Board of Directors or an independent audit committee and ensuring that they perform only internal audit functions of which involvement in approval, checking and authorization procedures do not fall under.

We hope this clarifies the position and should you require nay clarification do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours faithfully,

## For: ABC & Co. CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

- a. The main objectives usually associated with audit committees include;
  - i. Increasing public confidence in the creditability and objectivity of published financial information including unaudited interim statements
  - ii. Assisting directors (particularly non executive directors) in meeting their responsibilities in respect of financial reporting
  - iii. Strengthening the independent position of a company's external auditor by providing an additional channel of communication.
- b. It is recommended that companies should have a committee of the board called the audit committee. This would consist of at least three non-executive directors with written terms of reference which Cleary deal with its authority and duties.
- c. An audit committee has various responsibilities which include: -
  - Review of a company's internal control procedures
  - Review of the internal audit function. The audit committee providing an independent reporting channel
  - Review of the company's current accounting policies and possible changes resulting from the introduction of new accounting standards
  - Review of regular management information (e.g. monthly management accounts).

- Review of annual financial statements presented to the shareholders
- Review of the results of the external auditors examination to ensure that the auditors have performed an effective, efficient and independent audit.
- Procedures for reviewing published interim (preliminary) statements, draft prospectus, profit forecasts etc
- Receiving and dealing with external auditors. Criticisms of management and ensuring that recommendations of internal and external auditors have been implemented.
- Recommending nomination and remuneration of the external auditors.
- (a) The relationship between the audit committee and the external auditor should be close such that the auditor should have unrestricted access to the committee. The auditor should present his findings regarding any fraud involving the management to this committee.
- (b) It is recommended that a majority of the non-executive directors on the committee should be independent of management. The notion that the non-executive members of the audit committee can be suitably independent may be difficult to achieve.

Ideally the audit committee should comprise of persons who have a suitable range of professional and business skills, sufficient knowledge of the business and yet have not developed close relationships with the main board.

They should have had no recent actual movement with the direct management of the organization, thus their judgment should be impartial free from influence and therefore unbiased.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

#### (a) Letter of representation

#### 1) Purpose

During the course of the audit many representations are made by management to the auditors. Some of these are in response to direct enquiries by the auditors; others are implicit in the preparation of financial statements that are fairly presented. Most of these representations will be confirmed during the course of the audit by more reliable evidence such that reliance no longer need be placed on management representations. For other representation, however, there will be no independent corroboratory evidence available. The letter of representation, therefore, provides formal confirmation as to the representations made. In doing so, management may be encouraged to reflect more fully on the completeness of the representations made and provide further information that may earlier have been overlooked.

#### 2) Reliability

Failure, by the auditors, to confirm such representations in writing would constitute negligence. However, it is important that auditors do not place reliance on representations where more reliable evidence would be expected. The absence of corroboratory evidence would, in itself, be suspicious and should lead to further audit enquiry. Moreover, written representations do not necessarily constitute sufficient evidence. The auditor must consider all available evidence and its reliability in forming an opinion. For example, in a small business where significant audit reliance must be placed on

management representations, auditors may occasionally form the view that, even with written representation by management, there is insufficient evidence on which to form an opinion.

#### 3) Matters included

Matters that may be included in the letter of representation include representations that:

- All books of account and supporting documentation, registers, minutes of members and directors meetings, have been made available;
- All related parties have been identified
- The entity is not in breach of any contractual or regulatory requirements that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
- The entity has title to all its assets and none are pledged or otherwise assigned other than disclosed in the financial statements.
- All liabilities and provisions have been reported or disclosed in the financial statements.
- All subsequent events have been properly reflected or disclosed in the financial statements.
- There are no plans that may significantly alter the carrying value of any of the entity's assets.

Note: Only three are required. Other matters may also be considered relevant.

#### 4) Refusal

If management refuse to provide written representation as requested, the reasons would need to be enquired into the effect on the overall sufficiency of evidence considered. Generally, if a matter is sufficiently important as to warrant a request for its inclusion in the letter, a failure to obtain written representation would normally constitute a scope limitation resulting in the issue of a modified audit opinion which is either qualified or which a disclaimer of opinion is issued.

## (b) **Management** report. Procedures

#### **Timeliness**

Communication of control weaknesses is normally made shortly after completion of the audit. On larger engagements where controls risk was assessed during an interim visit, a letter should normally be sent after that visit as well as on completion of the audit.

Occasionally the matter may be sufficiently serious as to warrant more timely communication, such as where the exposure to risk is great or where there is reason to suspect that fraud or failure to comply with laws or regulations may already have occurred as a result of the weakness.

#### Method

As is implied in the title commonly given, the communication is normally made in the form of a letter. Often, however, a preliminary meeting is held with management directly responsible in order to confirm the understanding and to discuss the most appropriate form of changes to the system. The letter is, therefore, more likely to be accepted and its recommendations acted upon.

Oral communication may also be appropriate for weaknesses that are in

urgent need of correction followed up by a written communication

#### Level of management

As mentioned above, it is common to discuss the detailed recommendations with line management before issuing the letter. The letter would normally be addressed to the chief financial officer. The letter may refer to minor matters in brief with more detailed recommendations being sent to financial officers of divisions or subsidiaries. More serious matters may be communicated directly to the board of directors or, if the entity has one, the audit committee. These would include such matters, as previous recommendations have not been implemented where the auditors believe the risks to the entity are material.

#### (i) Auditors responsibility

The auditors are not primarily responsible for evaluating the effectiveness of all internal controls and reporting all weaknesses. In the letter of weaknesses and in the engagement letter the auditor should make it clear that the assessment of control effectiveness is restricted to those controls on which reliance is intended to be placed for audit purpose. If auditors intend to place reliance for particular financial statement assertions wholly on substantive procedures, they have no responsibility for controls over those assertions.

Where the auditors do become aware of internal control weaknesses, however there is an expectation that they will warn management where the risk of loss or misstatement is considered material. Awareness of control weaknesses may come about from procedures other than those directed specifically at testing controls. For example, in obtaining an understanding of the system the auditor may become aware of major control weaknesses. Also, in performing substantive procedures, investigation of errors may alert the auditor to the presence of control weaknesses.

The auditor's duty to report on the effectiveness of internal controls, under auditing standards is confined to the management of the entity. They have no responsibility to report to other parties. The letter of weakness normally carries a disclaimer of responsibility to any other person to whom the letter might be shown.

Auditors may accept engagements to report on control weaknesses, either to managers, to regulators or to third parties. However, such engagements are not part of the audit of the financial statements.

#### June 1996

QUESTION ONE
KQ shoes Ltd.
AUDIT OF STOCKS

#### **QUESTION TWO**

Service calls when a customer machine starts to bring problems like producing bad copies the customer will contact the service department of Image Ltd. The receptionist at the service department will take down the customer details, mode of the machine ascertaining from him whether or not its billable or rental and a brief description of what would appear to be the problem with the machine.

The details would then be recorded in a register or a form e.g a request for service form. The receptionist will pass on the details to the head of department who ill identify the technician with appropriate experience of services to that particular machine.

The technician would be dispatched to the customer, and would examine the machine with view to diagnosing the problem with the machine. He would set out parts to be serviced, parts needing replacement and amount of time to be taken when servicing.

If it is a billable machine, he will discuss with the management of the customer giving them an estimate of what it would cost. If the customer decided they want the service to proceed when they would either raise a purchase order and sign or stamp the appropriate spaces on the diagnose form.

If it is a rental machine, the discussion would not take place with the customer rather it would be with the head of the rental machines who would give a go ahead for servicing.

When authorization rakes place the technician concerned then raises a material requisition note for the parts that need to be replaced. He will return to the head of the service department who will consult credit control to confirm that the customer is credit worthy and he will approve the material requisition for the technician to proceed to the stores to be given the parts. The stores will also raise an issue note for the materials which the technician will sign acknowledging he has taken those parts. The technician will then proceed to the customers premises, service the machine and enter the details of the parts used, time taken on a preprinted pre-numbered job card.

When the machine has been serviced and its now functional, the customer will sign on the job card that he is satisfied with the service.

#### Note

When the service is completed as described above a service call has been made.

| CUSTOMER NAME:                      | NUMBER   |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| CUSTOMER ACCOUNT NO.                |  |
| DATE OF SERVICE                     | INITIALS/PAYROLL NO.  TECHNICIAN  JOB CARD NO. |
| MATERIALS USED CODE NO. DESCRIPTION | QUANTITY                                       |
| SERIAL NO. SIGNATURE                |  |
| SERVICE ENGINEER                    |  |

- Data fields are the headings for which date is to be filled in appropriate spaces.
- The files are:
- (i) Transaction file
- (ii) Rental contract master file
- (iii) Customer master file
- (iv) Stock master file
- (v) Sources rendered price master file
- (vi) Returned used parts master file
- (vii) Personnel master file

#### Possible errors and irregularities

- 1. Some dockets may be misplaces and therefore never reach the computer room. This can be deliberate or inadvertence.
- The technician may fail to put appropriate data in the data fields or enter data wrongly in the data fields.
- A combination of errors regarding customer details e.g. the correct customer name, correct account number but the serial number is not of the machine as the customer premises.
- 4. A combination of errors regarding the stocks of the path used e.g. a technician may never have returned the replaced parts, the code number may never match the description, the quantity on the docket may be different to the amount released for that machine, the docket may include parts never released, it may exclude parts released for that machine.
- The technician could indicate more or less time than he actually spent at the customers premises. Besides the customer could be over or under charged for labour.

6. The service engineer could wrongly mark a billable machine as a rental machine and vice versa.

7. The technician though having a job card may fail to raise a docket or may attempt to use the same job card to raise more than one docket. These are problems of omission and duplication.

#### Answer

- (a) The main steps that I would expect to be executed by means of a computer program to identify and report service call billing errors by Image Ltd.
- There is a possibility of an error of completeness whereby some dockets can be
  misplaced between their preparation by the technician, validation by the service
  engineer and data capture by computer room. By pre-numbering you establish a
  control I would therefore expect the system to check the serial number and
  report any missing numbers for investigations.
- 2. During the process of transcribing details from the job card into the docket the technician may fail to fill in the relevant data fields or fill wrongly in the appropriate data fields.

Therefore I would expect the program to execute:

- (a) A missing field check to ensure that all the missing data fields like data of service time taken, materials used and the serial number of unit prepared are present and are of the right length as transactions cannot be properly processed if necessary data is missing.
- (b) A valid character check to ensure that the data fields appears to be of the right type e.g. the date of service should be all numeric, the materials used should be mixed, time taken should be all numeric. This is to ensure data fields appear to be correct.
- 3. The details regarding the customer should be consistent i.e. the customers name is given, then the account number given must be of that customer in the customers master file and the serial number on the docket must be the serial number that belongs to that customer.
  - As a combination of errors can occur regarding these details e.g. wrong serial number or account number, I would expect the program to execute a master file check of the customer details as per the dockets to the customers master file.
- 4. The details regarding the parts used include the code number for the par, a verbal description of the [art and the quantity used on the job. It is possible that the technician can make errors in filling in the data fields. Therefore I would expect the program to:
  - (a) Execute a master file check against the service parts master file to ensure that the code number given and the description given are for a part on that master file and that the quantity was the quantity released for that machine.
  - (b) Execute a master file check against the returned used parts master file to detect whether the technician had returned a similar part after providing the service.
  - (c) Execute a check digit to the code number and matching the code number to the description to detect keystroke errors in the code number and the description.
- 5. The technician could indicate more or less hours than actually spent at the customers premises. Consequently a customer may be overcharged or undercharged. Therefore I would expect the program to execute a limit or reasonableness check against the standard established for the different possible combination of services as per the service rendered price master file.
- 6. The service engineer manually checks the dockets details against the rental contract master file print out. As a result of this he indicates on the docket whether the

machine is billable or rental. He could wrongly indicate a billable machine as a rental machine and vice versa. Therefore I expect the program to execute a master file check at the serial number on the docket against the computerized rental controls master files ensuring that if the serial number given is not on that rental contract master file then automatically this would be a billable machine.

- 7. Dockets may not be raised for some job cards a job cards may be used to prepare more than one docket. I would expect the program to execute the following steps:
  - (a) Undertake a sequence checks on the job card numbers to detect incidences of duplication of job card m numbers and to report gaps in numerical continuity of job card numbers.
  - (b) To execute a matching routine matching job cards to dockets ensuring for every job card there is a docket and vice versa.
- 8. I would expect the program to execute a reasonable test on the job service against date on job card to ensure the dates are the same and the transactions will be reported in the correct accounting period when it took place.
- 9. I would expect to execute a reasonableness check on the data of service on the docket and the date the materials were released as per the stocks master file and print pout an exception where the party details have not been reflected on a docket and particularly if they are long outstanding.
- (b) Principles of system development stipulate that when changes are applied to systems similar requirements would apply as new systems. Therefore if new consideration is given to review, testing and approval of new systems it should be noted that the basic principles of the controls are that:
  - (i) Systems design should include representatives of computer department, user
    - Departments and internal audit as well as the accounting department.
  - (ii) The proposed system would have written specifications that are approved by both the management and users.
  - (iii) A systems testing should involve both users and the computer department.
  - (iv) The computer manager user department database administrator where appropriate and the appropriate levels of senior management should give final approval to the view system before it is placed in operation and after reviewing the appropriateness and the results of testing.

The appropriate procedures and policies for the review testing and approval of new systems are best analyzed or considered under the stages of systems development. The stages of system development are normally classified as:

- (a) Feasibility study
- (b) Systems analysis and design
- (c) Programming
- (d) Programme testing
- (e) Parallel running
- (f) File conversion and implementation
- (g) Monitoring and evaluation

#### **QUESTION THREE**

#### PUBLISHED ANNUAL REPORT OF A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

#### The Regulations governing Audit Reports in Kenya are to be found in:

- The requirements of the Companies Act Cap 486
- International financial reporting standards (IFRSs)
- International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)

## Therefore the responsibilities of the auditor with regard to published audit reports are defined by the above regulations.

The seventh schedule to the Companies Act give the matters which must be expressly stated in the AUDITOR'S REPORT

- 1. Whether they have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of their knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of their audit.
- Whether, in their opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the company, so far as appears from their examinations of those books, and proper returns adequate for the purposes of their audit have been received from branches not visited by them.
- 3. i. Whether the company's balance sheet and (unless it is framed as a consolidated profit and loss account) profit and loss account dealt with by the report are in agreement with the books of account and returns.
  - ii. Whether, in their opinion and to the best of their information and according to the explanations given them, the said accounts give the information required by this Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view:
    - a) In the case of the balance sheet, of the state of the company's affairs as at the end of its financial year; and
    - b) In the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit or loss for its financial year, or
  - as the case may be, give a true and fair view thereof subject to the non-disclosure of any matters (to be indicated in the report) which by virtue of Part III of the Sixth Schedule are not required to be disclosed.
- 4. In the case of a holding company submitting group accounts whether in their opinion, the group accounts have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of this Act so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and its subsidiaries dealt with thereby, so far as concerns members of the company, or, as the case may be, so as to give a true and fair view thereof subject to the non-disclosure of any matters (to be indicated in the report) which by virtue of Part III of the Sixth Schedule are not required to be disclosed.

Therefore the auditor must ensure that the above regulations are met.

With regard to professional pronouncements the auditor must lay out his audit re[port in a format that is given in the ISA 700 as modified by the relevant legislation. Both regulations require the auditor to express an opinion as to the truth and fairness of the accounts which means that the financial statements are free from material misstatements.

(b) The responsibilities of the auditor for financial and statistical information included with in the directors report and chairman's report.

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

The auditor does not have a responsibility to design procedures other than inquiry of management to test for indications of events or conditions which cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern beyond the period assessed by management which, as discussed in paragraph would be at least twelve months from the balance sheet date.

#### Additional Audit Procedures when Events or Conditions are identified

When events or conditions have been identified which may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the auditor should:

Review management's plans for future actions based on its going concern assessment; Gather sufficient appropriate audit evidence to confirm or dispel whether or not a material uncertainty exists through carrying out procedures considered necessary, including considering the effect of any plans of management and other mitigating factors; and

Seek written representations from management regarding its plans for future action.

Events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern may be identified during the planning of the engagement or in the course of performing audit procedures. The process of considering events or conditions continues as the audit progresses. When the auditor believes such events or conditions may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, certain procedures may take on added significance. The auditor inquires of management as to its plans for future action, including its plans to liquidate assets, borrow money or restructure debt, reduce or delay expenditures, or increase capital. The auditor also considers whether any additional facts or information are available since the date on which management made its assessment. The auditor obtains sufficient appropriate audit evidence that management's plans are feasible and that the outcome of these plans will improve the situation.

#### Procedures that are relevant in this regard may include the following:

- Analyzing and discussing cash flow, profit and other relevant forecasts with management.
- 2. Analyzing and discussing the entity's latest available interim financial statements.
- 3. Reviewing the terms of debentures and loan agreements and determining whether any have been breached.
- 4. Reading minutes of the meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and important committees for reference to financing difficulties.
- Inquiring of the entity's lawyer regarding the existence of litigation and claims and the reasonableness of management's assessments of their outcome and the estimate of their financial implications.
- Confirming the existence, legality and enforceability of arrangements to provide or maintain financial support with related and third parties and assessing the financial ability of such parties to provide additional funds.
- 7. Considering the entity's plans to deal with unfilled customer orders.
- 8. Reviewing events after period end to identify those that either mitigate or otherwise affect the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

When analysis of cash flow is a significant factor in considering the future outcome of events or conditions the auditor considers:

- 1. The reliability of the entity's system for generating such information; and
- 2. Whether there is adequate support for the assumptions underlying the forecast.

In addition the auditor compares:

The prospective financial information for recent prior periods with historical results;

2. The prospective financial information for the current period with results achieved to date.

#### **Audit Conclusions and Reporting**

Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor should determine if, in the auditor's judgment, a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that alone or in aggregate, may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

A material uncertainty exists when the magnitude of its potential impact is such that, in the auditor's judgment, clear disclosure of the nature and implications of the uncertainty is necessary for the presentation of the financial statements not to be misleading.

#### Going Concern Assumption Appropriate but a Material Uncertainty Exists

If the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate but a material uncertainty exists, the auditor considers whether the financial statements:

- Adequately describe the principal events or conditions that give rise to the significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue in operation and management's plans to deal with these events or conditions; and
- State clearly that there is a material uncertainty related to events or conditions which
  may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and,
  therefore, that it may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
  normal course of business.

If adequate disclosure is made in the financial statements, the auditor should express an unqualified opinion but modify the auditor's report by adding an emphasis of matter paragraph that highlights the existence of a material uncertainty relating to the event or condition that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and draws attention to the note in the financial statements that discloses the matters. In assessing the adequacy of the financial statement disclosure, the auditor considers whether the information explicitly draws the reader's attention to the possibility that the entity may be unable to continue realizing its assets and discharging its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In extreme cases, such as situations involving multiple material uncertainties that are significant to the financial statements, the auditor may consider it appropriate to express a disclaimer of opinion instead of adding an emphasis of matter paragraph.

If adequate disclosure is not made in the financial statements, the auditor should express a qualified or adverse opinion, as appropriate (ISA 700, "The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements,". The report should include specific reference to the fact that there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

#### Going Concern Assumption Inappropriate

If, in the auditor's judgment, the entity will not be able to continue as a going concern, the auditor should express an adverse opinion if the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. If, on the basis of the additional procedures carried out and the information obtained, including the effect of management's plans, the auditor's judgment is that the entity will not be able to continue as a going concern, the auditor concludes, regardless of whether or not disclosure has been made, that the going concern assumption used in the preparation of the financial statements is inappropriate and expresses an adverse opinion.

When the entity's management has concluded that the going concern assumption used in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate, the financial statements need to be prepared on an alternative authoritative basis. If on the basis of the additional procedures carried out and the information obtained the auditor determines the alternative basis is appropriate, the auditor can issue an unqualified opinion if there is adequate disclosure but may require an emphasis of matter in the auditor's report to draw the user's attention to that basis.

#### Management Unwilling to Make or Extend its Assessment

If management is unwilling to make or extend its assessment when requested to do so by the auditor, the auditor should consider the need to modify the auditor's report as a result of the limitation on the scope of the auditor's work. In certain circumstances, the auditor may believe that it is necessary to ask management to make or extend its assessment. If management is unwilling to do so, it is not the auditor's responsibility to rectify the lack of analysis by management, and a modified report may be appropriate because it may not be possible for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements.

In some circumstances, the lack of analysis by management may not preclude the auditor from being satisfied about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the auditor's other procedures may be sufficient to assess the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements because the entity has a history of profitable operations and a ready access to financial resources. In other circumstances, however, the auditor may not be able to confirm or dispel, in the absence of management's assessment, whether or not events or conditions exist which indicate there may be a significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, or the existence of plans management has put in place to address them or other mitigating factors. In these circumstances, the auditor modifies the auditor's report as discussed in ISA 700, "The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements,"

When there is significant delay in the signature or approval of the financial statements by management after the balance sheet date, the auditor considers the reasons for the delay. When the delay could be related to events or conditions relating to the going concern assessment, the auditor considers the need to perform additional audit procedures, as described in paragraph 26, as well as the effect on the auditor's conclusion regarding the existence of a material uncertainty, as described in paragraph 30.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

(a) The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the truth and fairness of financial statements. (Insert the typed answer)

Good for auditors to accept:

The public expects auditors to do that

Enhance the image of the auditor and the value of the audit opinion

The extra costs of extra work can be born by the shareholders

#### No:

The purpose of an audit is reasonable assurance, Absolute assurance not possible coz of the limitations of an audit.

Conclusion: Auditors should not accept. Not possible and not economically justifiable.

(b)

The users of published accounts for simplicity can be summarized as the shareholders to whom the audit report is addressed and third parties who may use the accounts for a varied number of reasons among them investment decisions. It is generally felt that an auditor to be held liable to anyone be it under the law of contract or the law of negligence the following conditions should exist:

- i. He must be proved negligent that is:
  - (a) He must have failed to detect an error or fraud, he should have reasonably been expected to detect and
  - (b) He failed to comply with generally accepted auditing standards and practices.
- ii. The complainant must have suffered loss
- iii. As a direct consequence of reliance on the auditors report.

#### A SUMMARY OF COURT DECISIONS IS AS FOLLOWS

#### **AUDITOR'S LIABILITY**

Under the law of contract, an auditor may be sued by the company for loss resulting from negligence on the part of the auditor (Foss v Itarbottle 1843). The case of Candlier vs Christmas (1951) exemplified the view that there was privity of contract between the auditor and the company. This view precluded third parties from suing for losses.

The position was altered in 1964 by the case of Hedley Byrne vs Helter (1964) in which it was judged that in the absence of the disclaimer of liability, a duty of care to third parties would arise. This suggested that auditors would be liable to third parties with whom there was a special relationship for instance the prospective purchaser of a business who was relying on audited accounts in making his decisions to buy. The decision related only to cases where a specific interested party existed and the auditor knows or should have known of their interest in the accounts. The principle of liability to unknown third parties was still unchanged from the Ultramares vs Touche case (1932) where judge Cardozo commented that auditors should not be subjected to liability in an indetermined amount for an indeterminate time to an indeterminate class.

The position is still undergoing modification. Three cases are relevant here, Teb Fasteners vs Marks, Bloom and company (1981), Trimax (1983) and Capro Industries vs Dickman (1990). The Teb and Trimax cases both involved plaintiffs who had relied on audited accounts in purchasing shares of the relevant companies, but whose existence was not known to the auditors. In this Teb case, the auditors knew that the company was likely to be looking for outside finance as it was in difficulties. It was held that the auditors had a duty of care to the third party, albeit an unknown one, who was likely to be relying on the accounts. This clearly extends the view of liability taken in the Hedley Byrne case. The plaintiff's action was, however, dismissed on the grounds that they would have made their investment even if the accounts had given a fair picture of the company's position.

In the Trimax case, the same approach to auditor liability was adopted, and the judge found for the plaintiffs. The auditor, it was held, should have foreseen that these accounts might be relied on by a potential investor.

The recent Caparo case is of great interest because it appears to reject the two earlier cases. It was stated that the auditors could not have known, or be expected to know that Caparo would rely on their work on deciding to invest in the company. There was need for a close relationship to exist between the maker and the recipient of negligent mis-statements for a duty of care to exist. On appeal, although it was held that auditors have a duty to individual shareholders, this did not extend to potential investors. This approach seems to be in line with the comments of Woolf J in 1985 Lloyd Cheyham vs Little John case that there is a duty of care known to third parties, but they should still protect themselves by making the usual enquiries before investing. The HOUSE OF LORDS ruling in the Caparo case narrowed the scope of the duty of care still further. It was ruled that the auditors owed a duty of care to shareholders as a body but not to third parties nor to individual shareholders considering buying more shares.

It is evident, in conclusion that the auditor's liability was extended after the Candler case, although the extent of liability to third parties is uncertain and appears to have been severly limited by the Caparo findings.

We have no decided case against auditors in Kenya. The accounting profession in Kenya has however to take into consideration developments in other countries as it is most likely that should a case actually come to court against auditors the court would be directed and influenced by decisions given elsewhere. For this reason decided cases in other countries and developments in this area are relevant to the accounting profession in Kenya. Auditing standards and accepted practices and procedures are similar in most parts of the world.

#### THE REVISION PAPER

#### **QUESTION ONE**

(a)The Board of Directors, Old Traders Limited, P. O. Box 1000, ZAMANI ZA KALE. ABC Certified Public Accountants P. O. Box XYZ Nairobi

Dear Sirs,

#### AUDIT OF THE COMPANY'S ACCOUNTS - 30 SEPTEMBER, 2003

We are glad to inform you that we are in the finalization stages of the company's audit for the year ended 30 September, 2003

Certain matters have however come to light which need to be resolved before we can issue our audit report. They are contention issues and would affect the form of audit report we will issue. Please review our comments and advise us of the decision of the Board, we have been informed by the Finance Manager, that the accounts cannot be adjusted under any circumstances.

#### DRAFT ACCOUNTS - GENERAL POINTS

- Our initial review of the draft accounts as presented to us for audit by the Finance Manager revealed that some figures appear to be incorrectly stated. These are repairs and maintenance and other expenses in the profit and loss account.
- 1.2 Financial statements should give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and of its results for the period under review. As auditors, we have to ensure that the accounts are not misleading in any way before we give a clear report.
- 1.3 The company management should show flexibility and a willingness to ensure that the accounts do give a true and fair view. We suggest that the Board ensures that where figures are incorrectly stated they are adjusted to reflect the correct position.

#### **STOCKS**

- 2.1 Our review of stock valuation has revealed that the costs used were those in force before July, 2003. We are aware that there was a general price increase of 10% between July and September, 2003
- We are of the opinion that stocks acquired after July, 2003 have been valued at incorrect prices. Generally accepted accounting principles require that stocks be valued at cost net reliable value which is lower.
- 2.3 We suggest that an exercise be carried out to determine whether stocks have been valued using the correct cost prices. Stocks acquired after July 2003 need to be determined in quantity terms and prices prevailing then, should be used.

#### **FIXED ASSETS**

3.1 No depreciation has been charged on the company's fixed assets, the majority of which are motor vehicles. The reasons advanced by the Financial Manager are that they can be resold at the end of five years to realise more than 75% of their original cost and that all motor vehicles were fitted with new tyres during this year and thus the need to charge depreciation.

- 3.2 Depreciation is charged to ensure that costs of earning income are matched against that income during the year the income is earned. Failure to provide for depreciation is not prudent as costs of running the company are being understated. Increase in value of fixed assets as long as it is not realised cannot be taken credit for in the profit and loss account. Costs of maintaining the income earning capacity of an asset cannot be used as justifiable reasons for not depreciating the assets. The profits for the year would be overstated by the amount of depreciation not charged. Consistency must be maintained in application of accounting policies.
- 3.3 We suggest that depreciation at the rate of 20% amounting to KShs 1,200 be provided for in the profit and loss account.

#### **DEBTORS**

- 4.1 One of the company's debtor, Mafuta Distributors has been put under receivership. At the year end they owed your company KShs. 580,000. The company does not have a policy of providing for bad debts.
- 4.2 The position adopted by the company involves the prudence concept and also no consideration has apparently been taken of the provisions of International Accounting Standard No 10, Events After the balance Sheet Date. The reported loss in our view is understated and this does not give a true and fair view of the results from operations and the financial position of the company.
- 4.3 We require that the debt of KShs 580,000 be provided for and charged in the profit and loss account.

#### **TAXATION CHARGE**

- 5.1 No provision for tax payable has been made in the accounts on the grounds that plans have been finalised for the company to acquire a dormant company with huge tax losses.
- 5.2 This position may be unjustified. Losses from other businesses under existing taxation rules may only be utilized against future profits from those same businesses. The Income Tax Department may choose to disallow such claims for these losses.
- 5.3 We suggest that provision for the tax be made in the financial statements until the position has been fully clarified with tax authorities.

Please review our corrections and should you require any further information do not hesitate to contact us.

We stress however, that we would most likely issue a qualified audit report if the above issues are not resolved satisfactorily.

Yours truly,

## ABC Certified Public Accountants

#### (b) Old Traders Limited

Abridged Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2003

|                          | 2003    | 2002    |
|--------------------------|---------|---------|
|                          | Shs'000 | Shs'000 |
| Fixed Assets at cost     | 6,000   | 6,000   |
| Accumulated depreciation | (4,700) | (3,500) |
| Debtors 20               | 500     |         |
| Stocks                   | 1,100   | 800     |
| Cash                     | 100     | 550     |
| Creditors                | (700)   | (600)   |
| Share capital            | (2,600) | (2,600) |
| Revenue reserves         | 980     | 1,150   |
|                          | -0-     | 0-      |

## ABRIDGED PROFIT AND COST STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2003

| Turnover                    | 6,400    | 4,500    |
|-----------------------------|----------|----------|
| Gross profit                | 5,400    | 4,000    |
| Depreciation                | (1,200)  | (1,200)  |
| Repairs and maintenance     | (1,450)  | (150)    |
| Other expenses              | (4,680)  | (17,007) |
| Tax charge                  | <u> </u> | (100)    |
| Net (loss) profit after tax | (1,930)  | 850      |
|                             |          |          |

#### (c) AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OLD TRADERS LIMITED

- 1. We have audited the account set out on pages 8 to 32 in accordance with International Standards on auditing. The accounts are in agreement with the books of account.
  - We obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.
- 2. Stocks have been valued using costs in force before July 2003. In accordance with IAS 2, stocks should have been valued at the lower of their cost or net realisable value. We are unable to determine the extent to which any costs have been used in valuing stocks.
- 3. No depreciation has been charged in the profit and loss accounts. Had such depreciation been provided for in accordance with IAS 16 the charge to the profit and loss account would have reduced the reported profits by KShs.1,200,000. In our opinion such a charge should have been made.

4. A major customer owing the company KShs.580,000 went into receivership in mid June. The recovery of this amount is doubtful. No provision has been made in the accounts for this loss. In our opinions such a provision should have been made.

5. In view of the impact of the circumstances described in paragraphs 2,3 and 4 above, in our opinion the accounts do not give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs at 30 September and of its loss and sources and applications of funds for the year then ended. In other respects, in our opinions proper books of accounts have been kept and the accounts comply with the Companies Act (Cap. 486)

#### ABC

#### Certified Public Accountants

11 November 2003

#### **QUESTION TWO**

The following audit procedures can be employed to satisfy the auditors that creditors as at 31 October, 2003 are not materially mistated.

- (a) Review of movements in the purchases account in the nominal ledger and comparison of the amounts involved with corresponding amounts in the creditors control account.
  - This is to ensure that amounts debited to the purchasers account in the nominal ledger are equal to the amounts credited in total to the creditor control account. The source of these figures would be the same, the destroyed loose leaf pages of the purchases journal.
- (b) Similarly review the movements on the debit note of the creditors control account with the movements on the credit side of the cash control account in the nominal ledger. Again this would reflect the total payments to creditors.
- (c) Investigation of significant items in the creditors control account whose source is not identified as the cash book and the purchases account.
- (d) Select a sample of the major shippers, all above the materiality limit established by the auditor. Compare the balances in their statements at the year end with those on the listing of creditors for the previous year and obtain explanations for any major variances.
- (e) Circularise creditors to provide their detailed statements showing outstanding invoices. These invoices are then matched with goods received notes and actual payments if paid to determine whether allocated to the proper period.
- (f) Review payments made to creditors after the year end and ensure that the payments were for liabilities which have been accounted for in proper period.
- (g) Compare purchases and creditors levels with budgets to ensure that within the year they have been within expectations.
- (h) Compare purchases and creditors levels with those of the previous year and

obtain explanations for any significant variances.

(i) Perform analytical review procedures on the following

ratios: i. Gross Profit Margin broken down as follows:

|                     | Current Year<br>Year |     | Previous |   |
|---------------------|----------------------|-----|----------|---|
| Turnover            |                      | X   |          | X |
| Cost of sales       |                      |     |          |   |
| Opening stocks      | X                    |     | X        |   |
| Purchases           | X                    |     | X        |   |
| Closing stocks      | X                    | X   | X        | X |
| Gross profits       |                      |     |          |   |
| Gross profit margin |                      | 0/0 |          | % |

If not steady or comparable this could mean that purchases have not been properly accounted for and hence liabilities.

Current assets: Current liabilities

Again comparison is for this year with previous year. Any significant variances to be investigated.

- (j) Perform output assets on purchases invoices. Goods received notes and related stock movements to ensure that all transactions are properly accounted for in the correct period.
- (k) Review correspondence with suppliers for any disputes or complaints of late payments.
- (l) Review material outstanding purchase orders and confirm with relevant officials and suppliers that the goods have not been delivered at the year end.

#### **QUESTION THREE**

The users of published accounts for simplicity can be summarized as the shareholders to whom the audit report is addressed and third parties who may use the accounts for a varied number of reasons among them investment decisions. It is generally felt that an auditor to be held liable to anyone be it under the law of contract or the law of negligence the following conditions should exist:

- i. He must be proved negligent that is:
  - (a) he must have failed to detect an error or fraud, he should have reasonably been expected to detect and
  - (b) he failed to comply with generally accepted auditing standards and practices.
- ii. The complainant must have suffered loss
- iii. As a direct consequence of reliance on the auditors report.

#### A SUMMARY OF COURT DECISIONS IS AS FOLLOWS

#### **AUDITOR'S LIABILITY**

Under the law of contract, an auditor may be sued by the company for loss resulting from negligence on the part of the auditor (Foss v Itarbottle 1843). The case of Candlier vs Christmas (1951) exemplified the view that there was privity of contract between the auditor and the company. This view precluded third parties from suing for losses.

The position was altered in 1964 by the case of Hedley Byrne vs Helter (1964) in which it was judged that in the absence of the disclaimer of liability, a duty of care to third parties would arise. This suggested that auditors would be liable to third parties with whom there was a special relationship for instance the prospective purchaser of a business who was relying on audited accounts in making his decisions to buy. The decision related only to cases where a specific interested party existed and the auditor knows or should have known of their interest in the accounts. The principle of liability to unknown third parties was still unchanged from the Ultramares vs Touche case (1932) where judge Cardozo commented that auditors should not be subjected to liability in an indetermined amount for an indeterminate time to an indeterminate class.

The position is still undergoing modification. Three cases are relevant here, Teb Fasteners vs Marks, Bloom and company (1981), Trimax (1983) and Capro Industries vs Dickman (1990). The Teb and Trimax cases both involved plaintiffs who had relied on audited accounts in purchasing shares of the relevant companies, but whose existence was not known to the auditors. In this Teb case, the auditors knew that the company was likely to be looking for outside finance as it was in difficulties. It was held that the auditors had a duty of care to the third party, albeit an unknown one, who was likely to be relying on the accounts. This clearly extends the view of liability taken in the Hedley Byrne case. The plaintiff's action was, however, dismissed on the grounds that they would have made their investment even if the accounts had given a fair picture of the company's position.

In the Trimax case, the same approach to auditor liability was adopted, and the judge found for the plaintiffs. The auditor, it was held, should have foreseen that these accounts might be relied on by a potential investor.

The recent Caparo case is of great interest because it appears to reject the two earlier cases. It was stated that the auditors could not have known, or be expected to know that Caparo would rely on their work on deciding to invest in the company. There was need for a close relationship to exist between the maker and the recipient of negligent mis-statements for a duty of care to exist. On appeal, although it was held that auditors have a duty to individual shareholders, this did not extend to potential investors. This approach seems to be in line with the comments of Woolf J in 1985 Lloyd Cheyham vs Little John case that there is a duty of care known to third parties, but they should still protect themselves by making the usual enquiries before investing. The HOUSE OF LORDS ruling in the Caparo case narrowed the scope of the duty of care still further. It was ruled that the auditors owed a duty of care to shareholders as a body but not to third parties nor to individual shareholders considering buying more shares.

It is evident, in conclusion that the auditor's liability was extended after the Candler case, although the extent of liability to third parties is uncertain and appears to have been severly limited by the Caparo findings.

We have no decided case against auditors in Kenya. The accounting profession in Kenya has however to take into consideration developments in other countries as it is most likely that should a case actually come to court against auditors the court would be directed and influenced by decisions given elsewhere. For this reason decided cases in other countries and developments in this area are relevant to the accounting profession in Kenya. Auditing standards and accepted practices and procedures are similar in most parts of the world.

#### **QUESTIONFOUR**

Auditing is defined as an independent examination of records and draft accounts produced by a client in such detail as will enable the auditors to form an opinion as to their accuracy, truth and fairness. Under the Companies Act, the auditor is further required to investigate and report on whether proper books of account have been kept and whether the accounts are in agreement with those books. The auditor cannot form his opinion nor conclude on other matters without seeking and finding evidence on which to base such opinion and to reach conclusions.

Auditing therefore can be stated to be an evidence gathering exercise in the main. Once the evidence has been gathered he can then review it and determine whether he has a reasonable basis for his opinion.

It is recognised that the entity in establishing systems of internal control and producing accounts for audits makes assertions both implied and stated. These assertions of existence, effectiveness and continuity (as expounded on in ISA 500 Audit Evidence) in as far as internal control and compliance tests are concerned and existence, rights and obligations, occurence and completeness, valuation, measurement and presentation and disclosure as for assets, liabilities and transactions and substantive tests are concerned require to be confirmed by evidence available within and outside the entity.

ISA 500, provides further guidance on the means of these terms. The auditor in his evidence gathering exercise requires to exercise judgement but must be able to ensure that the evidence he collects meets the criteria set in the Auditor Operational Standard.

Relevance means evidence that confirm the assertions stated or implied by the management. The auditors tests are either compliance or substantive and they should be so designed to ensure that he has obtained enough evidence to confirm the assertions. Evidence that confirms the assertions is relevant evidence.

Reliability of audit evidence is influenced by its nature which can be visual, documentary or oral - and its source which can be external or internal. When we generalise we state that:

- (a) Evidence obtained from external sources is more reliable than evidence obtained within the entity.
- (b) Evidence obtained from within the entity becomes more reliable if the related internal controls are satisfactory.
- (c) Evidence generated by the auditor himself is more reliable than that generated from internal sources.

(d) Evidence in the form of documents or written representations is more reliable than oral representation.

Sufficiency is designed to ensure that the risk of mistatement is initially considered and minimized. Factors that provide guidance to the accountant in this regard are:

- (a) His knowledge of the business of the enterprise and the industry it operates in.
- (b) Degree of mistatement through errors and irregularities which is affected by
  - i. Nature and materiality of the items in the financial statements.
  - ii. Auditors experience as to the reliability of the management and staff of the enterprise and its records.
  - iii. The financial position of the enterprise.
  - iv. Possible management basis.
- (c) Persuasiveness of the evidence.

Here therefore the auditor seeks evidence from as many sources as possible to give him the required degree of assurance.

The custom in Kenya as far as evidence gathering is concerned has been directed towards obtaining as much evidence from as a wide range of sources as possible where it has been felt that management could easily misstate the figures in the financial statements. Thus customarily, auditors have debtors to confirm their existence, written to bankers to confirm facilities and securities held for those facilities attended stocktakes to establish the condition and existence of those stock takes, written to other third parties to corroborate information in the financial statements. They have carried out compliance tests based on reliance on internal controls. This however has been carried out by auditors utilizing their own judgement.

The introduction of Auditing Standards has brought the need for auditors to seek more complete evidence and critically consider whether the accounts do actually give a true and fair view. The Auditing Standards have however re-inforced practices that already existed and introduced in addition more discipline on the part of the accountants towards ensuring uniformity and approach to audit assignments. They have widened the range of what constitutes evidential matter in Kenya today by for example recognising analytical renew techniques as very important sources of audit evidence, requiring a final review of the accounts and documentation of such review.

Conventions in Kenya required a generalised letter of representation from management. Auditing Standards have introduced the need for a more specific letter of representation and the need for the auditor to ensure that no conflicting evidence exists.

Certain convention and auditing standards have now been brought into line to ensure that the evidence obtained by the auditor is relevant, reliable and sufficient. It must also be fully retained as evidence of the work he did.

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

Under the Companies Act, (Cap 486) the auditors duties remain the same irrespective of the methods adopted by the company in producing its financial statements and in keeping proper books of accounts. The objectives which are to form an opinion on the financial statements and to report thereon remain the same under computerised and conventional systems. The end result of giving an opinion has not changed either.

But computerisation does radically alter

- (a) The way in which accounting data is recorded
- (b) The way in which such recording must be controlled and authenticated
- (c) The training needs and attitudes of the staff responsible at both management and technical levels and '
- (d) The way in which the process and its results must be audited.

The computer therefore has implications for the system of internal control on which the auditors may wish to place reliance and on the financial information which it produces and on which the auditor is expected to give an opinion.

The implications of computerisation in so far as the audit approach, extent, timing and nature of audit tests is concerned can be summarised as follows:

- (a) Under conventional system production accounting records are kept in the accounts department, stock records in the stores and so on. In EDP system all these are in the EDP department. Furthermore, the staff in the EDP department tend to be far more identified with the computer than with the company.
- (b) Computer hardware and records are vulnerable to atmospheric environmental conditions, electrical and magnetic interference, accidental damage and degeneration, and human manipulation. The files are also in the form of denselypacked magnetic media and so their contents cannot be identified visually.
- (c) The visible processing trial, which is taken for granted on conventional recording system is lost in the course of computer processing, which is itself governed by programs whose reliability implies being capable of direct observation while functioning.

#### IMPLICATION FOR THE AUDITOR

The consequences for the auditor of three major control problems highlighted above may in turn be summarised as follows:

(a) Knowlege and experience. Technical knowledge and practical experience on the part of audit staff are an essential accompaniment to the planning and execution of all audit procedures. This may be gained by books, through courses of varying length, and by appointing a computer technician to join the audit complement.

(b) Audit documentation - the documentation on the audit files must reflect the nature of the audit. Standard questionnaires and checklists must be accordingly redrafted and the current file contain a record of all the clients EDP documentations, details of major controls included in the programs, flow diagrams of systems.

- (c) Timing of tests the auditor requires a totally revised approach to the timing of audit tests. When complete and permanent record of all transactions, assets and liabilities is available at all times, audit test on the record may be carried out at any convenient stage, by mutual agreement between client and auditor. In EDP system however contemporary, as opposed to historical, testing is often an inescapable imposition.
  - Request for special printouts for audit purposes. These indicate reliability only
    in relation to the specific test conducted and it would be dangerous to rely
    upon them as valid for processing which takes place at any other time, hence
    the need for regular periodic visits.
  - Test packs which, like tests on special printouts should be conducted
    intermitently throughout the period under audit, otherwise it will be
    impossible for the auditor to draw valid conclusions concerning the function
    of programs and programmed controls during the period as a whole.
  - the loss of audit trail due to creation of say, batch totals which give no
    breakdown for checking purpose, or for cross-referencing to original
    documents. The original documents may themselves in some cases, have been
    resorted for another purpose, as a result of which the locating of specific
    items is rendered unpracticable. Once, again, therefore, it is essential for the
    auditor to be present while processing is taking place if he wishes effectively
    to audit the procedures in question.
- (d) The incident of audit tests conventional records may be audited by vouching and checking the visible entries made at the very interface between the authorised and valid originating documents, on the one hand, and the book of account on the other. In EDP systems, the recording counterpart takes place within the machine and no equivalent record is left for subsequent individual verification. For this reason the auditor is forced to shift the target of his tests and to concentrate his efforts on:
  - Quality control over every stage in the creation of the input
  - The system development controls responsible for ensuring that this program functions correctly
  - the administrative controls which are designed to ensure that the correct programs are always used that staff observe designated job divisions, that hardware and files are physically secure and adequately supported by reconstruction and standby facilities.
  - The use made by management of output reports, particularly exception reports and the control procedures governing rejection of invalid data.

The need for this shift of incident is understood when one realizes that all tests through the machine can, at best provide indirect affirmation on program functioning, and inferior, from the audit view point, to test in which the accounting entries may be scrutinized in their totality (albeit historically) at the very point of their creation.

# MOCK PAPER CPA PART III AUDITING AND INVESTIGATIONS

Time Allowed: 3 Hours

Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question.

#### **QUESTION ONE**

- (a) The expressions "management audit, operational audit, and efficiency audit" are very often used these days.
  - Do they differ from internal audits? If so, to what extent? Discuss.
- (b) Write short notes on "Value for Money audits" with a special reference to government and quasi-government bodies. (Total: 20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION TWO**

An International Audit practice Statement (IAPS) has been issued on Audit of Small Businesses.

#### Required

- (a) Discuss the various aspects in which this audit of small business enterprises differs from that of larger ones. (8 Marks)
- (b) Briefly outline the arguments which have been advanced for and against the retention of small business audits. (6 Marks)
- (c) Summarise the provisions of the IAPS referred to above. (6 Marks)

(Total: 20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION THREE**

A leading stock broker has approached your firm and asked you to prepare an accountants report to be included in a prospectus for Easy Fruits Ltd. which is about to issue shares to the public. You learn that Easy Fruits Limited is a public company and has been in business for the last 15 years.

#### Required

- (a) In point form itemise the contents of your report. (10 Marks)
- (b) Usually the case is that some of the items in the past financial statements of the issuing company require amendment for the purposes of the accountants report. With due regard to the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, discuss the aspects and items shown in the financial statements which may require amendment for the purposes of your report.

(10 Marks)

(Total: 20 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FOUR**

You have been in partnership with a fellow Certified Public Accountant for a number of years. Due to old age and ill-health your partner has suddenly resigned.

Unfortunately, some of the clients of your practice have also suddenly left you, thereby leaving you with few personal clients and only one large client which, on departure of your partner, will represent 30% of your total audit fee income.

While reviewing your business plan and your ethical position, you realise that in order to make the practice profitable and viable you will need to expand your client base considerably.

#### Required

- (a) In the light of the Accountant's Act (Cap.531) and the Ethical Guidelines issued by the Institute, state with reasons whether you will have to resign as auditor of the large client.

  (8 Marks)
- (b) Outline the steps you are entitled to take in order to bring in more clients. (7 Marks)
- (c) Outline the actions which are specifically prohibited by the Ethical Guidelines for a practice which wishes to bring in more clients. (7 Marks)

(Total: 22 Marks)

#### **QUESTION FIVE**

For a considerable time now, East-West Airlines (EWA) has been experiencing numerous problems with their computerised Reservation and Invoicing System (CRIS). The company's main activity is the operation of a fleet of 25 passenger planes for both domestic and International flights. The directors of EWA inform you that they think that the problems relating to the CRIS are due to insufficient input, processing and output controls.

Consequently, +the CRIS has to be restructured to incorporate the required controls in the programs.

The following additional information is supplied to you.

- i. Last year the company had an annual turnover of Sh.1,200 million all derived from ticket sales.
- ii. Bookings are made from six computer terminals which are located in six countries. The terminals are connected to a mainframe computer situated at the company's headquarters.
- iii. The terminals are only capable of performing enquiries for availability of Airline seats. Additionally all bookings are confirmed through these terminals; such confirmation being the basis of simultaneous update of the seats available file (in the air ticket computer) and automatic printing of a costed air ticket (from the terminal's printer).

#### Required

- (a) Prepare a detailed report to the directors of EWA outlining the controls which you consider necessary in such a processing environment. (14 Marks)
- (b) Briefly describe the new operational and control related features which distinguish batch control from real-time data processing systems. (6 Marks)

  (Total: 20 Marks)

END OF THE MOCK EXAM
NOW SEND TO DISTANCE LEARNING FOR MARKING